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BASIS OF PRESENTATION

As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless as the context requires otherwise, as used herein, references to “GCM,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and
“our,” and similar references refer collectively to GCM Grosvenor Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to:

* “A&R LLLPA” are to the Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Limited Partnership Agreement of GCMH,;

* “AUM” are to assets under management;

* “Business Combination” or “Transaction” are to the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Agreement;

* ‘“Bylaws” are to our Amended and Restated Bylaws;

* “CAGR” are to compound annual growth rate;

* “CFAC” are to CF Finance Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation;

* “CF Sponsor” are to CF Finance Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;

* “Charter” are to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation;

* “Class C Share Voting Amount” are to the “Class C Share Voting Amount,” as such term is defined in our Charter, which is generally a number of
votes per share equal to (1) (x) an amount of votes equal to 75% of the aggregate voting power of our outstanding capital stock (including for this
purpose any Includible Shares), minus (y) the total voting power of our outstanding capital stock (other than the Class C common stock) owned or
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Key Holders (including any Includible Shares), divided by (2) the number of shares of Class C common stock
then outstanding;

* “clients” are to persons who invest in our funds, even if such persons are not deemed clients of our registered investment adviser subsidiaries for
purposes of the Investment Advisers Act 1940, as amended;

e “Closing” are to the consummation of the Business Combination;

* “Closing Date” are to November 17, 2020;

* “Code” are to the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended;

* “Class A common stock” are to our Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share;

* “Class B common stock” are to our Class B common stock, par value $0.0001 per share;

* “Class C common stock” are to our Class C common stock, par value $0.0001 per share;

* “FPAUM" are to fee-paying AUM;

* “GCMG" are to GCM Grosvenor Inc., which was incorporated in Delaware as a wholly owned subsidiary of Grosvenor Capital Management Holdings,
LLLP, formed for the purpose of completing the Transaction. Pursuant to the Transaction, Grosvenor Capital Management Holdings, LLLP cancelled
its shares in GCM Grosvenor Inc. no longer making GCM Grosvenor Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary of Grosvenor Capital Management Holdings,
LLLP;

* “GCM Grosvenor” are to GCMH, its subsidiaries, and GCM, LLC;

e “GCM LLC" areto GCM, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company;

* “GCM V"areto GCMV, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;

* “GCMH?" are to Grosvenor Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, a Delaware limited liability limited partnership;

¢« “GCM Funds” and “our funds” are to GCM Grosvenor’s specialized funds and customized separate accounts;

* “GCMHGP LLC" are to GCMH GP, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company;

* “GCMH Equityholders” are to Holdings, Management LLC, Holdings Il, and GCM Progress Subsidiary LLC;

* “GCMLP” are to Grosvenor Capital Management, L.P., an lllinois limited partnership;

* “Grosvenor common units” are to units of partnership interests in GCMH entitling the holder thereof to the distributions, allocations, and other rights
accorded to holders of partnership interests in GCMH following the Grosvenor Redomicile and LLLPA Amendment;

* “Holdings” are to Grosvenor Holdings, L.L.C., an lllinois limited liability company;

* “Holdings II” are to Grosvenor Holdings Il, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company;



“Includible Shares” are to any shares of our voting stock issuable in connection with the exercise (assuming, solely for this purpose, full exercise and
not net exercise) of all outstanding options, warrants, exchange rights, conversion rights or similar rights to receive voting stock of GCM Grosvenor
Inc., in each case owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Key Holders, but excluding the number of shares of Class A common stock
issuable in connection with the exchange of Grosvenor common units, as a result of any redemption or direct exchange of Grosvenor common units
effectuated pursuant the A&R LLLPA;

“IntermediateCo” are to GCM Grosvenor Holdings, LLC (formerly known as CF Finance Intermediate Acquisition, LLC), a Delaware limited liability
company;

“Key Holders” are to Michael J. Sacks, GCM V and the GCMH Equityholders;

“Management LLC” are to GCM Grosvenor Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;

“Mosaic” are to Mosaic Acquisitions 2020, L.P.;

“Mosaic Transaction” are to a transaction, effective January 1, 2020, by which GCMH and its affiliates transferred certain indirect partnerships
interests related to historical investment funds managed by GCMH and its affiliates to Mosaic;

“NAV” are to net asset value;

“Sunset Date” are to the date the GCMH Equityholders beneficially own a number of voting shares representing less than 20% of the number of
shares of Class A common stock beneficially owned by the GCMH Equityholders immediately following the Closing Date (assuming, for this purpose,
that all outstanding Grosvenor common units are and were exchanged at the applicable measurement time by the GCMH Equityholders for shares of
Class A common stock in accordance with the A&R LLLPA and without regard to the lock-up or any other restriction on exchange);

“Transaction Agreement” are to the definitive transaction agreement, dated as of August 2, 2020, by and among CFAC, IntermediateCo, the CF
Sponsor, GCMH, the GCMH Equityholders, GCMHGP LLC, GCM V and us;

“Underlying funds” are to the investment vehicles managed by third-party investment managers in which GCM Funds invest;

“TRA Parties” are to the GCMH LLLP Equityholders, and their successors and assigns with respect to the Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA"); and

“Voting shares” are to our securities that are beneficially owned by a voting party that may be voted in the election of our directors, including any and

all of our securities acquired and held in such capacity subsequent to the date of the Transaction Agreement.



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor
provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, including, but not limited to, statements regarding our future results of operations or financial condition; business strategy and plans; including
anticipated and future payments of dividends and capital return plans, market opportunity and changes in investor perceptions of alternative investments; our
ability to expand our product offerings for certain investors; our ability to grow our international investor base; and our relationships with our existing clients as
part of our growth strategies may be forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,”
“should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “targets,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “forecasts,” “predicts,” “potential” or
“continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but
are not limited to statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, industry and business trends, equity compensation, business
strategy, plans, market growth and our objectives for future operations.

"o n o "o " "o "o "o "o

The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are only current expectations and predictions. We have based these forward-looking
statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause
our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, the historical performance of GCM Grosvenor's funds may not be indicative of GCM Grosvenor’s
future results; risks related to redemptions and termination of engagements; the variable nature of GCM Grosvenor's revenues; competition in GCM
Grosvenor’s industry; effects of government regulation or compliance failures; market, geopolitical and economic conditions; identification and availability of
suitable investment opportunities; risks related to the performance of GCM Grosvenor’s investments; and the other important factors discussed under the
caption “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are based upon information
available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such
information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of,
all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and have filed as exhibits to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity, performance and achievements may be materially
different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements. These forward-looking statements speak only
as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as required by applicable law, we do not plan to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



SUMMARY RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form
10-K, that represent challenges that we face in connection with the successful implementation of our strategy and the growth of our business. In particular,
the following considerations, among others, may offset our competitive strengths or have a negative effect on our business strategy, which could cause a
decline in the price of shares of our Class A common stock or warrants:

« The historical performance of our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our operations or any returns expected on an
investment in our Class A common stock;

* Investors in our open-ended, specialized funds may generally redeem their investments in these funds on a periodic basis. Investors in most of our
closed-ended, specialized funds may terminate the commitment periods of these funds or otherwise cause our removal as general partner of these
funds under certain circumstances;

* Our business and financial condition may be materially adversely impacted by the variable nature of our revenues, and in particular the performance-
based aspect of certain of our revenues and cash flows;

* The industry in which we operate is intensely competitive. If we are unable to compete successfully, our business and financial condition could be
adversely affected;

* Adecline in the pace or size of fundraising or investments made by us on behalf of our funds may adversely affect our revenues;
*  We are subject to numerous conflicts of interest that are both inherent to our business and industry and particular to us;

« Our entitlement to receive carried interest from many of our funds may create an incentive for us to make more speculative investments and
determinations on behalf of a fund than would be the case in the absence of such arrangement;

¢ Our international operations subject us to numerous risks;
« Ourindebtedness may expose us to substantial risks;
« Extensive government regulation, compliance failures and changes in law or regulation could adversely affect us;

« Difficult market, geopolitical and economic conditions can adversely affect our business in many ways, including by reducing the value or
performance of the investments made by our funds, reducing the number of high-quality investment managers with whom we may invest, and
reducing the ability of our funds to raise or deploy capital;

« If the investments we make on behalf of our funds perform poorly, we may suffer a decline in our revenues;
* The loss of experienced and senior personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition;

¢ We intend to expand our business and may formulate new business strategies or enter into new geographic markets, which may result in additional
risks and uncertainties in our business;

¢ Operational risks may disrupt our business, damage our reputation, result in financial losses or limit our growth; and

« We are subject to increasing and diverging scrutiny from clients, investors, regulators, elected officials, stockholders and other stakeholders or third
parties with respect to Sustainable and Impact investing matters, which may constrain investment opportunities, adversely impact our ability to raise
capital, and result in increased costs or otherwise adversely affect us.



Part .
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Our Company

Over our 53-year history we have prided ourselves on our client-centric approach to alternative asset management. As a leading global solutions
provider, we invest across all major alternative investment strategies and are highly flexible in how we structure our solutions, so that we can work to meet
each client’s specific needs. As of December 31, 2024, we had $80.1 billion in AUM.

Our central objectives are to provide our clients with choice, deliver innovative alternative investment offerings and generate competitive risk-adjusted
returns. We partner with our institutional and individual clients to invest on their behalf across the private and public markets, either through portfolios
customized to meet a client’s specific objectives or through specialized funds that are developed to meet broad market demands for strategies and risk-return
objectives. Our clients include large, sophisticated, global institutional investors and a growing individual investor client base. In both cases, our clients rely
on our investment expertise and differentiated investment access to navigate the alternatives market. As one of the pioneers of customized separate account
solutions, we are equipped to provide investment services to clients with a wide variety of needs, internal resources and investment objectives, and our client
relationships are deep and frequently span decades.

As of December 31, 2024, we had 549 employees, including 181 investment professionals, operating in nine offices throughout the United States and
in Frankfurt, Hong Kong, London, Seoul, Sydney, Tokyo and Toronto.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, our total management fees were $402 million and $375 million, respectively , our total operating
revenues were $514 million and $445 million, respectively, our net income was $19 million and $13 million, respectively, our fee related earnings were $166
million and $140 million, respectively, and our adjusted net income was $141 million and $103 million, respectively.

We believe our history, experience, expertise and scale across the full range of alternative investment strategies, combined with our flexible
implementation approach, are key differentiators and position us well to provide a strong value proposition for clients. In addition, we believe our “one firm”
culture, which is rooted in values of integrity and responsibility, is a key intangible asset to all our stakeholders.

Real Estate Absolute Return
$5.90n \$233bn

Alternative Credit
$14.6bn?

Investment Strategies

Private Equity
$30.4bn

Infrastructure Sustainable / Impact
$14.6bn $27.8bn?




1AUM as of December 31, 2024
2Sustainable Investing and Alternative Credit investments overlap with investments in other strategies.

We operate at scale across the full range of private markets and absolute return strategies. Private markets and absolute return strategies are
primarily defined by the liquidity of the underlying securities purchased, the length of the client commitment, and the form and timing of incentive fees. We
offer the following private markets and absolute return investment strategies:

Private Markets

Private Markets represents $56.8 billion of AUM, or 71% of total AUM. Private Markets consists of Private Equity, Infrastructure and Real Estate as well
as certain strategies that span the full breadth of the platform, which are addressed in more detail below.

. Private Equity. We are a recognized industry leader in private equity with global capabilities investing in primary funds, secondaries and
co-investments. As of December 31, 2024, we managed $30.4 billion of AUM in private equity strategies .

. Infrastructure. We are a leading open architecture infrastructure platform with nearly two decades of experience. Our investment activities span
geographies, infrastructure subsectors, and include fund investing, secondary investing and direct investing. As of December 31, 2024, we
managed $14.6 billion of AUM in infrastructure strategies.

. Real Estate. We manage real estate investment portfolios through a flexible investment platform to provide differentiated exposure to
opportunistic real estate investments, primarily in North America. We are a leader in seeding new platforms, joint venture investing, and other
creative and innovative implementation methods to access attractive real estate returns. As of December 31, 2024, we managed $5.9 billion of
AUM in real estate strategies.

Absolute Return Strategies

. Absolute Return Strategies. We have been investing in hedge fund strategies for over 53 years. We are an experienced and scaled platform
with a leading capability in providing customized solutions. As of December 31, 2024, we managed $23.3 billion of AUM in our absolute return
strategies, or 29% of our total AUM.

Strategies Across Private Markets and Absolute Return Strategies

. Middle Market and Small and Emerging Managers . Over the past 30 years, we have developed a market-leading, dedicated effort to investing in
and alongside middle market and small and emerging managers, which we believe adds significant, differentiated value to our clients. As of
December 31, 2024, we managed $19.9 billion of AUM in small and emerging managers.

. Alternative Credit. We are a leader in alternative credit investing and our one-firm approach to the asset clas s provides us with a competitive
advantage in sourcing and making credit investments. Our activities cover the liquidity spectrum across structured credit, corporate credit,
distressed, direct lending, and real assets. Our platform also enables us to take a holistic approach to credit investing, both through managers
and through credit co-investments and secondaries. As of December 31, 2024, we managed $14.6 billion of AUM in alternative credit strategies.

. Opportunistic Investing. We combine our unparalleled deal sourcing platform with flexibility of mandate to manage programs and products that
opportunistically invest across multiple asset classes, liquidity profiles, capital structures and geographies.

. Sustainable and Impact Investing. We implement Sustainable Investing solutions for clients, that are rooted in our clients’ choice around the
inclusion of Sustainable Investing themes, and/or Impact factors into their portfolio construction. We have been consistently focused on helping
our clients achieve their own objectives by designing solutions that meet our clients’ varied goals, priorities, and risk tolerances. Total Sustainable
Investments AUM is $27.8 billion as of December 31, 2024.



Client Offerings and Value Proposition

We strive to put our clients’ needs first, and a key to doing that is by providing solutions across alternatives strategies with a high degree of flexibility.
Within each investment strategy, we make primary investments in funds managed by third-party managers, which we refer to as primary fund investments,
and we pursue ‘direct-oriented’ strategies: we acquire secondary stakes in such funds, which we refer to as secondaries; we co-invest alongside such
primary fund managers, which we refer to as co-investments; we make seed investments in small and emerging managers, which we refer to as seeding; and
we invest directly into operating businesses and operating assets, which we refer to as direct investing.

From a structural standpoint, we offer investment portfolios to clients in two broad ways:

. Customized separate accounts. We construct customized portfolios to meet our clients’ specific objectives with regards to asset classes,
implementation types, return, risk tolerance, diversification, liquidity and other factors. We believe that the strong economic value proposition for
customized separate accounts helps create a moat around our strategic partnerships with our clients, which in turn helps foster long-term
relationships. Depending on the program, we offer our clients fee savings and preferential terms as well as access to proprietary capacity or deal
flow. Beyond our strong economic value proposition, for many of our large clients, we also provide value-add ancillary services, including fund
administration, portfolio risk management and research access. Clients also can benefit from the scale of our data and technology systems.
Generally available for commitments of $100 million or more, customized separate accounts comprised $56.7 billion, or 71% of our AUM as of
December 31, 2024.

. Specialized funds. Our specialized funds are products through which multiple investors can access a particular investment strategy through a
commingled vehicle. Our specialized funds leverage our existing investment capabilities, and lower minimum investment thresholds, allowing us
to expand our investor footprint with both institutional and individual investors. Our specialized funds comprised $23.4 billion, or 29% of our
AUM, as of December 31, 2024.

Global Footprint and Diversified Client Base

Our client base is highly tenured, in large part due to the aforementioned strength of our value proposition. Our 25 largest clients by AUM have been
with us for an average of approximately 15 years and our existing clients are a key driver of our asset growth. Existing clients contributed more than 91% of
the total capital raised in 2024 and has typically been in excess of 75% of total annual capital raised historically. Notably, capital from existing clients has
pertained to both existing programs and new portfolios in different investment strategies, and cross-selling has traditionally been another key driver of the
firm’s growth. As of December 31, 2024, 50% of our top 50 clients by AUM worked with us in multiple investment strategies (i.e., private equity, infrastructure,
real estate, and absolute return strategies).

We had over 550 institutional clients as of December 31, 2024, which were broadly diversified by type, size, geography, and revenue. Our clients
include some of the world’s largest pension funds, sovereign wealth entities, corporations, financial institutions, and insurance corporations. Our individual
investor base includes family offices and high-net-worth and mass affluent individuals.
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Over our history we have continued to expand our global footprint, which we believe provides us with the opportunity to in turn continue to benefit from
the ongoing global growth of the alternative asset management industry. We operate in nine primary offices in eight countries. We serve clients from 34
countries and have deployed capital in over 100 countries across a wide range of investment strategies.
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Strong and Scalable Business Model
The strength of our business model is derived from the following valuable attributes:

. High management fee centricity. For each of the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, net management fees were $387.0 million and
$360.9 million, respectively, compared to $36.5 million and $15.6 million of net incentive fees attributable to GCM Grosvenor, respectively.

. Long-duration capital and stable management fee base. Our management fee stability is rooted in the long-dated nature of our investment
programs. As of December 31, 2024, more than $32.3 billion of our AUM is in evergreen programs - $23.3 billion in absolute return strategies
and $9.0 billion in private markets evergreen programs, defined as those with an open-ended structure or NAV target. In addition, as of
December 31, 2024, $37.6 hillion of our AUM, or 66%, of our AUM in private markets strategies, had a remaining tenor of seven years or more.

. Significant visibility into future management fee growth . We have experienced steady growth in the fee-paying AUM (“FPAUM”") that drives our
management fees. Our capital raising is driven by two primary factors: program re-ups and new programs. Client re-ups to private markets
customized separate account programs occur at an approximately 90% certainty rate every few years and at an average of approximately 25%
greater size than predecessor programs. In addition, each year we raise incremental capital in new programs from existing or prospective
clients. When capital is raised from either source, it either becomes FPAUM immediately or becomes contracted not yet fee-paying AUM
(“CNYFPAUM"). As of December 31, 2024, we had $64.8 billion in FPAUM plus approximately $8.2 billion of CNYFPAUM, which will bolster
FPAUM growth as we start charging management fees, under existing contracts, over the course of applicable commitments periods that extend
for approximately the next three years.

. Additional earnings power from incentive fees. Though subject to more variability, including on account of factors out of our control, we believe
our incentive fees have the opportunity to increase significantly in the future due to the amount of assets able to earn incentive fees and recent
fundraising success. The incentive fees have greater variability between time periods. For example, as of December 31, 2024, the firm’s share
of unrealized carried interest, which relates to cumulative performance for longer duration private markets programs, grew by 201% to
$401 million, as compared to December 31, 2020. Run rate annual performance fees, which reflect the potential annual performance fees
generated by performance fee-eligible AUM at an 8% gross return for both multi-strategy and credit strategies, and a 10% gross return for
specialized opportunity strategies, were $30.4 million as of December 31, 2024.

. Embedded operating leverage. Our business benefits from embedded operating leverage, which in turn drives scalability and margin expansion
opportunity. Over the last decade, we have made significant investments in our platform infrastructure by building out our investment teams
across investment strategies and geographies, which we believe positions us well for continued margin expansion. Our margin on Fee-Related
Earnings increased to 42% for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to 31% in 2020.

Our History

Since the launch of our first absolute return portfolio more than 53 years ago, we have specialized in creating and managing alternative investment
portfolios on behalf of our clients. From 1971 to the mid-1990s, we provided specialized absolute return portfolios primarily to high-net-worth and family office
investors. Beginning in the 1990s, we expanded our absolute return service offerings to serve institutions of all size and scale. Also starting in the early
1990s, we increased our emphasis on customized portfolios and broadened our offerings. As our assets grew and we strengthened our relationships with
managers, we sought to use our scale, experience and industry relationships to tailor investment mandates and negotiate for improved terms for our clients.

Over the years, we expanded our global presence through the opening of offices in Europe and Asia to support our growing client base.

1 For comparison purposes, presented as if the Mosaic repurchase occurred as of December 31, 2020.
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In January 2014, we added complementary private markets capabilities through our acquisition of the Customized Fund Investment Group from Credit
Suisse Group AG, which was established in 1999. The acquisition added private equity, infrastructure and real estate investment strategies to our business
and has been a success both economically and culturally with a commitment to a “one firm” model that is collaborative across investment strategies. Since
that time, we have also broadened our focus to increasingly focus on direct-oriented investments such as in co-investments and secondaries. Direct-oriented
investments now comprise 52% of our AUM.

Today, we continue to evolve and expand the ways in which we provide solutions to our global clients. Over the past three years we have expanded
our global footprint by opening offices in Toronto, Canada; Frankfurt, Germany; and Sydney, Australia. In 2024, we expanded our offerings to individual
investors by announcing two registered products focusing on investments in private equity and infrastructure assets.

Our Market Opportunity

The alternative asset management industry continues to see strong growth. According to Preqin, Future of Alternatives 2029 , total alternative AUM is
expected to grow from $12.6 trillion in 2020 to $29.2 trillion in 2029.

Alternative Investrments AUM ($T)

2024F 2029F

Several trends and developments have shaped the alternative investing industry and continue to serve as the primary drivers of our growth:

Growth in Total Global AUM

Global assets under management has increased significantly in recent years and is expected to continue growing. According to a 2024 report from
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), total global AUM in the asset and wealth management market is projected to increase from $128.9 trillion in 2023 to
approximately $171.3 trillion in 2028. This expansion of investable capital is anticipated to further drive growth in alternative investment strategies.

Growth in Allocations to Alternative Investment Strategies

Institutional investors face increasing challenges to achieve their target returns within a framework of conventional asset allocations to equities and
bonds. While these challenges in part originated in the low yield environment of the decade following the 2008 financial crisis, market volatility more recently
stemming from higher levels of inflation and interest rates has only reinforced the need for alternative investment strategies. Alternative investment strategies
have established a track record of strong returns and outperformance versus both the fixed income and public equity markets in the longer term. In addition
to strong absolute and relative returns, alternative investments provide diversification, offer an inflation hedge, typically have low correlation to other asset
classes and generate relatively stable income.
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Consequently, institutional investors are increasing allocations to alternatives to improve returns to meet their long-term goals and obligations.

According to the H2 2024 Preqin Investor Outlook for Alternative Assets, institutional investors plan to maintain or increase their long-term allocations
across all alternative investment strategies. Respondents who intend to maintain or increase their allocations:

. 99% for private credit

. 96% for infrastructure

. 91% for real estate

. 87% for private equity

. 79% for absolute return strategies

Democratization of Alternatives

Individual investors, which we define as high-net-worth individuals, the mass affluent, and retail investors, represent a significant growth opportunity for
us and for alternative investment managers. Currently, those investors are significantly under-allocated to alternative investments compared to institutional
investors. According to Bain Global's 2023 Private Equity Report, individual investors allocate less than 5% of their total portfolios to alternatives, compared
to institutional investor portfolios, such as public pension plans and sovereign wealth funds, which allocated 20-25% of their portfolios to alternatives on
average.

This disparity reflects individual investors’ relative newness to alternatives and only recent innovations in products and structures designed to make
these investments more accessible. As education efforts increase and offerings evolve, we anticipate substantial growth in individual allocations to
alternatives over the coming years — creating a multi-trillion-dollar market opportunity for the industry. The flexibility of our platform and breadth of offerings
positions us to capture a significant share of this market.

Institutional Investors Seeking to Consolidate Relationships

There is a growing trend where institutional investors are seeking to consolidate relationships, favoring fewer but deeper strategic relationships with
asset managers. Benefits to investors include:

1. Reducing investment and operational complexity with fewer relationships to manage.
2. Taking advantage of the benefits of larger commitments, such as customized partnerships and reduced fee rates.
3. Value-added services such as research access, data & analytics, strategic planning, custom reporting, etc.

These partnerships tend to be more collaborative and strategic, allowing investors to leverage the scale and depth of asset managers’ investment and
operational platforms. We believe this trend will benefit the solutions providers, like GCM Grosvenor, who can offer a broad range of investment capabilities
and can deliver them in flexible customized partnerships.

Importance of Sourcing Direct-Oriented Strategies

Within investors’ alternative allocations, investors are increasingly adopting direct-oriented investments, such as co-investments and secondaries to
decrease overall costs, reduce the J-curve, and enhance alpha generation. Many institutional investors, including some of the largest and most sophisticated
investors, lack the operational infrastructure to execute these types of investments independently and rely on experienced partners like us for sourcing and
execution.

As competition intensifies and transaction volumes grow, effective sourcing and due diligence are critical to delivering strong performance. We believe
investors will increasingly look to the scale, experience and platform of firms like us to identify high performing direct-oriented investments across a growing,
competitive environment and across economic cycles.

Data and Technology Are Important for Investors

Investors increasingly demand greater analytics and transparency. As a result, investors are increasingly seeking to work with firms that not only have
a proven track record of investing across multiple investment strategies but are also highly sophisticated in their non-investment functions such as portfolio
monitoring, reporting, accounting, legal and compliance, operations and data analysis.
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Given our long history and the resulting depth and scale of our business, we believe we have one of the most comprehensive sets of data in the
industry. In addition, our information advantage spans the breadth of private markets and absolute return investment strategies, which is essential in
sourcing differentiated, high-quality investment opportunities. For example, as of December 31, 2024, we tracked data pertaining to more than 6,300
managers across our platform. Our extensive proprietary data and analytics capabilities drive our investment selection decisions, helping us generate
competitive risk-adjusted returns, and our data infrastructure supports flexible and dynamic reporting capabilities.

Our Competitive Strengths

We Offer the Full Breadth of Alternative Investment Strategies

We are one of the few solutions providers globally with capabilities to invest across the full liquidity spectrum of alternative investment strategies
(private markets, including private equity, infrastructure, real estate and alternative credit, and absolute return strategies) combined with flexibility of
implementation methodologies (primary fund investments, secondaries, co-investments, seeding and direct investments). We believe this offers us a
differentiated investment perspective, as we sit at the intersection of a tremendous amount of market intelligence and deal flow. We also are able to work with
our clients in numerous ways, which we believe is an advantage as investors try to limit the number of asset manager relationships they maintain in favor of a
smaller number of solutions providers who, like us, offer access to multiple investment strategies. As of December 31, 2024, 50% of our top 50 clients by
AUM worked with us in multiple investment strategies.

We Are a Market Leader in Customized Alternative Investment Solutions

The institutional investor community has increasingly embraced tailored investment programs that are different from the one-size-fits-all solution
offered by specialized funds. We believe we were pioneers in customized separate accounts, having launched our first absolute return-focused customized
separate account in 1996 and our first private markets separate account in 1999. In our customized programs we are deeply embedded with our clients and
seek to form a highly collaborative partnership to enable clients to address specific interests, issues and needs. The partnership-centric nature of our private
markets customized separate account relationships has resulted in long-tenure programs and high re-up rates of approximately 90% from January 1, 2018
through December 31, 2024. For closed-end programs, capital deployment is typically highly programmatic, meaning re-ups typically occur every few years.
As of December 31, 2024, we had $56.7 billion in AUM across our customized separate accounts for 158 clients across 265 customized portfolios.

Our Size, Scale and More Than 50-Year History to Drive a Strong Value Proposition and Sourcing Engine

Over 53-years of industry participation and leadership has afforded us with a vast network of relationships across the full spectrum of the alternatives
landscape. Today, we seek to capture the benefits of these relationships, further amplified by our scale as a $80.1 billion investor as of December 31, 2024,
to our clients. Depending on the program, we offer our clients fee savings and preferential terms, access to hard to access managers, and proprietary deal
flow. In addition, our breadth and history are critical in sourcing direct-oriented investments, which have grown from 39% of our AUM four years ago to 52%
of our AUM as of December 31, 2024. Direct-oriented investment approaches including co-investing and investing in secondaries rely on the breadth of our
firm network from a sourcing and intelligence standpoint.

Leader in Client Choice-Driven Sustainable and Impact Investment Strategies

We believe that we were early adopters in offering clients choice around the integration of Sustainable or Impact objectives by designing, at their
request, solutions that meet our clients’ varied goals, priorities and risk tolerances.

Client interest in developing Impact programs within their alternative allocations is rapidly evolving, as clients are increasingly identifying specific
Impact themes they want to address via their investment portfolios. These solutions require not only investment acumen, but also robust ancillary services,
including, in particular, customized reporting on the relevant objectives. We believe we are uniquely positioned to capture the opportunity for “Customized
Impact Solutions”. We are extending the same flexibility that we have offered for decades to our customized separate account clients to Impact programs. A
client can opt to invest through co-investments, secondaries, direct investments, or through funds or a combination of these implementation styles. We
create highly targeted programs that are focused on only one theme and asset class or a broad Impact program that cuts across multiple themes and asset
classes.
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Strong Long-Term Performance Across Breadth of Alternative Investment Strategies

Generating competitive risk-adjusted returns is one of our core objectives. As shown below, for our realized and partially realized investments, we have
outperformed the respective market benchmarks across all of our private markets strategies on an inception-to-date basis as of September 30, 2024. Past
performance is not indicative of future results.

(% in millions, unless otherwise mentioned)

Annualized Returns

Outperformance of PME by PME Index Since Inception Inception Date

Private Equity
Primary Fund Investments® 36 % S&P 500 135 % 2000
Secondaries Investments® 6.4 % S&P 500 184 % 2014
Co-Investments/Direct Investments® 59 % S&P 500 20.8 % 2009
Infrastructure®

MSCI World
Primary Fund Investments® 6.0 % Infrastructure 124 % 2009

MSCI World
Direct-Oriented Investments® 88 % Infrastructure 147 % 2009
Real Estate® 42 % FNERTR Index 139 % 2010

Note: Returns for each strategy are presented from the date the firm established a dedicated team focused on such strategy through September 30, 2024. Investment net
returns are net of investment-related fees and expenses, including fees paid to underlying managers, but do not reflect management fees, performance fees, or carried
interest to GCM Grosvenor or any expenses of any account or vehicle GCM Grosvenor manages. Data does not include investments that were transferred at the request
of investors prior to liquidation and are no longer managed by GCM Grosvenor.

1) Reflects primary fund investments since 2000. Excludes certain private markets credit fund investments outside of private equity programs.

) GCM Grosvenor established a dedicated private equity secondaries vertical in September 2014. Track record reflects all secondaries investments since the new
vertical was formed.

3) GCM Grosvenor established a dedicated Private Equity Co-Investment Sub-Committee and adopted a more targeted, active co-investment strategy in December
2008. Track record reflects co-investments/direct investments made since 2009.

4) Reflects infrastructure investments since 2009, when we formalized our global approach and launched the first infrastructure specialized fund. Infrastructure
investments exclude labor impact investments.

5) Reflects real estate investments since 2010. In 2010, GCM Grosvenor established a dedicated Real Estate team and adopted a more targeted, active real estate

strategy.
Annualized Returns Since
Inception - Period Ended
December 31, 2024 Inception Date
Absolute Return Strategies 70 % 1996
GCMLP Diversified Multi-Strategy Composite 79 % 1993

For additional details on our investment performance and explanatory footnotes, please see “— Investment Performance”. In addition to our investment
performance, we believe clients value our services and support in portfolio monitoring, reporting, accounting, legal and compliance, operations and data
analysis functions.

Deep Bench of Talent and Strong Corporate Culture

At our firm, we believe culture is one of our most important and defensible assets. Our clients hire us to be their essential long-term partners, so their
comfort with the firm and team is a critical component of their diligence on our organization. That investment in culture is reflected in the stability and
inclusivity of our team as well as the fact that we do not operate on a star system and therefore are not beholden to any one individual. We aim to invest
responsibly, operate our business with integrity,
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and build an inclusive workplace where our employees can thrive. We have been a registered investment adviser since 1997 with a culture of compliance
rooted in what we believe is a proper tone at the top.

In addition to a competitive compensation structure, we promote a work environment that we believe is interesting and challenging, providing our
employees the opportunity to grow professionally. We also seek to foster strong alignment between our employees and clients. As of December 31, 2024,
our current employees, former employees and the firm had approximately $683 million of their own capital (including through leveraged vehicles) invested
into our various investment programs, which we believe aligns our interests with those of our clients.

Strategic Priorities

Expand Relationships with Existing Clients

We believe the best way to grow our business is by providing excellent partnership and results to our existing clients, because when they succeed, we
succeed. Over the last three years 72% of our top 25 clients have expanded their investment relationship with us, and during 2024, over 91% of our gross
capital inflows were derived from existing clients. Notably, capital from existing clients has pertained to both existing programs and new portfolios in different
investment strategies, and cross-selling has been a driver of the firm’s growth. As of December 31, 2024, 50% of our top 50 clients by AUM worked with us in
multiple investment strategies (i.e., private equity, infrastructure, real estate, alternative credit and absolute return strategies), compared to 46% as of the end
of 2020. We have a track record of successfully expanding our client relationships within or between investment strategies, and we believe a large portion of
our future growth will come from existing clients through both renewals and expansion of client relationships into new strategies.

Expand Global Footprint and Client Base

Since 1996, we have had a global client base with significant assets coming from outside the United States. We have continued to grow our global
presence significantly by opening new offices internationally as well as expanding our non-U.S. client base. Our aim is to continue expanding our global
presence through further direct investment in personnel, client relationships and increased investments with, and direct and co-investments alongside,
established managers. We believe that the favorable industry trends for alternative asset managers are global in nature, with a number of international
markets representing compelling opportunities for our investment strategies.

In 2021, we opened new offices in Toronto, Canada and Frankfurt, Germany, and in 2023, we further expanded our global footprint by opening an
office in Sydney, Australia. While we believe the U.S. will continue to drive a significant amount of our fundraising, we have already seen momentum in non-
U.S. markets in 2024.

Expand Distribution Channels

We believe the growing demand for alternative assets provides an opportunity for us to attract new investors across a variety of distribution channels.
As we continue to expand our product offerings and our global presence, we expect to be able to attract new investors to our funds. In addition to pension
funds, sovereign wealth funds, corporate pension funds, multiemployer pension funds and financial institutions, which have historically comprised a
significant portion of our AUM, in recent periods we have extended our investment strategies and marketing efforts increasingly to insurance companies and
to individual investors, both of which we believe remain under-allocated to alternative assets.

For example, in 2024 we significantly expanded our product lineup for the individual investor community. We used the interval fund structures, which is
investor-friendly structure and substantially reduces the operational burden of investing in alternatives by offering daily liquidity, quarterly redemptions,
subscriptions via a fund ticker, and simplified 1099 tax reporting. Furthermore, these structures are accessible to a broader group of individual investors and
feature materially lower minimum investment thresholds compared to a traditional drawdown structure.

We see significant growth opportunities in our individual investor distribution capabilities and products over the coming years, making it a key
strategic focus for us. Our approach includes leveraging a combination of distribution partnerships and an internal sales team to market our products to
wirehouses, RIAs and independent broker-dealers. Additionally, we will continue evolving our product offerings and adopting innovative structures to make
our investment strategies more accessible to individual investors.
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Unlock Platforms’ Origination Potential to Build New, Differentiated Investment Offerings

While we pride ourselves on the breadth of our investment offering, we believe that we can further leverage our history, relationships and breadth to
originate more differentiated dealflow on behalf of our clients. A key to our past growth has been pursuing innovative investment strategies that complement
our incumbent strengths, and over the past decade we have successfully launched a number of new investments strategies.

One example is the firm’s Elevate strategy, which launched in 2022, and closed its first Elevate fund in 2024 with approximately $800 million of capital.
The Elevate strategy builds on GCM Grosvenor’s strong, multi-decade track record of investing in small and emerging managers and the firm’s position as a
leading private equity investor. The firm has $19.9 billion of assets under management with small and emerging managers as of December 31, 2024. The
firm’s deep expertise and expansive network enable it to provide critical resources, strategic guidance, and operational support to firm founders, encouraging
innovation, growth, and a stronger path to long-term success.

We believe we can further utilize our embedded deal origination engine to grow our offerings in credit co-investments and secondaries, value-add, core
and core-plus real estate strategies, as well as infrastructure debt and project finance.

Capture Benefits of Embedded Operating Leverage While Investing Strategically in Growth

Our business benefits from embedded operating leverage, which in turn drives scalability. Over the last decade we have made significant investments
in our platform infrastructure by building out our investment teams across investment strategies and geographies, which we believe positions us well for
continued margin expansion. Since the end of 2020, our Fee-Related Earnings margin expanded from 31% to 42% as of the end of 2024, during which time
we also made investments in our business, such as opening new global offices and expanding our distribution efforts to the insurance and individual investor
channels. Consequently, we are focused on balancing strategically investing in the business to drive growth with capturing the benefits of our embedded
operating leverage to expand our margins.

Investment Strategies

As described below, we provide our clients with access to a full range of alternatives strategies across both private markets and absolute return
investment strategies, and diversified across liquidity profile, geographic regions and industries.

Private Markets

We had $56.8 billion in Private Markets AUM as of December 31, 2024. In private markets, clients generally commit to invest over a multi-year time
period and have an expected duration of seven years or more. As of December 31, 2024, 52% of Private Markets AUM was in direct-oriented strategies
(secondaries, co-investments, direct investments, and seed investments).

Private Equity

Private equity is our largest private markets investment strategy with $30.4 billion in AUM as of December 31, 2024. We are a recognized industry
leader in private equity investing with over 20 years of experience. Since our first private equity investment in 1999, we have gained deep experience across
strategies, including leveraged buyouts, special situations, growth equity, and venture capital.

Our private equity investment philosophy is centered around middle market strategies, which we define as companies with total enterprise value less
than $1.5 billion at entry. This approach allows us to access investments where proprietary sourcing, value-add capabilities and differentiated underwriting
can lead to lower entry values and better risk return profiles. This is also an area of the market that is typically inefficient for institutional investors to access
directly and where clients can leverage our extensive team and industry expertise to invest in a diversified portfolio, allowing us to add more value to our
clients. We are a preferred capital partner for many hard-to-access funds and small and emerging managers and we maintain an active presence with
advisory board seats on many of our middle market buyout fund investments. Our deep manager relationships help fuel our direct-oriented private equity
strategies: co-investments and secondaries.

Infrastructure

Infrastructure has been our fastest growing alternative investment strategy over the last three years, with AUM increasing by 144% to $14.6 billion as
of December 31, 2024 from December 31, 2020. Since our first infrastructure investment in 2003, we have grown into one of the leaders in alternative
infrastructure investing across power, utilities, renewables, transportation
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and telecom/technology infrastructure. We have a specialized, global team of investment professionals who focus solely on infrastructure investments,
providing us with a comprehensive view of the infrastructure landscape and enabling us to broadly source opportunities using the most effective means of
implementation. We seek to drive value for our clients through broad access to primary fund investments, secondaries, co-investments, and direct
investments.

We launched our first infrastructure customized separate account in 2007, and in 2009, we launched our first diversified infrastructure specialized fund.
In 2018, we launched the firm’s infrastructure advantage strategy, a direct impact strategy which seeks to originate and execute infrastructure projects that
leverage the inclusion of organized labor as a contributing factor to enabling attractive risk adjusted returns.

Real Estate

Our real estate AUM as of December 31, 2024 was $5.9 billion, a 86% increase compared to December 31, 2020. Since our first real estate investment
in 2002, our team has targeted value-add and opportunistic returns through equity and credit investments. An outgrowth of our open architecture approach
across the firm, our real estate platform focuses on investing in and alongside early-stage real estate platforms. We invest in high quality assets at an
advantageous all-in cost and with additional upside potential. We provide various forms of capital to these emerging real estate platforms, by acting as a
strategic partner, by providing seed capital to the business or fund, by helping to satisfy GP funding requirements, or entering into joint ventures to capitalize
deals or groups of deals.

Through this approach, our team has helped launch more than 40 real estate platforms or business lines for existing real estate platforms. The
approach has provided access to differentiated deal flow, and due to the catalytic nature of the capital in addition to the returns of the physical assets we
often also participate in revenue sharing alongside our partners to drive additional return.

Absolute Return Strategies

Absolute return strategies are primarily defined by the liquidity of the underlying securities purchased, the length of the client commitment, and the
form and timing of incentive fees. Generally, for absolute return strategies the securities tend to be more liquid, and incentive fees are earned on an annual
basis pursuant to mark to market. We offer a broad range of tailored solutions across strategies (multi-strategy, opportunistic credit, macro, relative value,
long/short equity and quantitative strategies) and managers. Our overall investment philosophy is to invest with leading managers to achieve attractive risk-
adjusted returns with low volatility and low correlation to traditional investment strategies. Diversification, risk management and a focus on downside
protection are key tenets of our approach. Through detailed fundamental analysis and due diligence, we aim to identify investment opportunities where
intermediate or long-term value is obscured by attributes such as complexity, corporate events, technical dislocations, or market misunderstandings. We
frequently provide efficient access to underlying managers through improved fee structures, negotiated favorable terms and targeted exposures. Our scale
and reputation as a longstanding, value-added limited partner creates opportunities for us to gain access to managers that are “closed” and not otherwise
accepting new capital. As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $23.3 billion AUM in our absolute return strategies.

Investment Strategies Across Asset Classes

Middle Market and Small and Emerging Managers

For the past 30 years we have developed a market-leading, dedicated effort to investing in and alongside middle market and small and emerging
managers, which we believe adds significant, differentiated value to our clients. We believe small and emerging managers present opportunity for better
risk/return profiles, lower competition and differentiated underwriting.

We broadly define middle market investment activities as funds with AUM of generally less than $3.0 billion in the United States, €2.0 billion in Europe
or $1.5 billion in Asia, small investment activities as funds with AUM of generally less than $1.0 to $2.0 billion and emerging market activities as managers
that have launched three or fewer funds or have less than three years of investment activity. As of December 31, 2024, we had $19.9 billion of AUM
dedicated to small and emerging managers across both private markets and absolute return strategies.

Alternative Credit

With over 30 years of investing experience, our credit investments span credit strategies across the liquidity spectrum, including structured credit,
corporate credit, distressed, direct lending, and real asset credit. Our credit investment activities
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significantly leverage the sourcing power of the firm’'s broad alternatives platform, which provides us with differentiated deal flow and the flexibility to execute
through primary fund investments, co-investments, secondaries, and direct transactions across the credit landscape. Our robust global platform also provides
a wide range of opportunities, including niche opportunities and exclusive access to capacity-constrained investments. We implement credit strategies for our
clients through customized separate accounts offering either a holistic credit solution or complementary exposures, strategic partnerships that enable clients
to enhance their existing credit programs through co-investments and secondaries, and dedicated credit-focused specialized funds. As of December 31,
2024, we managed $14.6 billion of AUM in alternative credit strategies.

Opportunistic Investing

We manage a variety of programs and products that combine our unparalleled deal sourcing platform with the flexibility to invest across multiple
asset classes, liquidity profiles, capital structures and geographies.

Sustainable and Impact Investments

As of December 31, 2024, we managed $27.8 billion of Sustainable Investing AUM. We believe that we were early adopters of offering clients choice
around the integration of Sustainable and/or Impact factors into their portfolio construction. We have been committed to helping our clients achieve their
Sustainable and/or Impact objectives by designing, at their request, solutions that meet our clients’ varied goals, priorities, and risk tolerances. Classification
as a Sustainable and/or Impact Investment is based on the assessment of each individual investment by GCM Grosvenor investment team members. There
is subjectivity in placing an investment in a particular category, and conventions and methodologies used by GCM Grosvenor in categorizing investments and
calculating the data presented may differ from those used by other investment managers.

Implementation Methodologies

We provide our clients access to both private markets and absolute return investment strategies that are diversified across financing stages,
geographic regions and industries. We implement such strategies by making investments in primary funds and investments in direct-oriented strategies,
which encompass secondaries, co-investments, direct investments and seed investments. Direct-oriented strategies AUM has grown to represent 52% of
total firm AUM as of December 31, 2024, compared to 39% as of December 31, 2020.

Primary Fund Investments

Primary fund investments are investments in funds, either at the time the funds are initially launched (for private markets strategies) or on an ongoing
basis (for absolute return strategies). We apply the same rigorous analytical process to all primary investment opportunities for customized separate
accounts and specialized funds. In most cases, managers seeking institutional capital actively market their funds to us due to our broad client base and
market position. We regularly review and discuss investment opportunities with customized separate account clients, certain of which have discretion over
final investment decisions.

At the time we commit capital to a fund on behalf of our specialized funds or customized separate accounts, investments the fund will make are
generally not known and investors typically have very little or no ability to influence the investments that are made during the fund’s investment period.
Accordingly, an accurate assessment of the manager's capabilities is essential for investment success. A private markets primary fund usually has a
contractual duration of between 10 and 15 years, with the capital deployed over a period of typically four to six years.

Secondaries

Secondaries are typically investments in funds through secondary market purchases of existing fund interests from existing limited partners in those
funds. Institutional investors utilize the secondary market for strategic portfolio rebalancing, rationalizing overlapping positions resulting from mergers and
acquisitions or providing liquidity when facing cash constraints. The secondary market has grown dramatically in the last 20 years and today provides a
reliable liquidity option for owners of fund interests as well as attractive buying opportunities for secondary investors.

Our approach to secondaries is differentiated as a result of our large primary fund investments business. We leverage our strong and deep
relationships with managers to identify potential secondary opportunities and through these relationships, we have greater access to information, which
enables us to act quickly when evaluating a potential secondary opportunity. In addition, our reputation as a longstanding, value-added limited partner with
significant access to primary capital makes us an
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attractive buyer from the manager’s perspective. Further, because we have capital available from our specialized funds and customized separate accounts,
we have flexibility to invest in secondary transactions of various sizes on behalf of our clients.

For these reasons, we are often considered a preferred secondaries buyer, and are able to source transactions from managers on a proprietary basis.

Our global platform provides for deep market coverage, further helping us source proprietary transaction opportunities. We believe proprietary and
advantaged deal flow has been a critical factor in our ability to purchase high quality assets at below market prices.

Co-investments

Co-investment opportunities are investments made in partnership with private markets and absolute return asset managers and their funds. We
source co-investment opportunities through our extensive origination and sourcing efforts described below. Our investment team analyzes and considers
each opportunity for risk and return and selects those opportunities that best fit our portfolios’ investment objectives. We seek diversification with regard to
investment type, geography and with regard to our partners. Our co-investments are made in partnership with investment managers. The value proposition
for managers to offer co-investments to us falls into three primary categories: (1) we can be a source of additional capital for deals that may otherwise be too
large for managers seeking targeted diversification; (2) a co-investment can present an opportunity for a manager to further develop their relationship with
us, one of the largest providers of capital to the alternative markets; and (3) we believe we are increasingly viewed as a strategic investor in some manner
(e.g., geographic assistance, industry knowledge and brand reputation).

Direct Investments

Direct investment opportunities are direct investments made on a standalone basis into operating businesses and operating assets. We source direct
investment opportunities through our extensive origination and sourcing efforts described below. Our direct investments typically have a flexible mandate and
can invest across asset classes, geographies, sectors and liquidity profiles.

Seed Investments

GP Seeding refers to minority investments in the management companies of emerging asset managers (commonly defined as Funds I-1ll), commonly
structured as either a revenue share or common equity interest. Seed capital is typically comprised of a combination of anchor LP capital, co-investment
capital, and sometimes working capital, in exchange for which a seed investor receives a minority interest in a given asset manager. The duration and
structure of seed deals are highly negotiated relative to the bespoke nature of each GP, but often range from initial management company participation
interests of 10-25% in today’s market. Unlike a typical anchor LP commitment, because seed investors participate at the management company level, they
may participate in management fees and/or carried interest from current and future funds and any other cash flows that accrue to the management company.

Our differentiated approach to seed investing leverages our 30-year track record sourcing and investing in small and emerging managers. We are
viewed as an investor of choice by new managers, positioning us well to source proprietary seed opportunities.

Investment Process and Monitoring

The details of our investment process vary among our investment strategies and implementation methodologies, but the flowchart and descriptions
below generally outline the key steps of the investment process for primary fund investments, secondaries, and co-investments. This process is followed for
each potential investment regardless of size, stage, strategy, or geography.

Sourcing of Opportunities

All of our investment strategies benefit from our scale ($80.1 billion in AUM as of December 31, 2024), our extensive track record (over 53 years of
experience), our culture of compliance and the depth of our investment team (181 investment professionals). We believe that one of our competitive
advantages is our comprehensive and robust sourcing and investment process. Our deal flow is sourced through multiple channels and reviewed through a
rigorous, multi-step selection process that includes independent investment and operational due diligence.
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We maintain a robust pipeline of primary fund investments, secondaries, direct and co-investments. Our ability to source, select and access top-tier
opportunities reflects the rigorous processes executed by our large, experienced teams.

Our sourcing system relies on the following channels:

Existing manager relationships. We maintain strong relationships with many of the premier and most difficult-to-access managers across the
alternative sector and seek to leverage those relationships to the benefit of our clients. Our relationships with a large pool of high-quality managers and
management teams serve as a source of investment opportunities including secondaries and co-investments. We have experience and access across the
spectrum of market and manager size. As of December 31, 2024, we tracked over 6,300 managers in our database.

Proactive sourcing log. Our proprietary deal flow log monitors funds coming to market. Based on information obtained through our large network, non-
affiliated firms, intermediaries, attendance at industry conferences and industry publications, we compile robust contact lists to communicate with managers
who may have funds coming to market. We believe our proactive sourcing enables us to get a head start on the identification and evaluation of investment
opportunities.

Global offices. With multiple investment offices located in the U.S., Europe, Asia, and Australia, we maintain a global footprint and perspective,
allowing us to source idiosyncratic deal flow from local markets. Our on-the-ground investment professionals in nine offices globally assist with sourcing,
evaluating and monitoring opportunities in their respective regions. Our regional offices also allow us to build relationships with local stakeholders. For
example, we rely on our team’s regional expertise to evaluate emerging managers that could be overlooked by other investors and make commitments to
high quality investments nationwide.

In-bound opportunities. We are an investor and partner of choice for many managers. We frequently receive placement memoranda in-bounds from
prospective managers due to our reputation in the market as a value-add investor. Receipt of materials directly from managers is particularly relevant with
respect to spin-outs and new funds as well as for secondary transactions and co-investments.

Initial Evaluation

Once an opportunity is identified, we assign a team of both senior and junior investment professionals to conduct investment due diligence and ongoing
monitoring. Based on the team’s assessment of key materials and the initial meeting/call, we evaluate the investment merits and the suitability of the
investment for our portfolios.

Preliminary Due Diligence

The team performs preliminary due diligence on a proposed investment to more thoroughly analyze the key risks and merits identified during initial
evaluation. The team also conducts informal reference checks with potential fund investors and/or co-investors.

Comprehensive Due Diligence

Comprehensive investment due diligence on a primary fund or secondary investment involves one or more site visits to a potential manager’s office(s).
Key areas of our evaluation include performance evaluation, investment strategy, portfolio revaluation, management team assessment and detailed reference
checks. We usually execute co-investments alongside trusted managers in whose funds we have invested before. Therefore, managers have typically been
subject to the due diligence evaluations listed above prior to the evaluation of a co-investment opportunity. For direct investments, only the most attractive
investments move to more intensive due diligence, which typically involves meetings with management, company facility visits, discussions with industry
analysts and consultants and an in-depth examination of financial results and projections. This approach, along with our depth of resources, allows us to
complete comprehensive due diligence within the often shortened timeframe typically requested by sponsors due to deal timing constraints.

Operational Due Diligence

Operational due diligence is performed by our Operational Due Diligence Team, which is comprised of members of our Legal and Finance
Departments. The team is responsible for operational due diligence efforts across alternative investments. The goals of operational due diligence process
are to:

. Evaluate risk: Determine whether an investment meets our operational due diligence standards;
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. Mitigate risk@: Seek to avoid losses and reputational risks arising from operational issues;
. Structure investments: Evaluate the legal and governance structure and terms of investment; and

. Enhance terms: Negotiate improved terms.

In seeking to achieve these goals, the team performs three main assessments: (i) third-party conducted background investigations, (ii) operational
capabilities and internal controls review and (iii) legal and structuring review. The nature and extent of operational due diligence procedures performed varies
depending on the structure of the investment and negotiation.

Committee Approvals

Upon completion of comprehensive due diligence, prospective investments are submitted for approval to the relevant investment committee. Members
of the investment committee receive a memorandum prior to the team’s presentation. Following a presentation by the team, members of the investment
committee discuss the pros and cons of the investment recommendation. An investment must be approved by a majority vote of the investment committee.

For operational due diligence, the operational due diligence team prepares an information packet, which details its findings. The team presents the
investment to the operations committee for approval. Our operations committee reviews investment opportunities independently from the investments team
and provides approval as part of their standard review process.

Monitoring

While careful investment selection is crucial, once an investment is made, monitoring and on-going involvement is critical to maintaining appropriate
oversight controls and achieving our objectives. To this end, monitoring is an integral part of our investment process. We employ a hands-on approach to
monitoring investments from an investment and operational perspective.

Investment monitoring. Senior members of the team assigned to an investment remain actively involved and closely monitor each investment through
its exit. Such monitoring involves in-depth qualitative and quantitative reviews of the investment on a regular basis.

Operational monitoring. The Operational Due Diligence Team also employs a comprehensive operational monitoring program, which is separate and
distinct from the investment team’s investment monitoring program. The goal of our operational monitoring program is to monitor and manage, on an ongoing
basis, operational risks associated with the investments on which they provided initial operational due diligence. We seek to identify “change events” that
cause us to re-underwrite portions of our due diligence and re-evaluate the investment.

Investment Performance

The following tables present information relating to the performance of all the investments made by GCM Grosvenor (except as mentioned otherwise in
more detail below) across both the private markets and absolute return strategies. The data for these investments is presented from the date indicated
through September 30, 2024 for private markets strategies and through December 31, 2024 for absolute return strategies and have not been adjusted to
reflect acquisitions or disposals of investments subsequent to that date.

When considering the data presented below, you should note that the historical results of our discretionary investments are not indicative of the future
results you should expect from such investments, from any future investment funds we may raise or from any investment in our Class A common stock or
warrants, in part because:

. market conditions and investment opportunities during previous periods may have been significantly more favorable for generating positive
performance than those we may experience in the future;

. the performance of our investment programs is generally calculated on the basis of net asset value of the funds’ investments, including
unrealized gains, which may never be realized;

. our historical returns derive largely from the performance of our earlier investment programs, whereas future returns will depend increasingly on
the performance of our newer investment programs or investment programs not yet formed,

@ Risk management, diversification and due diligence processes seek to mitigate, but cannot eliminate risk, nor do they imply low risk.
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our newly established investment programs may generate lower returns during the period that they take to deploy their capital;

in recent years, there has been increased competition for investment opportunities resulting from the increased amount of capital invested in
alternative investment strategies and high liquidity in debt markets, and the increased competition for investments may reduce our returns in the
future;

the current sustained inflationary environment and rising interest rates may impact the ability to generate returns for a given investment; and

the performance of particular investment programs also will be affected by risks of the industries and businesses in which they invest.

For purposes of the following tables:

“Commitments” are the sum of total commitments and investments made by our portfolios to underlying investments of a particular strategy;

“Contributions” are the sum of total amount of capital invested by our portfolios in underlying investments of a particular strategy, plus capitalized
expenses paid in respect of such investments;

“Distributions” are the sum of recallable and non-recallable returns of capital, interest, gains and dividend proceeds to our portfolios received
from underlying investments. Distributions may include in-kind distributions at the value reported by the managers, if applicable;

“Current Value” and “Net Asset Value” of a strategy represent the latest aggregate fair value of the underlying investments in such strategy
made by our portfolios, which is typically reported by the underlying investment managers of such investments. No assurance can be given as to
the value that may ultimately be realized by any investment;

“Investment Net TVPI” represents the total value paid-in multiple of our portfolios’ investments in the relevant strategy, and is calculated as
adjusted value (i.e., Distributions + Net Asset Value) over total Contributions (i.e., investments, expenses, management fees, organization
costs). Investment Net TVPI is not reduced for our management fees, allocable expenses and carried interest, but does reflect such reductions,
if any, at the underlying investment level;

“Investment Net IRR” represents the net internal rate of return of our portfolios’ investments in the relevant strategy and reflects the total
combined IRR for underlying investments that have been invested in by our portfolios in the relevant strategy. It is calculated using all the
outflows to and inflows from the underlying investments, including cash flows for expenses and fees paid by our portfolios to those underlying
investments. Performance information for underlying investments with less than 365 days of cash flows has not been annualized. Performance
information for underlying investments and underlying investment sub-totals with more than 365 days of cash flows has been calculated using an
annualized IRR. Investment Net IRR is not reduced for our management fees, allocable expenses and carried interest, but does reflect such
reductions, if any, at the underlying investment level;

“PMEs” and “PME Index” are the S&P 500, the MSCI World Infrastructure, and the FTSE Nareit All REITS indices we present for comparison
calculated on a Public Market Equivalent basis. We believe these indices are commonly used by private markets investors to evaluate
performance. We use the Long Nickels PME calculation methodology, which allows private markets investment performance to be evaluated
against a public index and assumes that capital is being invested in, or withdrawn from, the index on the days the capital was called and
distributed from the underlying private market investments. The S&P 500 Index is a total return capitalization-weighted index that measures the
performance of 500 U.S. large cap stocks. The MSCI World Index is a free float-adjusted market capitalization-weighted index of over 1,600
world stocks that is designed to measure the equity market performance of developed markets. The FTSE Nareit All REITs Index contains all
publicly traded US real estate investment trusts (REITs); and

The “Composite” represents discretionary, globally diversified, multi-strategy, multi-manager investment portfolios (“Composite Funds”) whose
capital is allocated to underlying investment managers that utilize a broad range of alternative investment strategies, including credit, relative
value, multi-strategy, event driven, equities, macro, commodities and portfolio hedges. All Composite Funds included in the Composite are
denominated in U.S. dollars. In general, the Composite Funds seek to achieve superior long-term, risk-adjusted rates of return with low volatility
and low levels of correlation to the broad equity and fixed income markets.
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Historical Performance of Private Market Strategies

Realized and Partially Realized Investments As of September 30, 2024

($ in millions, unless otherwise mentioned)

Current Investment Investment

Strategy Commitments Contributions Distributions Value Net TVPI Net IRR PME PME Index
Private Equity
Primary Fund

Investments® $ 14,103 $ 15377 $ 25,695 $ 2,292 1.82 135 % 9.9% S&P 500
Secondary Investments® $ 585 $ 518 $ 717 $ 190 1.75 184 % 12.0 % S&P 500
Co-Investments/Direct

Investments® $ 3,771 $ 3,587 $ 6,016 $ 1,466 2.09 20.8 % 14.9 % S&P 500
Infrastructure®
Primary Fund MSCI World
Investments® $ 321 % 358 $ 484 % 155 1.79 124 % 6.4 % Infrastructure

MSCI World

Direct-Oriented Investments® $ 2,713 $ 2,653 $ 3816 $ 952 1.80 147 % 5.9 % Infrastructure
Real Estate® $ 793 $ 808 $ 1,053 $ 56 1.37 139 % 9.7 % FNERTR Index

Note: Returns for each strategy are presented from the date the firm established a dedicated team focused on such strategy through September 30, 2024. Investment net
returns are net of investment-related fees and expenses, including fees paid to underlying managers, but do not reflect management fees, performance fees, or carried
interest to GCM Grosvenor or any expenses of any account or vehicle GCM Grosvenor manages. Data does not include investments that were transferred at the request
of investors prior to liquidation and are no longer managed by GCM Grosvenor.

Past performance is not necessarily indicative of future results.
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All Investments As of September 30, 2024

(% in millions, unless otherwise mentioned)

Current Investment Investment Net

Strategy Commitments Contributions Distributions Value Net TVPI IRR PME PME Index
Private Equity
Primary Fund Investments® $ 25,806 $ 24,390 $ 29,036 $ 10,707 1.63 125 % 11.1 % S&P 500
Secondary

Investments® $ 2,212 $ 2,009 $ 1,087 $ 1,830 1.45 148 % 14.7 % S&P 500
Co-Investments/Direct

Investments® $ 8,327 $ 7882 $ 6,306 $ 7,412 1.74 174 % 15.0 % S&P 500
Infrastructure®
Primary Fund MSCI World
Investments® $ 4,053 $ 2,887 $ 1,091 $ 2,627 1.29 9.4 % 8.8 % Infrastructure

MSCI World

Direct-Oriented Investments®  $ 7,356 $ 6,701 $ 4,415 $ 5,378 1.46 121 % 7.7 % Infrastructure
Real Estate® $ 4965 $ 3,870 $ 1,848 $ 2,598 1.15 70 % 8.4 % FNERTR Index
Multi-Asset Class

Programs $ 3,366 $ 3423 $ 2,126 $ 2,447 1.34 13.7 % N/A N/A

Note: Returns for each strategy are presented from the date the firm established a dedicated team focused on such strategy through September 30, 2024. Investment net

returns are net of investment-related fees and expenses, including fees paid to underlying managers, but do not reflect management fees, performance fees, or carried

interest to GCM Grosvenor or any expenses of any account or vehicle GCM Grosvenor manages. Data does not include investments that were transferred at the request

of investors prior to liquidation and are no longer managed by GCM Grosvenor.

Past performance is not necessarily indicative of future results.

Q) Reflects primary fund investments since 2000. Excludes certain private markets credit fund investments outside of private equity programs.

) GCM Grosvenor established a dedicated private equity secondaries vertical in September 2014. Track record reflects all secondaries investments since the new
vertical was formed.

3) GCM Grosvenor established a dedicated Private Equity Co-Investment Sub-Committee and adopted a more targeted, active co-investment strategy in December
2008. Track record reflects co-investments/direct investments made since 2009.

4) Reflects infrastructure investments since 2009, when we formalized our global approach and launched the first infrastructure specialized fund. Infrastructure
investments exclude labor impact investments.

5) Reflects real estate investments since 2010. In 2010, GCM Grosvenor established a dedicated Real Estate team and adopted a more targeted, active real estate

strategy.

Historical Performance of Absolute Return Strategies

Assets Under .
Annualized Returns

Management as .
Periods Ended December 31, 2024

of December 31,

2024 One Year Three Year Five Year Since Inception
($Bn) Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Absolute Return Strategies (Overall) $ 23.3 12.2 % 114 % 4.5 % 3.8% 6.8 % 6.1 % 7.0 % 5.9 %
GCMLP Diversified Multi-Strategy
Composite $ 10.5 14.3 % 134 % 55 % 4.7 % 7.8 % 7.0% 7.9 % 6.6 %

Note: Absolute Return Strategies (Overall) is since 1996. GCMLP Diversified Multi-Strategy Composite is since 1993.

Past performance is not necessarily indicative of future results.
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Assets Under Management

The following chart summarizes the growth in our FPAUM and CNYFPAUM and the breakdown between private markets and absolute return
strategies ($ billion).

AUM by Strategy (bn)
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1 Other includes alternative credit and opportunistic strategies and is included in private markets CAGR.
Fee-Paying AUM

FPAUM is a metric we use to measure the assets from which we earn management fees. Our FPAUM comprises the assets in our customized
separate accounts and specialized funds from which we derive management fees. We classify customized separate account revenue as management fees if
the client is charged an asset-based fee, which includes the vast majority of our discretionary AUM accounts. The FPAUM for our private market strategies
typically represents committed, invested or scheduled capital during the investment period and invested capital following the expiration or termination of the
investment period. Substantially all of our private markets strategies funds earn fees based on commitments or net invested capital, which are not affected by
market appreciation or depreciation. Our FPAUM for our absolute return strategy is based on net asset value.

Our calculations of FPAUM may differ from the calculations of other asset managers, and as a result, this measure may not be comparable to similar
measures presented by other asset managers. Our definition of FPAUM is not based on any definition that is set forth in the agreements governing the
customized separate accounts or specialized funds that we manage.

As of December 31, 2024, our FPAUM was $64.8 billion compared to $80.1 billion in AUM. The difference between AUM and FPAUM is primarily due
to approximately $8.2 billion of contracted capital on which we expect to start charging management fees, under existing contracts, over the course of
approximately the next three years as capital is invested or based on an agreed upon fee ramp in schedule. We expect that this additional $8.2 billion of
capital will bolster our FPAUM growth over the next several years. Mark-to-market changes in AUM for funds that charge on commitments is another key
difference between our AUM and our FPAUM.
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Our overall FPAUM has grown from $48.9 billion at the end of 2018 to $64.8 billion as of December 31, 2024, representing a total CAGR of 5%,
including a CAGR of 9% for FPAUM for our private markets strategy during the same period.

Contracted Not Yet Fee-Paying AUM

CNYFPAUM represents limited partner commitments which are expected to be invested and begin charging fees over the ensuing five years. As of
December 31, 2024, our CNYFPAUM was near an all-time highs of $8.2 billion, up from $2.3 billion at the end of 2018. Of the $8.2 billion, approximately
$3.0 billion is subject to an agreed upon fee ramp in schedule that will result in management fees being charged on approximately $1.0 billion of such amount
in 2025, approximately $0.8 billion of such amount in 2026, and the remaining approximately $1.2 billion in 2027 and beyond. With respect to approximately
$5.2 billion of the $8.2 billion, management fees will be charged as such capital is invested, which will depend on a number of factors, including the
availability of eligible investment opportunities. We expect the majority of this capital will turn into FPAUM over the course of approximately the next three
years and help drive significant growth from funds already under contract. It is also a strong indication of the momentum with our clients and in our business
today, which we anticipate to continue into the future.

Other Components of AUM

Other components of AUM include mark-to-market changes in AUM for funds that charge management fees based on commitments (generally in
private markets strategies), insider capital and non-fee-paying AUM. Mark-to-market changes in private markets strategies funds increases total AUM but
does not increase FPAUM. Finally, certain current and former employees and related parties invest on a non-fee-paying basis in GCM Funds, and therefore
are not included in FPAUM.

Our Clients

We believe the value proposition we offer and our philosophy that we do well when our clients do well has resulted in strong relationships with our
clients. We pride ourselves on being client-centric in our approach, and are equipped to provide investment services to institutional clients of all sizes and with
different needs, internal resources and investment objectives, including those seeking to make an initial investment in alternative assets to some of the
largest and most sophisticated private markets investors. Our clients include prominent institutional investors globally including in the United States, Europe,
the Middle East, Asia, Australia and Latin America. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 41% of our AUM came from clients based outside of the
Americas, reflecting the strength and breadth of our relationships within the global investor community.

Our client base primarily consists of institutional investors, with a growing segment of individual investors. Currently, individual investors are
significantly under-allocated to alternative investments. However, their allocations are beginning to increase as recent innovations in products and structures
make alternatives more accessible to a broader group of individual investors. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 4% of our AUM was attributable to
individual investors, a portion we expect to grow over the medium to long term. We are already starting to see positive momentum, having raised $1.5 billion
of new capital from individuals over the past three years.
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The following charts illustrate the diversification of our client base:

Cur client base is Our client base is Our client
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Note: AUM as of December 31, 2024. Management fees for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024.

We believe the stability of our client base reflects the strength of the long-term client relationships we have developed. Further, these relationships help
to explain why clients entrust us with their capital for extended periods of time.

Our Team

As of December 31, 2024 we had 549 employees, including 181 investment professionals, operating in nine offices throughout the United States and in
Frankfurt, Hong Kong, London, Seoul, Sydney, Tokyo and Toronto.

Investments Team

As of December 31, 2024 our investments team consisted of 181 employees. Each of our investment strategies is led by its own leadership team of
highly accomplished investment professionals. While primarily focused on managing strategies within their own investment group, these senior professionals
are integrated within our platform through economic, cultural and structural measures. In addition, our investments team members include professionals
dedicated to risk management and operational due diligence, two key components of our investment evaluation and portfolio management processes. Our
investments team leverages analytics drawn from our proprietary data fabric, which was built by decades of investing in public and private markets.

Client Group

As of December 31, 2024, our business development, marketing and client service teams consisted of 61 employees. Each member of our business
development team is assigned a territory, either domestic or international, or client type. Our business development professionals are responsible for
relationship management with existing clients and consultants in addition to actively pursuing new business with prospective clients, depending on the
territory they are assigned. In addition, each member of the business development team is supported by one or more members of the relationship
management support team who help manage ongoing client service and support sales efforts.

We evaluate our business development, marketing and client service teams based on a number of factors, including new business won, size of
existing book of business, quality of marketing materials generated, timeliness of responses to client inquiries, and their overall activity, measured by the
volume of outreach and the progress converting initial outreach to various stages in the sales process. We evaluate the performance of our business
development professionals by using data-driven technology systems like Salesforce.
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Operations

As of December 31, 2024, our operations team consisted of 299 professionals across multiple offices who perform critical functions in support of our
corporate, client and investment activities. We have created a strong, institutional-quality internal control environment and are committed to maintaining a
robust culture of compliance.

The operations team includes experienced professionals focused on fund finance, investment operations, corporate finance, compliance, legal,
information technology, human resources, strategy and corporate development and other support functions. These teams are structured to serve the entirety
of our business across the full range of investments strategies and implementation methodologies we offer. We seek to serve as an extension of staff for
many our clients and consequently our operations team plays a key function in the servicing of our client relationships.

Fees and Other Key Contractual Terms

Fees vary based on investment strategy, implementation methodology and the size and scope of the client relationship.

Private Markets Strategies
Fees for private markets strategies vary by structure and strategy.
The majority of private markets programs are closed end structures, and typically fees consist of a management fee rate plus carried interest.

The management fee rate for closed-end structures typically differs by the type of strategy and the type of investment. Management fee rates for
primary fund investments are typically about half of those charged for secondary funds and co-investments. Direct investments are typically a further
premium to co-investments. The management fee rate also depends on the total fee-paying assets of a given client.

The management fee base for a given program can be based on committed capital, invested capital or a ramp-in /ramp-down schedule based on a
percent of total committed capital. Programs may employ one or more of these methodologies.

Carried interest is charged for certain of our private markets programs and varies depending on the implementation methodology. Carried interest is
typically charged for secondary, co-investments and direct investments. Receipt of carry is typically subject to an 8% preferred return and 100% catch-up.

We recognize carried interest when it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur and record such amounts as incentive fees. In the event that a
payment is made before it can be recognized as revenue, this amount would be included as deferred revenue on our consolidated statements of financial
condition and recognized as income in accordance with our revenue recognition policy. The primary contingency regarding incentive fees is the “clawback,”
or the obligation to return distributions in excess of the amount prescribed by the applicable fund or separate account documents.

Absolute Return Strategies

Fees for absolute return strategies are typically charged based on net asset value, which represents the aggregate fair value of the underlying
investments in such strategies made by our portfolios (which is typically reported by the underlying investment managers of such investments). Specialized
funds either have a set fee for the entire fund or a fee scale through which clients with larger commitments pay a lower fee.

Fees may be either fixed or include both a fixed and a performance fee. For a typical fixed and performance fee structure, the management fee
typically is at a discount to the fixed-only fee scale, with the addition of a performance fee, which is a percentage of capital appreciation or profits. Earning
the performance fee may be subject to a hurdle, a high watermark and/or a preferred return. The hurdle or preferred return may be a fixed percentage or a
spread above a particular benchmark return, although in the case of a spread-based structure, it is typical that the hurdle rate or preferred return is capped at
a certain amount.

Similar to private markets, for large relationships, we may adjust the fixed fee component and/or performance fee component based on an analysis of
the total economics of the relationship.
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Expenses

In addition to fees, both our absolute return and private markets programs also typically bear reasonable expenses incurred in connection with their
organization. The programs would also bear their operational costs, including the firm's out-of-pocket expenses associated with identifying, making and
monitoring investments, as well as costs associated with legal, audit, tax reporting, accounting, insurance, technology, administration (whether performed in-
house or by a third-party administrator), and our oversight of services performed by a third-party administrator.

Competition

While we compete in various aspects of our business with a large number of asset management firms, commercial banks, broker-dealers, insurance
companies and other financial institutions, we believe there are few firms that we compete with in all areas of our business. With respect to our specialized
funds, we primarily compete with the private and absolute return investment businesses of a number of large international financial institutions and
established local and regional competitors based in the United States, Europe, Asia and Australia, including managers offering funds-of-funds, secondary
funds and co-investment funds in the alternative investment strategies. Our principal competition for customized separate accounts is mostly other highly
specialized and independent alternative asset management firms. We compete primarily in the advisory services area of the business with firms that are
regionally based and with a select number of large consulting firms for whom alternative investments is only one, often small, portion of their overall
business.

In order to grow our business, we must maintain our existing client base and attract additional clients in customized separate account and specialized
fund areas of the business. Historically, we have competed principally on the basis of the factors listed below:

. global access to private markets investment opportunities through our size, scale, reputation and strong relationships with fund managers;
. brand recognition and reputation within the investing community;

. performance of investment strategies;

. quality of service and duration of client relationships;

. data and analytics capabilities;

. ability to customize product offerings to client specifications;

. transparent organizational structure;

. ability to provide a cost effective and comprehensive range of services and products; and

. clients’ perceptions of our independence and the alignment of our interests with theirs created through our investment in our own products.

The asset management business is intensely competitive, and in addition to the above factors, our ability to continue to compete effectively will depend
upon our ability to attract highly qualified investment professionals and retain existing employees.

Intellectual Property

We own or have rights to trademarks, service marks or trade names that we use in connection with the operation of our business. In addition, our
names, logos and website names and addresses are owned by us or licensed by us. We also own or have the rights to copyrights that protect the content of
our solutions. We believe that the “GCM Grosvenor” trade name, logo and website are material to our operations.

Legal and Compliance

Our general counsel oversees our legal team, which is comprised of attorneys located primarily in our corporate headquarters in Chicago, lllinois. Our
legal team is responsible for our corporate matters and proprietary transactions, as well as issues related to employment, litigation and U.S. and non-U.S.
regulation. It is also responsible for legal and structuring issues associated with investments in private equity, infrastructure, real estate, alternative credit and
absolute return strategies, as well as structuring and negotiating documents relating to our specialized funds and our customized separate accounts,
including any client-related legal matters related thereto. We utilize the services of outside counsel as we deem necessary.
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Our compliance team is led by our global chief compliance officer. The compliance team is responsible for ensuring we maintain a robust compliance
program that ensures we comply with the various federal, state, and international regulations applicable to our business. Our compliance team works closely
with our legal team to ensure our policies, processes, and disclosures are in line with those ever evolving rules, and regulations, and industry practices. In
addition, our compliance team is responsible for regulatory matters relating to GCM Grosvenor L.P., a U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC")
registered investment adviser, GRV Securities, LLC (“GRV Securities”), an SEC registered and FINRA member broker-dealer affiliate, and other affiliates
subject to the laws and regulations of other jurisdictions.

Regulatory Environment

Certain of our businesses described below are subject to compliance with laws and regulations of U.S. federal and state governments, non-U.S.
governments, their respective agencies and/or various self-regulatory organizations. The SEC, our primary regulator, and various self-regulatory
organizations, state securities regulators and international securities regulators have in recent years increased their regulatory activities, including regulation,
examination and enforcement in respect of asset management firms. Any failure to comply with these regulations could expose us to liability and/or damage
our reputation. Our investment advisory and broker/dealer businesses have operated for many years within a legal framework that requires us to monitor and
comply with a broad range of legal and regulatory developments that affect their activities. However, additional legislation, changes in rules promulgated by
financial regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules, either in the United
States or abroad, may directly affect our mode of operation and profitability.

Since October 17, 1997, our affiliate, GCM Grosvenor L.P., and each of its predecessors, has been registered with the SEC as an investment adviser
under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”). In addition, among other rules and regulations, our investment adviser is subject to regulation by
the Department of Labor under the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”). As a registered commodity pool operator and a
registered commodity trading advisor, our investment adviser is also subject to regulation and oversight by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission
(“CFTC"). Itis also subject to regulation and oversight by the National Futures Association (“NFA”) in the U.S., as well as other regulatory bodies. By virtue of
certain of its activities, our investment adviser is subject to the reporting provisions of the Exchange Act. Compliance failures and material changes in law or
regulation could adversely affect us.

SEC and FINRA Regulation

As a registered adviser, GCM Grosvenor L.P. is subject to the requirements of the Advisers Act and the SEC's regulations thereunder, as well as to
examination by the SEC's staff. The Advisers Act is designed to protect investment advisory clients and, consequently, imposes substantive regulation on
most aspects of our advisory business and our relationship with our clients. Applicable requirements relate to, among other things, disclosure and reporting
obligations, maintaining an effective compliance program and appointing a chief compliance officer, fiduciary duties to clients, engaging in transactions with
clients, client solicitation arrangements, disclosing and managing conflicts of interest, using promotional materials, and recordkeeping. The Advisers Act
regulates the assignment of advisory contracts by the investment advisor. The SEC is authorized to institute proceedings and impose sanctions for violations
of the Advisers Act, ranging from fines and censures to termination of an investment advisor’s registration. If we are unable to comply with the requirements
of the Advisers Act or the SEC it could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our affiliated U.S. broker-dealer GRV Securities is registered with the SEC as a broker-dealer and is a member of FINRA and accordingly is subject to
Exchange Act and FINRA rules and regulations that cover all aspects of its business, including registration, licensing, anti-money laundering, advertising,
compensation, fiduciary standards, sales practices, recordkeeping and the conduct of directors, officers and employees. GRV Securities is also specifically
required to maintain a certain minimum level of net capital under Exchange Act and FINRA rules. GRV Securities is authorized to engage in private
placements and act as mutual fund retailer, underwriter or sponsor.

Broker-dealers are highly regulated, including under federal, state and other applicable laws, rules and regulations, and we may be adversely affected
by changes related to aspects of the regulatory regime, the manner of regulatory oversight or market structures. The SEC and FINRA are authorized to
institute proceedings and impose sanctions for violations of the Exchange Act and FINRA rules, ranging from fines and censures to termination of a broker-
dealer’s registration. If GRV Securities is unable to comply with the requirements of the Exchange Act, SEC, or FINRA, it could have a material adverse
effect on us.
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CFTC Regulation

As a registered commodity pool operator and registered commodity trading adviser, our investment adviser is subject to the requirements of the
Commodity Exchange Act (“CEA”) and the CFTC's regulations thereunder, as well as to examination by the staff of the NFA. In general, most of our funds
are deemed exempt from many of the provisions of the CEA as such funds either have de minimis futures contracts and swaps exposure or operate as fund-
of-funds.

ERISA-Related Regulation

Some of our funds are treated as holding “plan assets” as defined under ERISA, as a result of investments in those funds by benefit plan investors. By
virtue of the role of our investment adviser as an investment manager of these funds, we are a “fiduciary” under ERISA with respect to such benefit plan
investors. ERISA and the Code, impose certain duties on persons that are fiduciaries under ERISA, prohibit certain transactions involving benefit plans and
“parties in interest” or “disqualified persons” to those plans, and provide monetary penalties for violations of these prohibitions. With respect to these funds,
we rely on particular statutory and administrative exemptions from certain ERISA prohibited transactions, which exemptions are highly complex and may in
certain circumstances depend on compliance by third parties whom we do not control. If we fail to comply with these various requirements, it could have a
material adverse effect on our business. In addition, with respect to other investment funds in which benefit plan investors have invested, but which are not
treated as holding “plan assets,” we rely on certain rules under ERISA in conducting investment management activities. These rules are sometimes highly
complex and may in certain circumstances depend on compliance by third parties that we do not control. If for any reason these rules were to become
inapplicable, we could become subject to regulatory action or third-party claims that could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Foreign Regulation

We provide investment advisory and other services and raise funds in a number of countries and jurisdictions outside the United States. In many of
these countries and jurisdictions, which include the European Union (“EU"), the EEA, the individual member states of each of the EU and EEA, Australia,
Canada, Hong Kong, Japan, South Korea and the U.K., we and our operations, and in some cases our personnel, are subject to regulatory oversight and
requirements. In general, these requirements relate to registration, licenses for our personnel, periodic inspections, the provision and filing of periodic reports,
and obtaining certifications and other approvals. Across the EU, we are subject to the requirements of the European Union Alternative Investment Fund
Managers Directive (“AIFMD”) and to AIFMD as implemented into domestic law in the U.K. (‘UK AIFMD”) regarding, among other things, registration for
marketing activities, the structure of remuneration for certain of our personnel and reporting obligations. Individual member states of the EU have imposed
additional requirements that may include internal arrangements with respect to risk management, liquidity risks, asset valuations, and the establishment of
and adherence to depository and custodial requirements.

The application of some of these requirements and regulations to our business have changed as a consequence of the exit of the U.K. from the EU
(commonly referred to as “Brexit”), which has resulted in greater complexity and operational costs to maintain regulatory compliance. This is because the
U.K.: (i) is no longer required to transpose EU law into U.K. law; (ii) has elected to transpose certain EU legislation into U.K. law subject to various
amendments and subject to the UK’s Financial Conduct Authority’s oversight rather than that of EU regulators; and (jii) is looking to implement its own vision
for its financial services industry through various statutes and regulations which will, over time, repeal and replace assimilated EU law. Taken together, (i), (i)
and (iii) will likely result in divergence between the U.K. and EU regulatory frameworks. This divergence is likely to include (among other areas) AIFMD, as
the European Parliament is expected to implement EU AIFMD 2 in 2026, which will not be transposed in to U.K. law. While the U.K. and EU ratified a trade
deal, it does not include provision for U.K. regulated firms to continue to be able to passport their services into EU member states, which has had direct
implications to our business. For example, our subsidiaries that are authorized and regulated by the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority have lost “passporting”
privileges under certain EU directives, such as the AIFMD and the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive Il (“MiFID 11"), which certain of our specialized
funds and customized separate accounts had previously relied upon for access to markets throughout the EU. We have mitigated the impact of this by
establishing relationships with third-party European-domiciled alternative investment fund managers (“AIFMs") necessary for them to serve as AIFMs for
certain of our funds and certain customized separate accounts. While we believe these relationships have, and will continue to, help to ensure that we are
able to continue to market certain of our funds in the EU, there remains some uncertainty as to the full extent to which our business could be adversely
affected by, among other things, the legal status of the U.K. in relation to the EU, the political conditions in the U.K., the trade relations of the U.K. vis-a-vis
other countries and the economic outlook in the U.K.
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In Japan, we are subject to regulation by the Japanese Financial Services Agency and the Kanto Local Finance Bureau. In Hong Kong, we are subject
to regulation by the Hong Kong Securities & Futures Commission.

Regulations Related to Our Funds

Agencies that regulate investment advisers and broker-dealers, including the SEC, have broad administrative powers, including the power to limit,
restrict or prohibit an investment adviser such as GCM Grosvenor L.P. or a broker-dealer such as GRV Securities from carrying on its business in the event
that it fails to comply with applicable laws and regulations. Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations could result in fines, censure,
suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including revocation of the registration of GCM Grosvenor L.P. as an investment adviser or the revocation of the
registration of GRV Securities as a broker-dealer.

The sale of securities in the U.S. generally requires registration under the Securities Act, unless an exemption from registration is available. Non-U.S.
jurisdictions generally have similar requirements. Our funds either have sold, or currently sell, their securities without registration under applicable securities
laws. For securities offerings to U.S. investors, our funds conduct non-public offerings in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Rule 506 of
Regulation D under the Securities Act. Regulation D requires that an offering comply with certain conditions, including that each offeree satisfies a net worth
or income requirement or is otherwise sophisticated and that the issuer not engage in any general solicitation or general advertising. For securities offerings
to non-U.S. investors, our funds generally rely on the exemption for offshore offers and sales provided by Regulation S under the Securities Act, as well as
on various exemptions in non-U.S. jurisdictions that generally restrict offers to high-net worth or qualified institutional investors or otherwise limit the manner
of offering. We believe that the securities offerings by our funds comply, and have complied, with applicable laws. In some cases, compliance depends in part
on the activities of third parties whom we do not control.

In the U.S. and many other jurisdictions, investment funds are generally subject to significant regulation designed to protect investors, although various
exemptions from some or all of such regulations may be available. In the U.S., the Investment Company Act imposes substantive regulation on virtually all
aspects of a registered investment company’s operation, including limitations on borrowing and leveraged capital structures, requiring that it be managed by
a board of directors (or similar body), a majority of whose members are not interested persons of the fund or its adviser, prohibitions on most transactions
with affiliates, compliance program requirements, limitations on the payment of performance fees to advisers, and advertising, recordkeeping, reporting and
disclosure requirements. Other countries’ laws may impose similar or more restrictive regulations.

Domestically, other than our funds that are registered investment companies with the SEC, our funds rely on exemptions from Investment Company
Act registration and regulation requirements, which require that our funds not engage in a public offering of their securities, and generally require either that
each of our funds have no more than 100 investors or that they limit their investors to persons or entities who have substantial investment portfolios ($5
million in the case of a natural person) or are our knowledgeable personnel.

Our funds that admit only non-U.S. investors rely on various exemptions from applicable investment fund registration and regulation available in non-
U.S. jurisdictions, which exemptions generally require that our offshore funds only admit high-net worth or qualified institutional investors or otherwise limit the
types of investors who may invest. To the extent they admit U.S. investors, our offshore funds must apply the same criteria to these investors as our
domestic funds apply to their investors in order to be exempt from registration and regulation under the Investment Company Act.

We believe that our funds comply, and have complied, with applicable exemptions from registration and regulation under the Investment Company Act
and applicable non-U.S. laws.

Privacy and Cyber Security Regulation

Many jurisdictions in which we operate have laws and regulations relating to data privacy, cybersecurity and protection of personal information,
including the California Consumer Privacy Act as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CCPA”), and similar comprehensive privacy laws of
other states, which provide enhanced privacy rights for state residents; the European Union General Data Protection Regulation (“EU GDPR”), a regulation
designed to protect privacy rights of individuals residing in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”); the United Kingdom General Data Protection
Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018 (“U.K. GDPR”") with respect to individuals residing in the United Kingdom (the “U.K.”), and various other privacy
laws applicable to individuals residing in jurisdictions in which we operate. Any failure or perceived failure to comply with such laws or regulations could result
in fines, penalties and/or sanctions, which could be substantial, litigation (including class actions) as well as reputational harm. Moreover, to the extent that
these laws and regulations or the
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enforcement of the same become more stringent, or if new laws or regulations are enacted, including the SEC’s proposed rules related to cybersecurity risk
management for registered investment advisers, our financial performance or plans for growth may be adversely impacted.

Available Information

We file electronically with the SEC our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements,
and any amendments thereto, and other information. Our SEC filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov.
We make available on our website at www.gcmgrosvenor.com, free of charge, copies of these reports and any amendments as soon as reasonably

practicable after filing or furnishing them with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In the course of conducting our business operations, we are exposed to a variety of risks. These risks are generally inherent to the alternative asset
management industry or otherwise generally impact alternative asset managers like us. Any of the risk factors we describe below have affected or could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The market price of shares of our Class A common stock could decline,
possibly significantly or permanently, if one or more of these risks and uncertainties occurs. Certain statements in “Risk Factors” are forward-looking
statements. See “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

The historical performance of our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our operations or any returns expected on
an investment in our Class A common stock; however, poor performance of our funds, or lack of growth in our assets under management, could
have a materially adverse impact on our revenues, and, consequently, the returns on our Class A common stock.

An investment in our Class A common stock is not an investment in any of our funds and is not linked to the historical or future performance of our
funds. However, the success and growth of our business is highly dependent upon the performance of our funds.

Positive performance of our funds will not necessarily result in the holders of our Class A common stock experiencing a corresponding positive return
on their Class A common stock. However, poor performance of our funds could cause a decline in our revenues as a result of reduced management fees and
incentive fees from such funds, and may therefore have a materially adverse impact on our performance and the returns on an investment in our Class A
common stock.

If we fail to meet the expectations of our clients or our funds otherwise experience poor investment performance, whether due to general economic and
financial conditions, our investment acumen or otherwise, our ability to retain existing assets under management and attract new clients could be materially
adversely affected. In turn, the management fees and incentive fees that we would earn would be reduced and our business or financial condition would
suffer, thus negatively impacting the price of our Class A common stock. Furthermore, even if the investment performance of our funds is positive, our
business or financial condition and the price of our Class A common stock could be materially adversely affected if we are unable to attract and retain
additional assets under management consistent with our past experience, industry trends or investor and market expectations.

Investors in our open-ended, specialized funds may generally redeem their investments in these funds on a periodic basis. Investors in most of
our closed-ended, specialized funds may terminate the commitment periods of these funds or otherwise cause our removal as general partner of
these funds under certain circumstances. Our customized separate account clients may generally terminate our management of these
relationships on short notice. Any of these events would lead to a decrease in our revenues, which could be substantial.

Investors in our open-ended, specialized funds may generally redeem their investments on an annual or quarterly basis following the expiration of a
specified period of time when capital may not be withdrawn, subject to the applicable fund’s specific redemption provisions. In addition, the boards of
directors of the investment companies we manage could terminate our advisory engagement of those companies on as little as 30 days’ prior written notice.
In a declining market, the pace of redemptions from our open-ended, specialized funds, and consequently our assets under management, may accelerate as
investors seek to limit the losses on their investments or rely upon the liquidity provided by our funds in order to satisfy other obligations these investors may
have elsewhere in their portfolios. To the extent appropriate and permissible under a fund’s governing agreements, we may limit or suspend redemptions or
otherwise take steps to limit the impact of redemptions on our funds during a redemption period, which may have a negative reputational impact on us. See
“— Risks Related to Our Funds — Hedge fund investments are subject to numerous additional risks.” The decrease in revenues that would result from
significant redemptions in our open-ended, specialized funds could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, the occurrence of such an event would likely have a negative reputational impact on us.

The governing agreements of most of our closed-ended, specialized funds provide that, subject to certain conditions, investors comprising a certain
percentage of commitments to these funds, which may be as low as 75%, have the right to suspend or terminate the commitment periods of these funds or
cause our removal as general partner and investment manager of
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these funds without cause. The termination or suspension of a fund’s commitment period or our removal as general partner of a fund would result in loss of
management fee revenues and potentially some or all of any carried interest to which we may otherwise have been entitled to receive. The decrease in these
revenues could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the occurrence of such an event
would likely have a negative reputational impact on us.

Our customized separate account clients may generally terminate our management of these relationships without cause, request the orderly liquidation
of investments of these portfolios or transfer some or all of the investments in these portfolios directly to the client or some other third-party, on as little as 30
days’ prior written notice. The occurrence of such an event would result in a loss of management fee revenues to which we may otherwise have been entitled
to receive. The decrease in these revenues could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition,
the occurrence of such an event would likely have a negative reputational impact on us.

Our business and financial condition may be materially adversely impacted by the variable nature of our revenues, and in particular the
performance-based aspect of certain of our revenues and cash flows, which may make it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth on a
quarterly basis and may lead to large adverse movements or general increased volatility in the price of our Class A common stock.

Our revenues are influenced by the combination of the amount of assets under management and the investment performance of our funds. Asset
flows, whether inflows or outflows, can be variable from month-to-month and quarter-to-quarter. Furthermore, our funds’ investment performance, which
affects the amount of assets under management and the management fees we may earn in a given year, can be volatile due to, among other things, general
market and economic conditions. Accordingly, our revenues and cash flows may be variable.

Our cash flow may fluctuate significantly from quarter-to-quarter due to the fact that we receive carried interest distributions from certain of our funds
only when investments are realized and, in certain cases, achieve a certain preferred return based on performance. In most cases, for our funds where we
are entitled to receive carried interest distributions, an element of our revenues, it takes a substantial period of time to realize the cash value (or other
proceeds) of an investment. Even if an investment proves to be profitable, it may be a number of years before any profits can be realized in cash (or other
proceeds). In addition, carried interest distributions have in the past and may in the future decrease in difficult, volatile or uncertain economic environments
as the ability of general partners to exit and realize value from existing investments may be even more limited than in more stable economic environments.
We cannot predict when, or if, any realization of investments will occur, and thus, we cannot predict the timing or amounts of carried interest distributions to
us. If we were to receive a carried interest distribution in a particular quarter, it may have a significant impact on our results for that particular quarter, which
may not be replicated in subsequent quarters.

We are entitled to performance-based fees in respect of certain of our funds that are based on a percentage of unrealized profit, typically over a “high
water-mark,” on an annual or more frequent basis. Typically, these performance-based fees are paid to us by our funds during the first quarter of each year
which is subsequent to when they are earned, even though our funds may accrue a performance-based fee prior to the date it is paid.

As a result, achieving steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis may be difficult, which could in turn lead to large adverse movements or general
increased volatility in the price of our Class A common stock.

The industry in which we operate is intensely competitive. If we are unable to compete successfully, our business and financial condition could
be adversely affected.

The industry in which we operate is intensely competitive, with competition based on a variety of factors, including investment performance, the scope
and the quality of service provided to clients, investor availability of capital and willingness to invest, investment terms and conditions (including fees and
liquidity terms), brand recognition, and business reputation. Our business competes with a number of private equity funds, specialized investment funds,
solutions providers and other sponsors managing pools of capital, as well as corporate buyers, traditional asset managers, commercial banks, investment
banks and other financial institutions (including sovereign wealth funds), and we expect that competition will continue to increase. For example, certain
traditional asset managers have developed their own private equity platforms and are marketing other asset allocation strategies as alternatives to hedge
fund investments. Additionally, developments in financial technology, such as distributed ledger technology, commonly referred to as blockchain, have the
potential to disrupt the financial industry and change the way financial institutions, as well as asset managers, do business. A number of factors serve to
increase our competitive risks:
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. a number of our competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and more personnel than we do;

. some of our competitors have recently raised, or are expected to raise, significant amounts of capital, and many of them have investment
objectives similar to ours, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities that our funds seek to exploit;

. some of our funds may not perform as well as competitors’ funds or other available investment products;

. several of our competitors have significant amounts of capital, and many of them have similar investment objectives to ours, which may create
additional competition for investment opportunities and may reduce the size and duration of pricing inefficiencies that many alternative
investment strategies seek to exploit;

. some of our competitors may have a lower cost of capital or access to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create competitive
disadvantages for us with respect to investment opportunities;

. some of our competitors may be more successful than us in deployment of new products to address investor demand for new or different
investment strategies and/or regulatory changes;

. further innovations in financial technology (or fintech) have the potential to disrupt the financial industry and change the way financial institutions,
as well as investment managers, do business and could exacerbate these competitive pressures;

. some of our competitors may be more successful than us in the development and implementation of new technology to address investor demand
for product and strategy innovation;

. some of our competitors may have instituted, or may institute, low cost, high speed financial applications and services based on atrtificial
intelligence, and new competitors may enter the investment management space using new investment platforms based on artificial intelligence;

. some of our competitors may be subject to less regulation and accordingly may have more flexibility to undertake and execute certain
businesses or investments than we can and/or bear less compliance expense than we do;

. some of our competitors may have more flexibility than us in raising certain types of investment funds under the investment management
contracts they have negotiated with their investors;

. some of our competitors may have better expertise or be regarded by investors as having better expertise in a specific asset class or geographic
region than we do; and

. other industry participants may, from time to time, seek to recruit our investment professionals and other employees away from us.

We may find it harder to retain and raise funds, and we may lose investment opportunities in the future, if we do not offer prices, structures and terms
competitive with those offered by our competitors. We may not be able to maintain our current fee structures as a result of industry pressure from investors to
reduce fees. In order to maintain our desired fee structures in a competitive environment, we must be able to continue to provide clients with investment
returns and service that incentivize them to pay our desired fee rates. No assurance can be made that we will succeed in providing investment returns and
service that will allow us to maintain our desired fee structure. Fee reductions on existing or future new business could have a material adverse effect on our
profit margins and results of operations.

A decline in the pace or size of fundraising or investments made by us on behalf of our funds may adversely affect our revenues.

Our revenues in any given period are dependent in part on the size of our FPAUM in such period. For our closed-ended funds, the revenues that we
earn are driven in part by the amount of capital invested or committed for investment by our clients, our fundraising efforts and the pace at which we make
investments on behalf of certain of our funds. Declines in the pace or the size of fundraising efforts or investments reduce our revenues. The alternative
asset investing environment continues to see increased competition, which can make fundraising and the deployment of capital more difficult. In addition,
many other factors cause declines in the pace of investment, including the inability of our investment professionals to identify attractive investment
opportunities, decreased availability of financing on attractive terms or decreased availability of investor capital, including potentially as a result of a
challenging fundraising environment or heightened requests for redemptions, and our failure to consummate identified investment opportunities because of
business, regulatory or legal complexities or uncertainty and adverse developments in the U.S. or global economy or financial markets. In addition, if we are
unable to deploy capital at a pace that is sufficient to offset the pace of realizations that we return to our clients, our fee revenues could decrease.
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The nature of closed-ended funds involves the perpetual return of capital to investors. This return of capital to investors in our funds reduces our
FPAUM. Hence, we are perpetually seeking to raise investment commitments in order to replace the return of capital to clients from existing funds. Given the
competitive nature of the alternative asset management business, following a return of capital to a client, we may lose them as a client as a result of client-
specific changes such as a change in such client's ownership, control or senior management, a client’s decision to transition to in-house asset management
rather than partner with a third-party provider such as us, competition from other financial advisors and financial institutions and other causes. Moreover, a
number of our contracts with state government-sponsored clients are secured through such government’s mandated procurement processes, which may
include a broad and competitive bidding process for subsequent engagements. If multiple clients failed to renew their investment commitments with us and
we were unable to secure new clients, our fee revenues would decline materially. Finally, we cannot assure you that we will be able to replace returned
capital with investment commitments that generate the same revenues as the returned capital.

We could suffer losses if our reputation or the reputation of our industry is harmed.

Our business is highly competitive and we benefit from being highly regarded in our industry. Maintaining our reputation is critical to attracting and
retaining fund investors and for maintaining our relationships with our regulators. Negative publicity regarding our company or our personnel could give rise to
reputational risk which could significantly harm our existing business and business prospects.

In addition, events that damage the reputation of our industry generally, such as the insolvency or bankruptcy of large funds or a significant number of
funds or highly publicized incidents of fraud or other scandals, could have a material adverse effect on our business, regardless of whether any of these
events directly relate to our funds or the investments made by our funds.

We are subject to numerous conflicts of interest that are both inherent to our business and industry and particular to us. Our failure to deal
appropriately with conflicts of interest could damage our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We currently provide or may in the future provide a broad spectrum of financial services, including, without limitation, investment advisory, broker-
dealer, asset management, loan origination, capital markets and idea generation services. As we have expanded and as we continue to expand our
business, we increasingly confront potential and actual conflicts of interest relating to our funds’ investment activities. Investment manager conflicts of interest
continue to be a significant area of focus for regulators and the media. Because of our size and the variety of investment strategies that we pursue for our
funds, we may face a higher degree of scrutiny compared with investment managers that are smaller or focus on fewer asset classes.

The relationships among our funds and us are complex and dynamic, and our business could change over time. Therefore, we and our personnel will
likely be subject, and our funds will likely be exposed, to new or additional conflicts of interest. In the ordinary course of business, and in particular in
managing and making investment decisions for our funds, we engage in activities in which our interests or the interests of our funds could conflict with the
interests of other funds and the investors in such funds. Such conflicts of interest could affect our objectivity and adversely affect one or more of our funds
and/or the performance of our funds or returns to their investors.

Certain of our funds may have overlapping investment objectives, including funds that have different fee structures and/or investment strategies that
are more narrowly focused, and potential and actual conflicts could arise with respect to allocation of investment opportunities among those funds. We will,
from time to time, be presented with investment opportunities that fall within the investment objectives of multiple funds. In such circumstances, we will seek
to allocate such opportunities among our funds on a basis that we reasonably determine in good faith to be fair and equitable, and may take into account a
variety of relevant factors in determining eligibility, including the investment team primarily responsible for sourcing or performing due diligence on the
transaction, the nature of the investment focus of each fund, the relative amounts of capital available for investment, anticipated expenses to the applicable
fund and/or to us with regard to investment by our various funds, the investment pacing and timing of our funds and other considerations deemed relevant by
us. Allocating investment opportunities appropriately frequently involves significant and subjective judgments. The risk that fund investors could challenge
allocation decisions as inconsistent with our obligations under applicable law, governing fund agreements or our own policies cannot be eliminated. In
addition, the perception of non-compliance with such requirements or policies could harm our reputation with fund investors.

Our funds may invest in companies in which we or one or more or our other funds also invest, either directly or indirectly. Investments in a company by
certain of our funds may be made prior to the investment by other funds, concurrently,
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including as part of the same financing plan or after the investments by such other funds. Any such investment by a fund may consist of securities or other
instruments of a different class or type from those in which other of our funds are invested, and may entitle the holder of such securities and other instruments
to greater control or to rights that otherwise differ from those to which such other funds are entitled. In connection with any such investments — including as
they relate to acquisition, owning, and disposition of such investments — our funds could have conflicting interests and investment objectives, and any
difference in the terms of the securities or other instruments held by such parties could raise additional conflicts of interest for our funds and us. Our failure to
adequately mitigate these conflicts could give rise to regulatory and investor scrutiny.

In the ordinary course of our investment activities on behalf of our funds, we receive investment-related information. We do not generally establish
information barriers between internal investment teams. To the extent permitted by law, investment professionals have access to and make use of such
investment-related information in making investment decisions for our funds. Therefore, information related to investments made on behalf of a particular
fund may inform investment decisions made in respect of another of our funds or otherwise be used and monetized by us. The access and use of this
information could create conflicts between our funds and between our funds and us, and no fund, or any investor therein, is entitled to any compensation for
any profits earned by another fund or us based on our use of investment-related information received in connection with managing such funds.

Certain persons employed by or otherwise associated with us are related to, or otherwise have business, personal, political, financial, or other
relationships with, persons employed by or otherwise associated with service providers engaged for our funds, investment managers with whom we invest on
behalf of our funds and/or investment consulting firms engaged by our fund investors. These types of relationships could also influence us in deciding
whether to select or recommend such a service provider to perform services for a particular fund or to make or redeem an investment on behalf of a fund.

Additionally, we permit employees, former employees and other parties associated with the firm to invest in or alongside our funds on a no-fee, no-
carry basis. These arrangements could create a conflict in connection with investments we make on behalf of our funds. For example, we have an
agreement with our director, Stephen Malkin, that was originally entered into in 2005 when he resigned from GCM Grosvenor, to manage a family office.
While investments in and alongside our funds by Mr. Malkin's family office are subject to the same policies and procedures applicable to our current
employees, Mr. Malkin benefits from information he receives in respect of our funds and our funds’ investments and the right to invest on a no-fee and no-
carry basis.

It is possible that actual, potential or perceived conflicts could give rise to investor dissatisfaction or litigation or regulatory enforcement actions.
Appropriately dealing with conflicts of interest is complex and difficult and our reputation could be damaged if we fail, or appear to fail, to deal appropriately
with one or more potential or actual conflicts of interest. Regulatory scrutiny of, or litigation in connection with, conflicts of interest could have a material
adverse effect on our reputation, which could materially and adversely affect our business in a number of ways, including an inability to raise additional funds,
attract new clients or retain existing clients.

Conflicts of interest could arise in our allocation of co-investment opportunities.

As a general matter, our allocation of co-investment opportunities is entirely within our discretion and there can be no assurance that co-investments of
any particular type or amount will be allocated to any of our funds or investors. There can be no assurance that co-investments will become available and we
will take into account a variety of factors and considerations we deem relevant in our sole discretion in allocating co-investment opportunities, including,
without limitation, whether a potential co-investor has expressed an interest in evaluating co-investment opportunities, whether a potential co-investor has a
history of participating in such opportunities with us, the size and interest of the opportunity, the economic terms applicable to such investment for such
investor and us, whether allocating to a potential co-investor will help establish, recognize, strengthen and/or cultivate relationships with an existing or
prospective investor and such other factors as we deem relevant under the circumstances. The allocation of co-investment opportunities by us sometimes
involves a benefit to us including, without limitation, management fees, carried interest or other performance-based compensation from a co-investment
opportunity. In certain circumstances, we, our affiliates and our respective employees or any designee thereof and other companies, partnerships or vehicles
affiliated with us may be permitted to co-invest side-by-side with our funds and may consummate an investment in an investment opportunity otherwise
suitable for a fund.

Potential and actual conflicts will arise with respect to our decisions regarding how to allocate co-investment opportunities among our funds and
investors and the terms of any such co-investments. Our fund documents typically do not mandate specific allocations with respect to co-investments. The
investment advisers of our funds could have an incentive to provide co-investment opportunities to certain investors in lieu of others. Co-investment
arrangements may be structured
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through one or more of our investment vehicles, and in such circumstances, co-investors will generally bear the costs and expenses thereof (which could
lead to conflicts of interest regarding the allocation of costs and expenses between such co-investors and investors in our other investment funds). The terms
of any such existing and future co-investment vehicles may differ materially, and in some instances may be more favorable to us, than the terms of certain of
our funds or prior co-investment vehicles, and such different terms could create an incentive for us to allocate a greater or lesser percentage of an
investment opportunity to such funds or such co-investment vehicles, as the case may be. Such incentives will from time to time give rise to conflicts of
interest. Allocating investment opportunities appropriately frequently involves significant and subjective judgments. The risk that fund investors could
challenge allocation decisions as inconsistent with our obligations under applicable law, governing fund agreements or our own policies cannot be eliminated.
In addition, the perception of non-compliance with such requirements or policies could harm our reputation with fund investors.

Our entitlement to receive carried interest from many of our funds could create an incentive for us to make more speculative investments and
determinations on behalf of a fund than would be the case in the absence of such arrangement.

We sometimes receive carried interest or other performance-based compensation that could create an incentive for us to make more speculative
investments and determinations, directly or indirectly on behalf of our funds, or otherwise take or refrain from taking certain actions than we would otherwise
make in the absence of such carried interest or performance-based compensation. In addition, we could have an incentive to make exit determinations based
on factors that maximize economics in favor of us or our employees. Certain of our employees or related persons may receive a portion of our carried interest
or performance-based compensation with respect to one or more of our funds, which could similarly influence such employees’ or related persons’
judgments. If carried interest that was previously distributed to us exceeds the amounts to which we are ultimately entitled, we may be required to repay that
amount under a “clawback” obligation. In connection therewith, any clawback obligation could create an incentive for us to defer disposition of one or more
investments if such disposition would result in a realized loss and/or the finalization of dissolution and liquidation of a fund where a clawback obligation would
be owed. Our failure to appropriately deal with any actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest resulting from our entitlement to receive carried interest
from many of our funds could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, which could materially and adversely affect our business in a number of ways,
including an inability to raise additional funds, attract new clients or retain existing clients.

Conflicts of interest could arise in our allocation of costs and expenses, and increased regulatory scrutiny and uncertainty with regard to
expense allocation may increase the risk of harm.

We have a conflict of interest in determining whether certain costs and expenses are incurred in the course of operating our funds. For example, we
have to determine whether the costs arising from newly imposed regulations and self-regulatory requirements should be paid by our funds or by us. Our
funds generally pay or otherwise bear all legal, accounting, filing, and other expenses incurred in connection with organizing and establishing the funds and
the offering of interests in the funds. In addition, our funds generally pay all expenses related to the operation of the funds and their investment activities. We
also determine, in our sole discretion, the appropriate allocation of investment-related expenses, including broken deal expenses, incurred in respect of
unconsummated investments and expenses more generally relating to a particular investment strategy, among our funds, vehicles and accounts participating
or that would have participated in such investments or that otherwise participate in the relevant investment strategy, as applicable. This could result in one or
more of our funds bearing more or less of these expenses than other investors or potential investors in the relevant investments or a fund paying a
disproportionate share, including some or all, of the broken deal expenses or other expenses incurred by potential investors. Parties that seek to participate
in a particular investment opportunity we offer on a co-investment basis may not share in any broken deal expenses in the event such opportunity is not
consummated.

While we historically have and will continue to allocate the costs and expenses of our funds in a fair and equitable basis and in accordance with our
policies and procedures, due to increased regulatory scrutiny of expense allocation policies in the private investment funds realm, there is no guarantee that
our policies and procedures will not be challenged by our supervising regulatory bodies. If we or our supervising regulators were to determine that we have
improperly allocated such expenses, we could be required to refund amounts to our funds and could be subject to regulatory censure, litigation from our
clients and/or reputational harm, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Certain policies and procedures implemented to mitigate potential and actual conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory requirements
may reduce the synergies that may otherwise exist across our various businesses.

In an effort to mitigate potential and actual conflicts of interest and address regulatory, legal and contractual requirements and contractual restrictions,
we have implemented certain policies and procedures (for example, information sharing policies) that may reduce the synergies that would otherwise exist
across our various businesses. For example, we may come into possession of material non-public information with respect to issuers in which we may be
considering making an investment or issuers in which our affiliates may hold an interest. As a consequence of such policies and procedures, we may be
precluded from providing such information or other ideas to our other businesses that might be of benefit to them. Additionally, the terms of confidentiality or
other agreements with or related to companies in which we have entered, either on our own behalf or on behalf of any of our clients, sometimes restrict or
otherwise limit the ability of our funds to make investments or otherwise engage in businesses or activities competitive with such companies.

A significant portion of our consolidated financial statements include financial information, including net assets and revenues, that is attributable
to noncontrolling interests holders and not attributable to us.

While our historical consolidated financial statements include financial information, including assets and revenues of certain entities on a consolidated
basis, a portion of such assets and revenues are attributable to the noncontrolling interest holders and not directly attributable to us as discussed in our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As a result, the net assets and revenues presented in our
consolidated financial statements may not represent our economic interests in those net assets and revenues.

Our international operations subject us to numerous risks.

We maintain operations in the U. K., Germany, Canada, Hong Kong, Japan, South Korea, and Australia among other places, and may grow our
business into new regions with which we have less familiarity and experience, and this growth is important to our overall success. In addition, many of our
clients are non-U.S. entities where we are expected to have a familiarity with the specific legal and regulatory requirements applicable to such clients. We rely
upon stable and free international markets, not only in connection with seeking clients outside the U.S. but also in investing client capital in these markets.

Our international operations carry special financial and business risks, which could include the following:
. greater difficulties in managing and staffing foreign operations;

. differences between the U.S. and foreign capital markets, such as for accounting, auditing, financial reporting and legal standards, practices and
disclosure requirements;

. fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates that could adversely affect our results;

. additional costs of complying with, and exposure to liability under, foreign regulatory regimes;

. unexpected changes in trading policies, regulatory and licensing requirements, tariffs and other barriers;

. longer transaction cycles;

. higher operating costs;

. local labor conditions and regulations;

. adverse consequences or restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

. potentially adverse tax consequences, such as trapped foreign losses;

. less stable political and economic environments;

. potentially heightened risk of theft or compromise of data and intellectual property, in particular in those jurisdictions that do not have levels

comparable to the U.S. of protection of proprietary information and assets, such as intellectual property, trademarks, trade secrets, know-how
and client information and records;

. potentially compromised protections or rights to technology, data and intellectual property due to government regulation;
. terrorism, political hostilities, war, public health crises and other civil disturbances or other catastrophic or pandemic events, which may reduce
business activity, threaten the safety of our international offices, employees and clients, and affect our plans to expand in particular regions;
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. cultural and language barriers and the need to adopt different business practices in different geographic areas; and

. difficulty collecting fees and, if necessary, enforcing judgments.

As part of our day-to-day operations outside the U.S., we are required to create compensation programs, employment policies, privacy policies,
compliance policies and procedures and other administrative programs that comply with the laws of multiple countries. We also must communicate and
monitor standards and directives across our global operations. Our failure to successfully manage and grow our geographically diverse operations could
impair our ability to react quickly to changing business and market conditions and to enforce compliance with non-U.S. standards and procedures.

Any payment of distributions, loans or advances to and from our subsidiaries could be subject to restrictions on or taxation of dividends or repatriation
of earnings under applicable local law, monetary transfer restrictions, foreign currency exchange regulations in the jurisdictions in which our subsidiaries
operate or other restrictions imposed by current or future agreements, including debt instruments, to which our non-U.S. subsidiaries may be a party. As a
result, there is a risk that we may not be able to send capital to or receive capital from our operating subsidiaries. Our business, financial condition and results
of operations could be materially and adversely affected if we are unable to successfully manage these and other risks of international operations in a volatile
environment. If our international business increases relative to our total business, these factors could have a more pronounced effect on our results of
operations or growth prospects.

Our indebtedness may expose us to substantial risks, and our cash balances are exposed to the credit risks of the financial institutions at which
they are held.

As of December 31, 2024, we had $435.8 million in long-term debt outstanding. We expect to continue to utilize debt to finance and grow our
operations, which will expose us to the typical risks associated with the use of leverage. An increase in leverage could make it more difficult for us to
withstand adverse economic conditions or business plan variances, to take advantage of new business opportunities, or to make necessary capital
expenditures. Any portion of our cash flow required for debt service will not be available for our operations, distributions, dividends, stock repurchases or
other purposes. Any substantial decrease in net operating cash flows or any substantial increase in expenses could make it difficult for us to meet our debt
service requirements or force us to modify our operations. During 2024, we increased the amount available to us under the Term Loan Facility, and our level
of indebtedness may make us more vulnerable to economic downturns and reduce our flexibility in responding to changing business, regulatory and
economic conditions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The terms of the Company’s current debt instruments contain covenants that may restrict the Company and its subsidiaries from paying distributions to
its members. However, the ability of GCMH to make such distributions is subject to its operating results, cash requirements and financial condition, restrictive
covenants in our debt instruments and applicable Delaware law. These restrictions include restrictions on the payment of distributions whenever the payment
of such distributions would cause GCMH to no longer be in compliance with any of its financial covenants under the Term Loan Facility. Absent an event of
default under the Credit Agreement governing the terms of the Term Loan Facility, GCMH may make unlimited distributions when the Total Leverage Ratio
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) is below 3.00x. As of December 31, 2024, the Total Leverage Ratio was below 3.00x and the Company was in
compliance with all financial covenants.

In addition, the availability of capital from our debt instruments and cash balances are exposed to the credit risks of the financial institutions at which
they are held. Events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional
counterparties or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any such events or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the
future lead to market-wide liquidity problems or the fear of market-wide liquidity problems. If any of the financial institutions at which we maintain account
balances or upon which we rely for credit were to become unstable or insolvent, our ability to access existing cash, cash equivalents and investments, or to
access existing or enter into new banking arrangements or facilities to pay operational and other costs, could be threatened or lost, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. In addition, if any of our clients, investors, suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct
business are unable to access funds pursuant to their lending arrangements with such a financial institution, their ability to pay their obligations to us, provide
services to us or enter into new commercial arrangements requiring additional payments to us could be adversely affected, which could have a material
adverse affect on our operations and cash flows.
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We may be unable to remain in compliance with financial or other covenants contained in our debt instruments.

Our debt instruments contain, and any future debt instruments may contain, financial and other covenants that impose requirements on us and limit our
and our subsidiaries’ ability to engage in certain transactions or activities, including, without limitation:

. making certain payments in respect of equity interests, including, among others, the payment of dividends and other distributions, redemptions
and similar payments, payments in respect of warrants, options and other rights, and payments in respect of subordinated indebtedness;

. incurring additional debt;

. providing guarantees in respect of obligations of other persons;

. making loans, advances and investments;

. entering into transactions with investment funds and affiliates;

. creating or incurring liens;

. entering into negative pledges;

. selling all or any part of the business, assets or property, or otherwise disposing of assets;
. making acquisitions or consolidating or merging with other persons;

. entering into sale-leaseback transactions;

. changing the nature of our business;

. changing our fiscal year;

. making certain modifications to organizational documents or certain material contracts;

. making certain modifications to certain other debt documents; and

. entering into certain agreements with respect to the repayment of indebtedness, the making of loans or advances, or the transferring of assets.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain leverage levels in compliance with the financial covenants included in our debt instruments.
These restrictions may limit our flexibility in operating our business, and any failure to comply with these financial and other covenants, if not waived, would
cause a default or event of default. Our obligations under our debt instruments are secured by substantially all of our assets. In the case of an event of
default, creditors may exercise rights and remedies, including the rights and remedies of a secured party, under such agreements and applicable law, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The loss of experienced and senior personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

While the success of our business is not tied to any particular person or group of “key persons,” the success of our business does depend on the
efforts, judgment and reputations of our personnel generally, and in particular our experienced and senior personnel in investment, operational and executive
functions. Our personnel’s reputation, expertise in investing and risk management, relationships with our clients and third parties on which our funds depend
for investment opportunities are each critical elements in operating and expanding our business. However, we may not be successful in our efforts to retain
our most valued employees, as the market for alternative asset management professionals is extremely competitive. The loss or prolonged absence of one
or more members of our senior team could harm our business and jeopardize our relationships with our clients and members of the investing community, and
we may not be able to attract, retain, and develop a sufficient number of qualified personnel in future periods. Nearly all of our managing directors and many
of our executive directors are subject to employment contracts that contain various incentives and restrictive covenants designed to retain these employees
for the long-term success of our business, but none of them is obligated to remain actively involved with us. In addition, given recent regulatory developments
at both the state and federal level, we may be unable to enforce the non-competition agreements we have in place with our employees, and there is no
guarantee that, our other arrangements with our employees, such as our non-solicitation agreements, will be enforceable or will prevent our employees from
leaving, joining our competitors or otherwise competing with us. If any of our personnel were to join or form a competitor, following any required restrictive
period set forth in their employment agreements, some of our clients could choose to invest with that competitor rather than in our funds. The loss of the
services of one or more members of our senior team could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
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condition and results of operations, including on the performance of our funds, our ability to retain and attract clients and highly qualified employees and our
ability to raise new funds. Any change to our senior management team could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We do not carry any “key person” insurance that would provide us with proceeds in the event of the death or disability of any of our personnel. In
addition, certain of our funds have key person provisions that are triggered upon the loss of services of one or more specified employees and could, upon the
occurrence of such event, provide the investors in these funds with certain rights such as rights providing for the termination or suspension of the funds’
investment periods and/or wind-down of the funds. Accordingly, the loss of such personnel could result in significant disruption of certain funds’ investment
activities, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and could harm our ability to maintain or
grow our assets under management in existing funds or raise additional funds in the future. Similarly, to the extent there is a perceived reliance in the market
that one or more of our employees is critical to the success of a particular investment strategy, the loss of one or more such employees could lead investors
to redeem from our funds or choose not to make further investments in existing or future funds that we manage, which would correspondingly reduce our
management fees and potential to earn incentive fees.

We intend to expand our business and may formulate new business strategies or enter into new geographic markets, which may result in
additional risks and uncertainties in our business.

We currently generate most of our revenues from management fees and incentive fees. However, we have and intend to continue to grow our business
by offering additional products and services, by formulating new business strategies and by entering into, or expanding our presence in, new geographic
markets. Introducing new types of investment structures, products and services could increase our operational costs and the complexities involved in
managing such investments, including with respect to ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements and the terms of the investment. For example, we
launched a structured alternatives investment solution to invest in alternative strategies including private equity, infrastructure, absolute return strategies, and
alternative credit, which is subject to greater levels of regulatory scrutiny. In addition, we may from time to time explore opportunities to grow our business via
acquisitions, joint ventures, partnerships, investments or other strategic transactions, both within the current operational and geographic scope of our
business and beyond. There can be no assurance that we will successfully identify, negotiate or complete such transactions, that any completed transactions
will produce favorable financial results or that we will be able to successfully integrate an acquired business with ours. Some of these potential expansions
and transactions could be significant relative to the size of our business and operations. Any such transaction would involve a number of risks and could
present financial, managerial and operational challenges, including a diversion of management’s attention and resources; entry into markets or businesses in
which we may have limited or no experience; increased costs to integrate new enterprises; difficulties in effectively integrating the financial and operating
systems of the business involved in any such transaction into our financial reporting infrastructure and internal control framework in an effective and timely
manner; potential exposure to material liabilities not discovered in the due diligence process or as a result of any litigation arising in connection with any such
transition; and the need to develop new marketing and sales strategies to offer our new services to existing customers and attract new customers.

To the extent we enter into new lines of business and new geographic markets, we will face numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks
associated with the possibility that we have insufficient expertise to engage in such activities profitably or without incurring inappropriate amounts of risk, the
required investment of capital and other resources and the loss of clients due to the perception that we are no longer focusing on our core business.

Entry into certain lines of business or geographic markets, the introduction of new types of products or services, or any acquisition, divestiture,
investment or merger transactions, may subject us to new laws and regulations with which we are not familiar, or from which we are currently exempt, and
may lead to increased litigation and regulatory risk. If a new business generates insufficient revenues or if we are unable to efficiently manage our expanded
operations, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Restrictions on our ability to collect and analyze data regarding our clients’ investments could adversely affect our business.

We maintain detailed information regarding investments that we monitor and report on for our funds. We rely on our database of investment information
to provide regular reports to our clients, to research developments and trends in the markets and to support our investment processes. We depend on the
continuation of our relationships with the investment managers of the underlying funds and investments in order to maintain current data on these
investments and market activity. The termination of such relationships or the imposition of restrictions on our ability to use the investment-related information
we

43



obtain in connection with our investing, monitoring and reporting services could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Operational risks, including system failures or disruptions, can disrupt our business, damage our reputation, result in financial losses or limit our
growth.

We rely heavily on our and our third-party service providers’ financial, accounting, compliance, monitoring, administration, reporting and other data
processing systems and technology platforms to conduct our business. If any of these systems, or the systems of our third-party service providers, do not
operate properly or are disabled or fail, including the loss of or unauthorized access to data, whether caused by fire, other natural disaster, power or
telecommunications failure, computer viruses, malicious actors, negligence, acts of terrorism or war or otherwise, or if our third-party service providers fail to
perform as expected, we could suffer a disruption of our business, financial loss, liability to clients, regulatory intervention or reputational damage, which
could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If any of our third-party service providers access or
use our information for the purpose of competing with us or undermining our efforts, we may lose clients and opportunities. We also face operational risk from
errors made in the execution, confirmation or settlement of transactions, as well as errors in recording, evaluating and accounting for them. Our and our third-
party service providers’ information systems and technology may be unable to accommodate our growth or adequately protect the information of our clients,
for new products and strategies or address security risks, and the cost of maintaining such systems and technology may increase from our current level. Such
a failure to accommodate growth, or an increase in costs related to such information systems and technology, could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, financial condition and cash flow. A disaster or a disruption in technology or infrastructure that supports our businesses, including a
disruption involving electronic communications or other services used by us, our vendors or third parties with whom we conduct business, including
custodians, paying agents and escrow agents, or directly affecting our principal offices, could negatively impact our ability to continue to operate our
business without interruption. Our business continuation or disaster recovery programs may not be sufficient to mitigate the harm that could result from such
a disaster or disruption, and insurance and other safeguards may only partially reimburse us for our losses, if at all. We are also subject to the risk that the
financial institutions with which we maintain credit facilities or cash account balances fail.

Failure to maintain the security of our information technology networks, or those of our service providers and other third-parties, or
cybersecurity incidents could harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash
flow.

We rely on the storage, transmission, and other processing of confidential and other sensitive information, including personal data and proprietary
information in our computer systems, hardware, software, technology infrastructure and online sites and networks, and those of our service providers and
their vendors (collectively, “IT Systems”). In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store a range of data, including our proprietary business
information and intellectual property, and personally identifiable information of our employees, our clients and other third parties, in our cloud applications and
on our networks, as well as our services providers’ systems. Additionally, we are required to provide sensitive information to government agencies, including
biographical, financial and tax information relating to our personnel or investments to comply with anti-money laundering and other legal requirements. We,
our service providers, government agencies and their vendors face various and evolving cybersecurity risks that threaten the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of our IT Systems and personal data and proprietary information that we, or they, process. These include ongoing cybersecurity threats and
attacks on our and their IT Systems that are intended to gain unauthorized access to our sensitive or proprietary information, destroy data or disable, degrade
or sabotage our systems, and risks from diverse threat actors, such as state-sponsored organizations, opportunistic hackers and hacktivists. Cyberattack
techniques are continually evolving, may not immediately be recognized and can originate from a wide variety of sources, including remote areas of the
world, making them difficult to detect. There has been an increase in the frequency, sophistication and ingenuity of the cybersecurity threats we, our service
providers and their vendors face. Cyberattacks are accelerating on a global basis in both frequency and magnitude and threat actors are becoming
increasingly sophisticated in using techniques and tools — including artificial intelligence — that circumvent security controls, evade detection and remove
forensic evidence.

Our and our third-party service providers’ IT Systems are also vulnerable to unauthorized or unlawful access, theft, misuse, social
engineering/phishing, computer viruses, bugs, ransomware or other malicious code, employee, vendor or contractor error or malfeasance, technological error
and other events that could have a negative impact on the security, confidentiality, integrity and availability of our IT Systems and data. In recent years, there
has been a significant increase in ransomware and other hacking attempts by cyber-criminals. We and our employees have been and expect to continue to
be the target of “phishing” attacks, and the subject of impersonations and fraudulent requests for money, and other forms of activities. Further, we allow for
hybrid and remote office work, which introduces operational risks, including heightened cybersecurity
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risk, as remote working environments can be less secure and more susceptible to cyberattacks due to cybersecurity risks associated with managing remote
computing assets and security vulnerabilities that are present in many non-corporate and home networks. Additionally, any integration of artificial intelligence
in our or our third-party service providers’ operations, products or services poses new or unknown cybersecurity risks and challenges. As a result of these
different cybersecurity risks and threats, we may be unable to anticipate, detect, investigate, remediate or recover from cybersecurity incidents and attacks,
or avoid a material adverse impact to our IT Systems, data or business.

In addition, cybersecurity has become a focus for regulators around the world. For example, the SEC adopted rules on the Cybersecurity Risk
Management, Strategy, Governance, and Incident Disclosure by Public Companies that enhances and standardizes disclosures for public companies with
regards to their cybersecurity risk strategy, management and governance reporting, and has also adopted amendments to Regulation S-P (the privacy
regulations applicable to financial institutions, including investment advisers) that will, amongst other things, require the adoption of additional written polices
and procedures to detect, respond to and recover from cybersecurity incidents and mandate notification to clients and customers in the event of certain data
breaches. In addition, the SEC has proposed rules regarding cybersecurity requirements that apply to registered investment advisers and funds that would,
among other things, require broker-dealers and investment advisers to eliminate or neutralize the effect of certain conflicts of interest associated with their
use of artificial intelligence and other technologies that optimize for, predict, guide, forecast or direct investment-related behaviors or outcomes, adopt and
implement cybersecurity policies and procedures, enhance disclosures concerning incidents and risks in regulatory filings, and to promptly report certain
cybersecurity incidents to the SEC. These adopted rules increase our compliance costs and potential regulatory liability related to cybersecurity, and these
proposed rules, if passed, would subject us to additional risk of regulatory enforcement and could further increase our compliance costs, require changes to
our business practices and policies, or otherwise affect our business, operations and financial condition.

We are dependent on the effectiveness of our and our service providers’ information security policies, procedures and capabilities designed to protect
our and their IT Systems and the data such systems contain or transmit. Further, we cannot guarantee that these measures, and our cybersecurity risk
management program and processes, will be effective or that attempted security incidents or disruptions would not be successful or damaging. Even if the
vulnerabilities that lead to any incident are identified, we may be unable to adequately investigate or remediate due to threat actors using tools (including
artificial intelligence) and techniques that are designed to circumvent controls, avoid detection and remove or obfuscate forensic evidence. A cyberattack
could persist undetected over extended periods of time and may not be mitigated in a timely manner to prevent or minimize the impact on us. Attacks on our
IT Systems could enable threat actors to gain unauthorized access to and steal our sensitive, personal or proprietary information, destroy data or disable,
degrade or sabotage our systems or divert or otherwise steal funds. Attacks could range from those common to businesses generally to those that are more
advanced and persistent, which may target us because members of our senior management team may have public profiles or because, as an alternative
asset management firm, we hold a significant amount of confidential, personal and sensitive information about our clients and investments.

Any circumvention or failure of our or our service providers’ cybersecurity measures and risk management program could potentially jeopardize our,
our employees’ or our clients’ or counterparties’ sensitive, confidential, personal proprietary and other information processed and stored in, and transmitted
through, our IT Systems, or otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in our, our employees’, our clients’, our counterparties’ or third parties’ operations,
which could result in material financial losses, increased costs, disruption of our business, liability to clients and other counterparties, regulatory intervention,
proceedings, orders, litigation (including class actions), indemnity obligations, damages for contract breach or fines or penalties for violation of applicable
laws or regulations, or reputational damage, which, in turn, could cause a decline in our earnings and/or stock price. Furthermore, if we experience a
cybersecurity incident, it could result in regulatory investigations and material penalties, which could lead to negative publicity and may cause our clients to
lose confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures. Although we maintain errors or omissions and cyber liability insurance, the costs related to an
incident or other security threats or disruptions may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means, and insurance and other safeguards might only
partially reimburse us for our losses, if at all. We also cannot guarantee that applicable insurance will be available to us in the future on economically
reasonable terms or at all.

Rapidly developing and changing privacy and cybersecurity laws and regulations could increase compliance costs and subject us to
enforcement risks and reputational damage.

We are subject to various requirements, risks and costs associated with the collection, storage, transmission, disclosure and other processing of
personal data and other sensitive and confidential information. Personal data is generally defined as information that can be used to identify, locate or contact
a natural person or otherwise be associated with such natural person, including names, photos, email addresses, or computer IP addresses. This data is
wide ranging and relates to our clients,
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employees, counterparties and other third parties. Many jurisdictions in which we operate have laws and regulations relating to data privacy, cybersecurity or
the protection and processing of personal data, creating an overlapping patchwork of legislation that is always evolving and subject to differing interpretations.

For example, in the U.S., our compliance obligations include those relating to state laws, such as the California Consumer Privacy Act, as amended by
the California Privacy Rights Act (“CCPA”), which provides for enhanced privacy rights for California residents, such as the right to opt out of certain
processing of their personal information, and is enforced by the Attorney General with statutory fines and damages. The CCPA offers a private right of action
for certain data breaches and imposes a range of other compliance obligations. In addition, other states, including Colorado, Virginia and Oregon, have
passed similar privacy laws, and such laws are continuing to be passed or proposed at the state and federal level, reflecting a trend toward more stringent
data privacy legislation in the U.S. Any actual or perceived failure to comply with these privacy laws could result in civil penalties and increased compliance
costs, and/or require us to make changes to our data processing practices.

We are also required to comply with foreign data collection and privacy laws in various non-U.S. jurisdictions in which we have offices or conduct
business. For example, we are subject to the European General Data Protection Regulation and applicable national supplementing laws (“EU GDPR") and
the United Kingdom General Data Protection Regulations and Data Protection Act 2018 (“U.K. GDPR” and with the EU GDPR, the “GDPR”). Compliance
with the GDPR requires us to analyze and evaluate how we handle data in the ordinary course of business, from processes to technology. The GDPR
requires, amongst other things, providing EU and U.K. data subjects information about how their personal data will be used and stored, obtaining consent for
certain processing of personal data and being in a position to delete information if requested or if consent were withdrawn. Financial regulators and data
protection authorities throughout the EU and U.K. have broad audit and investigatory powers under the GDPR to probe how personal data is being used and
processed.

Under the GDPR and certain other privacy regimes, we are subject to rules regarding cross-border transfers of personal data. Recent legal
developments in Europe have created uncertainty regarding transfers of data from the European Economic Area (“EEA”) and the U.K. to the U.S. and other
jurisdictions. We expect the existing legal complexity and uncertainty regarding international personal data transfers to continue.

In particular, we expect the European Commission’s approval of the current EU-US Data Privacy Framework for data transfers to certified entities in
the United States to be challenged and international transfers to the U.S. and to other jurisdictions more generally to continue to be subject to enhanced
scrutiny by regulators. We currently rely on standard contractual clauses for existing intragroup, customer and vendor agreements. As the enforcement
landscape in relation to data transfers further develops, and supervisory authorities issue further guidance on international data transfers, we could suffer
additional costs, complaints and/or regulatory investigations or fines. We may have to stop using certain tools and vendors and make other operational
changes, including updating agreements or implementing additional safeguards, and this could otherwise affect the manner in which we provide our services,
could adversely affect our business, operations and financial condition.

Extensive government regulation, compliance failures and changes in law or regulation could adversely affect us.

Our business activities are subject to extensive and evolving laws, rules and regulations with which we seek to comply, and we are subject to periodic,
routine examinations by governmental agencies, including the SEC, and self-regulatory organizations in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Any changes
or potential changes in the regulatory framework applicable to our business may impose additional expenses or capital requirements on us, limit our
fundraising activities, have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, reputation or prospects, impair employee retention or
recruitment and require substantial attention by senior management. Currently proposed new rules and amendments to existing rules and regulations by
these regulatory bodies and government agencies could significantly impact us and our operations, including by increasing compliance burdens and
associated regulatory costs and complexity. In addition, these rules enhance the risk of regulatory action, which could adversely impact our reputation and
our fundraising efforts, including as a result of public regulatory sanctions and increased regulatory enforcement activity in the financial services industry. It is
impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new laws, regulations, initiatives or regulatory guidance that may be proposed or may become law on
our business or the markets in which we operate, but they could make it more difficult for us to operate our business.

Governmental authorities around the world have implemented or are implementing financial system and participant regulatory reform in reaction to
volatility and disruption in the global financial markets, financial institution failures and financial frauds. Such reform includes, among other things, additional
regulation of investment funds, as well as their managers
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and activities, including compliance, risk management and anti-money laundering procedures; restrictions on specific types of investments and the provision
and use of leverage; implementation of capital requirements; limitations on compensation to managers; and books and records, reporting and disclosure
requirements. We cannot predict with certainty the impact on us, our funds, or on alternative investment funds generally, of any such reforms. Any of these
regulatory reform measures could have an adverse effect on our funds’ investment strategies or our business model. We may incur significant expense in
order to comply with such reform measures and may incur significant liabilities if regulatory authorities determine that we are not in compliance.

We could also be adversely affected by changes in applicable tax laws, regulations, or administrative interpretations thereof and new tax laws in both
U.S. and non-U.S. jurisdictions may be passed with little advance notice. For example, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (the “IRA”) imposes, among other
things, a new excise tax on stock repurchases as discussed below, which could adversely affect the amount and/or timing of the tax we may be required to
pay. In addition, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (the “OECD”) has announced an accord commonly referred to as “Pillar Two”
to set a minimum global corporate tax rate of 15%, which is being or may be implemented in many jurisdictions. The OECD is also issuing guidelines that are
different, in some respects, than current international tax principles. If countries amend their tax laws to adopt all or part of the OECD guidelines, this may
increase tax uncertainty and increase taxes applicable to us or our stockholders. These and other changes that could be enacted in the future, including
changes to tax laws enacted by governments in jurisdictions in which we operate, could result in further changes to the tax laws in which we are subject to
and would materially adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.

In addition, our effective tax rate and tax liability are based on the application of current income tax laws, regulations and treaties. These laws,
regulations and treaties are complex, and the manner which they apply to us and our funds and diverse set of business arrangements is often open to
interpretation. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any
valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. The tax authorities could challenge our interpretation of laws, regulations and treaties,
resulting in additional tax liability or adjustment to our income tax provision that could increase our effective tax rate. Changes to tax laws may also adversely
affect our ability to attract and retain key personnel.

Our business is subject to regulation in the U.S., including by the SEC, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC"), the Internal
Revenue Service (the “IRS"), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) and other regulatory agencies, pursuant to, among other laws, the
Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “Advisers Act”), the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”), the
Securities Act, the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the Commodity Exchange Act and the Exchange Act. Any change in such
regulation or oversight could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. The time and attention as well as
the financial costs associated with compliance with these regulations could divert our resources away from managing certain funds’ investment programs,
which could adversely affect such funds and their investments. Similarly, the cost of new compliance obligations attributable to certain funds could increase
the financial burden on certain funds to the extent those costs are treated as fund expenses and could reduce distributions. Any legal or regulatory
uncertainty with respect to new regulations is likely to result in a diversion of our time and resources as well as expose us to regulatory risk, all of which in turn
could negatively impact certain funds and their investments. For example, in 2023 the SEC proposed amendments to the custody rule for registered
investment advisers that require, among other things, that advisers that have custody of client funds or securities to maintain those assets with broker-
dealers, banks, or other qualified custodians. These rules increase compliance burdens and associated regulatory costs and complexity and reduce the
ability to receive certain expense reimbursements or indemnification in certain circumstances.

We regularly rely on exemptions from various requirements of these and other applicable laws. These exemptions are sometimes highly complex and
may in certain circumstances depend on compliance by third parties whom we do not control. If, for any reason, these exemptions were to be revoked or
challenged or otherwise become unavailable to us, including under the new administration, we could be subject to regulatory action or third-party claims, and
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. Our failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations
or regulatory processes could result in fines, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including revocation of our registration as an investment adviser or
the registration of our broker-dealer subsidiary. Even if an investigation does not result in sanctions, or results in a sanction imposed against us or our
personnel is small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity relating to the investigation or the imposition of sanctions against us by regulators could harm
our reputation and cause us to lose existing clients or fail to gain new clients.

In the wake of highly publicized financial failures, including the banking failures in 2023, investors exhibited concerns over the integrity of the U.S.
financial markets, and the regulatory environment in which we operate is subject to further
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regulation in addition to those rules already promulgated. For example, there are a significant number of regulations that affect our business under the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”). The SEC has increased its regulation and scrutiny of the asset
management and private equity industries in recent years, focusing on the private equity industry’s fees, allocation of expenses to funds, marketing practices,
allocation of fund investment opportunities, disclosures to clients, the allocation of broken-deal expenses, the management of conflicts of interest disclosures,
valuation practices and other fiduciary obligations. The SEC has also heightened its focus on the valuation practices employed by investment advisers. The
lack of readily ascertainable market prices for many of the investments made by our funds or the funds in which we invest could subject our valuation policies
and processes to increased scrutiny by the SEC. We may be adversely affected as a result of new or revised legislation or regulations imposed by the SEC,
other U.S. or foreign governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise the financial markets. We also may be adversely
affected by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules by these governmental authorities and self-regulatory organizations.

We are subject to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”) and the
prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code in connection with the management of certain of our funds. With respect to these
funds, this means that (1) the application of the fiduciary responsibility standards of ERISA to investments made by such funds, including the requirement of
investment prudence and diversification, and (2) certain transactions that we enter into, or may have entered into, on behalf of these funds, in the ordinary
course of business, are subject to the prohibited transactions rules under Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code. A non-exempt prohibited
transaction, in addition to imposing potential liability upon fiduciaries of an ERISA plan, may also result in the imposition of an excise tax under the Code
upon a “party in interest” (as defined in ERISA), or “disqualified person” (as defined in the Code), with whom we engaged in the transaction.

Some of the other funds currently rely on an exception under the ERISA plan asset regulations promulgated by the U.S. Department of Labor (the
“DOL") (as modified by Section 3(42) of ERISA) (the “Plan Asset Regulations”), and therefore are not subject to the fiduciary responsibility requirements of
ERISA or the prohibited transaction requirements of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code. However, if these funds fail to satisfy an exception under the Plan
Asset Regulations, such failure could materially interfere with our activities in relation to these funds and expose us to risks related to our failure to comply
with such provisions of ERISA and the Code.

In addition, we are registered as an investment adviser with the SEC and are subject to the requirements and regulations of the Advisers Act. Such
requirements relate to, among other things, restrictions on entering into transactions with clients, maintaining an effective compliance program, incentive
fees, solicitation arrangements, allocation of investments, recordkeeping and reporting requirements, disclosure requirements, limitations on agency cross
and principal transactions between an adviser and their advisory clients, as well as general anti-fraud prohibitions. As a registered investment adviser, we
have fiduciary duties to our clients. Similarly, we are registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC and are a member of FINRA. As such, we are also subject to
the requirements and regulations of the Exchange Act and FINRA rules. We regularly are subject to requests for information, inquiries and routine informal or
formal examinations by the SEC, FINRA and other regulatory authorities, with which we cooperate. Such examinations can result in fines, suspensions of
personnel, changes in policies, procedures or disclosure or other sanctions, including censure, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders, the suspension or
termination of our investment adviser or broker-dealer registrations or the commencement of a civil or criminal lawsuit against us or our personnel. SEC or
FINRA actions and initiatives can have an adverse effect on our financial results. Even if an investigation or proceeding did not result in a sanction, imposed
against us or our personnel by a regulator were small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity relating to the investigation, proceeding or imposition of
these sanctions could harm our reputation and cause us to lose existing clients or fail to gain new clients.

In addition, a number of jurisdictions, including the U.S. have restrictions on foreign direct investment pursuant to which their respective heads of state
and/or regulatory bodies have the authority to block or impose conditions with respect to certain transactions, such as investments, acquisitions and
divestitures, if such transaction threatens to impair national security. In the U.S., the Committee on Foreign Investment in the U.S. has the authority to review
and potentially block, unwind or impose conditions on certain foreign investments in U.S. companies or real estate, which may reduce the number of
potential buyers and limit the ability of our funds to realize value from certain existing and future investments. In addition, in August 2023, the former
President signed an Executive Order which prohibits certain investments by U.S. persons in advanced technology sectors in China and jurisdictions
designed as “countries of concern.” State regulatory agencies may also impose restrictions on investments in certain types of assets, which could affect our
ability to find attractive and diversified investments and to complete such investments in a timely manner. Other countries continue to establish and/or
strengthen their own national security investment clearance regimes, which could have a corresponding effect of limiting our ability to make investments in
such countries. Complying with these laws imposes potentially significant costs and complex additional burdens, and any
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failure by us, our funds or the companies in which they invest to comply with them could expose us to significant penalties, sanctions, loss of future
investment opportunities, additional regulatory scrutiny and reputational harm.

In the EU, MIFID Il requires, among other things, all MiFID investment firms to comply with prescriptive disclosure, transparency, reporting and
recordkeeping obligations and obligations in relation to the receipt of investment research, best execution, product governance and marketing
communications. As we operate investment firms which are subject to MiFID I, we have implemented policies and procedures to comply with MiFID Il where
relevant, including where certain rules have an extraterritorial impact on us. Compliance with MiFID Il has resulted in greater overall complexity, higher
compliance, administration and operational costs, and less overall flexibility.

In addition, across the EU and U.K., we are subject to the AIFMD, under which we are subject to regulatory requirements regarding, among other
things, registration for marketing activities, the structure of remuneration for certain of our personnel and reporting obligations. Certain requirements of the
AIFMD and the interpretation thereof remain uncertain and may be subject to change.

Changes to AIFMD in the EU have been adopted, which came into force in April 2024, however, EU member states have two years after publication to
transpose the rules into national law. This means the changes will apply from April 2026. While the Level 1 AIFMD 2 legislation has been published, the
supplementary Level 2 delegated acts, setting out the supporting detail, have not yet been published and are expected throughout 2025. These changes
could increase the compliance burdens on certain of our funds. Individual member states of the EU have imposed additional requirements that may include
internal arrangements with respect to risk management, liquidity risks, asset valuations, and the establishment and security of depository and custodial
requirements. Because some EEA countries have not yet incorporated the AIFMD into their agreement with the EU, we may undertake marketing activities
and provide services in those EEA countries only in compliance with applicable local laws. Outside the EEA, the regulations to which we are subject relate
primarily to registration and reporting obligations.

Changes to the UK'’s version of the AIFMD regime are anticipated, with the UK’s Financial Conduct Authority expected to consult on proposed
amendments to AIFMD in the UK in 2025. This is as a result of the so-called Edinburgh Reforms, where AIFMD in its current format in the UK will be
repealed at a future, to be determined date, and replaced with an updated UK regime. It is not yet clear as to the potential direction of travel of any
amendments to the UK AIFMD regime other than the FCA has previously expressed a preference to make it “more proportionate”. We expect the FCA to
consult on these changes in 2025, with any changes taking effect at a future, but as yet unknown, date. Despite not yet having visibility on the substance or
scale of any amendment to the UK AIFMD regime, it is likely that it will result in material divergence between the UK and EU regimes, which may increase
the compliance burden on, and associated costs to, our funds.

As described above, Brexit and the potential resulting divergence between the U.K. and EU regulatory frameworks may result in additional complexity
and costs in complying with AIFMD across both the U.K. and EU.

The EU Securitization Regulation (the “Securitization Regulation”), which became effective on January 1, 2019, imposes due diligence and risk
retention requirements on ‘“institutional investors,” which includes managers of alternative investment funds assets, and constrains the ability of alternative
investment funds to invest in securitization positions that do not comply with the prescribed risk retention requirements. The Securitization Regulation may
impact or limit our funds’ ability to make certain investments that constitute “securitizations” and may impose additional reporting obligations on
securitizations, which may increase the costs of managing such vehicles.

An EU Regulation on the prudential requirements of investment firms (Regulation (EU) 2019/2033) and its accompanying Directive (Directive (EU)
2019/2034) (together, “IFR/IFD”) impose a prudential regime for most MiFID investment firms, including general capital requirements, liquidity requirements,
remuneration requirements, requirements to conduct internal capital adequacy assessments and additional requirements on disclosures and public reporting,
which could hinder our ability to deploy capital as freely as we would wish and to recruit and incentivize staff. Different and extended internal governance,
disclosure, reporting, liquidity, and group “prudential” consolidation requirements, among other requirements under IFR/IFD, could also have a material
impact on our European operations. Further, the U.K. has established its own prudential regime for investment firms that are subject to MiFID Il (as
implemented in the U.K.), which is intended to achieve similar outcomes to the IFR/IFD.

In addition, certain regulatory requirements and proposals in the EU and U.K. intended to enhance protection for retail investors and impose additional
obligations on the distribution of certain products to retain investors may impose additional costs on our operations and limit our ability to access capital from
retail investors in such jurisdictions.
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It is expected that additional laws and regulations will come into force in the EEA, the EU, the U.K. and other countries in which we operate over the
coming years. These laws and regulations may affect our costs and manner of conducting business in one or more markets, the risks of doing business, the
assets that we manage or advise, and our ability to raise capital from investors. Any failure by us to comply with either existing or new laws or regulations
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, it is expected that the new administration will seek to enact changes to numerous areas of law and regulations currently in effect. Any such
changes could significantly impact our business. Specific legislative and regulatory proposals discussed during election campaigns and more recently that
might materially impact our business include changes to trade agreements, immigration policy, import and export regulations, tariffs and customs duties,
energy regulations, income tax regulations and the federal tax code, public company reporting requirements, and antitrust enforcement. Changes in federal
policy, including tax policies, and at regulatory agencies occur over time through policy and personnel changes following elections, which lead to changes
involving the level of oversight and focus on the financial services industry or the tax rates paid by corporate entities. The nature, timing and economic effects
of potential changes to the current legal and regulatory framework affecting financial institutions under the new administration remain highly uncertain. Future
changes may adversely affect our operating environment and therefore our business, financial condition and results of operations. There can be no
assurance that any changes in laws, regulations or governmental policy will not have an adverse impact on our business, including our ability to execute on
investment objectives and to receive returns.

A 1% U.S. federal excise tax could be imposed on us in connection with redemptions.

On August 16, 2022, the IRA was signed into federal law. The IRA provides for, among other things, a new U.S. federal 1% excise tax on certain
repurchases (including redemptions) of stock by publicly traded U.S. corporations and certain other persons (a “covered corporation”). Because we are a
Delaware corporation and our securities are trading on the Nasdaq, we are a “covered corporation” for this purpose. The excise tax is imposed on the
repurchasing corporation itself, not its stockholders from which shares are repurchased. The amount of the excise tax is generally 1% of the fair market value
of the shares repurchased at the time of the repurchase. However, for purposes of calculating the excise tax, repurchasing corporations are permitted to net
the fair market value of certain new stock issuances against the fair market value of stock repurchases during the same taxable year. In addition, certain
exceptions apply to the excise tax. The U.S. Department of Treasury has been given authority to provide regulations and other guidance to carry out, and
prevent the abuse or avoidance of the excise tax. Our board of directors has approved a share repurchase plan that may be used to repurchase shares of
GCMG's outstanding Class A common stock and warrants in an amount up to $190 million. Any repurchases of our stock or other transactions covered by
the excise tax described above are potentially subject to this excise tax, which could increase our costs and adversely affect our operating results.

Federal, state and foreign anti-corruption and sanctions laws create the potential for significant liabilities and penalties and reputational harm.

We are also subject to a number of laws and regulations governing payments and contributions to political persons or other third parties, including
restrictions imposed by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) as well as trade sanctions and export control laws administered by the Office of Foreign
Assets Control (“OFAC”), the U.S. Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department of State. The FCPA is intended to prohibit bribery of foreign
governments and their officials and political parties, and requires public companies in the U.S. to keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect
those companies’ transactions. OFAC, the U.S. Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department of State administer and enforce various export control
laws and regulations, including economic and trade sanctions based on U.S. foreign policy and national security goals against targeted foreign states,
organizations and individuals. These laws and regulations relate to a number of aspects of our business, including servicing existing fund investors, finding
new fund investors, and sourcing new investments, as well as activities by the portfolio companies in our investment portfolio or other controlled investments.

Similar laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions, such as EU sanctions or the U.K. Bribery Act, as well as other applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption, anti-money
laundering, or sanction or other export control laws in the U.S. and abroad, may also impose stricter or more onerous requirements than the FCPA, OFAC,
the U.S. Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department of State, and implementing them may disrupt our business or cause us to incur significantly
more costs to comply with those laws. Different laws may also contain conflicting provisions, making compliance with all laws more difficult. Because different
interpretations for current sanctions law may exist, we could become involved in disputes with respect to actions taken in compliance with our understanding
of such laws. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we could be exposed to claims for damages, civil or criminal financial penalties, reputational
harm, incarceration of our employees, restrictions on our operations and other liabilities, which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of
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operations and financial condition. In addition, we may be subject to successor liability for FCPA violations or other acts of bribery, or violations of applicable
sanctions or other export control laws committed by companies in which we or our funds invest or which we or our funds acquire. While we have developed
and implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure strict compliance by us and our personnel with the FCPA and other anti-corruption, sanctions
and export control laws in jurisdictions in which we operate, such policies and procedures may not be effective to prevent violations. Any determination that
we have violated the FCPA or other applicable anti-corruption, sanctions or export control laws could subject us to, among other things, civil and criminal
penalties, material fines, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct, securities litigation and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Misconduct by our employees, advisors or third-party service providers could harm us by impairing our ability to attract and retain clients and
subject us to significant legal liability and reputational harm.

Our employees, advisors or third-party service providers could engage in misconduct that adversely affects our business. We are subject to a number
of laws, obligations and standards arising from our business and our discretionary authority over the assets we manage. The violation of these laws,
obligations and standards by any of our employees, advisors or third-party service providers would adversely affect our clients and us by subjecting us to,
among other things, civil and criminal penalties or material fines, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct, securities litigation and a general loss of
investor confidence. Our business often requires that we deal with confidential matters of great significance to companies and funds in which we may invest
for our clients. If our employees, advisors or third-party service providers were to engage in fraudulent activity, violate regulatory standards or improperly use
or disclose sensitive or confidential information, we could be subject to legal or regulatory action and suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial position
and current and future business relationships. It is not always possible to detect or deter misconduct, and the precautions we take that seek to detect and
prevent undesirable activity may not be effective. In addition, allowing employees to work remotely may require us to develop and implement additional
precautions in order to detect and prevent employee misconduct. Such additional precautions, which may include implementation of security and other
restrictions, may make our systems more difficult and costly to operate and may not be effective in preventing employee misconduct in a remote work
environment. If one of our employees, advisors or third-party service providers were to engage in misconduct or were to be accused of misconduct, our
reputation and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We may face damage to our professional reputation and legal liability if our services are not regarded as satisfactory or for other reasons.

As a financial services firm, we depend to a large extent on our relationships with our clients and our reputation for integrity and high-caliber
professional services to attract and retain clients. As a result, if a client is not satisfied with our services, such dissatisfaction may be more damaging to our
business than to other types of businesses.

In recent years, the volume of claims and amount of damages claimed in litigation and regulatory proceedings against investment advisers has been
increasing. Our asset management and advisory activities may subject us to the risk of significant legal liabilities to our clients and third parties, including our
clients’ stockholders or beneficiaries, under securities or other laws and regulations for materially false or misleading statements made in connection with
securities and other transactions. We make investment decisions on behalf of our clients that could result in substantial losses. Any such losses also may
subject us to the risk of legal and regulatory liabilities or actions alleging negligent misconduct, breach of fiduciary duty or breach of contract. These risks
often may be difficult to assess or quantify and their existence and magnitude often remain unknown for substantial periods of time. We may incur significant
legal expenses in defending litigation. In addition, negative publicity and press speculation about us, our investment activities or the private markets in
general, whether or not based in truth, or litigation or regulatory action against us or any third-party managers recommended by us or involving us may
tarnish our reputation and harm our ability to attract and retain clients. Also, events that damage the reputation of our industry generally, such as highly
publicized incidents of fraud or other scandals, could have a material adverse effect on our business, regardless of whether any of these events directly relate
to our funds and accounts. The pervasiveness of social media and electronic communications and the increasing prevalence of artificial intelligence could
also lead to faster and wider dissemination of any adverse publicity or inaccurate information about us, making effective remediation more difficult and further
magnifying the reputational risks associated with negative publicity. Substantial legal or regulatory liability could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations or cause significant reputational harm to us, which could seriously harm our business.
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Risks related to emerging and changing technology, including artificial intelligence, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Technological developments in artificial intelligence, including machine learning technology and generative artificial intelligence, and their current and
potential future applications, including in the private investment and financial sectors, as well as the legal and regulatory frameworks within which they
operate, are rapidly evolving. The full extent of current or future risks related thereto is not possible to predict. Artificial intelligence could significantly disrupt
the markets in which we operate and subject us to increased competition, legal and regulatory risks and compliance costs, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We intend to avail ourselves of the potential benefits that are available through artificial technologies, which present a number of potential risks. Data
that artificial intelligence applications utilize are likely to contain a degree of inaccuracy and error, which could result in flawed algorithms. This could reduce
the effectiveness of artificial intelligence technologies and adversely impact us and our operations to the extent we rely on the work product of such
technology in our operations. There is also a risk that artificial intelligence tools or applications may be misused or misappropriated by our employees and/or
third parties engaged by us. For example, a user may input confidential information, including material non-public information or personal identifiable
information, into artificial intelligence technologies, resulting in such information becoming part of a dataset that is accessible by third-party artificial
intelligence applications and users, including our competitors. Such actions could subject us to legal and regulatory investigations and/or actions. Further, we
may not be able to control how third-party artificial intelligence technologies that we choose to use are developed or maintained, or how data we input is used
or disclosed, even where we have sought contractual protections with respect to these matters. The misuse or misappropriation of our data could have an
adverse impact on our reputation and could subject us to legal and regulatory investigations and/or actions. In addition, we have and may continue to
communicate externally regarding artificial technology-related initiatives, including our development and use of artificial intelligence technologies, which
subjects us to the risk of being accused of making inaccurate or misleading statements regarding our ability to avail ourselves of the potential benefits of
artificial intelligence.

Regulations related to artificial intelligence can also impose certain obligations and costs related to monitoring and compliance as certain existing legal
regimes, including those related to data privacy, regulate certain aspects of artificial intelligence technology, and new laws regulating artificial intelligence
technologies have been enacted or entered into force in jurisdictions that we operate, including California, Colorado, Utah and the EU. In addition, the SEC
has proposed new rules on the use of artificial intelligence by investment advisers that would add to the compliance risks and burdens of using this
technology.

We also face competitive risks related to the adoption and application of new technologies by established market participants or new entrants. We may
not be successful in anticipating or responding to these developments on a timely and cost-effective basis. Additionally, the effort to gain technological
expertise and develop new technologies in our business may be costly. Investments in technology systems and data analytics capabilities may not deliver
the benefits or perform as expected or may be replaced or become obsolete more quickly than expected, which could result in operational difficulties or
additional costs. If we cannot offer new artificial intelligence-facilitated technologies or data analytics solutions as quickly as our competitors, or if our
competitors develop more cost-effective technologies, data analytics solutions or other product offerings, we could experience a material adverse effect on
our operating results, customer relationships and growth opportunities.

Poor implementation of new technologies, including artificial intelligence, by us or our third-party service providers, could subject us to additional risks
we do not understand or cannot adequately mitigate, which could have an impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our failure or inability to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our trademarks, service marks and other intellectual property rights could
adversely affect our business, including the value of our brands.

We own certain common-law trademark rights in the U.S., as well as numerous trademark and service mark registrations in the U.S. and in other
jurisdictions. Despite our efforts to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our trademarks, service marks and other intellectual property rights, there can be no
assurance that these protections will be available in all cases, and our trademarks, service marks or other intellectual property rights could be challenged,
invalidated, declared generic, circumvented, infringed or otherwise violated. For example, competitors may adopt service names similar to ours, or purchase
our trademarks and confusingly similar terms as keywords in Internet search engine advertising programs, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity
and possibly leading to confusion in the marketplace. The value of our intellectual property could also diminish if others assert rights in or ownership of our
trademarks, service marks and other intellectual property rights, or trademarks or service marks that are similar to ours. We may be unable to successfully
resolve these types of conflicts to our satisfaction. In
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some cases, there may be trademark or service mark owners who have prior rights to our trademarks and service marks or to similar trademarks and service
marks. In addition, there could be potential trade name, service mark or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other registered trademarks or
service marks, or trademarks or service marks that incorporate variations of our trademarks or service marks. During trademark and service mark registration
proceedings, we may receive rejections of our applications by the United States Patent and Trademark Office or in other foreign jurisdictions. Additionally,
opposition, invalidation or cancellation proceedings have been and may in the future be filed against our trademark or service mark applications and
registrations, and our trademarks and service marks may not survive such proceedings. While we may be able to continue the use of our trademarks and
service marks in the event registration is not available, particularly in the U.S., where such rights are acquired based on use and not registration, third parties
may be able to enjoin the continued use of our trademarks or service marks if such parties are able to successfully claim infringement in court. In the event
that our trademarks or service marks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products, services or business, which could result in
loss of brand recognition and could require us to devote resources towards advertising and marketing new brands. Over the long term, if we are unable to
establish name recognition based on our trademarks and service marks, then we may not be able to compete effectively. Any claims or customer confusion
related to our trademarks and service marks could damage our reputation and brand and substantially harm our business, liquidity, financial condition and
results of operations.

We may be required to protect our trademarks, service marks and other intellectual property rights in an increasing number of jurisdictions, a process
that is expensive and may not be successful, or which we may not pursue in every location. The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual
property rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. Accordingly, we may choose not to seek protection in certain countries, and we will not have the
benefit of protection in such countries. Moreover, any changes in, or unexpected interpretations of, intellectual property laws in any jurisdiction may
compromise our ability to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights. The protective actions that we take, however, may not be
sufficient, in some jurisdictions, to secure our trademark and service mark rights for some of the goods and services that we offer or to prevent imitation by
others, which could adversely affect the value of our trademarks and service marks or cause us to incur litigation costs, or pay damages or licensing fees to a
prior user or registrant of similar intellectual property. Moreover, policing our intellectual property rights is difficult, costly and may not always be effective.

From time to time, legal action by us may be necessary to enforce or protect our intellectual property rights, including our trade secrets, to determine
the validity and scope of the intellectual property rights of others or to defend against claims of infringement, misappropriation, other violation or invalidity.
Even if we are successful in defending our claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could negatively affect our
business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition. To the extent that we seek to enforce our rights, we could be subject to claims that an
intellectual property right is invalid, otherwise not enforceable, or is licensed to or not infringed or otherwise violated by the party against whom we are
pursuing a claim. In addition, our assertion of intellectual property rights may result in the other party seeking to assert alleged intellectual property rights or
assert other claims against us, which could harm our business. If we are not successful in defending such claims in litigation, we may not be able to use, sell
or license a particular product or offering due to an injunction, or we may have to pay damages that could, in turn, harm our results of operations. Our inability
to enforce our intellectual property rights under these circumstances may harm our competitive position and our business.

The increasing scrutiny on, and differing points of view regarding, human capital programs and considerations could result in litigation, increase
our costs, harm our reputation and adversely impact our financial results.

There has been increasing focus by governmental authorities, including executive branch, investors, customers, activists, the media, governmental and
nongovernmental organizations, and other stakeholders on a variety of human capital management matters. We may experience pressure to make
commitments, or repeal our commitments, relating to human capital management matters that affect us, our funds, and our funds’ portfolio companies. There
has been an increase in investigations and litigation claiming that certain programs may inappropriately discriminate against certain groups. We may be
increasingly subject to competing demands or scrutiny from different governmental authorities, regulators, clients, investors and other stakeholders or third
parties with divergent views and, if we fail to meet, or are perceived to fail to meet competing demands and increased scrutiny, we may be subject to
significant fines and penalties, including risk of litigation, and investigation. Relatedly, both advocates and opponents to certain environmental and social
matters are increasingly resorting to a range of activism forms, including media campaigns, shareholder proposals, and litigation, to advance their
perspectives. We cannot predict future developments related to these matters, however to the extent we are subject to such litigation, investigation, activism,
or pressure, we may be required to incur costs, it may affect our ability to fundraise or it may otherwise adversely impact our business and/or reputation.
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Our inability to obtain adequate insurance could subject us to additional risk of loss or additional expenses.

We may not be able to obtain or maintain sufficient insurance on commercially reasonable terms or with adequate coverage levels against potential
liabilities we may face in connection with potential claims, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. We may face a risk of loss from a
variety of claims, including those related to securities, antitrust, contracts, cybersecurity, fraud, compliance with laws and various other issues, whether or not
such claims are valid.

Insurance and other safeguards might only partially reimburse us for our losses, if at all, and if a claim is successful and exceeds or is not covered by
our insurance policies, we may be required to pay a substantial amount in respect of such successful claim. Certain losses of a catastrophic nature, such as
public health crises or pandemics, wars, earthquakes, typhoons, terrorist attacks or other similar events, may be uninsurable or may only be insurable at
rates that are so high that maintaining coverage would cause an adverse impact on our business, in which case we may choose not to maintain such
coverage.

Risks Related to Our Funds

Difficult or volatile market, economic and geopolitical conditions can adversely affect our business in many ways, including by reducing the value
or performance of the investments made by our funds, reducing the number of high-quality investment managers with whom we may invest, and
reducing the ability of our funds to raise or deploy capital, each of which could materially reduce our revenues, earnings and cash flow and
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business can be materially affected by difficult or volatile market, economic and geopolitical conditions and events throughout the world that are
outside our control, including interest rates, inflation, economic recession risk, regional and international bank failures, reduced availability of credit, changes
in laws, trade barriers and tariffs, commodity prices, currency exchange rates, natural disasters, climate change, pandemics or other severe public health
crises, terrorism, political hostilities, civil disturbances, war or the threat of war. These factors may affect the level and volatility of securities prices and the
liquidity and value of investments, and we may not be able to or may choose not to manage our exposure to them. Adding to the strain on the economy is war
and conflict in various international regions, which creates market uncertainty, and the failure of multiple regional banks in the U.S. and elsewhere in recent
years, which created bank-specific and broader financial institution liquidity risk concerns. Future adverse developments with respect to specific financial
institutions or the broader financial services industry may lead to market-wide liquidity shortages and could have a negative impact on the economy and
business activity globally, and therefore could adversely affect the performance of our business. Furthermore, any new or incremental regulatory measures or
changes to existing measures for or affecting the U.S. financial services industry, including under the new administration, may increase costs and create
regulatory uncertainty and additional competition for our products. In addition, if the U.S. were to default on its debt, the negative ramifications on the U.S.
and global economies could be unprecedented and long-lasting and may dramatically exacerbate the risks highlighted here and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Our funds have been affected by reduced opportunities to exit and realize value from their investments and by the fact that they may not be able to find
suitable investments in which to effectively deploy capital. During periods of difficult market conditions or slowdowns in a particular sector, companies in
which our funds invest may experience decreased revenues, financial losses, difficulty in obtaining access to financing and increased funding costs. During
such periods, these companies may also have difficulty in expanding their businesses and operations and be unable to meet their debt service obligations or
other expenses as they become due. In addition, during periods of adverse market, economic or geopolitical conditions, our funds may have difficulty
accessing financial markets, which could make it more difficult or impossible for them to obtain funding for additional investments and harm their assets under
management and results of operations. A general market downturn, or a specific market dislocation, may result in lower investment returns for our funds,
which would adversely affect our revenues. Furthermore, such conditions could also increase the risk of default with respect to investments held by our funds
that have significant debt investments.

In addition, our ability to find high-quality investment managers with whom we may invest could become exacerbated in deteriorating or difficult market
environments. Any such occurrence could delay our ability to invest capital, lead to lower returns on invested capital and have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Market deterioration has caused us, our funds and the investments made by our funds to experience tightening of liquidity, reduced earnings and cash
flow, and impairment charges, as well as challenges in raising and deploying capital, obtaining investment financing and making investments on attractive
terms. These market conditions can also have an impact
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on our ability and the ability of our funds and the investments made by our funds to liquidate positions in a timely and efficient manner. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, there were fewer companies that underwent initial public offerings and sales of the portfolio companies in our funds than in prior years.
To the extent periods of volatility are coupled with lack of realizations from clients’ existing private markets portfolios, such clients may be left with
disproportionately outsized remaining commitments, which significantly limits their ability to make new commitments.

Our business could generate lower revenues in a general economic downturn or a tightening of global credit markets. A general economic downturn or
tightening of global credit markets may result in reduced opportunities to find suitable investments and make it more difficult for us, or for the funds in which
we and our clients invest, to exit and realize value from existing investments, potentially resulting in a decline in the value of the investments held in our
clients’ portfolios, leading to a decrease in incentive fee revenue. Any reduction in the market value of the assets we manage will not likely be reported until
one or more quarters after the end of the applicable performance period due to an inherent lag in the valuation process of private markets investments. This
can result in a mismatch between stated valuation and current market conditions and can lead to delayed revelations of changes in performance and,
therefore, delayed effects on our clients’ portfolios. If our clients reduce their commitments to make investments in private markets in favor of investments
they perceive as offering greater opportunity or lower risk, our revenues or earnings could decline as a result of lower fees being paid to us. Further, if, due to
the lag in reporting, their decision to do so is made after the initial effects of a market downturn are felt by the rest of the economy, the adverse effect we
experience as a result of that decision could likewise adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations on a delayed basis.

Our profitability may also be adversely affected by our fixed costs and the possibility that we would be unable to scale back other costs within a time
frame sufficient to match any decreases in revenues relating to changes in market and economic conditions. This risk may be further exacerbated if, as a
result of poor fund performance or difficult market and fundraising environments, investors and clients negotiate lower fee or fee concessions that are
materially less favorable to us than our desired fee structure. If our revenues decline without a commensurate reduction in our expenses, our earnings will be
reduced. Accordingly, difficult market conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Inflation may adversely affect the business, results of operations and financial condition of our funds and their investments.

Certain of our funds and their investments operate in industries that have been impacted by inflation. Recent inflationary pressures have increased the
costs of labor, energy and raw materials and have adversely affected consumer spending, economic growth and our funds’ portfolio companies’ operations. If
these inflationary pressures persist, and such portfolio companies are unable to pass any increases in the costs of their operations along to their customers, it
could adversely affect their operating results. Such conditions would increase the risk of default on their obligations as a borrower. In addition, any projected
future decreases in the operating results of our funds’ portfolio companies due to inflation could adversely impact the fair value of those investments. Any
decreases in the fair value of our funds’ investments could result in future realized or unrealized losses.

Increased interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our business and that of our funds’ portfolio companies.

Increased interest rates have had and could continue to have a dampening effect on overall economic activity, the financial condition of our investors
and the financial condition of the end customers who ultimately create demand for the capital we supply, all of which could negatively affect demand for our
funds’ capital. The Federal Reserve increased the federal funds rate in 2022 and 2023, and the rate and timing of additional changes are uncertain. Such
uncertainty surrounding interest rates can make it difficult for us to obtain financing at attractive rates, and impact our ability to execute on our growth
strategies or future acquisitions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If the investments we make on behalf of our funds perform poorly, we may suffer a decline in our revenues and earnings, and our ability to raise
capital for future funds may be materially and adversely affected.

Our revenues are derived from fees earned for our management of our funds, incentive fees, or carried interest, with respect to certain of our funds,
and monitoring and reporting fees. In the event that our funds perform poorly, our revenues and earnings derived from incentive fees and carried interest will
decline, and it will be more difficult for us to raise capital for new funds or gain new or retain current clients in the future. In addition, the risk of clawback can
occur as a result of diminished investment performance. If we are unable to repay the amount of the clawback, we would be subject to liability for a breach of
our contractual obligations. If we are unable to raise or are required to repay capital, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be
materially and adversely affected.
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The historical performance of our funds should not be considered indicative of the future performance of these funds or of any future funds we may
raise, in part because:

. market conditions and investment opportunities during previous periods may have been significantly more favorable for generating positive
performance than those we may experience in the future;

. the performance of our funds that distribute carried interest is generally calculated on the basis of the net asset value of the funds’ investments,
including unrealized gains, which may never be realized and therefore never generate carried interest;

. our historical returns derive largely from the performance of our earlier funds, whereas future fund returns will depend increasingly on the
performance of our newer funds or funds not yet formed;

. our newly established closed-ended funds may generate lower returns during the period that they initially deploy their capital;

. in recent years, there has been increased competition for investment opportunities resulting from the increased amount of capital invested in
private markets alternatives and high liquidity in debt markets, and the increased competition for investments may reduce our returns in the
future;

. the performance of particular funds also will be affected by risks of the industries and businesses in which they invest; and

. we may create new funds that reflect a different asset mix and new investment strategies, as well as a varied geographic and industry exposure,

compared to our historical funds, and any such new funds could have different returns than our previous funds.

The success of our business depends on the identification and availability of suitable investment opportunities for our clients.

Our success largely depends on the identification and availability of suitable investment opportunities for our clients, and in particular the success of
underlying funds in which our funds invest. The availability of investment opportunities will be subject to market conditions and other factors outside of our
control and the control of the investment managers with which we invest for our funds. Past returns of our funds have benefited from investment opportunities
and general market conditions that may not continue or reoccur, including favorable borrowing conditions in the debt markets during such historical periods,
and there can be no assurance that our funds or the underlying funds in which we invest for our funds will be able to avail themselves of comparable
opportunities and conditions, particularly in light of current interest rate levels and other market conditions. There can also be no assurance that the
underlying funds we select will be able to identify sufficient attractive investment opportunities to meet their investment objectives.

Competition for access to investment funds and other investments we make for our clients is intense.

We seek to maintain excellent relationships with investment managers of investment funds, including those in which we have previously made
investments for our clients and those in which we may in the future invest, as well as sponsors of investments that might provide co-investment opportunities
in portfolio companies alongside the sponsoring fund manager. However, because of the number of investors seeking to gain access to investment funds and
co-investment opportunities managed or sponsored by the top performing fund managers, there can be no assurance that we will be able to secure the
opportunity to invest on behalf of our clients in all or a substantial portion of the investments we select, or that the investment opportunities available to us will
be the size we desire. Access to secondary investment opportunities is also highly competitive and is often controlled by a limited number of general
partners, fund managers and intermediaries.

The due diligence process that we undertake in connection with investments may not detect all facts that may be relevant in connection with an
investment.

Before investing the assets of our funds, we conduct due diligence that we deem reasonable and appropriate based on the facts and circumstances
applicable to each investment. When conducting due diligence, we may be required to evaluate important and complex business, financial, tax, accounting,
technological, environmental, social, governance and legal and regulatory issues. Outside consultants, legal advisors and accountants may be involved in the
due diligence process in varying degrees depending on the type of investment and the parties involved. Nevertheless, when conducting due diligence and
making an assessment regarding an investment, we rely on the information available to us, including information provided by the target of the investment
and, in some circumstances, third-party investigations, and such an investigation will not necessarily result in
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the investment ultimately being successful. Moreover, the due diligence investigation that we will carry out with respect to any investment opportunity may not
detect or highlight all relevant facts or risks that are necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity. For example, instances of bribery, fraud,
accounting irregularities and other improper, illegal or corrupt practices can be difficult to detect and may be more widespread in certain jurisdictions.

In addition, a substantial portion of our funds invest in underlying funds, and therefore we are dependent on the due diligence investigation of the
underlying investment manager of such funds. We have little or no control over their due diligence process, and any shortcomings in their due diligence
could be reflected in the performance of the investment we make with them on behalf of our clients. Poor investment performance could lead clients to
terminate their agreements with us and/or result in negative reputational effects, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Dependence on leverage by certain funds, underlying investment funds and portfolio companies subjects us to volatility and contractions in the
debt financing markets and could adversely affect the ability of our funds to achieve attractive rates of return on their investments.

Many of the funds we manage, the funds in which we invest and portfolio companies within our funds and customized separate accounts currently rely
on credit facilities either to facilitate efficient investing or for speculative purposes. While interest rates have historically been low, various economic factors
have recently resulted in a significant increase in interest rates and the rate of inflation, and may also reduce credit availability, all of which may adversely
affect the ability of our funds to achieve attractive rates of return and adversely affect the value of our carried interest. Our funds and the companies in which
our funds invest raise capital in the structured credit, leveraged loan and high yield bond markets. If elevated interest rates persist or further increase or credit
markets experience continued or increasing dislocations, contractions or volatility, our funds’ results of operations, and in turn ours, will suffer. Any such
events could adversely impact our funds’ ability to invest efficiently, and may impact the returns of our funds’ investments.

The absence of available sources of sufficient debt financing for extended periods of time or an increase in either the general levels of interest rates or
in the risk spread demanded by sources of indebtedness would make it more expensive to finance those investments, and, in the case of interest rates,
decrease the value of fixed-rate debt investments made by our funds. Certain investments may also be financed through fund-level credit facilities, which may
or may not be available for refinancing at the end of their respective terms. Further, the cost of borrowing may not be covered by the appreciation of the
assets in the investment, which could be exacerbated in difficult market conditions and adversely impact our revenues. Finally, limitations on the deductibility
of interest expense on indebtedness used to finance our funds’ investments reduce the after-tax rates of return on the affected investments and make it more
costly to use debt financing. Any of these factors may have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Similarly, private markets funds’ portfolio companies regularly utilize the corporate debt markets to obtain additional financing for their operations. The
leveraged capital structure of such businesses increases the exposure of the funds’ portfolio companies to adverse economic factors such as fluctuating
interest rates, financial institution risks, downturns in the economy or deterioration in the condition of such business or its industry. Any adverse impact
caused by the use of leverage by portfolio companies in which we directly or indirectly invest could in turn adversely affect the returns of our funds.
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Inability by certain vehicles we organize to obtain and maintain specified credit ratings and changes by regulators to the risk-based capital
treatment of investments in the securities issued by these vehicles may impact our ability to establish and maintain such vehicles in a manner
that remains attractive to certain regulated parties.

Certain vehicles we organize to invest in our funds issue notes that are rated by one or more nationally recognized statistical rating organizations
(“NRSROs”") and that are offered to, among others, insurance companies that may be subject to standards set by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (“NAIC”) or state insurance regulatory authorities. There are only a few NRSROs, and not all NRSROs provide ratings for notes like those
issued by the vehicles we organize. Should some or all of the NRSOs cease to offer ratings for such securities, or otherwise begin to rate such securities in a
manner that is unattractive to regulated parties, then our ability to establish and maintain vehicles that issue rated notes may be reduced, perhaps materially.
Relatedly, the NAIC has been evaluating ratings by NRSROs of securities of the type issued by our vehicles on the basis that the ratings may not adequately
represent the risks of investments in these securities by insurance companies. Any changes by the NAIC or state insurance regulatory authorities with
jurisdiction over investors in our vehicles that issue rated notes may result in higher risk-based capital charges or other adverse treatment of such
investments for these regulated investors. To the extent that risk-based capital charges for securities issued by our vehicles are a relevant and material
investment criterion for certain regulated investors, like insurance companies, then any increased risk-based capital charge could render investments in
these securities unattractive to these investors.

Defaults by clients and third-party investors in certain of our funds could adversely affect that fund’s operations and performance.

Our business is exposed to the risk that clients that owe us money for our services may not pay us, and investors may default on their obligations to
fund their commitments. These risks could increase as a result of economic contractions, decreases in equity values and increases in interest rates or in the
event of a continued economic slowdown. Also, if investors in our funds default on their obligations to fund commitments, there may be adverse
consequences on the investment process, and we could incur losses and be unable to meet underlying capital calls. For example, investors in our closed-
ended funds make capital commitments to those funds and we are entitled to call capital from those investors at any time during prescribed periods. We
depend on investors fulfilling and honoring their commitments when we call capital from them for those funds to consummate investments and otherwise pay
their obligations when due. In addition, certain of our funds may utilize lines of credit to fund investments. Because interest expense and other costs of
borrowings under lines of credit are an expense of the fund, the fund’s net multiple of invested capital may be reduced, as well as the amount of carried
interest generated by the fund. Any material reduction in the amount of carried interest generated by a fund will adversely affect our revenues.

Any investor that did not fund a capital call would be subject to several possible penalties, including having a meaningful amount of its existing
investment forfeited in that fund. However, the impact of the penalty is directly correlated to the amount of capital previously invested by the investor in the
fund. For instance, if an investor has invested little or no capital early in the life of the fund, then the forfeiture penalty may not be as meaningful. A failure of
clients or investors to honor capital calls to a significant degree could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our failure to comply with investment guidelines set by our clients could result in damage awards against us or a reduction in AUM, either of
which would adversely affect our business.

Each of our funds is operated pursuant to specific investment guidelines, which, with respect to our customized separate accounts, are often
established collaboratively between us and the investor in such fund. Our failure to comply with these guidelines and other limitations could result in clients
terminating their relationships with us or deciding not to commit further capital to us in respect of new or different funds. In some cases, these investors could
also sue us for breach of contract and seek to recover damages from us. In addition, such guidelines may restrict our ability to pursue certain allocations and
strategies on behalf of our clients that we believe are economically desirable, which could similarly result in losses to a fund or termination of the fund and a
corresponding reduction in AUM. Even if we comply with all applicable investment guidelines, our clients may nonetheless be dissatisfied with our investment
performance or our services or fees, and may terminate their investment with us or be unwilling to commit new capital to our funds. Any of these events could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Valuation methodologies for certain assets in our funds can be highly subjective, and the values of assets established pursuant to such
methodologies may never be realized, which could result in significant losses for our funds.

For our closed-ended funds, there are no readily ascertainable market prices for a large number of the investments in these funds or the underlying
funds in which these funds invest. The value of the fund investments of our funds is determined
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periodically by us based in general on the fair value of such investments as reported by the underlying fund managers. Our valuation of the funds in which
we invest is largely dependent upon the processes employed by the managers of those funds. The fair value of investments is determined using a number of
methodologies described in the particular funds’ valuation policies. These policies are based on a number of factors, including the nature of the investment,
the expected cash flows from the investment, the length of time the investment has been held, restrictions on transfer and other generally accepted valuation
methodologies. The value of the equity and credit investments of our funds is determined periodically by us based on reporting provided by the relevant
equity sponsor and/or using independent third-party valuation firms to aid us in determining the fair value of these investments using generally accepted
valuation methodologies. These may include references to market multiples, valuations for comparable companies, public or private market transactions,
subsequent developments concerning the companies to which the securities relate, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, and projections of
such companies made accessible to us and such other factors that we may deem relevant. The methodologies we use in valuing individual investments are
based on a variety of estimates and assumptions specific to the particular investments, and actual results related to the investment may vary materially as a
result of the inaccuracy of such assumptions or estimates. In addition, because the illiquid investments held by our funds, and the underlying funds in which
we invest may be in industries or sectors that are unstable, in distress, or undergoing some uncertainty, such investments are subject to rapid changes in
value caused by sudden company-specific or industry-wide developments.

Because there is significant uncertainty in the valuation of, or in the stability of the value of, illiquid investments, the fair values of such investments as
reflected in a fund’s net asset value do not necessarily reflect the prices that would actually be obtained if such investments were sold. Realizations at values
significantly lower than the values at which investments have been reflected in fund net asset values could result in losses for the applicable fund and the
loss of potential incentive fees for the fund’s manager and us. Also, a situation in which asset values turn out to be materially different from values reflected
in fund net asset values, whether due to error or otherwise, could cause investors to lose confidence in us and may, in turn, result in difficulties in our ability
to raise additional capital, retain clients or attract new clients. Further, we often engage third-party valuation agents to assist us with the valuations. It is
possible that a material fact related to the target of the valuation might be inadvertently omitted from our communications with them, resulting in an
inaccurate valuation.

Further, the SEC has highlighted valuation practices as one of its areas of focus in investment adviser examinations and has continued to institute
enforcement actions against investment advisers for misleading investors about valuation and failing to adopt and implement reasonably designed written
policies and procedures concerning the valuation of investments. If the SEC were to investigate and find errors in our policies or procedures, we and/or
members of our management could be subject to penalties and fines, which could harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our investment management activities may involve investments in relatively high-risk, illiquid assets, and we and our clients may lose some or
all of the amounts invested in these activities or fail to realize any profits from these activities for a considerable period of time.

The investments made by certain of our funds may include high-risk, illiquid assets. The private markets funds in which we invest capital generally
invest in securities that are not publicly traded. Even if such securities are publicly traded, many of these funds may be prohibited by contract or applicable
securities laws from selling such securities for a period of time. Such funds will generally not be able to sell these securities publicly unless their sale is
registered under applicable securities laws, or unless an exemption from such registration requirements is available. Accordingly, the private markets funds
in which we invest our clients’ capital may not be able to sell securities when they desire and therefore may not be able to realize the full value of such
securities. The ability of private markets funds to dispose of investments is dependent in part on the public equity and debt markets, to the extent that the
ability to dispose of an investment may depend upon the ability to complete an initial public offering of the portfolio company in which such investment is held
or the ability of a prospective buyer of the portfolio company to raise debt financing to fund its purchase. Furthermore, large holdings of publicly traded equity
securities can often be disposed of only over a substantial period of time, exposing the investment returns to risks of downward movement in market prices
during the disposition period. Contributing capital to these funds is risky, and we may lose some or the entire amount of our funds’ and our clients’
investments.

The portfolio companies in which private markets funds have invested or may invest will sometimes involve a high degree of business and financial
risk. These companies may be in an early stage of development, may not have a proven operating history, may be operating at a loss or have significant
variations in results of operations, may be engaged in a rapidly changing business with products subject to a substantial risk of obsolescence, may be
subject to extensive regulatory oversight, may require substantial additional capital to support their operations, to finance expansion or to maintain their
competitive position, may have a high level of leverage, or may otherwise have a weak financial condition.
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In addition, these portfolio companies may face intense competition, including competition from companies with greater financial resources, more
extensive development, manufacturing, marketing, and other capabilities, and a larger number of qualified managerial and technical personnel. Portfolio
companies in non-U.S. jurisdictions may be subject to additional risks, including changes in currency exchange rates, exchange control regulations, risks
associated with different types (and lower quality) of available information, expropriation or confiscatory taxation and adverse political developments. In
addition, during periods of difficult market conditions or slowdowns in a particular investment category, industry or region, portfolio companies may
experience decreased revenues, financial losses, difficulty in obtaining access to financing and increased costs. During these periods, these companies may
also have difficulty in expanding their businesses and operations and may be unable to pay their expenses as they become due. A general market downturn
or a specific market dislocation will generally result in lower investment returns for the private markets funds or portfolio companies in which our funds invest,
which consequently could materially and adversely affect investment returns for our funds. Furthermore, if the portfolio companies default on their
indebtedness, or otherwise seek or are forced to restructure their obligations or declare bankruptcy, we could lose some or all of our investment and suffer
reputational harm.

Our funds make investments in companies that are based outside of the U.S., which may expose us to additional risks not typically associated
with investing in companies that are based in the U.S.

A significant amount of the investments of our funds include private markets funds that are located outside the U.S. or that invest in portfolio companies
located outside the U.S. Such non-U.S. investments involve certain factors not typically associated with U.S. investments, including risks related to:

. currency exchange matters, such as exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the foreign currency in which the investments are
denominated, and costs associated with conversion of investment proceeds and income from one currency to another;

. differences between the U.S. and foreign capital markets, including the absence of uniform accounting, auditing, financial reporting and legal
standards, practices and disclosure requirements and less government supervision and regulation;

. certain economic, social and political risks, including exchange control regulations and restrictions on foreign investments and repatriation of
capital, the risks of political, economic or social instability; and

. the possible imposition of foreign taxes with respect to such investments or confiscatory taxation.

These risks could adversely affect the performance of our funds that are invested in securities of non-U.S. companies, which would adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our funds may face risks relating to undiversified investments.

We cannot give assurance as to the degree of diversification that will be achieved in any of our funds. Difficult market conditions or slowdowns
affecting a particular asset class, geographic region or other category of investment could have a significant adverse impact on a given fund if its investments
are concentrated in that area, which could result in lower investment returns. Accordingly, a lack of diversification on the part of a fund could adversely affect
its investment performance and, as a result, our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our funds make investments in underlying funds and companies that we do not control.

Investments by most of our funds will include debt instruments and equity securities of companies that we do not control. Our funds may invest through
co-investment arrangements or acquire minority equity interests and may also dispose of a portion of their equity investments in portfolio companies over
time in a manner that results in their retaining a minority investment. Consequently, the performance of our funds will depend significantly on the investment
and other decisions made by third parties, which could have a material adverse effect on the returns achieved by our funds. Portfolio companies in which the
investment is made may make business, financial or management decisions with which we do not agree. In addition, the majority stakeholders or their
management may take risks or otherwise act in a manner that does not serve our interests. If any of the foregoing were to occur, the values of our
investments and the investments we have made on behalf of clients could decrease and our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow could
suffer as a result.
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Investments by our funds may in many cases rank junior to investments made by other investors.

In many cases, the companies in which our funds invest have indebtedness or equity securities, or may be permitted to incur indebtedness or to issue
equity securities, that rank senior to our clients’ investments in our funds. By their terms, these instruments may provide that their holders are entitled to
receive payments of dividends, interest or principal on or before the dates on which payments are to be made in respect of our clients’ investments. Also, in
the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of a company in which one or more of our funds hold an investment, holders of
securities ranking senior to our clients’ investments would typically be entitled to receive payment in full before distributions could be made in respect of our
clients’ investments. After repaying senior security holders, companies may not have any remaining assets to use for repaying amounts owed in respect of
our clients’ investments. To the extent that any assets remain, holders of claims that rank equally with our clients’ investments would be entitled to share on
an equal and ratable basis in distributions that are made out of those assets. Also, during periods of financial distress or following an insolvency, our ability to
influence a company’s affairs and to take actions to protect investments by our funds may be substantially less than that of those holding senior interests.

Our risk management strategies and procedures may leave us exposed to unidentified or unanticipated risks.

Risk management applies to our operations as well as to the investments we make for our funds. We have developed and continue to update
strategies and procedures specific to our business for identifying, assessing, managing and mitigating risks, which include market risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk and reputational risk. Management of these risks can be very complex. These strategies and procedures may fail under some circumstances,
particularly if we are confronted with risks that we have underestimated or not identified, including those related to difficult market or geopolitical conditions. In
addition, some of our methods for managing the risks related to our clients’ investments are based upon our analysis of historical private markets behavior.
Statistical techniques are applied to these observations in order to arrive at quantifications of some of our risk exposures. Historical analysis of private
markets returns requires reliance on valuations performed by fund managers, which may not be reliable measures of current valuations. These statistical
methods may not accurately quantify our risk exposure if circumstances arise that were not observed in our historical data. In particular, as we enter new
lines of business or offer new products, our historical data may be incomplete. Failure of our risk management techniques could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, including our right to receive incentive fees.

We are subject to increasing and diverging scrutiny from clients, investors, regulators elected officials, stockholders and other stakeholders or
third parties with respect to Sustainable and Impact investing matters, which may constrain investment opportunities, adversely impact our
ability to raise capital, and result in increased costs or otherwise adversely affect us.

In recent years, our business has been subject to increasing and diverging scrutiny from clients, investors, regulators, elected officials, stockholders
and other stakeholders with respect to Sustainable and Impact investing matters. Clients and investors, including U.S. public pension funds and certain non-
U.S. investors, have placed increasing importance on impacts of investments made by the funds to which they invest or commit capital, including with respect
to Sustainable and Impact investing matters. Certain investors have also demonstrated increased concern with respect to existing investments, including by
urging asset managers to take certain actions that could adversely affect the value of an investment, or refrain from taking certain actions that could improve
the value of an investment. We are increasingly being subject to competing demands or scrutiny from different clients, investors and other stakeholders or
third parties with divergent views on Sustainable and Impact investing matters, including their roles in the investment process. This divergence increases the
risk that any action or lack thereof with respect to Sustainable and Impact investing matters will be perceived negatively by at least some stakeholders and
adversely impact our reputation and business. Our clients may decide to redeem or withdraw previously committed capital from our funds (where such
withdrawal is permitted) or to not invest or commit capital to future funds based on their assessment of how we approach and consider the cost of these
investments and whether the return-driven objectives of our funds align with their investment priorities or investment requirements. As part of their increased
focus on the allocation of their capital to environmentally sustainable economic activities, certain clients and investors have also begun to request or require
data and/or use third-party benchmarks and ratings to allow them to monitor the impact of their investments for which we may be required to engage third
party advisors and/or service providers to fulfil the requests and requirements, thereby exacerbating any increase in compliance burden and costs. To the
extent our access to capital from investors, including public pension funds, is impaired due to these aforementioned risks, we may not be able to maintain or
increase the size of our funds or raise sufficient capital for new funds, which may adversely impact our revenues and/or negatively impact our reputation and
erode stakeholder trust.

The transition to sustainable finance accelerates existing risks and raises new risks for our business that may impact our profitability and success. In
particular, Sustainable and Impact investing matters have been the subject of increased focus, scrutiny and litigation certain regulators, including in the U.S.
and the EU, particularly with respect to the accuracy of
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statements made regarding practices, initiatives and investment strategies, as well as regarding adherence to the policies and procedures underlying these
strategies. The SEC, other regulators, and private parties have initiated investigations or claims alleging inaccurate or misleading statements in this area,
often referred to as “greenwashing.” There have been enforcement actions relating to sustainable investing disclosures and policies and procedures failures,
and we expect that there will be continued enforcement activity in this area in the future, and we could be subject to significant fines and penalties, including
risk of litigation and investigation. The SEC has focused on the labeling by funds of their activities or investments as “sustainable” and examined the
methodology used for determining such investments, with a focus on whether such labeling is misleading. In 2022 and 2024, the SEC adopted new climate-
disclosure rules, though these rules have been stayed pending current litigation and are unlikely to proceed, and proposed or adopted rules for investment
advisers and for Investment Company Act funds that address, among other things, enhanced sustainable investment-related disclosure requirements,
including requiring funds that integrate sustainability factors into their investment strategies to provide enhanced disclosures regarding, among other things,
their sustainable investing strategies. Further, we may be subject to California Senate Bill 253 (The Climate Corporate Data Accountability Act) requiring U.S.
public and private businesses with annual revenues greater than USD $1 billion doing business in California to publicly report their greenhouse gas
emissions beginning, and/or Senate Bill 261 (The Climate-Related Financial Risk Act) requiring U.S. businesses with annual revenues over USD $500
million to bi-annually disclose climate-related financial risks and their mitigation strategies. Collecting, measuring and reporting the information and metrics
required under the various existing regulations has imposed administrative burden and increased cost on us, and such burden and cost, including the
implementation of additional internal controls, processes and procedures and increased oversight obligations on our management and board of directors, are
likely to increase as new regulations are enacted, particularly if the requirements imposed on us by various regulations lack harmonization on a global basis.
We cannot guarantee that our current approach will meet future regulatory requirements, reporting frameworks or best practices.

In addition, in September 2023, the SEC adopted amendments to Rule 35d-1 (the Names Rule) that expands the Names Rule to require that any fund
whose name includes terms suggesting that the fund focuses on investments or issuers that have, particular characteristics, have an 80% investment policy.
In October 2020, the DOL finalized a rule intended to clarify the fiduciary requirements for investment managers of “plan assets” considering non-pecuniary
factors (including sustainability) when investing. In November 2022, the DOL released a final rule related to fiduciary requirements for ERISA plan fiduciaries
when considering sustainability factors in selecting investments, clarifying that fiduciaries may consider climate change and other factors when they make
investment decisions. Main portions of this rule took effect on February 1, 2023. On January 26, 2023, attorneys general of twenty-five states and three
private parties filed suit in an attempt to block the rule. In September 2023, a federal district court dismissed the case, ruling in favor of the DOL and its
authority to adopt the rule; however on July 25 and July 26, 2024, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas and the Northern District Court
respectively issued a stay siding with the plaintiffs and enjoining the DOL from enforcing the Final Rule on its effective date. The DOL has since appealed
this ruling. We cannot predict the outcome of this lawsuit challenging the DOL rule, as well as another pending lawsuit challenging the rule from two
Wisconsin-based 401(k) plan participants, though a notice of voluntary dismissal was filed on behalf of one of the plaintiffs only on December 10, 2024, or
any future lawsuits that might be subsequently filed. While the rule is designed in part to address fiduciary duty-related uncertainties for U.S. pension plans
subject to ERISA when investing in funds that have a sustainability component, in light of the current litigation, it is unclear whether sufficient certainty exists
for these plans.

The European Commission initiated legislative reforms, which include, without limitation: (a) Regulation 2019/2088 (Sustainable Finance Disclosure
Regulation, or “SFDR”) regarding the introduction of transparency and disclosure obligations for investors, funds and asset managers in relation to
sustainability factors, for which most rules took effect beginning in March 2021 and which on September 14, 2023, the European Commission published a
public consultation and a targeted consultation with respect to a comprehensive assessment of the Level 1 SFDR framework. In addition, a second
consultation concerning the SFDR Level 2 technical standards concluded in December 2023 with a recommendation to the EU Commission which has not
yet been taken up; (b) Regulation 2020/852 (Taxonomy Regulation) regarding the introduction of an EU-wide taxonomy of environmentally sustainable
activities, which began to take effect in a staggered approach in January 1, 2022 and for which new FAQs were published on November 29, 2024; (c)
amendments to existing regulations including MiIFID Il to embed sustainability requirements; and (d) Directive (EU) 2022/2464 (Corporate Sustainability
Reporting Directive) regarding corporate sustainability reporting, which directive took effect in January 2023. Additionally, the EU’s Omnibus Simplification
Package introduces further complexity and uncertainty. This package aims to streamline and simplify various regulatory requirements, including those related
to sustainability reporting, across the EU. However, the final form and implications of the Omnibus Simplification Package remain unclear, which may pose
challenges for our business in aligning with these evolving obligations. As a result of these legislative initiatives, we are required to provide additional
disclosure to investors in our EU funds and funds marketed in the EU with respect to sustainability matters, depending on the extent to which the fund
promotes environmental and / or social characteristics, or adopts as an objective, sustainability. This may expose us to increased disclosure risks, for
example due to a lack of available or credible data, and the potential for conflicting disclosures may also expose us to an increased risk of misstatement
litigation or misselling allegations. Failure to manage these risks could result in a
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material adverse effect on our business in a number of ways. The EU also put into force the Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive in July 2024
which would require in scope entities to adopt certain due diligence and other actions to identify and address potential and actual adverse climate change
and human rights concerns in their own operations, their subsidiaries and, where related to their value chain(s), those of their business partners. In addition,
in May 2024, the European Securities and Markets Authority (“ESMA”) published final guidelines on funds’ names using sustainability-related terms. The
guidelines establish quantitative thresholds which funds must meet to use sustainability-related terminology in their names. Additionally, they set forth
minimum safeguards based on the type of terms a fund employs in its name. The Taxonomy Regulation, Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive, and
Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive may be subject to change if they are amended by the Omnibus package once finalized as part of the EU’s
recently announced Competitiveness Compass. While these sustainable investing legislative developments at EU level will no longer have legal effect in the
U.K. as a result of Brexit, they may, nevertheless, inform the U.K. government's current developing legislative approach in relation to sustainable investing
and the disclosure requirements applicable to our U.K. regulated entities. In November 2023, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority published final rules on its
Sustainable Disclosure Requirements (“SDR”) introducing new rules and guidance for asset managers to make mandatory disclosures at both the manager
and product levels, which aims to address potential greenwashing risks through the introduction of sustainable investment labels, disclosure requirements
and restrictions on the use of sustainability-related terms in product naming and marketing, as well as through the introduction of disclosures consistent with
the recommendations of the Financial Stability Board’s Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”). The FCA has consulted on expanding
the SDR and labelling rules to portfolio management and the UK HM Treasury is expected to consult on extending the regime to overseas funds in the future.
Further, the U.K. is expected to create U.K. Sustainability Disclosure Standards (“UK SDS”) based on the sustainable disclosure standards developed by the
International Sustainability Standards Board (“ISSB”). In the first half of 2025, the UK HM Treasury is expected to consult on UK SDS which could come into
effect as early as 2026. On November 14, 2024, the UK HM Treasury launched a consultation on the value case for a UK Green Taxonomy — specifically,
whether it would complement existing sustainable finance policies by supporting market participants to make sustainable investment decisions, and the
specific market and regulatory use cases facilitating that support. The consultation will inform an assessment of the value of implementing a UK Green
Taxonomy, and determine exactly how it could be targeted to ensure maximum effectiveness. In the likely event that divergent sustainable investing
disclosure obligations arise between the U.S., U.K. and the EU, this may also present an increased compliance risk if we are required to comply with different
regulatory standards.

The complexity of the global regulatory framework with respect to Sustainable and Impact investing matters increases the risk that any act or lack
thereof with respect to these matters will be perceived negatively by a governmental authority or regulator. A lack of harmonization globally and within
jurisdictions in relation to sustainable investing legal and regulatory reform leads to a risk of fragmentation in group level priorities as a result of the different
pace of sustainability transition across global jurisdictions. Further, conflicting sustainable investing policies within jurisdictions, such as between federal and
some state policies in the U.S., is leading to a complex and fragmented regulatory environment, which may be difficult to navigate. For instance, in recent
years, several U.S. states and local governments have enacted (or proposed) rules specifically addressing considerations of sustainable investing factors by
state and local government retirement funds, as well as differing and additional disclosure requirements. In contrast to the DOL's rule described above, many
of these state rules have taken more aggressive positions, divided between those that are explicitly in favor of sustainable investments and those that are
against such investments. This may create conflicts across our global business which could risk inhibiting our future implementation of, and compliance with,
rapidly developing standards and requirements. Failure to keep pace with sustainability transition could impact our competitiveness in the market and
damage our reputation resulting in a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory changes in
relation to sustainable investing matters may attract increased regulatory scrutiny of our business, and could result in fines and/or other sanctions being
levied against us.

We may consider Sustainable Investing and Impact factors in connection with investments for certain of our funds, and certain of our funds are
constructed with specific Sustainable Investing or Impact components. Sustainable and Impact investing factors are not universally agreed upon or accepted
by investors, and our consideration of these factors or construction of specific Sustainable Investing or Impact funds could attract opposition from certain
segments of our existing and potential investor base. Any actual opposition to our consideration of Sustainable Investing or Impact factors could impact our
ability to maintain or raise capital for our funds, which may adversely impact our revenues. In addition, if regulators, which are increasingly focused on
sustainable investment matters, disagree with the procedures or standards we use for Sustainable and Impact investing, or new regulation or legislation
requires a methodology of measuring or disclosing the impact that is different from our current practice, our business and reputation could be adversely
affected.
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Climate change, climate change-related regulation and sustainability concerns could adversely affect our business and the operations of portfolio
companies in which our funds invest, and any actions we take or fail to take in response to such matters could damage our reputation.

We, our funds and our funds’ portfolio companies face risks associated with climate change including risks related to the impact of climate- and
sustainability-related legislation and regulation (both domestically and internationally), risks related to technology and climate change-related business trends
(such as the process for transitioning to a lower-carbon economy) and risks stemming from the physical impacts of climate change.

New climate change-related rules and regulations or interpretations of existing laws may result in enhanced disclosure obligations, which could
negatively affect us, our funds and portfolio companies in which they invest and materially increase the regulatory burden and cost of compliance. For
example, developing and acting on sustainability initiatives, and collecting, measuring and reporting sustainable investing-related information and metrics can
be costly, difficult and time consuming and is subject to evolving reporting standards, the EU’s CSRD and the U.K.’s and other jurisdictions’ adoption of the
ISSB sustainability disclosure standards, and similar proposals by other non-U.S. regulatory bodies. We may also communicate certain climate-related
initiatives, commitments and goals in our SEC filings or other disclosures, which subjects us to additional risks, including the risk that we are perceived as, or
accused of, “greenwashing.” Such perception or accusation could damage our reputation, result in litigation or regulatory actions, and adversely impact our
ability to raise capital and attract new investors.

Certain portfolio companies in which our funds invest operate in sectors that could face transition risk if carbon-related regulations or taxes are
implemented. For certain of these portfolio companies, business trends related to climate change may require capital expenditures, product or service
redesigns, and changes to operations and supply chains to meet changing customer expectations. While this can create opportunities, not addressing these
changed expectations could create business risks for portfolio companies, which could negatively impact the returns in our funds and accounts. Further,
advances in climate science may change society’s understanding of sources and magnitudes of negative effects on climate, which could also negatively
impact portfolio company financial performance. Further, significant chronic or acute physical effects of climate change, including extreme and more frequent
weather events such as hurricanes or floods, can also have an adverse impact on certain portfolio companies and investments, especially those that rely on
physical factories, plants or stores located in the affected areas, or that focus on tourism or recreational travel. As the effects of climate change increase, the
frequency and impact of weather and climate-related events and conditions could increase as well.

In addition, our reputation may be harmed if certain stakeholders, such as our clients, stockholders or other third parties, believe that we are not
adequately or appropriately responding to climate change or excessively factoring in climate change, including through the way in which we operate our
business, the composition of our funds’ and accounts’ existing portfolios, the new investments made by them, or the decisions we make to continue to
conduct or change our activities in response to climate change considerations.

The short-term and long-term impact of the Basel lll capital standards on our clients is uncertain.

In June 2011, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, an international body comprised of senior representatives of bank supervisory authorities
and central banks from 27 countries, including the U.S., announced the final framework for a comprehensive set of capital and liquidity standards, commonly
referred to as “Basel Ill,” for internationally active banking organizations and certain other types of financial institutions, which were revised in 2017. These
standards generally require banks to hold more capital, predominantly in the form of common equity, than under the previous capital framework, reduce
leverage and improve liquidity standards. U.S. federal banking regulators have adopted, and continue to adopt, final regulations to implement Basel 11l for
U.S. banking organizations.

Some of our clients are subject to the Basel Il standards. The ongoing adoption of rules related to Basel Il and related standards could restrict the
ability of these clients to maintain or increase their investments in our funds to the extent that such investments adversely impact their risk-weighted asset
ratios. Our loss of these clients, or inability to raise additional investment amounts from these clients, may adversely impact our revenues.
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Hedge fund investments are subject to numerous additional risks.

Investments by our funds in other hedge funds, as well as investments by our credit-focused, opportunistic and other hedge funds and similar products,
are subject to numerous additional risks, including the following:

Certain of the underlying funds in which we invest are newly established funds without any operating history or are managed by management
companies or general partners who may not have as significant track records as an independent manager.

Generally, the execution of these hedge funds’ investment strategies is subject to the sole discretion of the management company or the general
partner of such funds.

Hedge funds may engage in speculative trading strategies, including short selling.

Hedge funds are exposed to the risk that a counterparty will not settle a transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions because of a
dispute over the terms of the contract (whether or not bona fide) or because of a credit or liquidity problem or otherwise, thus causing the fund to
suffer a loss.

Credit risk may arise through a default by one of several large institutions that are dependent on one another to meet their liquidity or operational
needs, so that a default by one institution causes a series of defaults by the other institutions.

The efficacy of investment and trading strategies depend largely on the ability to establish and maintain an overall market position in a
combination of financial instruments. A hedge fund’s trading orders may not be executed in a timely and efficient manner due to various
circumstances, including systems failures or human error. In such event, the funds might only be able to acquire some but not all of the
components of the position, or if the overall position were to need adjustment, the funds might not be able to make such adjustment.

Hedge funds may make investments or hold trading positions in markets that are volatile and which may become illiquid. Timely divestiture or
sale of trading positions can be impaired by decreased trading volume, increased price volatility, concentrated trading positions, limitations on
the ability to transfer positions in highly specialized or structured transactions to which they may be a party, and changes in industry and
government regulations. It may be impossible or costly for hedge funds to liquidate positions rapidly in order to meet margin calls, withdrawal
requests or otherwise, particularly if there are other market participants seeking to dispose of similar assets at the same time or the relevant
market is otherwise moving against a position or in the event of trading halts or daily price movement limits on the market or otherwise. For
example, in 2008 many hedge funds, including some of our funds, experienced significant declines in value. In many cases, these declines in
value were both provoked and exacerbated by margin calls and forced selling of assets. Moreover, certain of our funds of hedge funds were
invested in third-party hedge funds that halted redemptions in the face of illiquidity and other issues, which precluded those funds of hedge funds
from receiving their capital back on request.

Hedge fund investments are subject to risks relating to investments in commodities, futures, options and other derivatives, the prices of which are
highly volatile and may be subject to the theoretically unlimited risk of loss in certain circumstances, including if the fund writes a call option.

As a result of their affiliation with us, our funds may from time to time be restricted from trading in certain securities (e.g., publicly traded securities
issued by our current or potential portfolio companies). This may limit their ability to acquire and/or subsequently dispose of investments in connection with
transactions that would otherwise generally be permitted in the absence of such affiliation.

Our fund investments in infrastructure assets may expose our funds to increased risks that are inherent in the ownership of real assets.

Investments in infrastructure assets may expose us to increased risks that are inherent in the ownership of real assets. For example:

Ownership of infrastructure assets may present risk of liability for personal and property injury or impose significant operating challenges and
costs with respect to, for example, compliance with zoning, environmental, worker, public health and safety or other applicable laws or
government actions, which may have a material adverse effect on the operations, financial condition and liquidity of particular assets and
ultimately affect investment returns.
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. Infrastructure asset investments may face construction and development risks including, without limitation: shortages of suitable labor and
equipment, adverse construction conditions, challenges in coordinating with public utilities, political or local opposition, failure to obtain
regulatory approvals or permits, and catastrophic events such as explosions, fires, war, terrorist activities, natural disasters and other similar
events. These events could result in substantial unanticipated delays or expenses and, under certain circumstances, could prevent completion
of construction activities once undertaken. Certain infrastructure asset investments may remain in construction phases for a prolonged period
and, accordingly, may not be cash generative for a prolonged period. Recourse against the contractor may be subject to liability caps or may be
subject to default or insolvency on the part of the contractor.

. The management of the business or operations of an infrastructure asset may be contracted to a third-party management company unaffiliated
with us. Although it would be possible to replace any such operator, the failure of such an operator to adequately perform its duties or to act in
ways that are in our best interest, or the breach by an operator of applicable agreements or laws, rules and regulations, could have an adverse
effect on the investment's financial condition and results of operations.

Infrastructure investments often involve an ongoing commitment to a municipal, state, federal or foreign government or regulatory agencies. The nature
of these obligations exposes us to a higher level of regulatory control than typically imposed on other businesses and may require us to rely on complex
government licenses, concessions, leases or contracts, which may be difficult to obtain or maintain. Infrastructure investments may require operators to
manage such investments and such operators’ failure to comply with laws, including prohibitions against bribing of government officials, may adversely affect
the value of such investments and cause us serious reputational and legal harm. Revenues for such investments may rely on contractual agreements for the
provision of services with a limited number of counterparties, and are consequently subject to counterparty default risk. The operations and cash flow of
infrastructure investments are also more sensitive to inflation and, in certain cases, commodity price risk. Furthermore, services provided by infrastructure
investments may be subject to rate regulations by government entities that determine or limit prices that may be charged. Similarly, users of applicable
services or government entities in response to such users may react negatively to any adjustments in rates and thus reduce the profitability of such
infrastructure investments.

Our historical financial results included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not be indicative of what our actual financial position
or results of operations would have been if we had been a public company.

Our historical financial results included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K do not reflect the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows we
would have achieved as a public company during the periods presented or those we will achieve in the future. Our financial condition and future results of
operations could be materially different from amounts reflected in GCM Grosvenor’s historical financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, so it may be difficult for investors to compare our future results to historical results or to evaluate our relative performance or trends in our
business.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdagq listing standards and, as a result, qualify for, and rely on, exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements. You will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to
such requirements.

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Key Holders hold all of the Class C common stock, which prior to the Sunset Date will entitle
such holders to cast the lesser of 10 votes per share and the Class C Share Voting Amount, the latter of which is generally a number of votes per share equal
to (1) (x) an amount of votes equal to 75% of the aggregate voting power of our capital stock (including for this purpose any Includible Shares), minus (y) the
total voting power of our capital stock (other than our Class C common stock) owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Key Holders (including, any
Includible Shares), divided by (2) the number of shares of our Class C common stock then outstanding. As a result, as of the date of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, the Key Holders control approximately 75% of the combined voting power of our common stock. As a result of the Key Holders’ holdings, we
qualify as a “controlled company” within the meaning of the corporate governance standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”). Under these rules,
a listed company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not
to comply with certain corporate governance requirements, including the requirement that (i) a majority of our board of directors consist of independent
directors, (ii) we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors and (jii) director nominees be selected or recommended
to the board by independent directors.

66



We rely on certain of these exemptions. As a result, we do not have a compensation committee consisting entirely of independent directors and our
directors are not nominated or selected solely by independent directors. We may also rely on the other exemptions so long as we qualify as a controlled
company. To the extent we rely on any of these exemptions, holders of our Class A common stock will not have the same protections afforded to
stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of Nasdag.

The multi-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting power with our Chief Executive Officer, which will limit an
investor’s ability to influence the outcome of important transactions, including a change of control.

Holders of shares of our Class A common stock are entitled to cast one vote per share of Class A common stock while holders of shares of our Class C
common stock are, (1) prior to the Sunset Date, entitled to cast the lesser of (x) 10 votes per share and (y) the Class C Share Voting Amount and (2) from
and after the Sunset Date, entitled to cast one vote per share. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Key Holders controlled approximately
75% of the combined voting power of our common stock as a result of their ownership of all of our Class C common stock. Accordingly, while we do not
intend to issue additional Class C common stock in the future, Mr. Sacks, through his control of GCM V, will be able to exercise control over all matters
requiring our stockholders’ approval, including the election of our directors, amendments of our organizational documents and any merger, consolidation, sale
of all or substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transactions. Mr. Sacks may have interests that differ from yours and may vote in a way with
which you disagree and which may be adverse to your interests. This concentrated control may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change
in control of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their capital stock as part of a sale of our company, and
might ultimately affect the market price of shares of our Class A common stock.

We cannot predict the impact our multi-class structure may have on the stock price of our Class A common stock.

We cannot predict whether our multi-class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of Class A common stock or in adverse publicity
or other adverse consequences. Several stockholder advisory firms and large institutional investors oppose the use of multiple-class share structures. As a
result, the multi-class structure of our common stock may cause stockholder advisory firms to publish negative commentary about our corporate governance
practices or otherwise seek to cause us to change our capital structure and may result in large institutional investors not purchasing shares of our Class A
common stock. Any actions or publications by stockholder advisory firms or institutional investors critical of our corporate governance practices or capital
structure could adversely affect the value of our Class A common stock.

We are required to pay over to the GCMH Equityholders most of the tax benefits we receive from tax basis step-ups attributable to our acquisition
of Grosvenor common units from GCMH Equityholders and certain other tax attributes, and the amount of those payments could be substantial.

In connection with the Closing, we entered into a tax receivable agreement (the “Tax Receivable Agreement”) with the GCMH Equityholders (the
GCMH Equityholders, and their successors and assigns with respect to the Tax Receivable Agreement, the “TRA Parties”), pursuant to which we will
generally pay them 85% of the amount of the tax savings, if any, that we realize (or, under certain circumstances, are deemed to realize) as a result of
increases in tax basis (and certain other tax benefits) resulting from our acquisition of equity interests in GCMH from current or former GCMH equityholders
(including in connection with the Business Combination, and with future exchanges of Grosvenor common units for Class A common stock or cash), from
certain existing tax basis in the assets of GCMH and its subsidiaries, and from certain deductions arising from payments made in connection with the Tax
Receivable Agreement. The term of the Tax Receivable Agreement commenced upon the Closing and will continue until all benefits that are subject to the
Tax Receivable Agreement have been utilized or expired, subject to the potential acceleration of our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement that is
discussed below. The Tax Receivable Agreement makes certain simplifying assumptions regarding the determination of the tax savings that we realize or are
deemed to realize from applicable tax attributes (including use of an assumed state and local income tax rate), which may result in payments pursuant to the
Tax Receivable Agreement in excess of those that would result if such assumptions were not made and therefore in excess of 85% of our actual tax savings.

The actual increases in tax basis arising from our acquisition of interests in GCMH, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement, will vary depending on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the price of our Class A common stock at the time of the
purchase or exchange, the timing of any future exchanges, the extent to which exchanges are taxable, the amount and timing of our income and the tax rates
then applicable. We expect that the payments that we are required to make under the Tax Receivable Agreement could be substantial.
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The TRA Parties will not reimburse us for any payments previously made if any covered tax benefits are subsequently disallowed, except that excess
payments made to the TRA Parties will be netted against future payments that would otherwise be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement. It is possible
that the Internal Revenue Service might challenge our tax positions claiming benefits with respect to the attributes covered by the Tax Receivable
Agreement, or may make adjustments to our taxable income that would affect our liabilities pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement. We could make
payments to the TRA Parties under the Tax Receivable Agreement that are greater than our actual tax savings and may not be able to recoup those
payments, which could negatively impact our liquidity. The payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are not conditioned upon any TRA Party’s
continued ownership of us.

The Tax Receivable Agreement provides that in the case of certain changes of control, or at the election of a representative of the TRA Parties upon a
material breach of our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement or upon the occurrence of certain credit-related events, our obligations under the Tax
Receivable Agreement will be accelerated. If our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement are accelerated, we will be required to make a payment to
the TRA Parties in an amount equal to the present value of future payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, calculated utilizing certain assumptions.
Those assumptions include the assumptions that the TRA Parties will have exchanged all of their Grosvenor common units, and that we will have sufficient
taxable income to utilize any tax deductions arising from the covered tax attributes in the earliest year they become available. If our obligations under the Tax
Receivable Agreement are accelerated, those obligations could have a substantial negative impact on our, or a potential acquiror’s liquidity, and could have
the effect of delaying, deferring, modifying or preventing certain mergers, business combinations or other changes of control. These provisions could also
result in situations where the TRA Parties have interests that differ from or are in addition to those of our other equityholders. In addition, we could be
required to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement that are substantial, significantly in advance of any potential actual realization of such tax
benefits, and in excess of our, or a potential acquiror's, actual tax savings, and in some cases involving a change of control we could be required to make
payments even in the absence of any actual increases in tax basis or benefit from existing tax basis.

Our only material asset is our interest in GCMH, and we are accordingly dependent upon distributions from GCMH to pay dividends, taxes and
other expenses.

We are a holding company with no material assets other than our indirect ownership of equity interests in GCMH and certain deferred tax assets. As
such, we do not have any independent means of generating revenue. We intend to cause GCMH to make distributions to its members, including us, in an
amount at least sufficient to allow us to pay all applicable taxes, to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, and to pay our corporate and other
overhead expenses. To the extent that we need funds, and GCMH is restricted from making such distributions under applicable laws or regulations, or is
otherwise unable to provide such funds, it could materially and adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.

In certain circumstances, GCMH will be required to make distributions to us and the GCMH Equityholders, and the distributions that GCMH will be
required to make may be substantial and may be made in a manner that is not pro rata among the holders of Grosvenor common units.

GCMH is treated, and will continue to be treated, as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally is not subject to U.S.
federal income tax. Instead, its taxable income is generally allocated to its members, including us. Pursuant to the A&R LLLPA, GCMH will make cash
distributions, or tax distributions, to the members, including us, calculated using an assumed tax rate, to provide liquidity to its members to pay taxes on such
member’s allocable share of the cumulative taxable income, reduced by cumulative taxable losses. Under applicable tax rules, GCMH will be required to
allocate net taxable income disproportionately to its members in certain circumstances. Because tax distributions may be made on a pro rata basis to all
members and such tax distributions may be determined based on the member who is allocated the largest amount of taxable income on a per Grosvenor
common unit basis and an assumed tax rate that is the highest tax rate applicable to any member, GCMH may be required to make tax distributions that, in
the aggregate, exceed the amount of taxes that GCMH would have paid if it were taxed on its net income at the assumed rate.

As a result of (i) potential differences in the amount of net taxable income allocable to us and to the GCMH Equityholders, (ii) the lower tax rate
applicable to corporations than individuals and (iii) the use of an assumed tax rate in calculating GCMH'’s distribution obligations, among other considerations,
we may receive distributions significantly in excess of our tax liabilities and obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. If we do not
distribute such cash balances as dividends on our Class A common stock and instead, for example, hold such cash balances or lend them to GCMH, the
GCMH Equityholders would benefit from any value attributable to such accumulated cash balances as a result of their right to acquire shares of our Class A
common stock or, at our election, an amount of cash equal to the fair market value thereof, in exchange for their Grosvenor common units. We will have no
obligation to distribute such cash balances to our stockholders,
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and no adjustments will be made to the consideration provided to an exchanging holder in connection with a direct exchange or redemption of Grosvenor
common units under the A&R LLLPA as a result of any retention of cash by us.

The A&R LLLPA provides Holdings with an option to reduce the pro rata tax distributions otherwise required to be made to the members of GCMH,
provided that in no event may the amount of such tax distributions be reduced below the amount required to permit us to pay our actual tax liabilities and
obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. If the tax liabilities of the GCMH Equityholders attributable to allocations from GCMH (calculated utilizing
assumptions similar to those described above) are in excess of the reduced pro rata tax distributions made to the members of GCMH, then GCMH will
generally make non-pro rata tax distributions to such members in an amount sufficient to permit them to pay such tax liabilities. Any such non-pro rata tax
distributions would be treated as advances against other distributions to which the applicable members would be entitled under the A&R LLLPA. In addition, if
any such advances have not been recouped via offset against other distributions from GCMH at the time that associated Grosvenor common units are
transferred (including as a result of a direct exchange or redemption of Grosvenor common units under the A&R LLLPA) then the applicable transferring
member will generally be required to repay the amount of the advance associated with such Grosvenor common units within fifteen days following the
transfer. This arrangement could result in the members of GCMH (other than us) receiving cash via tax distributions in a manner that is not pro rata with, and
that is in advance of, cash distributions made to us. No interest will be charged with respect to any such tax distributions that are treated as advances to
members of GCMH other than us.

We may bear certain tax liabilities that are attributable to audit adjustments for taxable periods (or portions thereof) ending prior to the Business
Combination, or that are disproportionate to our ownership interest in GCMH in the taxable period for which the relevant adjustment is imposed.

Pursuant to certain provisions of the Code enacted as part of the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015 (such provisions, the “Partnership Tax Audit Rules”),
partnerships (and not the partners of the partnerships) can be subject to U.S. federal income taxes (and any related interest and penalties) resulting from
adjustments made pursuant to an IRS audit or judicial proceedings to the items of income, gain, loss, deduction, or credit shown on the partnership’s tax
return (or how such items are allocated among the partners), notwithstanding the fact that absent such adjustments liability for taxes on partnership income
is borne by the partners rather than the partnership.

Under the Partnership Tax Audit Rules, a partnership’s liability for taxes may be reduced or avoided in certain circumstances depending on the status
or actions of its partners. For example, if partners agree to amend their tax returns and pay the resulting taxes, the partnership’s liability can be reduced.
Partnerships also may be able to make elections to “push out” the tax liability resulting from the adjustment to the persons who were partners in the prior
taxable year that is the subject of the adjustment, and, as a result, avoid having the relevant liability paid at the partnership-level and instead be borne by the
persons who are partners at the time the relevant liability is paid.

Holdings is entitled to direct whether or not GCMH or its subsidiaries will make the “push out” election described above for adjustments attributable to
taxable periods (or portions thereof) ending on or prior to the date of the Business Combination, and whether any such entity will pay any applicable liability
at the entity level. Furthermore, although the Partnership Tax Audit Rules generally apply only to adjustments with respect to 2018 and later years, Holdings
is entitled to direct GCMH to elect the application of these rules to 2016 and 2017. The provisions of the A&R LLLPA prohibit GCMH from seeking
indemnification or other recoveries from the GCMH Equityholders in respect of such liabilities. With respect to Holdings’ exercise of this authority, Holdings’
interests will generally differ from the interests of our other shareholders. Moreover, with respect to taxable periods beginning after the Business
Combination, there is no requirement that GCMH or any of its subsidiaries make any “push-out” election. We accordingly may be required to bear a share of
any taxes, interest, or penalties associated with any adjustments to applicable tax returns that exceeds our proportionate share of such liabilities based on
our ownership interest in GCMH in the taxable period for which such adjustments are imposed (including periods prior to the effective date of the Business
Combination during which we had no interest in GCMH), which could have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

If we were deemed an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”),
applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our
business.

An issuer will generally be deemed to be an “investment company” for purposes of the Investment Company Act if:

. it is an “orthodox” investment company because it is or holds itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the
business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities; or
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. it is an inadvertent investment company because, absent an applicable exemption, it owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a
value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis.

We believe that we are engaged primarily in the business of providing asset management services and not primarily in the business of investing,
reinvesting or trading in securities. We hold ourselves out as an asset management firm and do not propose to engage primarily in the business of investing,
reinvesting or trading in securities. Accordingly, we do not believe that we, GCM LLC or GCMH are an “orthodox” investment company as described in the
first bullet point above. Furthermore, we treat GCM LLC and GCMH as majority-owned subsidiaries for purposes of the Investment Company Act, and each
of GCM LLC and GCMH treats its registered investment adviser subsidiaries as majority-owned subsidiaries for purposes of the Investment Company Act.
Therefore, we believe that less than 40% of our total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis will
comprise assets that could be considered investment securities. Accordingly, we do not believe that we, GCM LLC or GCMH will be an inadvertent
investment company by virtue of the 40% inadvertent investment company test as described in the second bullet point above. In addition, we believe we are
not an investment company under section 3(b)(1) of the Investment Company Act because we are primarily engaged in a non-investment company business.

The Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder contain detailed parameters for the organization and operations of investment companies.
Among other things, the Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder limit or prohibit transactions with affiliates, impose limitations on the issuance of
debt and equity securities, prohibit the issuance of stock options, and impose certain governance requirements. We intend to continue to conduct our
operations so that we will not be deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act. However, if anything were to happen that would
cause us to be deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act, requirements imposed by the Investment Company Act, including
limitations on our capital structure, ability to transact business with affiliates (including GCMH) and ability to compensate key employees, could make it
impractical for us to continue our business as currently conducted, impair the agreements and arrangements between and among GCMH, us or our senior
management team, or any combination thereof and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A change of control of our Company could result in an assignment of our investment advisory agreements.

Under the Advisers Act, each of the investment advisory agreements for the funds and other accounts we manage must provide that it may not be
assigned without the consent of the particular fund or other client. An assignment may occur under the Advisers Act if, among other things, GCMH undergoes
a change of control. From and after the Sunset Date, each share of Class C common stock will entitle the record holder thereof to one vote per share instead
of potentially multiple votes per share and the Key Holders will no longer control the appointment of directors or be able to direct the vote on all matters that
are submitted to our stockholders for a vote. Prior to the Sunset Date, Mr. Sacks, the beneficial holder of approximately 75% of the combined voting power of
our common stock as of the Closing through his ownership of GCM V, may die or become disabled. These events could be deemed a change of control of
GCMH, and thus an assignment. If such an assignment occurs, we cannot be certain that GCMH will be able to obtain the necessary consents from our
funds and other clients, which could cause us to lose the management fees and performance fees we earn from such funds and other clients.

Because many members of our senior management team hold most or all of their economic interest in GCMH through other entities, conflicts of
interest could arise between them and holders of shares of our Class A common stock or us.

Because many members of our senior management team hold most or all of their economic interest in GCMH through holding companies and other
vehicles rather than through ownership of shares of our Class A common stock, they could have interests that do not align with, or conflict with, those of the
holders of our Class A common stock or with us. For example, certain members of our senior management team may have different tax positions from those
of our company and/or our Class A common stockholders, which could influence their decisions regarding whether and when to enter into certain
transactions or dispose of assets, whether and when to incur new or refinance existing indebtedness, and whether and when we should terminate the Tax
Receivable Agreement and accelerate the obligations thereunder. In addition, the structuring of future transactions and investments may take into
consideration the members’ tax considerations even where no similar benefit would accrue to us.
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Provisions in our organizational documents and certain rules imposed by regulatory authorities may delay or prevent our acquisition by a third-
party.

Our Charter and Bylaws contain several provisions that may make it more difficult or expensive for a third-party to acquire control of us without the
approval of our board of directors. These provisions, which may delay, prevent or deter a merger, acquisition, tender offer, proxy contest or other transaction
that stockholders may consider favorable, include the following:

. the fact that the Class C common stock may be entitled to multiple votes per share until (i) such share of Class C common stock is
canceled/redeemed for no consideration upon, subject to certain exceptions, (ii) the disposition of (a) the Grosvenor common units and (b) the
shares of Class A common stock (as a result of a redemption of Grosvenor common units) paired with such Class C common stock, as
applicable, and (iii) with respect to all shares of Class C common stock, the Sunset Date;

. the sole ability of directors to fill a vacancy on the board of directors;
. advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and director nominations;
. after we no longer qualify as a “controlled company” under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5605(c)(1), provisions limiting stockholders’ ability to call special

meetings of stockholders, to require special meetings of stockholders to be called and to take action by written consent; and

. the ability of our governing body to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be
used, among other things, to institute a rights plan that would have the effect of significantly diluting the stock ownership of a potential hostile
acquiror, likely preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our governing body.

These provisions of our Charter and Bylaws could discourage potential takeover attempts and reduce the price that investors might be willing to pay for
shares of our Class A common stock in the future, which could reduce the market price of our Class A common stock. For more information, see “Description
of Capital Stock.”

In the event of a merger, consolidation or tender or exchange offer, holders of our Class A common stock will not be entitled to receive excess
economic consideration for their shares over that payable to the holders of our Class B common stock.

No shares of our Class B common stock, the primary purpose of which is to be available for issuance in connection with acquisitions, joint ventures,
investments or other commercial arrangements, are outstanding as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If we choose to issue Class B common
stock in the future, the holders of Class A common stock will not be entitled to receive economic consideration for their shares in excess of that payable to the
holders of the then outstanding shares of Class B common stock in the event of a merger, consolidation or tender or exchange offer, even though Class B
common stock does not have the right to vote. This would result in a lesser payment to the holders of Class A common stock than if there are no shares of
Class B common stock outstanding at the time of such merger, consolidation or tender or exchange offer.

The provisions of our Charter requiring exclusive forum in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the
U.S. for certain types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against its directors and officers.

Our Charter provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, and unless we provide notice in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (i) any
action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of its directors, officers, employees or agents to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action
asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL"), our Charter or Bylaws or as to
which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs
doctrine, in each such case subject to such Court of Chancery having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants therein. Our
Charter further provides that the federal district courts of the U.S. are the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising
under the Securities Act. By becoming a stockholder in our company, you will be deemed to have notice of and consented to the exclusive forum provisions
of our Charter. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such a provision relating to causes of action arising under the Securities Act, and
investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, our Charter
provides that the exclusive forum provisions do not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for
which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.
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These provisions may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers. The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions
in other companies’ certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with any applicable action
brought against us, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in the proposed certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable
in such action.

If we were to convert into a public benefit corporation, our status as such may not result in the benefits that we anticipate.

Pursuant to our Charter, our board of directors has the option to, without prior notice to our stockholders, cause us to convert into a Delaware public
benefit corporation in order to demonstrate our commitment to environmental, social and governance issues facing societies. If we were to convert into a
public benefit corporation, we would be required to balance the financial interests of our stockholders with the best interests of those stakeholders materially
affected by our conduct, including particularly those affected by the specific benefit purposes set forth in our Charter. In addition, there is no assurance that
the expected positive impact from being a public benefit corporation would be realized. Accordingly, being a public benefit corporation and complying with
the related obligations could negatively impact our ability to provide the highest possible return to our stockholders.

We currently pay dividends to our stockholders, but our ability to do so is subject to the discretion of our board of directors and may be limited
by our holding company structure and applicable provisions of Delaware law.

Although we expect to continue to pay cash dividends to our stockholders, our board of directors may, in its discretion, increase or decrease the level
of dividends or discontinue the payment of dividends entirely. In addition, as a holding company, we are dependent upon the ability of GCMH to generate
earnings and cash flows and distribute them to us so that we may pay our obligations and expenses (including our taxes and payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement) and pay dividends to our stockholders. We expect to cause GCMH to make distributions to its members, including us. However, the
ability of GCMH to make such distributions is subject to its operating results, cash requirements and financial condition, restrictive covenants in our debt
instruments and applicable Delaware law (which may limit the amount of funds available for distribution to its members). Our ability to declare and pay
dividends to our stockholders is likewise subject to Delaware law (which may limit the amount of funds available for dividends). If, as a consequence of these
various limitations and restrictions, we are unable to generate sufficient distributions from our business, we may not be able to make, or may be required to
reduce or eliminate, the payment of dividends on our Class A common stock.

We may change our dividend policy at any time.

We have no obligation to pay any dividend, and our dividend policy may change at any time without notice. The declaration and amount of any future
dividends is subject to the discretion of our board of directors in determining whether dividends are in the best interest of our stockholders based on our
financial performance and other factors and are in compliance with all laws and agreements applicable to the declaration and payment of cash dividends by
us. In addition, our ability to pay dividends on our common stock is currently limited by the covenants of our current debt instruments and may be further
restricted by the terms of any future debt securities or instruments or preferred securities. Future dividends may also be affected by factors that our board of
directors deems relevant, including, without limitation:

. general economic and business conditions;

. our strategic plans and prospects;

. our business and investment opportunities;

. our financial condition and operating results, including our cash position, net income and realizations on investments made by its investment
funds;

. working capital requirements and anticipated cash needs;

. contractual restrictions and obligations, including payment obligations pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement; and

. legal, tax and regulatory restrictions.
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Risks Related to Being a Public Company

Failure to establish and maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material
adverse effect on our business and stock price.

We are required to comply with the SEC'’s rules implementing Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires management to certify financial
and other information in our quarterly and annual reports, and we are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, which requires management provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of controls over financial reporting. Additionally, we are
required to have our independent registered public accounting firm provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting. An adverse report may be issued in the event our independent registered public accounting firm is not satisfied with the level at which our controls
are documented, designed or operating.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal controls, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal controls that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance. When evaluating our internal control over financial reporting, we may identify material weaknesses that we may not be able to remediate in time
to meet the applicable deadline imposed upon us for compliance with the requirements of Section 404.

If we identify or fail to remediate any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or are unable to comply with the requirements
of Section 404 in a timely manner or assert that our internal control over financial reporting is ineffective, or if our independent registered public accounting
firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, we could fail to meet our reporting obligations or be
required to restate our financial statements for prior periods. Investors may also lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports,
the market price of our Class A common stock and warrants could be negatively affected, and we could become subject to investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC
or other regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares of our Class A common stock (or shares of our Class A common stock that may be issued in
the future pursuant to the exchange or redemption of Grosvenor common units) may be sold into the market in the near future. We could also
issue and sell additional shares of Class A common stock in the future. These events could cause the market price of our Class A common stock
to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

The market price of our Class A common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of Class A common stock in the market or
the perception that such sales could occur. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity
securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.

In addition, as of February 14, 2025, the GCMH Equityholders owned approximately 76% of the Grosvenor common units. For so long as registration
statements for the sale of shares of our Class A common stock and warrants by the parties to the Registration Rights Agreement are available for use, the
sale or possibility of sale of these shares of Class A common stock and warrants could have the effect of increasing the volatility in the market price of our
Class A common stock or warrants, or decreasing the market price itself, even if our business is doing well.

Prior to their anticipated expiration on November 17, 2025, warrants are exercisable for our Class A common stock, which may increase the
number of shares eligible for future resale in the public market and result in dilution to our stockholders.

As of February 14, 2025, there were 17,684,370 outstanding warrants to purchase 17,684,370 shares of our Class A common stock at an exercise
price of $11.50 per share. The warrants are expected to expire on November 17, 2025 in accordance with the terms of the Warrant Agreement. To the extent
such warrants are exercised prior to that date, additional shares of our Class A common stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to the holders of our
Class A common stock and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public
market or the fact that such warrants may be exercised could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.
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We may amend the terms of the warrants in a manner that may be adverse to holders of public warrants with the approval by the holders of at
least 65% of the then outstanding public warrants. As a result, the exercise price of the warrants could be increased, the exercise period could be
shortened and the number of shares of Class A common stock purchasable upon exercise of a warrant could be decreased, all without a warrant
holder’s approval.

Our warrants are issued in registered form under the Warrant Agreement with Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent (the
“Warrant Agent”). The Warrant Agreement provides that the terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder to cure any ambiguity
or correct any defective provision, but requires the approval by the holders of at least 65% of the then outstanding public warrants to make any change that
adversely affects the interests of the registered holders of public warrants. Accordingly, we may amend the terms of the public warrants in a manner adverse
to a holder if holders of at least 65% of the then outstanding public warrants approve of such amendment. Although our ability to amend the terms of the
public warrants with the consent of at least 65% of the then outstanding public warrants is unlimited, examples of such amendments could be amendments
to, among other things, increase the exercise price of the warrants, convert the warrants into cash or Class A common stock, shorten the exercise period or
decrease the number of shares of Class A common stock purchasable upon exercise of a warrant.

Registration of the shares of our Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants under the Securities Act may not be in place
when an investor desires to exercise warrants.

Under the terms of the Warrant Agreement, we are obligated to file and maintain an effective registration statement under the Securities Act before
their expiration date, covering the issuance of shares of our Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants. We cannot assure you that we
will be able to maintain an effective registration statement if, for example, any facts or events arise that represent a fundamental change in the information
set forth in the registration statement or prospectus, the consolidated financial statements contained or incorporated by reference therein are not current or
correct or we are required to address any comments the SEC may issue in connection with such registration statement. If the shares issuable upon exercise
of the warrants are not registered under the Securities Act, we are required to permit holders to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis. However, no
warrant will be exercisable for cash or on a cashless basis, and we will not be obligated to issue any shares to holders seeking to exercise their warrants,
unless the issuance of the shares upon such exercise is registered or qualified under the securities laws of the state of the exercising holder or an exemption
from registration is available. If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption right even if we are unable to register or
qualify the underlying shares of common stock for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

We may redeem unexpired warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to warrant holders, thereby making their warrants
worthless.

We have the ability to redeem outstanding public warrants at any time prior to their exercise and expiration, at a price of $0.01 per warrant, provided
that the last reported sales price of our Class A common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on
which we give proper notice of such redemption and provided certain other conditions are met. As of the date of this Annual Report, the last reported sales
price of our Class A common stock was below the threshold to redeem the warrants, and the warrants are expected to expire on November 17, 2025,
pursuant to the terms of the Warrant Agreement.

Moreover, we may not exercise our redemption right if the issuance of shares of Class A common stock upon exercise of the warrants is not exempt
from registration or qualification under applicable state blue sky laws or we are unable to effect such registration or qualification. We will use our
commercially reasonable best efforts to register or qualify such shares of Class A common stock under the blue sky laws of the state of residence in those
states in which the warrants were offered in CFAC's initial public offering. Redemption of the outstanding warrants could force our security holders to: (i)
exercise their warrants and pay the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be disadvantageous for them to do so, (ii) sell their warrants at the then-
current market price when they might otherwise wish to hold their warrants or (i) accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time the outstanding
warrants are called for redemption, is likely to be substantially less than the market value of their warrants.

The valuation of our warrants could increase the volatility in our net income (loss) in our consolidated statements of income and consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

The change in fair value of our warrants is the result of changes in stock price and warrants outstanding at each reporting period. The change in fair
value of warrant liabilities represents the mark-to-market fair value adjustments to the outstanding

74



warrants issued in connection with the Transaction. Significant changes in our stock price or number of warrants outstanding may adversely affect our net
income (loss) in our consolidated statements of income and consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Purchases of shares of our Class A common stock and warrants pursuant to our stock repurchase plan may affect the value of our Class A
common stock, and there can be no assurance that our stock repurchase plan will enhance stockholder value.

Pursuant to our publicly announced stock repurchase plan, as of December 31, 2024 we were authorized to repurchase up to $140 million in the
aggregate of our Class A common stock and warrants to purchase our Class A common stock, including through the repurchase of outstanding shares of our
Class A common stock and warrants and through a reduction of shares of Class A common stock to be issued to employees to satisfy associated obligations
in connection with the settlement of equity-based awards granted under our Amended and Restated 2020 Incentive Award Plan (and any successor equity
plan thereto). The timing and amount of any share and warrant repurchases will be determined based on legal requirements, price, market and economic
conditions and other factors. This activity could increase (or reduce the size of any decrease in) the market price of our Class A common stock at that time.
Additionally, repurchases under our share repurchase program will continue to diminish our cash reserves, which could impact our ability to pursue possible
strategic opportunities and acquisitions and could result in lower overall returns on our cash balances. There can be no assurance that any share
repurchases will enhance stockholder value because the market price of our Class A shares could decline. Although our share repurchase program is
intended to enhance long-term stockholder value, short-term share price fluctuations could reduce the program’s effectiveness.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we spent $33.2 million to settle in cash or reduce shares of Class A common stock to be issued to
employees in satisfaction of associated tax obligations in connection with the settlement of vested restricted stock units. As of December 31, 2024, $32.0
million remains available under our stock repurchase plan. On February 6, 2025, our board of directors further increased the firm’s existing repurchase
authorization by $50 million, from $140 million to $190 million.

The obligations associated with being a public company involve significant expenses and require significant resources and management
attention, which may divert from our business operations.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Exchange Act requires the
filing of annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to a public company’s business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among
other things, that a public company establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting. As a result, we are incurring, and will continue to
incur, significant legal, accounting and other expenses associated with being a public company.

These rules and regulations have resulted, and will continue to result, in us incurring substantial legal and financial compliance costs and make some
activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, these rules and regulations will likely make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain
director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the
same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be difficult for us to attract and retain qualified people to serve on our board of directors, our board committees
or as executive officers.

General Risk Factors

The market price and trading volume of our securities has been, and may continue to be volatile.

The market price and trading volume of our Class A common stock has been volatile, and may continue to be volatile. Securities markets worldwide
experience significant price and volume fluctuations. This market volatility, as well as general economic, market or political conditions, could reduce the
market price of our Class A common stock and warrants in spite of our operating performance. The market price of our Class A common stock and warrants
could fluctuate widely or decline significantly in the future in response to a number of factors, including, among others, the following:

. the realization of any of the risk factors presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K;

. reductions or lack of growth in our assets under management, whether due to poor investment performance by our funds or redemptions by
investors in our funds;

. difficult global market and economic conditions;
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. loss of investor confidence in the global financial markets and investing in general and in alternative asset managers in particular;

. competitively adverse actions taken by other fund managers with respect to pricing, fund structure, redemptions, employee recruiting and
compensation;

. inability to attract, retain or motivate our active executive managing directors, investment professionals, managing directors or other key
personnel;

. inability to refinance or replace our senior secured term loan facility and revolving credit facility either on acceptable terms or at all;

. adverse market reaction to indebtedness we may incur, securities we may grant under our Amended and Restated 2020 Incentive Award Plan or

otherwise, or any other securities we may issue in the future, including shares of Class A common stock;

. unanticipated variations in our quarterly operating results or dividends;
. failure to meet securities analysts’ earnings estimates;
. publication of negative or inaccurate research reports about us or the asset management industry or the failure of securities analysts to provide

adequate coverage of Class A common stock in the future;

. changes in market valuations of similar companies;
. speculation in the press or investment community about our business;
. additional or unexpected changes or proposed changes in laws or regulations or differing interpretations thereof affecting our business or

enforcement of these laws and regulations, or announcements relating to these matters;

. increases in compliance or enforcement inquiries and investigations by regulatory authorities, including as a result of regulations mandated by
the Dodd-Frank Act and other initiatives of various regulators that have jurisdiction over us related to the alternative asset management industry;
and

. adverse publicity about the alternative asset management industry.

We may be subject to securities class action litigation, which may harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the
target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and damages, and divert management'’s attention
from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may also be called on to defend ourselves against lawsuits relating to our business operations. Some of these claims may seek significant damage
amounts due to the nature of our business. Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, we cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of any such
proceedings. A future on-payment outcome in a legal proceeding could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, current and future litigation, regardless of its merits, could result in substantial legal fees, settlement or judgment costs and a
diversion of management's attention and resources that are needed to successfully run our business.

An active trading market for our securities may not be maintained.

We can provide no assurance that we will be able to maintain an active trading market for our Class A common stock and warrants on Nasdaq or any
other exchange in the future. If an active market for our securities is not maintained, or if we fail to satisfy the continued listing standards of Nasdag for any
reason and our securities are delisted, it may be difficult for our security holders to sell their securities without depressing the market price for the securities or
at all. An inactive trading market may also impair our ability to both raise capital by selling shares of capital stock and acquire other complementary products,
technologies or businesses by using our shares of capital stock as consideration.
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Securities analysts may not publish favorable research or reports about our business or may publish no information at all, which could cause our
stock price or trading volume to decline.

The trading market for our securities is influenced to some extent by the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us and
our business. Securities research analysts may establish and publish their own periodic projections for GCMG from time to time. Those projections may vary
widely and may not accurately predict the results we actually achieve. Our share price may decline if our actual results do not match the projections of these
securities research analysts. Similarly, if one or more of the analysts who write reports on us downgrades our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable
research about our business, our stock price could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports covering us
regularly, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our
critical systems and information.

We design and assess our program based on the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework (NIST CSF) and the
Center for Internet Security (CIS) Critical Security Controls. This does not imply that we meet any particular technical standards, specifications, or
requirements, only that we use the NIST CSF and CIS Controls as a guide to help us identify, assess and manage cybersecurity risks relevant to our
business.

Our cybersecurity risk management program is integrated into our overall enterprise risk management program , and shares common methodologies,
reporting channels and governance processes that apply across the enterprise risk management program to other legal, compliance, strategic, operational
and financial risk areas.

Our cybersecurity risk management program includes:

. risk assessments designed to help identify material cybersecurity risks to our systems, information, products, services and our broader enterprise
IT environment;

. a security team principally responsible for managing our (1) cybersecurity risk assessment processes, (2) security controls and (3) response to
cybersecurity incidents;

. policies, security technologies and safeguards to fulfill overall NIST CSF program goals and key controls established by the CIS;

. the use of external service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise assist with aspects of our security program; this includes
penetration testing, and assisting internal audit in assessing the effectiveness of our controls;

. cybersecurity awareness training of our employees, incident response personnel and senior management;

. a cybersecurity incident response plan that includes procedures for responding to cybersecurity incidents; and

. a third-party risk management process for key service providers, suppliers and vendors who have access to our critical systems and
information.

We have not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected or
are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, there can be no
assurance that our cybersecurity risk management program and processes, including our policies, controls, or procedures, will be fully implemented,
complied with or effective in protecting our systems and information. Please see the section entitled “Risk Factors —Failure to maintain the security of our
information technology networks, or those of service providers and other our third-parties, or cybersecurity incidents could harm our
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reputation and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flow ,” for more information.

Cybersecurity Governance

Our board of directors considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function and has delegated to the audit committee oversight of
cybersecurity and other information technology risks. The audit committee oversees management’s implementation of our cybersecurity risk management
program.

The audit committee receives periodic reports from management on our cybersecurity risks. In addition, management updates the audit committee, as
necessary, regarding any material cybersecurity incidents, as well as any incidents with lesser impact potential.

The audit committee reports to the full board of directors regarding its risk management activities, including those related to cybersecurity. The full
board of directors also receives briefings from management on our cyber risk management program from time to time. Members of the board of directors
receive presentations on cybersecurity topics from our Chief Technology Officer, internal security staff or external experts as part of the board of directors’
continuing education on topics that impact public companies.

Our management team, including the Chief Technology Officer and Chief Information Security Officer , are responsible for assessing and managing
our material risks from cybersecurity threats. The team has primary responsibility for our overall cybersecurity risk management program and supervises
both our internal cybersecurity personnel and our retained external cybersecurity consultants. Our current Chief Technology Officer has over 25 years of
cybersecurity experience, including past roles as a Chief Information Security Officer and with a leading accounting and professional services firm. Our
current Chief Information Security Officer has 20 years of relevant information technology and cybersecurity experience.

Our management team supervises efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate and remediate cybersecurity risks and incidents through various means, which
may include briefings from internal security personnel; threat intelligence and other information obtained from governmental, public or private sources,
including external consultants engaged by us; and alerts and reports produced by security tools deployed in the IT environment.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We do not own any real estate or other physical properties materially important to our operations. The Company has entered into operating lease
agreements for office space. We lease office space in various countries around the world and maintain our headquarters in Chicago, lllinois. We lease (the
“Lease”) our principal headquarters at 900 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 1100, Chicago, IL 60611 from 900 North Michigan, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company. The term of the Lease expires September 30, 2037. The Lease provides for monthly rent and payment of operating expenses on a triple-net basis.
We consider our current office space, combined with the other office space otherwise available to our executive officers, adequate for our current operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be a defendant in various lawsuits related to our business. We do not believe that the outcome of any current litigation will
have a material effect on our consolidated statements of financial condition or statements of income.

In the normal course of business, we may enter into contracts that contain a number of representations and warranties, which may provide for general
or specific indemnifications. The Company’s exposure under these contracts is not currently known, as any such exposure would be based on future claims,
which could be made against us. We are not currently aware of any such pending claims and based on our experience, we believe the risk of loss related to
these arrangements to be remote.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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Part Il.

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information for Common Equity
Our Class A common stock and warrants are listed on the Nasdaqg Global Market under the symbols “GCMG” and “GCMGW,” respectively.
Holders of Record

As of February 14, 2025, there were approximately 44,911,734 shares of our Class A common stock outstanding and 17,684,370 warrants to purchase
our Class A common stock outstanding, with 1 and 2 holders of record of our Class A common stock and warrants, respectively. The number of record
holders does not include persons who held shares of our Class A common stock in nominee or “street name” accounts through brokers.

Dividend Policy

On February 6, 2025, the GCMG's Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.11 per share of Class A common stock to record holders as of
the close of business on March 3, 2025. The payment date will be March 17, 2025.

We expect we will continue to pay a comparable cash dividend on a quarterly basis. However, the payment of cash dividends on shares of our Class A
common stock in the future, in this amount or otherwise, will be within the discretion of our Board of Directors at such time, and will depend on numerous
factors, including:

. general economic and business conditions;

. our strategic plans and prospects;

. our business and investment opportunities;

. our financial condition and operating results, including its cash position, its net income and its realizations on investments made by its

investment funds;
. our working capital requirements and anticipated cash needs;

. contractual restrictions and obligations, including payment obligations pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement and restrictions pursuant to
any credit facility; and

. legal, tax and regulatory restrictions.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On August 6, 2021, GCMG's Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase plan which may be used to repurchase shares of our outstanding
Class A common stock and warrants to purchase shares of Class A common stock, as well as to retire (by cash settlement or the payment of tax withholding
amounts upon net settlement) equity-based awards granted under our 2020 Incentive Award Plan (and any successor plan thereto). GCMG’s Board of
Directors has made subsequent increases to its stock repurchase authorization for shares and warrants. As of December 31, 2023, the total authorization
was $115 million, excluding fees and expenses. On February 8, 2024, GCMG's Board of Directors increased the firm's existing repurchase authorization by
$25 million, from $115 million to $140 million. On February 6, 2025, GCMG’s Board of Directors increased the firm's existing repurchase authorization by
$50 million, from $140 million to $190 million.

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, we did not purchase any shares of Class A common stock or warrants to purchase shares of
Class A Common stock. As of December 31, 2024, $32.0 million remained available under our
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stock repurchase plan. See Note 7 of our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part 11, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph depicts the total return to stockholders from the closing price on November 18, 2020 (the date our Class A common stock began
trading on Nasdaq) through December 31, 2024, relative to the performance of S&P 500 and S&P Composite 1500 Financials. The graph assumes $100
invested on November 18, 2020, and dividends reinvested in the security or index.
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The performance graph is not intended to be indicative of future performance. The performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be
“filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any of the Company’s filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

ITEM 6. RESERVED
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with the consolidated financial
statements and the related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans,
estimates, and beliefs that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, such as those set forth under the “Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking
Statements” sections and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements.

This section of the Annual Report on Form 10-K discusses activity as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. For discussion on
activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 and period-over-period analysis on results for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 2022, refer to Part Il
“ltem 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2023 filed with the SEC on February 29, 2024.

Overview

We are a leading alternative asset management solutions provider that invests across all major alternative investment strategies. We invest on a
primary basis and through direct-oriented strategies, which we define as secondaries, co-investments, direct investments and seed investments. We operate
customized separate accounts and commingled funds. We collaborate with our clients to invest on their behalf across the private and public markets, either
through portfolios customized to meet a client’s specific objectives or through specialized commingled funds that are developed to meet broad market
demands for strategies and risk-return objectives.

We operate at scale across the full range of private markets and absolute return strategies. Private markets and absolute return strategies are
primarily defined by the liquidity of the underlying securities purchased, the length of the client commitment, and the form and timing of incentive fees. For
private markets strategies, clients generally commit to invest over a three-year time period and have an expected duration of seven years or more. In private
markets strategies, carried interest is typically based on realized gains on liquidation of the investment. For absolute return strategies, the securities tend to
be more liquid, clients have the ability to redeem assets more regularly, and performance fees can be earned on an annual basis. We offer the following
investment strategies:

. Private Equity

. Infrastructure

. Real Estate

. Absolute Return Strategies

. Alternative Credit

. Sustainable and Impact Investing

Our clients include large, sophisticated, global institutional investors who rely on our investment expertise and differentiated investment access to
navigate the alternatives market, but also include a growing individual investor client base. As one of the pioneers of the customized separate account
solutions, we are equipped to provide investment services to clients with a wide variety of needs, internal resources and investment objectives, and our client
relationships are deep and frequently span decades.

Trends Affecting Our Business

As a global alternative asset manager, our results of operations are impacted by a variety of factors, including conditions in the global financial markets
and economic and political environments, particularly in the United States, Europe, Asia-Pacific, Latin America and the Middle East. While economic factors,
such as interest rates, can make alternative investments more or less attractive relative to other asset classes, investors have increasingly gravitated towards
the returns generated by alternative investments in order to meet their return objectives. In addition, increased equity market volatility can also contribute to
increased investor demand for alternative strategies. Finally, the opportunities in private markets continue to expand as firms raise new funds and launch
new vehicles and products to access private markets across the globe.
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In addition to the trends discussed above, we believe the following factors, among others, will influence our future performance and results of
operations:

Our ability to retain existing investors and attract new investors in our funds.

Our ability to retain existing assets under management and attract new investors in our funds is partially dependent on the extent to which investors
continue to favorably see the alternative asset management industry relative to traditional publicly listed equity and debt securities. A decline in the pace or
the size of our fundraising efforts or investments as a result of increased competition in the private markets investing environment or a shift toward public
markets may impact our revenues, which are generated from management fees and incentive fees.

Our ability to expand our business through new lines of business and geographic markets.

Our ability to grow our revenue base is partially dependent upon our ability to offer additional products and services by entering into new lines of
business and by entering into, or expanding our presence in, new geographic markets. Entry into certain lines of business or geographic markets or the
introduction of new types of products or services may subject us to the evolving macroeconomic and regulatory environment of the various countries where
we operate or in which we invest.

Our ability to realize investments.

Challenging market and economic conditions may adversely affect our ability to exit and realize value from our investments and we may not be able to
find suitable investments in which to effectively deploy capital. During periods of adverse economic conditions, such as current geopolitical turmoil abroad
and elevated inflation and interest rates, our funds may have difficulty accessing financial markets, which could make it more difficult to obtain funding for
additional investments and impact our ability to successfully exit positions in a timely manner. A general market downturn, a recession or a specific market
dislocation may result in lower investment returns for our funds, which would adversely affect our revenues.

Our ability to identify suitable investment opportunities for our clients.

Our success largely depends on the identification and availability of suitable investment opportunities for our clients, including the success of the
investment vehicles managed by third-party investment managers in which GCM Funds invest. The availability of investment opportunities is subject to
certain factors outside of our control, including the market environment at a given point in time. Although there can be no assurance that we will be able to
secure the opportunity to invest on behalf of our clients in all or a substantial portion of the investments we select, or that the size of the investment
opportunities available to us will be as large as we would desire, we seek to maintain excellent relationships with investment managers that we have invested
with previously or who we may invest with in the future. These investment managers include investment managers of investment funds as well as sponsors of
investments that might provide co-investment opportunities in portfolio companies alongside the fund manager. Our ability to identify attractive investments
and execute those investments is dependent on a nhumber of factors, including the general macroeconomic environment, valuation, transaction size, and
expected duration of such investment opportunity.

Our ability to generate competitive returns.

The ability to attract and retain clients is partially dependent on returns we are able to deliver versus client objectives, our peers and industry
benchmarks. The capital we are able to attract drives the growth of our assets under management and the management and incentive fees we earn.
Similarly, in order to maintain our desired fee structure in a competitive environment, we must be able to continue to provide clients with investment returns
and service that incentivize our investors to pay our desired fee rates.

Our ability to comply with increasing and evolving regulatory requirements.

The complex and evolving regulatory and tax environment may have an adverse effect on our business and subject us to additional expenses or capital
requirements, as well as restrictions on our business operations.

Operating Segments

We have determined that we operate in a single operating and reportable segment. This is consistent with how our chief operating decision maker,
who is our Chief Executive Officer, allocates resources and assesses performance.
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Organizational Structure

The diagram below depicts our current organizational structure:
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Note: The diagram depicts a simplified version of our structure and does not include all legal entities in our structure. Approximate ownership percentages are as of February 14, 2025.

1 Mr. Sacks, the chairman of our board of directors and our Chief Executive Officer, ultimately owns and controls GCM V. The address for Mr. Sacks is c/o GCM Grosvenor, 900 North

Michigan Avenue, Suite 1100, Chicago, lllinois 60611.

2 Percentage of combined voting power represents voting power with respect to all shares of Class A common stock and Class C common stock, voting together as a single class. Each
holder of Class A common stock is entitled to one vote per share and each holder of Class C common stock is entitled to the lesser of (i) 10 votes per share and (ii) the Class C Share
Voting Amount on all matters submitted to stockholders for their vote or approval. From and after the Sunset Date, holders of Class C Common Stock will be entitled to one vote per
share. Class C common stock does not have any of the economic rights (including rights to dividends and distributions upon liquidation) associated with Class A common stock.

3 Each warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of Class A common stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment.

4Mr. Sacks is the ultimate managing member of each of (i) Holdings, (ii) Management LLC, (i) Holdings II, and (iv) GCM Progress Subsidiary LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(collectively, the “GCMH Equityholders”). Any distribution of proceeds derived from the securities held by the GCMH Equityholders is shared among the respective members of such
entities in accordance with the applicable operating agreements of such entities.

5 As of February 14, 2025, there were 44,911,734 shares of Class A common stock outstanding and 144,235,246 common units of GCMH (“Common Units”) outstanding held by the
GCMH Equityholders, which may be exchanged for shares of Class A common stock on a one-to-one basis, or, at the Company’s election for cash, pursuant to and subject to the
restrictions set forth in the Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Limited Partnership Agreement of GCMH. As of February 14, 2025, GCM V held 144,235,246 shares of Class C

common stock, which corresponds to the number of Common Units held by the GCMH Equityholders.
Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

We generate revenues from management fees and incentive fees, which includes carried interest and performance fees.
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Management Fees

Management Fees

We earn management fees from providing investment management services to specialized funds and customized separate account clients. Specialized
funds are generally structured as partnerships or companies having multiple investors. Customized separate account clients may be structured using an
affiliate-managed entity or may involve an investment management agreement between us and a single client. Certain separate account clients may have us
manage assets both with full discretion over investments decisions as well as without discretion over investment decisions and may also receive access to
various other advisory services the firm may provide.

Certain of our management fees, typically associated with our private markets strategies, are based on client commitments to those funds during an
initial commitment or investment period. During this period fees may be charged on total commitments, on invested capital (capital committed to underlying
investments) or on a ratable ramp-in of total commitments, which is meant to mirror typical invested capital pacing. Following the expiration or termination of
such period, certain fees continue to be based on client commitments while others are based on invested assets or based on invested capital and unfunded
deal commitments less returned capital or based on a fixed ramp down schedule.

Certain of our management fees, typically associated with absolute return strategies, are based on the NAV of those funds. Such GCM Funds either
have a set fee for the entire fund or a fee scale through which clients with larger commitments pay a lower fee.

Management fees are determined quarterly and are more commonly billed in advance based on the management fee rate applied to the management
fee base at the end of the preceding quarterly period as defined in the respective contractual agreements.

We provided investment management / advisory services on assets of $80.1 billion, $76.9 billion and $73.7 billion as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively.

Fund expense reimbursement revenue

We incur certain costs, primarily related to accounting, client reporting, investment-decision making and treasury-related expenditures, for which we
receive reimbursement from the GCM Funds in connection with our performance obligations to provide investment management services. We concluded that
we control the services provided and resources used before they are transferred to the customer, and therefore we act as a principal. Accordingly, the
reimbursement for these costs incurred by us are presented on a gross basis within management fees. Expense reimbursements are recognized at a point in
time, in the periods during which the related expenses are incurred and the reimbursements are contractually earned.

Incentive Fees

Incentive fees are based on the results of our funds, in the form of performance fees and carried interest income, which together comprise incentive
fees.

Carried Interest

Carried interest is a performance-based capital allocation from a fund’s limited partners earned by us in certain GCM Funds, more commonly in private
markets strategies. Carried interest is typically a percentage of the profits calculated in accordance with the terms of fund agreements, certain fees and a
preferred return to the fund's limited partners. Carried interest is ultimately realized when underlying investments distribute proceeds or are sold and
therefore carried interest is highly susceptible to market factors, judgments, and actions of third parties that are outside of our control.

Agreements generally include a clawback provision that, if triggered, would require us to return up to the cumulative amount of carried interest
distributed, typically net of tax, upon liquidation of those funds, if the aggregate amount paid as carried interest exceeds the amount actually due based upon
the aggregate performance of each fund. We have defined the portion to be deferred as the amount of carried interest, typically net of tax, that we would be
required to return if all remaining investments had no value as of the end of each reporting period. As of December 31, 2024, deferred revenue relating to
constrained realized carried interest was approximately $6.0 million.
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Assets under management that are subject to carried interest, excluding investments of the firm and our professionals from which we generally do not
earn incentive fees, were approximately $44.7 billion as of December 31, 2024.

Performance Fees

We may receive performance fees from certain GCM Funds, more commonly in funds associated with absolute return strategies. Performance fees
are typically a fixed percentage of investment gains, subject to loss carryforward provisions that require the recapture of any previous losses before any
performance fees can be earned in the current period. Performance fees may or may not be subject to a hurdle or a preferred return, which requires that
clients earn a specified minimum return before a performance fee can be assessed. These performance fees are determined based upon investment
performance at the end of a specified measurement period, generally the end of the calendar year.

Investment returns are highly susceptible to market factors, judgments, and actions of third parties that are outside of our control. Accordingly,
performance fees are variable consideration and are therefore constrained and not recognized until it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur. In
the event that a client redeems from one of the GCM Funds prior to the end of a measurement period, any accrued performance fee is ordinarily due and
payable by such redeeming client as of the date of the redemption.

Assets under management that are subject to performance fees, excluding investments of the firm and our professionals from which we generally do
not earn incentive fees, were approximately $13.8 billion as of December 31, 2024.

Other Operating Income

Other operating income primarily consists of administrative fees from certain private investment vehicles where we perform a full suite of administrative
functions but do not manage or advise and have no discretion over the capital.

Expenses

Employee Compensation and Benefits

Employee compensation and benefits primarily consists of (1) cash-based employee compensation and benefits, (2) equity-based compensation, (3)
partnership interest-based compensation, (4) carried interest compensation, (5) cash-based incentive fee related compensation and (6) other non-cash
compensation. Bonus and incentive fee related compensation is generally determined by our management and is discretionary taking into consideration,
among other things, our financial results and the employee’s performance. In addition, various individuals, including certain senior professionals have been
awarded partnership interests and/or restricted stock units (“RSUs”). These partnership interests grant the recipient the right to certain cash distributions
from GCMH Equityholders’ profits (to the extent such distributions are authorized) and/or to certain net sale proceeds after threshold distributions, resulting in
non-cash profits interest compensation expense. The Company recognizes compensation expense attributable to the RSUs on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. Certain employees and former employees are also entitled to a portion of the carried interest
and performance fees realized from certain GCM Funds, which is payable upon a realization of the carried interest or performance fees.

General, Administrative and Other

General, administrative and other consists primarily of professional fees, travel and related expenses, IT operations, communications and information
services, occupancy, fund expenses, depreciation and amortization, and other costs associated with our operations.

Net Other Income (Expense)
Investment Income
Investment income primarily consists of gains and losses arising from our equity method investments.

Interest Expense

Interest expense includes interest paid and accrued on our outstanding debt, along with the amortization of deferred debt issuance costs incurred from
debt issued by us, including the Term Loan Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility (each of
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which defined below) entered into by us. Interest expense also includes (1) the impact of qualifying effective cash flow hedges and (2) the amortization of
realized gains or losses on interest rate swaps that initially qualified for hedge accounting and were subsequently terminated. The unrealized gains or losses
are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into interest expense over the original life of the swap for terminated derivative instruments.

Other Income

Other income consists primarily of other non-operating items, including write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs due to prepayments and
refinancing of debt and interest income.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities are non-cash and consist of fair value adjustments related to the outstanding public and private warrants
issued in connection with the Transaction. The warrant liabilities are classified as marked-to-market liabilities pursuant to ASC 815-40, Derivatives and
Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity, and the corresponding increase or decrease in value impacts our net income (loss).

Provision for Income Taxes

We are a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and therefore are subject to U.S. federal and state income taxes on our share of taxable
income generated by us and our subsidiaries. GCMH is treated as a pass-through entity for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes. As such, income
generated by GCMH flows through to its partners, and is generally not subject to U.S. federal or state income tax at the partnership level. Our non-U.S.
subsidiaries generally operate as corporate entities in non-U.S. jurisdictions, with certain of these entities subject to local or non-U.S. income taxes. The tax
liability with respect to income attributable to noncontrolling interests in GCMH is borne by the holders of such noncontrolling interests.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries represents the economic interests of third parties in certain consolidated subsidiaries.

Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in GCMH represents the economic interests of GCMH Equityholders in GCMH. Profits and
losses, other than partnership interest-based compensation, are allocated to the noncontrolling interests in GCMH in proportion to their relative ownership
interests regardless of their basis.
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Results of Operations

The following is a discussion of our consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2023. This information is derived from our accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(in thousands)
Revenues
Management fees $ 401,648 $ 375,444 $ 367,242
Incentive fees 106,237 64,903 75,167
Other operating income 6,127 4,652 4,121
Total operating revenues 514,012 444,999 446,530
Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits 336,236 356,044 277,311
General, administrative and other 104,296 100,801 88,907
Total operating expenses 440,532 456,845 366,218
Operating income (loss) 73,480 (11,846) 80,312
Investment income 15,589 11,640 10,108
Interest expense (24,160) (23,745) (23,314)
Other income 1,334 1,008 1,436
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (16,079) 1,429 20,551
Net other income (expense) (23,316) (9,668) 8,781
Income (loss) before income taxes 50,164 (21,514) 89,093
Provision for income taxes 13,560 7,692 9,611
Net income (loss) 36,604 (29,206) 79,482
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries 2,545 5,033 6,823
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in GCMH 15,364 (47,013) 52,839
Net income attributable to GCM Grosvenor Inc. $ 18,695 $ 12,774 $ 19,820
Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
(in thousands)
Private markets strategies $ 238,546 $ 214,338 $ 197,267
Absolute return strategies 148,408 146,550 159,134
Fund expense reimbursement revenue 14,694 14,556 10,841
Total management fees 401,648 375,444 367,242
Incentive fees 106,237 64,903 75,167
Administrative fees 3,850 3,570 3,184
Other 2,277 1,082 937
Total other operating income 6,127 4,652 4,121
Total operating revenues $ 514,012 $ 444999 $ 446,530

Management fees increased $26.2 million, or 7%, to $401.6 million, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31,
2023. Private market strategies fees increased $24.2 million, or 11%, due to a $18.0 million increase in fees related to private markets strategies specialized
funds, including a $6.1 million increase in catch-up management fees, and a $6.3 million increase in fees related to private markets strategies customized
separate accounts. Both of
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these increases are as a result of capital raising and deployment. Additionally, there was an increase of $1.9 million, or 1%, in absolute return strategies fees,
primarily due to better investment performance in 2024.

Incentive fees consisted of carried interest and performance fees. Carried interest increased $1.3 million, or 3%, to $50.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to slightly higher distributions from investments and carry realizations
during the year ended December 31, 2024. Performance fees increased $40.0 million, to $55.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to
the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in performance fees was primarily due to higher returns for absolute return strategies funds during the
year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Expenses
Employee Compensation and Benefits

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(in thousands)
Cash-based employee compensation and benefits $ 148,547 $ 156,153 $ 160,522
Equity-based compensation 48,158 50,667 30,721
Partnership interest-based compensation 72,068 103,934 31,811
Carried interest compensation 30,450 28,505 41,920
Cash-based incentive fee related compensation 36,455 15,628 11,001
Other non-cash compensation 558 1,157 1,336
Total employee compensation and benefits $ 336,236 $ 356,044 $ 277,311

Employee compensation and benefits decreased $19.8 million, or 6%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2023. The overall decrease was primarily driven by decreases in partnership interest-based compensation and cash-based employee
compensation and benefits, partially offset by an increase in cash-based incentive fee related compensation. Partnership interest-based compensation
decreased $31.9 million, or 31%, primarily due to expense recorded for the Holdings Awards during the year ended December 31, 2023, partially offset by
award modifications in the first quarter of 2024. Holdings Awards are further described in Note 11 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K). These awards do not dilute Class A common stockholders or impact our net cash flows.
Cash-based employee compensation and benefits decreased $7.6 million, or 5%, due to lower discretionary bonus accruals and severance for the year
ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. Cash-based incentive fee related compensation increased $20.8 million, due to
higher incentive fees during the year ended December 31, 2024, which are discussed above.

General, Administrative and Other

General, administrative and other increased $3.5 million, or 3%, to $104.3 million, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2023. The overall increase was primarily driven by increases in professional fees.

Net Other Income (Expense)

Investment income increased to $15.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to investment income of $11.6 million for th e year
ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to the change in value of private and public market investments.

Interest expense increased $0.4 million, or 2%, to $24.2 million, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31,
2023, due to increased principal amount outstanding on the Term Loan Facility partially offset by slightly lower effective interest rates on both the hedged and
unhedged portions of the Term Loan Facility during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Other income was $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to other income of $1.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2023.
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Change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $16.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 was due to an increase in the fair value of the warrants
from December 31, 2023 to December 31, 2024.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company'’s effective tax rate was 27% and (36)% for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The primary factors impacting
the effective tax rate are the allocation of income (loss) to noncontrolling interest as well as state and foreign income taxes paid at the partnership level that
are included in income tax expenses but are partially eliminated in consolidation through noncontrolling interest.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries was $2.5 million and $5.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in income generated by our consolidated subsidiaries not wholly owned by the Company.

Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in GCMH was $15.4 million and $(47.0) million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively. The change was primarily attributable to a decrease in partnership-interest based compensation as described above, which was fully
allocated to noncontrolling interests in GCMH, and underlying performance of GCMH.

Fee-Paying AUM

FPAUM is a metric we use to measure the assets from which we earn management fees. Our FPAUM comprises the assets in our customized
separate accounts and specialized funds from which we derive management fees. We classify customized separate account revenue as management fees if
the client is charged an asset-based fee, which includes the vast majority of our discretionary AUM accounts. Our FPAUM for private market strategies
typically represents committed, invested or scheduled capital during the investment period and invested capital following the expiration or termination of the
investment period. Substantially all of our private markets strategies funds earn fees based on commitments or net invested capital, which are not affected by

market appreciation or depreciation. Our FPAUM for our absolute return strategy is based on NAV, which includes impacts of any market appreciation or
depreciation.

Our calculations of FPAUM may differ from the calculations of other asset managers, and as a result, this measure may not be comparable to similar
measures presented by other asset managers. Our definition of FPAUM is not based on any definition that is set forth in the agreements governing the
customized separate accounts or specialized funds that we manage.

Private Markets = Absolute Return

Strategies Strategies Total

Fee-paying AUM (in millions)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 36,876 $ 21,980 $ 58,856
Contributions 4,485 497 4,982
Withdrawals (205) (2,365) (2,570)
Distributions (1,006) (167) (1,173)
Change in market value 239 1,583 1,822
Foreign exchange and other (120) (114) (234)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 40,269 $ 21,414 $ 61,683
Contributions 4,749 1,277 6,026
Withdrawals (105) (2,641) (2,746)
Distributions (2,381) (292) (2,673)
Change in market value 212 2,430 2,642
Foreign exchange and other (1,027) (140) (1,167)

Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 42,717 $ 22,048 $ 64,765

Contracted, not yet fee-paying AUM (“CNYFPAUM?”) represents limited partner commitments which are expected to be invested and begin charging
fees over the ensuing five years.
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As of December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(in millions)
Contracted, not yet Fee-Paying AUM $ 8,202 $ 7,304 $ 7,603
AUM $ 80,077 $ 76,908 $ 73,667

Of the $8.2 billion CNYFPAUM as of December 31, 2024, approximately $3.0 billion is subject to an agreed upon fee ramp in schedule. The ramp in
schedule will result in management fees being charged on approximately $1.0 billion, $0.8 billion and $1.2 billion of such amount beginning in 2025, 2026
and 2027 and beyond, respectively. Management fees will be charged on the remaining approximately $5.2 billion of CNYFPAUM as such capital is invested,
which will depend on a number of factors, including the availability of eligible investment opportunities.

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2023

FPAUM increased $3.1 billion, or 5%, to $64.8 billion during the year ended December 31, 2024 primarily due to $6.0 billion of contributions and a $2.6
billion increase in market value, partially offset by $2.7 billion and $1.7 billion of withdrawals and distributions, respectively.

. Private markets strategies FPAUM increased $2.4 billion, or 6%, to $42.7 billion during the year ended December 31, 2024 primarily due to $4.7
billion of contributions, partially offset by $1.4 billion of distributions.

. Absolute return strategies FPAUM increased $0.6 billion, or 3%, to $22.0 billion during the year ended December 31, 2024 primarily due to a
$2.4 billion increase in market value and $1.3 billion of contributions. partially offset by $2.6 billion of withdrawals.

CNYFPAUM increased $0.9 billion, or 12%, to $8.2 billion during the year ended December 31, 2024 due to the closing of new commitments during
the period, net of reductions for CNYFPAUM that became FPAUM during the period.

AUM increased $3.2 billion, or 4%, to $80.1 billion during the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily driven by the $3.1 billion increase in FPAUM,
as well as mark to market increases that do not impact FPAUM.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results of operations above, we report certain financial measures that are not required by, or presented in accordance with, GAAP.
Management uses these non-GAAP measures to assess the performance of our business across reporting periods and believes this information is useful to
investors for the same reasons. These non-GAAP measures should not be considered a substitute for the most directly comparable GAAP measures, which
are reconciled below. Further, these measures have limitations as analytical tools, and when assessing our operating performance, you should not consider
these measurements in isolation or as a substitute for GAAP measures including revenues and net income (loss). We may calculate or present these non-
GAAP financial measures differently than other companies who report measures with the same or similar names, and as a result, the non-GAAP measures
we report may not be comparable.
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Summary of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)

Revenues

Private markets strategies $ 238,546 $ 214,338 $ 197,267

Absolute return strategies 148,408 146,550 159,134
Management fees, net () 386,954 360,888 356,401
Administrative fees and other operating income 6,127 4,652 4,121
Fee-Related Revenue 393,081 365,540 360,522
Less:

Cash-based employee compensation and benefits, net @ (147,045) (149,327) (158,875)

General, administrative and other, net 13 (79,685) (76,271) (73,134)
Fee-Related Earnings 166,351 139,942 128,513
Fee-Related Earnings Margin® 42 % 38 % 36 %
Incentive fees:

Performance fees 55,323 15,313 2,623

Carried interest 50,914 49,590 72,544
Incentive fee related compensation and NCI:

Cash-based incentive fee related compensation (36,455) (15,628) (11,001)

Carried interest compensation, net ) (29,990) (28,553) (41,868)

Carried interest attributable to noncontrolling interests (3,337) (5,095) (8,411)
Realized investment income, net of amount attributable to noncontrolling interests in

subsidiaries ©) 6,676 3,103 4,699
Interest income 2,695 2,021 787
Other (income) expense (340) 109 (79)
Depreciation 2,007 1,383 1,540
Adjusted EBITDA 213,844 162,185 149,347

Depreciation (2,007) (1,383) (1,540)

Interest expense (24,160) (23,745) (23,314)
Adjusted Pre-Tax Income 187,677 137,057 124,493

Adjusted income taxes () (46,919) (33,853) (30,127)
Adjusted Net Income $ 140,758 $ 103,204 $ 94,366

1) Excludes fund reimbursement revenue of $14.7 million, $14.6 million and $10.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

) Excludes severance expense of $1.5 million, $6.8 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

3) Excludes amortization of intangibles of $1.3 million, $1.3 million and $2.3 million for the yearended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Also
excludes completed and contemplated corporate transaction-related costs of $6.1 million, $6.4 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022, respectively, and non-core expenses of $2.5 million, $2.2 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. Transaction-related costs for the year ended December 31, 2024 includes $3.0 million related to a debt amendment and extension expense. Non-core
expenses includes New York office relocation costs of $1.9 million and $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

4) Fee-related earnings margin represents fee-related earnings as a percentage of our management fee and other operating revenue, net of fund expense
reimbursements.

5) Excludes the impact of non-cash carried interest compensation of $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The net non-cash carried interest
compensation for each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was de minimis.

(6) Investment income or loss is generally realized when the Company redeems all or a portion of its investment or when the Company receives or is due cash, such
as from dividends or distributions.
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@) Represents corporate income taxes at a blended statutory effective tax rates of 25.0%, 24.7% and 24.2% applied to Adjusted Pre-Tax Income for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The 25.0%, 24.7% and 24.2% are based on a federal statutory rate of 21.0% and a combined state, local and
foreign rate net of federal benefits of 4.0%, 3.7%, and 3.2%, respectively.

Net Incentive Fees Attributable to GCM Grosvenor

Net incentive fees are used to highlight fees earned from incentive fees that are attributable to GCM Grosvenor. Net incentive fees represent incentive
fees excluding (a) incentive fees contractually owed to others and (b) cash-based incentive fee related compensation. Net incentive fees are used by
management in making compensation and capital allocation decisions and we believe that they provide investors useful information regarding the amount
that such fees contribute to the Company’s earnings.

The following table shows reconciliations of incentive fees to net incentive fees attributable to GCM Grosvenor for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)
Incentive fees:

Performance fees $ 55,323 $ 15,313 $ 2,623

Carried interest 50,914 49,590 72,544
Less incentive fees contractually owed to others:

Cash carried interest compensation (30,450) (28,505) (41,920)

Non-cash carried interest compensation 460 (48) 52

Carried interest attributable to other noncontrolling interest holders (3,337) (5,095) (8,411)
Firm share of incentive fees® 72,910 31,255 24,888

Less: Cash-based incentive fee related compensation (36,455) (15,628) (11,001)
Net Incentive Fees Attributable to GCM Grosvenor $ 36,455 $ 15,627 $ 13,887

Q) Firm share represents incentive fees net of contractual obligations but before discretionary cash based incentive compensation.
Adjusted Pre-Tax Income, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted Pre-Tax Income, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP measures used to evaluate our profitability.

Adjusted Pre-Tax Income represents net income attributable to GCM Grosvenor Inc. including (a) net income (loss) attributable to GCMH, excluding (b)
provision for income taxes, (c) changes in fair value of derivatives and warrant liabilities, (d) amortization expense, (e) partnership interest-based and non-
cash compensation, (f) equity-based compensation, including cash-settled equity awards (as we view the cash settlement as a separate capital transaction),
(g) unrealized investment income, (h) changes in TRA liability and (i) certain other items that we believe are not indicative of our core performance, including
charges related to corporate transactions, employee severance, office relocation costs, and loss on extinguishment of debt.

Adjusted Net Income represents Adjusted Pre-Tax Income fully taxed at each period’s blended statutory tax rate.

Adjusted EBITDA represents Adjusted Net Income excluding (a) adjusted income taxes, (b) depreciation and amortization expense and (c) interest
expense on our outstanding debt.

We are a holding company with no material assets other than its indirect ownership of equity interests in GCMH and certain deferred tax assets. The
GCMH Equityholders may from time to time cause GCMH to redeem any or all of their GCMH common units in exchange, at the Company’s election, for
either cash (based on the market price for a share of the Class A common stock) or shares of Class Acommon stock. As such, net income (loss) attributable
to noncontrolling interests in GCMH is added back in order to reflect the full economics of the underlying business as if GCMH Equityholders converted their
interests to shares of Class A common stock. Other noncontrolling interests do not have the ability to convert those interests into our equity interests of the
Company, and as such, income (loss) attributable to these noncontrolling interests are not adjusted for in our non-GAAP financial measures.
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We believe Adjusted Pre-Tax Income, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA are useful to investors because they provide additional insight into
the operating profitability of our core business across reporting periods. These measures (1) present a view of the economics of the underlying business as if
GCMH Equityholders converted their interests to shares of Class A common stock and (2) adjust for certain non-cash and other activity in order to provide
more comparable results of the core business across reporting periods. These measures are used by management in budgeting, forecasting and evaluating
operating results.

The following table shows reconciliations of net income attributable to GCM Grosvenor Inc. and Adjusted Pre-Tax Income, Adjusted Net Income and
Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)

Adjusted Pre-Tax Income & Adjusted Net Income

Net income attributable to GCM Grosvenor Inc. $ 18,695 $ 12,774 $ 19,820
Plus:
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in GCMH 15,364 (47,013) 52,839
Provision for income taxes 13,560 7,692 9,611
Change in fair value of warrants 16,079 (1,429) (20,551)
Amortization expense 1,313 1,313 2,316
Severance 1,502 6,826 1,647
Transaction expenses (@) 6,116 6,445 2,051
Loss on extinguishment of debt 157 — —
Changes in TRA liability and other @ 2,908 3,048 (241)
Partnership interest-based compensation 72,068 103,934 31,811
Equity-based compensation 48,158 50,667 30,721
Other non-cash compensation 558 1,157 1,336
Less:
Unrealized investment income, net of noncontrolling interests (9,261) (8,309) (6,919)
Non-cash carried interest compensation 460 (48) 52
Adjusted Pre-Tax Income 187,677 137,057 124,493
Less:
Adjusted income taxes ® (46,919) (33,853) (30,127)
Adjusted Net Income $ 140,758 $ 103,204 $ 94,366

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted Net Income $ 140,758 $ 103,204 $ 94,366
Plus:
Adjusted income taxes @ 46,919 33,853 30,127
Depreciation expense 2,007 1,383 1,540
Interest expense 24,160 23,745 23,314
Adjusted EBITDA $ 213,844 $ 162,185 $ 149,347

1) Represents 2024 expenses incurred, including $3.0 million related to a debt amendment and extension, and contemplated corporate transactions and 2023 and
2022 expenses related to contemplated corporate transactions.

) Includes $1.9 million and $1.2 million related to New York office relocation costs for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

3) Represents corporate income taxes at a blended statutory effective tax rates of 25.0%, 24.7% and 24.2% applied to Adjusted Pre-Tax Income for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The 25.0%, 24.7% and 24.2% are based on a federal statutory rate of 21.0% and a combined state, local and
foreign rate net of federal benefits of 4.0%, 3.7%, and 3.2%, respectively.
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Adjusted Net Income Per Share

Adjusted net income per share is a non-GAAP measure that is calculated by dividing Adjusted Net Income by adjusted shares outstanding. Adjusted
shares outstanding assumes the hypothetical full exchange of limited partnership interests in GCMH into Class A common stock of GCM Grosvenor Inc., the
dilution from outstanding warrants for Class A common stock of GCM Grosvenor Inc. and the dilution from outstanding equity-based compensation. We
believe adjusted net income per share is useful to investors because it enables them to better evaluate per-share performance across reporting periods.

The following table shows a reconciliation of diluted weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding to adjusted shares outstanding
used in the computation of adjusted net income per share for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Adjusted Net Income Per Share
Adjusted Net Income $ 140,758 $ 103,204 $ 94,366

Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding - basic 44,741,336 43,198,517 43,872,300
Exercise of private warrants - incremental shares under the treasury stock method — — —

Exercise of public warrants - incremental shares under the treasury stock method — — —

Exchange of partnership units 144,235,246 144,235,246 144,235,246
Assumed vesting of RSUs - incremental shares under the treasury stock method 1,613,459 — 460,446
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding - diluted 190,590,041 187,433,763 188,567,992
Effect of dilutive warrants, if antidilutive for GAAP 141,420 — —
Effect of RSUs, if antidilutive for GAAP — 808,716 —
Adjusted shares - diluted 190,731,461 188,242,479 188,567,992
Adjusted Net Income Per Share - Diluted $ 0.74 $ 055 $ 0.50

Fee-Related Revenue and Fee-Related Earnings

Fee-Related Revenue (“FRR”) is a non-GAAP measure used to highlight revenues from recurring management fees and administrative fees. FRR
represents total operating revenues less (1) incentive fees and (2) fund reimbursement revenue. We believe FRR is useful to investors because it provides
additional insight into our relatively stable management fee base separate from incentive fee revenues, which tend to have greater variability.

Fee-Related Earnings (“FRE") is a non-GAAP metric used to highlight earnings from recurring management fees and administrative fees. FRE
represents adjusted EBITDA further adjusted to exclude (a) incentive fees and related compensation and (b) other non-operating income, and to include
depreciation expense. We believe FRE is useful to investors because it provides additional insights into the management fee driven operating profitability of
our business.

The following table shows reconciliations of Total Operating Revenues to Fee-Related Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively:
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Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)

Fee-Related Revenue

Total Operating Revenues $ 514,012 $ 444999 $ 446,530
Less:
Incentive fees (106,237) (64,903) (75,167)
Fund reimbursement revenue (14,694) (14,556) (10,841)
Fee-Related Revenue $ 393,081 $ 365,540 $ 360,522

The following table shows reconciliations of Adjusted EBITDA to Fee-Related Earnings for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(in thousands)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 213,844 % 162,185 $ 149,347
Less:
Incentive fees (106,237) (64,903) (75,167)
Depreciation expense (2,007) (1,383) (1,540)
Other non-operating expense (2,355) (2,130) (708)
Realized investment income, net of amount attributable to noncontrolling interests in
subsidiaries () (6,676) (3,103) (4,699)
Plus:
Incentive fee-related compensation 66,445 44,181 52,869
Carried interest attributable to other noncontrolling interest holders, net 3,337 5,095 8,411
Fee-Related Earnings $ 166,351 $ 139,942 $ 128,513

1) Investment income or loss is generally realized when the Company redeems all or a portion of its investment or when the Company receives or is due cash, such
as a from dividends or distributions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operations and working capital through net cash provided by operating activities and borrowings under our Term
Loan Facility and Revolving Credit Facility (each as defined below). As of December 31, 2024, we had $89.5 million of cash and cash equivalents and
available borrowing capacity of $50.0 million under our Revolving Credit Facility. On July 29, 2022, the SEC declared effective our Registration Statement on
Form S-3, pursuant to which the Company may issue a combination of securities described in the prospectus in one or more offerings from time to time. Our
primary cash needs are to fund working capital requirements, invest in growing our business, make investments in GCM Funds, make scheduled principal
payments and interest payments on our outstanding indebtedness, pay dividends to holders of our Class A common stock, and pay tax distributions to
members. Additionally, as a result of the Transaction, we need cash to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. We expect that our cash flow
from operations, current cash and cash equivalents and available borrowing capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to fund our
operations and planned capital expenditures and to service our debt obligations for the next twelve months and the foreseeable future.

We are required to maintain minimum net capital balances for regulatory purposes for certain of our foreign subsidiaries as well as our U.S. broker-
dealer subsidiary. These net capital requirements are met by retaining cash. As a result, we may be restricted in our ability to transfer cash between different
operating entities and jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2024 we are in compliance with these regulatory requirements.
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Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 148,774 $ 92,065 $ 216,513
Net cash used in investing activities (31,834) (18,840) (10,073)
Net cash used in financing activities (70,378) (113,662) (215,067)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (1,462) (372) (2,395)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 45,100 $ (40,809) $ (11,022)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities is generally comprised of our net income (loss) in the respective periods after adjusting for significant non-
cash activities, including equity-based compensation for equity-classified awards, non-cash partnership interest-based compensation, the change in fair
value of warrant liabilities and the change in equity value of our investments, all of which are included in earnings; proceeds received from return on
investments; inflows for receipt of management and incentive fees; and outflows for operating expenses, including cash-based compensation.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $148.8 million and $92.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively. These
operating cash flows were primarily driven by:

. net income of $152.6 million and $93.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, after adjusting for $116.0 million
and $122.6 million of net non-cash activities for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively;

. a decrease in working capital of $16.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to a decrease in working capital of $11.8
million during the year ended December 31, 2023, largely due to an increase in incentive fees earned during the year ended December 31,
2024, partially offset by lower cash-based compensation during the year ended December 31, 2024; and

. proceeds received from investments of $13.1 million and $10.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $(31.8) million and $(18.8) million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These
investing cash flows were driven by:

. purchases of premises and equipment of $(16.7) million and $(3.8) million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively;
and

. contributions/subscriptions to investments of $(26.2) million and $(27.6) million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively; partially offset by

. distributions received from investments of $11.1 million and $12.6 million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $(70.4) million and $(113.7) million, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These
financing cash flows were driven by:

. capital contributions received from noncontrolling interest holders of $1.9 million and $2.3 million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively;

. capital distributions paid to partners and member of $(69.6) million and $(58.3) million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively;

. capital distributions paid to noncontrolling interest holders of $(12.4) million and $(15.4) million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 respectively;
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. proceeds from the Term Loan Facility amendment of $50.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2024;

. principal payments on the Term Loan Facility of $(3.2) million and $(4.0) million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively;

. payments to repurchase Class A common stock of $(4.5) million during the year ended December 31, 2023;

. the settlement of equity-based compensation to satisfy withholding tax requirements of $(12.7) million and $(10.2) million during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively;

. dividends paid of $(20.5) million and $(20.3) million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively; and

. payments to related parties, pursuant to tax receivable agreement of $(3.2) million and $(3.2) million during the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively.

Indebtedness

On January 2, 2014, GCMH entered into a credit agreement (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Credit
Agreement”) that provides GCMH with a senior secured term loan facility (along with subsequent amendments, the “Term Loan Facility”) and a $50.0 million
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Senior Secured Credit Facilities”). Under the Revolving
Credit Facility, $15.0 million is available for letters of credit and $10.0 million is available for swingline loans.

On June 23, 2021, the Company amended its Term Loan Facility to increase the aggregate principal amount from $290.0 million to $400.0 million. On
June 29, 2023, the Company amended the Term Loan Facility to incorporate changes for the contemplated transition to the Term Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“Term SOFR”), and on July 1, 2023, in conjunction with a Benchmark Transition Event, the interest rate defaulted to the Term SOFR plus a
Benchmark Replacement Adjustment as recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body (all terms as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement).

On May 21, 2024, the Company amended the Term Loan Facility to, among other things, increase and extend the maturity date of the Term Loan
Facility. The amendment increased the aggregate principal amount available from $388.0 million to $438.0 million, extended the maturity date from February
24, 2028 to February 25, 2030, decreased the interest rate margin to 2.25% over Term SOFR, and removed the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment of
0.11%.

As of December 31, 2024, GCMH had borrowings of $435.8 million outstanding under the Term Loan Facility and no outstanding balance under the
Revolving Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2024, we had available borrowing capacity of $50.0 million under our Revolving Credit Facility.

See Note 13 of our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a summary of our outstanding
indebtedness.

The terms of the Company’s current debt instruments contain covenants that may restrict the Company and its subsidiaries from paying distributions to
its members. As a holding company, we are dependent upon the ability of GCMH to make distributions to its members, including us. However, the ability of
GCMH to make such distributions is subject to its operating results, cash requirements and financial condition, restrictive covenants in our debt instruments
and applicable Delaware law. These restrictions include restrictions on the payment of distributions whenever the payment of such distributions would cause
GCMH to no longer be in compliance with any of its financial covenants under the Term Loan Facility. Absent an event of default under the Credit Agreement
governing the terms of the Term Loan Facility, GCMH may make unlimited distributions when the Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement)
is below stated thresholds. As of December 31, 2024, the Total Leverage Ratio was below 3.00x and the Company was in compliance with all financial
covenants.

See Note 14 of our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a summary of our interest rate
derivatives to hedge interest rate risk related to the Company’s outstanding indebtedness. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered
into swap agreements to hedge interest rate risk related to our debt. Effective on May 31, 2024, we entered into a swap agreement to hedge interest rate risk
related to payments for the increase in aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan Facility that has a notional amount of $28.5 million and a fixed rate of
4.47%. On May 23, 2024, the Company entered into a forward-starting swap agreement to hedge interest rate risk related to payments
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during the extended maturity of the Term Loan Facility that has an effective date of February 2028, a notional amount of $317.0 million and a fixed rate of
4.17%.

Dividend Policy

We are a holding company with no material assets other than our indirect ownership of equity interests in GCMH and certain deferred tax assets. As
such, we do not have any independent means of generating revenue. However, management of GCM Grosvenor expects to cause GCMH to make
distributions to its members, including us, in an amount at least sufficient to allow us to pay all applicable taxes, to make payments under the Tax Receivable
Agreement, and to pay our corporate and other overhead expenses. On February 6, 2025, GCMG's Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.11
per share of Class A common stock to record holders as of the close of business on March 3, 2025. The payment date will be March 17, 2025. The payment
of cash dividends on shares of our Class A common stock in the future, in this amount or otherwise, will be within the discretion of GCMG's Board of
Directors at such time.

Stock Repurchase Plan

On August 6, 2021, GCMG’s Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase plan which may be used to repurchase our outstanding Class A
common stock and warrants to purchase Class A common stock. Our Class A common stock and warrants may be repurchased from time to time in open
market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions, including with employees or otherwise, pursuant to the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and Rule 10b-
18 of the Exchange Act, as well as to retire (by cash settlement or the payment of tax withholding amounts upon net settlement) equity-based awards granted
under our 2020 Incentive Award Plan, as amended and restated (and any successor plan thereto), with the terms and conditions of these repurchases
depending on legal requirements, price, market and economic conditions and other factors. We are not obligated under the terms of the program to
repurchase any of our Class A common stock or warrants, the program has no expiration date and we may suspend or terminate the program at any time
without prior notice. Any shares of Class A common stock and any warrants repurchased as part of this program will be canceled. GCMG'’s Board of
Directors has made subsequent increases to its stock repurchase authorization for shares and warrants. As of December 31, 2023, the total authorization
was $115 million, excluding fees and expenses. On February 8, 2024, GCMG's Board of Directors increased the firm's existing repurchase authorization by
$25 million, from $115 million to $140 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we spent $33.2 million and $25.8 million, respectively, to reduce Class A shares to be issued to
employees to satisfy tax obligations in connection with the settlement of RSUs; and for the year ended December 31, 2023 we spent $4.5 million to
repurchase shares of Class A common stock. We did not repurchase any shares of Class A common stock for the year ended December 31, 2024. For the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we did not repurchase any outstanding warrants to purchase Class A common stock . As of December 31, 2024,
$32.0 million remained available under our stock repurchase plan.

On February 6, 2025, GCMG's Board of Directors increased the firm's existing repurchase authorization by $50 million, f rom $140 million to $190
million.

We review our capital return plan on an on-going basis, considering our financial performance and liquidity position, investments required to execute
our strategic plans and initiatives, acquisition opportunities, the economic outlook, regulatory changes and other relevant factors. As these factors may
change over time, the actual amounts expended on repurchase activity, dividends, and acquisitions, if any, during any particular period cannot be predicted
and may fluctuate from time to time.

Tax Receivable Agreement

Exchanges of Grosvenor common units by limited partners of GCMH will result in increases in the tax basis in our share of the assets of GCMH and its
subsidiaries that otherwise would not have been available. These increases in tax basis are expected to increase our depreciation and amortization
deductions and create other tax benefits, and therefore may reduce the amount of tax that we would otherwise be required to pay in the future. The Tax
Receivable Agreement requires us to pay 85% of the amount of these and certain other tax benefits, if any, that we realize (or are deemed to realize in
certain circumstances) to the TRA Parties. As of December 31, 2024, the amount payable to related parties pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement was
$51.4 million.
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Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies

The following table represents our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2024, aggregated by type:

Contractual Obligations

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years

(in thousands)

Operating leases $ 93,723 $ 7,534 $ 12,163 $ 12,569 $ 61,457
Debt obligations @ 435,810 4,380 8,760 8,760 413,910
Interest on debt obligations @ 151,525 30,032 59,155 62,338 —
Capital commitments to our investments ©) 90,531 90,531 — — —
Total $ 771,589 $ 132,477 $ 80,078 $ 83,667 $ 475,367

1) Represents scheduled debt obligation payments under our Term Loan Facility.

) Represents interest to be paid on our debt obligations. The interest payments are calculated using the interest rate of 6.8% on our Term Loan Facility in effect as
of December 31, 2024 and exclude the impact of interest rate hedges.

3) Represents general partner capital funding commitments to several of the GCM Funds. These amounts are generally due on demand and are therefore presented
in the less than one-year category, however, based on historical precedent, are likely to be due over a substantially longer period of time.

The table above does not include payments that we are obligated to make under the Tax Receivable Agreement, as the actual timing and amount of
any payments that may be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement are unknown at this time and will vary based on a number of factors. However, we
expect that the payments that we are required to make to the TRA Parties in connection with the Tax Receivable Agreement will be substantial. Any
payments made by us to the TRA Parties under the Tax Receivable Agreement will generally reduce the amount of cash that might have otherwise been
available to us or to GCMH. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, the unpaid amounts
will accrue interest until paid. Our failure to make any payment required under the Tax Receivable Agreement (including any accrued and unpaid interest)
within 60 calendar days of the date on which the payment is required to be made will generally constitute a material breach of a material obligation under the
Tax Receivable Agreement, which may result in the termination of the Tax Receivable Agreement and the acceleration of payments thereunder, unless the
applicable payment is not made because (i) we are prohibited from making such payment under applicable law or the terms governing certain of our secured
indebtedness or (ii) we do not have, and cannot by using commercially reasonable efforts obtain, sufficient funds to make such payment.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP. In applying many of these accounting principles, we are required to
make assumptions, estimates or judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in our Consolidated Financial
Statements and accompanying footnotes. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances. These assumptions, estimates or judgments, however, are both subjective and subject to change, and actual results
may differ from our assumptions and estimates. If actual amounts are ultimately different from our estimates, the revisions are included in our results of
operations for the period in which the actual amounts become known. We believe the following critical accounting policies and estimates could potentially
produce materially different results if we were to change underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments. See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for a summary of our significant accounting policies. The following is a summary of our accounting
policies that are most affected by assumptions, estimates or judgments.

Principles of Consolidation
We consolidate all entities that we control as the primary beneficiary of variable interest entities (“VIES”).

We first determine whether we have a variable interest in an entity. Fees paid to a decision maker or service provider are not deemed variable
interests in an entity if (i) the fees are compensation for services provided and are commensurate with the level of effort required to provide those services; (ii)
the service arrangement includes only terms, conditions, or amounts that are customarily present in arrangements for similar services negotiated at arm’s
length; and (iii) the decision maker does not
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hold other interests in the entity that individually, or in the aggregate, would absorb more than an insignificant amount of the entity’s expected losses or
receive more than an insignificant amount of the entity’s expected residual returns. We have evaluated our arrangements and determined that management
fees, performance fees and carried interest are customary and commensurate with the services being performed and are not variable interests. For those
entities in which we have a variable interest, we perform an analysis to determine whether the entity is a VIE.

The assessment of whether the entity is a VIE requires an evaluation of qualitative factors and, where applicable, quantitative factors. These
judgments include: (a) determining whether the equity investment at risk is sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support, (b) evaluating whether the equity holders, as a group, can make decisions that have a significant effect on the economic
performance of the entity, and (c) determining whether the equity investors have proportionate voting rights to their obligations to absorb losses or rights to
receive returns from the entity. The granting of substantive kick-out rights is a key consideration in determining whether a limited partnership or similar entity
isa VIE.

For entities that are determined to be VIEs, we consolidate those entities where we have concluded we are the primary beneficiary. We are determined
to be the primary beneficiary if we hold a controlling financial interest which is defined as possessing (a) the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the VIE's economic performance and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could
potentially be significant to the VIE. In evaluating whether we are the primary beneficiary, we evaluate our economic interests in the entity held either directly
or indirectly by us.

We determine whether we are the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time we become involved with a VIE and reconsider that conclusion continuously.
At each reporting date, we assess whether we are the primary beneficiary and will consolidate or deconsolidate accordingly.

Entities that do not qualify as VIEs are assessed for consolidation as voting interest entities. Under the voting interest entity model, we consolidate
those entities that we control through a majority voting interest.

Partnership Interest-Based Compensation

Various individuals, including our current and former employees, have been awarded partnership interests in Holdings, Holdings Il and Management
LLC. These partnership interests either (a) grant the recipients the right to certain cash distributions of profits from Holdings, Holdings Il and Management
LLC to the extent such distributions are authorized or (b) transfer equity ownership between certain existing employee members of the GCMH Equityholders.

A partnership interest award is accounted for based on its substance. A partnership interest award that is in substance a profit-sharing arrangement or
performance bonus would generally not be within the scope of the stock-based compensation guidance and would be accounted for under the guidance for
deferred compensation plans, similar to a cash bonus. However, if the arrangement has characteristics more akin to the risks and rewards of equity
ownership, the arrangement would be accounted for under stock-based compensation guidance. Payments to the employees for partnership interest awards
are made by Holdings, Holdings Il and Management LLC. As a result, we record a non-cash profits interest compensation charge and an offsetting deemed
contribution to equity (deficit) to reflect the payments made by the GCMH Equityholders.

We analyze awards granted to recipients at the time they are granted or modified. Awards that are in substance a profit-sharing arrangement in which
rights to distributions of profits are based fully on the discretion of the managing member of Holdings, Holdings Il and Management LLC, are recorded as
partnership interest-based compensation expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) when Holdings, Holdings Il and Management LLC
makes distributions to the recipients. Awards that are in substance stock-based compensation are recorded as partnership interest-based compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the service period. Profit-sharing arrangements that contain a stated target payment are recognized as partnership
interest-based compensation expense equal to the present value of expected future payments on a straight-line basis over the service period. Any such
expense previously recorded is reversed if the target amount is canceled or forfeited or if the required service period is not provided. For the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company recorded approximately $72 million of partnership interest-based compensation. Changes to the existing awards granted
to recipients, granting of new awards or fluctuation in distributions of profits could significantly impact expense recognized in future periods.

Revenue Recognition of Incentive Fees

Incentive fees are based on the results of our funds, in the form of performance fees and carried interest, which together comprise incentive fees.
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Performance Fees

We may receive performance fees from certain GCM Funds investing in public market investments. Performance fees are typically a fixed percentage
of investment gains, subject to loss carryforward provisions that require the recapture of any previous losses before any performance fees can be earned in
the current period. Performance fees may or may not be subject to a hurdle or a preferred return, which requires that clients earn a specified minimum return
before a performance fee can be assessed. With the exception of certain GCM Funds, these performance fees are determined based upon investment
performance at the end of a specified measurement period, generally the end of the calendar year. Certain GCM Funds have performance measurement
periods extending beyond one year.

Investment returns are highly susceptible to market factors, judgments and actions of third parties that are outside of our control. Accordingly,
performance fees are considered variable consideration and are therefore constrained and not recognized as revenue until it is probable that a significant
reversal will not occur. In the event that a client redeems from one of the GCM Funds prior to the end of a measurement period, any accrued performance
fee is ordinarily due and payable by such redeeming client as of the redemption date. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded $55
million of performance fees. Performance fees can vary materially period to period based on actual investment returns and timing of redemptions.

Carried Interest

Carried interest is a performance-based capital allocation from a fund’s limited partners in certain GCM Funds invested in longer-term public market
investments and private market investments. Carried interest is typically a percentage of the profits calculated in accordance with the terms of fund
agreements at rates that range between 2.5-20% after returning invested capital, certain fees and a preferred return to the fund’s limited partners. Carried
interest is ultimately realized when underlying investments distribute proceeds or are sold and therefore carried interest is highly susceptible to market
factors, judgments and actions of third parties that are outside of our control. Accordingly, carried interest is considered variable consideration and is
therefore constrained and not recognized as revenue until (a) it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur or (b) the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Agreements generally include a clawback provision that, if triggered, would require us to return up to the cumulative amount of carried interest
distributed, typically net of tax, upon liquidation of those funds, if the aggregate amount paid as carried interest exceeds the amount actually due based upon
the aggregate performance of each fund. Accordingly, the amount of carried interest, typically net of tax, that we would be required to return if all remaining
investments had no value as of the end of each reporting period is deferred at each reporting period. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
recorded $51 million of carried interest. Carried interest can vary materially period to period based on the judgments, market factors and actions of third
parties discussed above.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company is taxed as a corporation for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes. GCMH is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. Prior to the Transaction, partners of GCMH were taxed on their allocable share of the Partnership’s earnings. Subsequent to the Transaction,
GCMH Equityholders, as applicable, are taxed on their share of the Partnership’s earnings; therefore, the Company does not record a provision for federal
income taxes on the GCMH Equityholders’ allocable share of the Partnership’s earnings.

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the carrying value of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the statutory tax rates expected to be applied in the periods in which those temporary differences are
settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the period of the change. A valuation allowance is recorded
on our net deferred tax assets when it is “more-likely-than not” that such assets will not be realized. When evaluating the realizability of our deferred tax
assets, all evidence, both positive and negative, is evaluated. Items considered in this analysis include the ability to carry back losses, the reversal of
temporary differences, tax planning strategies and expectations of future earnings. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has $51 million of net deferred
tax assets. Changes in judgment regarding the realizability of the deferred tax assets or changes in corporate tax rates could significantly increase or
decrease the carrying value of the assets.

The amount of tax benefit to be recognized is the amount of benefit that is “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained upon examination. We analyze our tax
filing positions in the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax jurisdictions where we are required to file income tax returns, as well as for all open tax years in
these jurisdictions. If, based on this analysis, we
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determine that uncertainties in tax positions exist, a liability is established. We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits, if any,
within provision for income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). Accrued interest and penalties, if any, would be included within accrued
expenses and other liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has $1 million in uncertain tax
positions. Changes in judgment regarding the uncertainty of tax positions could result in liabilities.

Tax laws are complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxing authorities. Significant judgment is
required in determining tax expense and in evaluating tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties under GAAP. We review our tax positions quarterly
and adjust our tax balances as new legislation is enacted or new information becomes available.

Tax Receivable Agreement

In connection with the Transaction, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with the GCMH Equityholders. We will generally pay them 85% of
the amount of the tax savings, if any, that we realize as a result of increases in tax basis resulting from our acquisition of equity interests in GCMH from
certain current or former GCMH Equityholders, from certain existing tax basis in the assets of GCMH and its subsidiaries, and from certain deductions arising
from payments made in connection with the Tax Receivable Agreement.

The Tax Receivable Agreement makes certain simplifying assumptions regarding the determination of the tax savings that we realize or are deemed to
realize from applicable tax attributes (including use of an assumed state and local income tax rate), which may result in payments pursuant to the Tax
Receivable Agreement in excess of those that would result if such assumptions were not made and therefore in excess of 85% of our actual tax savings.

The actual increases in tax basis arising from our acquisition of interests in GCMH, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement, will vary depending on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the price of our Class A common stock at the time of the
purchase or exchange, the timing of any future exchanges, the extent to which exchanges are taxable, and the amount and timing of our income and the tax
rates then applicable. We expect that the payments we are required to make under the Tax Receivable Agreement could be substantial.

Based on current projections, we anticipate having sufficient taxable income to utilize these tax attributes and receive corresponding tax deductions in
future periods. As of December 31, 2024, the Tax Receivable Agreement results in a liability of $51 million. Significant changes in the projected liability
resulting from the Tax Receivable Agreement may occur based on changes in anticipated future taxable income, changes in applicable tax rates or other
changes in tax attributes that may occur and could affect the expected future tax benefits to be received by us.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information regarding recent accounting developments and their impact on our results can be found in Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part II, ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to a broad range of risks inherent in the financial markets in which we participate, including price
risk, interest-rate risk, access to and cost of financing risk, liquidity risk, counterparty risk and foreign exchange-rate risk. Potentially negative effects of these
risks may be mitigated to a certain extent by those aspects of our investment approach, investment strategies, fundraising practices or other business
activities that are designed to benefit, either in relative or absolute terms, from periods of economic weakness, tighter credit or financial market dislocations.

Our predominant exposure to market risk is related to our role as general partner or investment manager for our funds and the sensitivity to movements
in the fair value of their investments, which may adversely affect our investment income, management fees, and incentive fees, as applicable.

Fair value of the financial assets and liabilities of our funds may fluctuate in response to changes in the value of securities, foreign currency exchange
rates, commodity prices and interest rates. The impact of investment risk is as follows:

. Investment income changes along with the realized and unrealized gains of the underlying investments in our specialized funds and certain
customized separate accounts in which we have a general partner commitment. Our
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general partner investments include unique underlying portfolio investments with no significant concentration in any industry or country outside
of the United States.

. Our management fees from our absolute return strategies are typically based on the NAV of those funds, and therefore the amount of fees that
we may charge will increase or decrease in direct proportion to the effect of changes in the fair value of the fund's investments. Our
management fees from our specialized funds and customized separate accounts attributable to our private markets strategies are not
significantly affected by changes in fair value as the management fees are not generally based on the value of the specialized funds or
customized separate accounts, but rather on the amount of capital committed or invested in the specialized funds or customized separate
accounts, as applicable.

. Incentive fees from our specialized funds and customized separate accounts are not materially affected by changes in the fair value of
unrealized investments because they are based on realized gains and subject to achievement of performance criteria rather than on the fair
value of the specialized fund's or customized separate account’'s assets prior to realization. We had $6.0 million of deferred incentive fee
revenue on our Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2024. Minor decreases in underlying fair value would not
affect the amount of deferred incentive fee revenue subject to clawback.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Several of our specialized funds and customized separate accounts hold investments denominated in non U.S. dollar currencies that may be affected
by movements in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and foreign currency, which could impact investment performance. We do not possess
significant assets in foreign countries in which we operate or engage in material transactions in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Therefore, changes in
exchange rates are not expected to materially impact our consolidated financial statements.

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2024, we had $435.8 million of borrowings outstanding under our Term Loan Facility. The Term Loan Facility accrues interest at
2.25% over Term SOFR, is subject to a 0.50% SOFR floor and has a maturity date of February 25, 2030, after we entered into Amendment No. 8 to the
Credit Agreement as discussed in Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 8 of this Form 10-K. For the year
ended December 31, 2024, the weighted average interest rate for our Term Loan Facility was 7.54%.

Based on the floating rate component of our Term Loan Facility and excluding any impact of interest rate hedges as of December 31, 2024, we
estimate that a 100 basis point increase in interest rates would result in increased interest expense of $4.4 million over the next 12 months.

In October 2022, the Company terminated certain derivative instruments which were entered into in 2021. As a result of interest rate risk, in November
2022 the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a total notional amount of $300 million and a maturity date of February 2028, to hedge
interest rate risk related to a portion of its Term Loan Facility.

In May 2024, we entered into a swap agreement and a forward-starting swap agreement that have a notional amount of $28.5 million and
$317.0 million, respectively, with the purpose of hedging interest rate risk related to payments for the increase in aggregate principal amount and extended
maturity of the Term Loan Facility.

Credit Risk

We are party to agreements providing for various financial services and transactions that contain an element of risk in the event that the counterparties
are unable to meet the terms of such agreements. In such agreements, we depend on the respective counterparty to make payment or otherwise perform.
We generally endeavor to minimize our risk of exposure by limiting the counterparties with which we enter into financial transactions to reputable financial
institutions. In other circumstances, availability of financing from financial institutions may be uncertain due to market events, and we may not be able to
access these financing markets.
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Enterprise Risk Management Committee

The GCM Grosvenor Enterprise Risk Management Committee (“ERMC”) is tasked with overseeing firm-wide risks and potential conflicts arising from
the operations of the firm. The ERMC meets at least quarterly, and as needed, and is comprised of some of the most senior professionals at the firm across
the spectrum of departments. The ERMC aims to identify, assess, monitor and mitigate such key enterprise risks at the corporate, business unit and fund
level. Senior management reports to the audit committee of the Board of Directors on the agenda of risk topics evaluated by the ERMC.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of GCM Grosvenor Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 20, 2025 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required
to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Description of the Matter

How We Addressed the Matter in
Our Audit

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Other Investments Measured at Fair Value

As described in Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company records its investments in
subordinated notes of a structured alternatives investment solution at fair value under the fair value option. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company determined the fair value of its investments in subordinated notes to be $12 million
based on a discounted cash flow analysis using significant unobservable inputs. The significant inputs used in the
Company’s fair value estimate included the discount rate, expected remaining term, expected deployment and realization
timing of private investments, and expected total value to paid in capital of private assets.

Auditing the Company's fair value measurement of its investments in subordinated notes involved a high degree of
subjectivity as the significant inputs used in the determination of fair value were based on assumptions about future
market and economic conditions and could have a significant effect on the fair value measurement of such investments.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the
Company's valuation processes to determine the fair value of the investments in subordinated notes. This included
management's review controls over the assessment of the valuation methodology, significant inputs included in the fair
value estimate, as well as management'’s review of the completeness and accuracy of the data used in the estimate.

Our audit procedures included, among other procedures, evaluating the Company’s valuation methodology and significant
inputs used to estimate the fair value of the investments in subordinated notes and testing the mathematical accuracy of
the valuation model. For example, we compared the prospective financial information used by management in determining
the significant inputs described above to current market and economic trends and performed a sensitivity analysis of the
significant inputs to evaluate the change in the fair value estimate that would result from changes in the inputs. We
involved our valuation specialists to assist in our evaluation of the valuation methodology and significant inputs used in
the fair value estimate. We also evaluated subsequent events and transactions and considered whether they corroborate
or contradict the Company's fair value measurement as of December 31, 2024.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.

Chicago, lllinois
February 20, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited GCM Grosvenor Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our
opinion, GCM Grosvenor Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
statements of financial condition of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive
income (loss), equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and our report dated
February 20, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company'’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 20, 2025
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Management fees receivable
Incentive fees receivable
Due from related parties
Investments
Premises and equipment, net
Lease right-of-use assets
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Deferred tax assets, net
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Equity (Deficit)
Accrued compensation and employee related obligations
Debt
Payable to related parties pursuant to the tax receivable agreement
Lease liabilities
Warrant liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)

As of December 31,

Preferred stock, $ 0.0001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; no ne issued

Class A common stock, $ 0.0001 par value, 700,000,000 authorized; 44,899,246 and 42,988,563
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively

Class B common stock, $ 0.0001 par value, 500,000,000 authorized; no ne issued
Class C common stock, $ 0.0001 par value, 300,000,000 authorized; 144,235,246 issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Total GCM Grosvenor Inc. deficit
Noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries
Noncontrolling interests in GCMH

Total deficit

Total liabilities and equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2024 2023
$ 89,454 $ 44,354
28,387 24,996
58,346 27,371
12,681 13,581
257,807 240,202
22,683 7,378
41,146 38,554
1,314 2,627
28,959 28,959
51,160 58,298
20,794 18,623
612,731 504,943
112,519 98,561
432,039 384,727
51,429 53,759
53,876 41,481
22,510 6,431
30,697 31,213
703,070 616,172
4 4
14 14
5,752 1,936
1,650 2,630
(35,040) (32,218)
(27,620) (27,634)
52,233 59,757
(114,952) (143,352)
(90,339) (111,229)
$ 612,731 $ 504,943
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Revenues
Management fees $ 401,648 375,444 $ 367,242
Incentive fees 106,237 64,903 75,167
Other operating income 6,127 4,652 4,121
Total operating revenues 514,012 444,999 446,530
Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits 336,236 356,044 277,311
General, administrative and other 104,296 100,801 88,907
Total operating expenses 440,532 456,845 366,218
Operating income (loss) 73,480 (11,846) 80,312
Investment income 15,589 11,640 10,108
Interest expense (24,160) (23,745) (23,314)
Other income 1,334 1,008 1,436
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (16,079) 1,429 20,551
Net other income (expense) (23,316) (9,668) 8,781
Income (loss) before income taxes 50,164 (21,514) 89,093
Provision for income taxes 13,560 7,692 9,611
Net income (loss) 36,604 (29,206 ) 79,482
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries 2,545 5,033 6,823
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in GCMH 15,364 (47,013) 52,839
Net income attributable to GCM Grosvenor Inc. $ 18,695 12,774 $ 19,820
Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock:
Basic $ 0.42 030 $ 0.45
Diluted $ 0.03 (0.28) $ 0.28
Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding :
Basic 44,741,336 43,198,517 43,872,300
Diluted 190,590,041 187,433,763 188,567,992

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Net income (loss) $ 36,604 $ (29,206) $ 79,482
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Net change in cash flow hedges (3,464) (7,324) 32,752
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,236) (352) (2,083)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (4,700) (7,676) 30,669
Comprehensive income (loss) before noncontrolling interests 31,904 (36,882) 110,151
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries 2,545 5,033 6,823
Less: Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in GCMH 11,644 (53,223) 78,405

Comprehensive income attributable to GCM Grosvenor Inc. $ 17,715 $ 11,308 $ 24,923

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance at December 31, 2021

Capital contributions from noncontrolling
interests in subsidiaries

Capital distributions paid to noncontrolling

interests
Repurchase of Class A common stock

Settlement of equity-based compensation
in satisfaction of withholding tax

requirements
Partners’ distributions
Deemed contributions
Net change in cash flow hedges
Translation adjustment
Equity-based compensation
Declared dividends
Deferred tax and other tax adjustments

Equity reallocation between controlling
and non-controlling interests

Net income

Balance at December 31, 2022

GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands)

Accumulated Other

Class A Common Class C Common Additional Paid-in Comp! ive Income ing ing Interest Total Equity
Stock Capital Earnings (Loss) in Subsidiaries in GCMH (Deficit)
4 3 14 3 1501 $ (26,222) $ (1,007) $ 96,687 $ (126,778) $ (55,801)
— — — — — 1,789 — 1,789
— — — — — (37,399) — (37,399)
— — (5,906) (132) — — (20,353) (26,391)
— — (1,464) — — — (4,981) (6,445)
— — — — — — (118,349) (118,349)
— — — — — — 31,811 31,811
— — — — 5,589 — 27,163 32,752
— — — — (486) — (1,597) (2,083)
= = 5,841 = = = 19,583 25,424
— — — (18,824) — — — (18,824)
28 — — — 28
— — — 1,424 — — (1,424) —
— — — 19,820 — 6,823 52,839 79,482
4 3 14 3 — 3 (23934) $ 4,09 $ 67,900 $ (142,086) $ (94,006 )

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity (Deficit) — (Continued)
(In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2022 $

Capital contributions from
noncontrolling interests in

subsidiaries

Capital distributions paid to
noncontrolling interests in
subsidiaries

Repurchase of Class A common stock

Settlement of equity-based
compensation in satisfaction of

withholding tax requirements
Partners’ distributions
Deemed contributions
Net change in cash flow hedges
Translation adjustment

Equity-based compensation, equity-

classified awards
Declared dividends
Deferred tax and other tax adjustments

Equity reallocation between controlling
and non-controlling interests

Net income (loss)

Balance at December 31, 2023 $

Class A Class C Additional Accumulated Other  Noncontrolling
Common Common Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Interest in Noncontrolling Total Equity
Stock Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Subsidiaries Interest in GCMH (Deficit)

4 3 14 3 — $ (23934) % 4,096 $ 67,900 $ (142,086) $ (94,006 )
— — — — — 2,255 — 2,255
— — — — — (15,431) — (15,431)
— — (1,003) — — — (3,475) (4,478)
— — (2,307) — — — (7,912) (10,219)
— — — — — — (58,278) (58,278)
— — — — — — 103,934 103,934
— — — — (1,387) — (5,937) (7,324)
— — — — (79) — (273) (352)
— — 4,862 — — — 16,744 21,606
— — — (20,114) — — — (20,114)
— — 384 — — — — 384
— — — (944) — — 944 —
— — — 12,774 — 5,033 (47,013) (29,206 )
4 3 14 3 1936 $ (32218) $ 2630 $ 59,757 $ (143,352) $ (111,229)

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity (Deficit) — (Continued)
(In thousands)

Class C Accumulated Other Noncontrolling Noncontrolling
Class ACommon CommonAdditional Paid- Retained Comprehensive Interests in Interests in  Total Equity
Stock Stock in Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Subsidiaries GCMH (Deficit)
alance at December 31, 2023 $ 4% 14 1,936 (32,218) 2,636 59,75% (143,35%) (111,229)

Capital contributions from

noncontrolling interest in

subsidiaries — — — — — 1,869 — 1,869
Capital distributions paid to

noncontrolling interest in

subsidiaries — — — — — (11,938) — (11,938)
Settlement of equity-based

compensation in satisfaction of

withholding tax requirements — — (2,967) — — — (9,780) (12,747)
Partners’ distributions — — — — — (69,627) (69,627)
Deemed contributions — — — — — — 72,068 72,068
Net change in cash flow hedges — — — — (693) — (2,771) (3,464)
Translation adjustment — — — — (287) — (949) (1,236)
Equity-based compensation, equity-

classified awards — — 7,275 — — — 24,091 31,366
Declared dividends — — — (21,513) — — — (21,513)
Deferred tax and other tax

adjustments — — (492) — — — — (492)
Equity reallocation between

controlling and non-controlling

interests — — — (4) — — 4 —
Net income (loss) — — — 18,695 — 2,545 15,364 36,604

alance at December 31, 2024 4% 14 5,75% (35,048) 1,656 52,23% (114,95%) (90,339)

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities
\et income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Equity-based compensation, equity-classified awards
Deferred income tax expense
Other non-cash compensation
Partnership interest-based compensation
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Amortization of terminated swap
Proceeds received for terminated interest rate derivatives
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Change in fair value of warrants liabilities
Change in payable to related parties pursuant to tax receivable agreement
Proceeds received from investments
Non-cash investment income
Non-cash lease expense
Other
Change in assets and liabilities:
Management fees receivable
Incentive fees receivable
Due from related parties
Other assets
Accrued compensation and employee related obligations
Lease liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Surchases of premises and equipment
Contributions/subscriptions to investments

Distributions from investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Capital contributions received from noncontrolling interest

Capital distributions paid to partners and member

Capital distributions paid to the noncontrolling interest

>roceeds from senior loan issuance

>rincipal payments on senior loan

debt issuance costs

2ayments to repurchase Class A common stock

2ayments to repurchase warrants

Settlement of equity-based compensation in satisfaction of withholding tax requirements

Dividends paid

2ayments to related parties, pursuant to tax receivable agreement
Net cash used in financing activities

=ffect of exchange rate changes on cash

\et increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

3eginning of year

=nd of year

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
36,608 (29,208 ) 79,482
3,320 2,696 3,856
31,366 21,606 25,424
7,761 2,826 5,843
558 1,157 1,336
72,068 103,934 31,811
902 1,100 1,111
(7,604) (6,703) 4,171
= = 40,344
157 — —
16,079 (1,429) (20,551)
859 1,583 (729)
13,089 10,485 21,771
(15,589) (11,640) (10,108)
5,589 6,911 3,856
519 513 87
(3,438) (6,207) 2,803
(30,975) (10,893) 75,123
900 (462) (1,342)
(3,500) 2,344 (1,061)
13,170 8,222 (40,202)
4,221 (7,022) (5,512)
2,718 2,250 (1,000)
148,774 92,065 216,513
(16,729) (3,763) (782)
(26,241) (27,635) (29,436)
11,136 12,558 20,145
(31,834) (18,840) (10,073)
1,869 2,255 1,789
(69,627) (58,278) (118,349)
(12,389) (15,431) (37,399)
50,000 — —
(3,190) (4,000) (4,000)
(556) — —
— (4,478) (26,391)
_ — (2,569)
(12,747) (10,219) (6,445)
(20,549) (20,321) (18,432)
(3,189) (3,190) (3,271)
(70,378) (113,662) (215,067 )
(1,462) (372) (2,395)
45,109 (40,809 ) (11,022)
44,354 85,163 96,185
89,458 44,358 85,163
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — (Continued)
(In thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid during the year for interest $ 32,266 $ 30,025 $ 18,411
Cash paid during the year for income taxes, net $ 5016 $ 3446 $ 8,543
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information from operating activities

Non-cash right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new and amended operating leases $ 9,075 $ 34,116 $ 693

17
|

Non-cash adjustment to operating lease right-of-use assets from lease modification $ (790) $ (836)
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information from investing activities

Non-cash premises and equipment additions in accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 781 % 693 $ —
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash information from financing activities

Deemed contributions from GCMH Equityholders $ 72,068 $ 103,934 $ 31,811

Establishment of deferred tax assets, net related to non-cash activities $ (492) $ 384 % 28

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts and where otherwise noted)

1. Organization

GCM Grosvenor Inc. (“GCMG”) and its subsidiaries including Grosvenor Capital Management Holdings, LLLP (the “Partnership” or “GCMH”" and
collectively, the “Company”), provide comprehensive investment solutions to institutional and individual clients who seek allocations to alternative
investments such as absolute return strategies, private equity, real estate, infrastructure and alternative credit. The Company collaborates with its clients to
construct investment portfolios across one or more investment strategies in the private and public markets, often customized to meet their specific objectives.
The Company also offers specialized funds which span the alternatives investing universe and are developed to meet broad market demands for strategies
and risk-return objectives.

The Company, through its subsidiaries acts as the investment adviser, general partner or managing member to customized funds and specialized
funds (collectively, the “GCM Funds”).

GCMG was incorporated on July 27, 2020 under the laws of the State of Delaware for the purpose of consummating the Transaction as described
below and merging with CF Finance Acquisition Corp. (“CFAC”), which was incorporated on July 9, 2014 under the laws of the State of Delaware. GCMG
owns all of the equity interests of GCM Grosvenor Holdings, LLC (“IntermediateCo”), formerly known as CF Finance Intermediate Acquisition, LLC until
November 18, 2020, which is the general partner of GCMH subsequent to the Transaction. GCMG's ownership (through IntermediateCo) of GCMH as of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 was approximately 23.7 % and 23.0 %, respectively.

GCMH is a holding company operated pursuant to the Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Limited Partnership Agreement (the “Partnership
Agreement”) dated November 17, 2020, among the limited partners including, Grosvenor Holdings, L.L.C. (“Holdings”), Grosvenor Holdings I, L.L.C.
(“Holdings 1I") and GCM Grosvenor Management, LLC (“Management LLC") (collectively, together with GCM Progress Subsidiary LLC, the “GCMH
Equityholders”).

On November 17, 2020, the Company consummated a business combination pursuant to the definitive Transaction Agreement dated as of August 2,
2020, by and among CFAC, IntermediateCo, CF Finance Holdings, LLC (the “CF Sponsor”), Holdings, Management LLC, Holdings Il, GCMH GP, L.L.C.
(“GCMHGP LLC"), GCM V, LLC (“GCM V") and the Company (the “Transaction”). The Transaction was treated as a transaction between entities under
common control.

GCMG indirectly holds general partnership and limited partnership interests in GCMH. The structure of the Transaction is an "Up-C” structure with the
owners of GCMH retaining their ownership in GCMH.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”). The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries and
entities in which the Company is deemed to have a direct or indirect controlling financial interest based on either a variable interest model or voting interest
model. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The portion of the consolidated subsidiaries not owned by GCMG and any related activity is eliminated through noncontrolling interests in the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition and net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in the Consolidated Statements of Income
(Loss).

The Company was an “emerging growth company” (“EGC”"), as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our
Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), following the consummation of the merger of CFAC and the Company. The Company elected to use this
extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards pursuant to Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act that have different effective
dates for public and private companies, however, as of December 31, 2023, the Company no longer qualified as an EGC. Therefore, the Company was no
longer able to take advantage of the extended transition period for adopting new or revised accounting standards for periods ended on or after December 31,
2023.
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts and where otherwise noted)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company’s management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The Company first determines whether it has a variable interest in an entity. Fees paid to a decision maker or service provider are not deemed variable
interests in an entity if (i) the fees are compensation for services provided and are commensurate with the level of effort required to provide those services; (ii)
the service arrangement includes only terms, conditions, or amounts that are customarily present in arrangements for similar services negotiated at arm’s
length; and (iii) the decision maker does not hold other interests in the entity that individually, or in the aggregate, would absorb more than an insignificant
amount of the entity’s expected losses or receive more than an insignificant amount of the entity’s expected residual returns. The Company has evaluated its
arrangements and determined that management fees, performance fees and carried interest are customary and commensurate with the services being
performed and are not variable interests. For those entities in which it has a variable interest, the Company performs an analysis to determine whether the
entity is a variable interest entity (“VIE”).

The assessment of whether the entity is a VIE requires an evaluation of qualitative factors and, where applicable, quantitative factors. These
judgments include: (a) determining whether the equity investment at risk is sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support, (b) evaluating whether the equity holders, as a group, can make decisions that have a significant effect on the economic
performance of the entity, and (c) determining whether the equity investors have proportionate voting rights to their obligations to absorb losses or rights to
receive returns from an entity. The granting of substantive kick-out rights is a key consideration in determining whether a limited partnership or similar entity
isa VIE.

For entities that are determined to be VIEs, the Company consolidates those entities where it has concluded it is the primary beneficiary. The
Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it holds a controlling financial interest which is defined as possessing (a) the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact the VIE’'s economic performance and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from
the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. In evaluating whether the Company is the primary beneficiary, the Company evaluates its economic
interests in the entity held directly and indirectly by the Company.

The Company determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes involved with a VIE and reconsiders that conclusion
continuously. At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether it is the primary beneficiary and will consolidate or deconsolidate accordingly. Refer to
Note 9 for additional information on the Company’s VIEs.

Entities that do not qualify as VIEs are assessed for consolidation as voting interest entities. Under the voting interest entity model, the Company
consolidates those entities it controls through a majority voting interest.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term, highly liquid money market funds with original maturities of three months or less. In
circumstances when Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits are exceeded, the risk of default depends on the creditworthiness of the
counterparties to each of these transactions. Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents of $ 2.7 million, $ 2.0 million and $ 0.8 million during the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are recorded within other expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company held $ 18.5 million and $ 20.2 million, respectively, of foreign cash included within cash and cash equivalents in
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.
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Foreign Currency

The Company consolidates certain subsidiaries that have a non-U.S. dollar functional currency. The assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are
translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date and income and expenses are translated at the average monthly rates of exchange with the
resulting translation adjustment included in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss).

The Company earns fees denominated in several different foreign currencies. Corresponding transaction gains or losses are recognized in other
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

Management Fees and Incentive Fees Receivables

Management fees and incentive fees receivables are equal to contractual amounts reduced for allowances, including expected credit losses, if
applicable. The Company considers fees receivable to be fully collectible; accordingly, minimal to no allowance for credit losses has been established as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company’s management fees and incentive fees receivables are predominantly with its investments funds, which have
low risk of credit loss based on the Company’s historical experience. Historical experience may be adjusted for current conditions and forecasts, including
the Company’s expectation of near-term realizations. Allowances are charged directly to general, administrative and other in the Consolidated Statements of
Income (Loss).

Due from Related Parties

Due from related parties includes amounts receivable from the Company'’s existing partners, employees, and nonconsolidated funds. Refer to Note 17
for further disclosure of transactions with related parties.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company categorizes its fair value measurements according to a three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1
measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:

* Level 1 — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at
the measurement date;

* Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are
not considered to be active; and

* Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable and require significant management judgment or estimation.

Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources
independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use
in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available under the circumstances.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and fees receivable approximate fair value due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these
financial instruments.

Investments

Investments primarily consist of investments in GCM Funds and other funds the Company does not control, but is deemed to exert significant
influence, and are generally accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the Company records its share of
the underlying income or loss of such entities, which reflects the net asset value of such investments. Management believes the net asset value of the funds
is representative of fair value. The resulting gains and losses are included as investment income in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).
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The Company’s equity method investments in the GCM Funds investing in private equity, real estate and infrastructure (“\GCM PEREI Funds”) are
valued based on the most recent available information, which typically has a delay of up to three months due to the timing of financial information received
from the investments held by the GCM PEREI Funds. The Company records its share of capital contributions to and distributions from the GCM PEREI
Funds within investments in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition during the three-month lag period. To the extent that management is aware
of material events that affect the GCM PEREI Funds during the intervening period, the impact of the events would be disclosed in the notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Certain subsidiaries which hold the general partner capital interest in the GCM Funds are not wholly owned, and as such, the portion of the Company’s
investments owned by limited partners in those subsidiaries are reflected within noncontrolling interests in the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition.

For certain other debt investments, the Company has elected the fair value option. Such election is irrevocable and is made at the investment level at
initial recognition. The debt investments are not publicly traded and are a Level 3 fair value measurement. For investments carried at fair value, the Company
records the increase or decrease in fair value as investment income in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). See Note 5 for additional information
regarding the Company’s other investments.

Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment and aircraft-related assets are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is calculated on
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from three to seven years . Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter
of their estimated useful lives or lease terms.

Leases

The Company’s leases primarily consist of operating lease agreements for office space in various countries around the world, including for its
headquarters in Chicago, lllinois. The Company accounts for its ROU assets and lease liabilities under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 842,
Leases. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recorded on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition for all operating leases with initial terms
exceeding one year. Lease ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the
Company’s remaining minimum lease obligations. The Company made a permitted accounting policy election not to apply the ROU model to short-term
leases, which are defined as leases with initial terms of one year or less.

The Company determines whether a contract contains a lease at inception. Lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are initially recognized on the lease
commencement date based on the present value of the minimum lease payments over the lease term. When determining the lease term, the Company
generally does not include options to renew as it is not reasonably certain at contract inception that the Company will exercise the option(s). As the implicit
rate is not generally readily determinable, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of future minimum lease
payments. Lease ROU assets may include initial direct costs incurred by the Company and are reduced by lease incentives. Operating lease expense is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term within general, administrative and other in the Consolidated Statements of Income (L0sSs).

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Finite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of investment management contracts, investor relationships, technology and trade name. These assets
are amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective useful lives, ranging from 2 to 12 years. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances suggest that the asset’s carrying value may not be recoverable. An impairment loss, calculated as the difference
between the estimated fair value and the carrying value of the asset, is recognized if the sum of the estimated undiscounted cash flows relating to the asset
is less than the corresponding carrying value. The Company has not recognized any impairment in the periods presented.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level utilizing a qualitative or quantitative approach, and more frequently if
circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. The impairment testing for goodwill under the qualitative approach is based first on a qualitative
assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair
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value of a reporting unit is less than its respective carrying value. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit's fair value is less than
its carrying value or when the quantitative approach is used, the amount of impairment is calculated as the excess of the carrying value of the reporting unit
over its fair value.

The Company performed an annual assessment of its goodwill on October 1, 2024 and 2023 and did not identify any impairment.
Public and Private Warrants

The Company evaluated the public and private warrants under ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’'s Own Equity, and
concluded that they do not meet the criteria to be classified as equity (deficit) in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Specifically, the exercise
of the public and private warrants may be settled in cash upon the occurrence of a tender offer or exchange that involves 50% or more of the Company’s
Class A shareholders. Because such a tender offer may not result in a change in control and trigger cash settlement and the Company does not control the
occurrence of such event, the Company concluded that the public warrants and private warrants do not meet the conditions to be classified as equity (deficit)
in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Since the public and private warrants meet the definition of a derivative under ASC 815, the Company
recorded these warrants as liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at fair value upon the closing of the Transaction in accordance
with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, with subsequent changes in their respective fair values recorded in the change in fair value of warrant liabilities
within the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) at each reporting date.

Noncontrolling Interests

For entities that are consolidated, but not 100% owned, a portion of the income or loss and equity is allocated to owners other than the Company. The
aggregate of the income or loss and corresponding equity that is not owned by the Company is included within noncontrolling interests in the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Noncontrolling interests is presented as a separate component of equity (deficit) in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Net income
includes the net income attributable to the holders of noncontrolling interests in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). Profits and losses, other than
profit interest expense, are allocated to noncontrolling interest in proportion to their relative ownership interests.

Revenue Recognition

Contracts which earn the Company management fees and incentive fees are evaluated as contracts with customers under ASC 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, for the services further described below. Under ASC 606, the Company is required to (a) identify the contract(s) with a customer,
(b) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (c) determine the transaction price, (d) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in
the contract, and (e) recognize revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies its performance obligation.

Management Fees
Management Fees

The Company earns management fees from providing investment management services to specialized funds and customized separate account clients.
Specialized funds are generally structured as partnerships having multiple investors. Separate account clients may be structured using an affiliate-managed
entity or may involve an investment management agreement between the Company and a single client. Certain separate account clients may have the
Company manage assets both with full discretion over investments decisions as well as without discretion over investment decisions and may also receive
access to various other advisory services the firm may provide as part of a single customized service which the Company has determined is a single
performance obligation. The Company determined that for specialized funds, the fund is generally considered to be the customer while the individual investor
or limited partner is the customer with respect to customized separate accounts. The Company satisfies its performance obligations over time as the services
are rendered and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the services as they are performed, using the same time-based
measure of progress towards completion.

121



GCM Grosvenor Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts and where otherwise noted)

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised services to
the customer. The Company’s management fees attributable to the GCM Funds investing in public market investments consist primarily of fees based on the
net asset value of the assets managed. Fees may be calculated on a monthly or quarterly basis as of each subscription date, either in advance or arrears.
Investment management fees calculated on a monthly or quarterly basis are primarily based on the assets under management at the beginning or end of
such monthly or quarterly period or on average net assets.

The Company’s management fees attributable to the GCM Funds investing in longer-term public market investments and private market investments
are typically based on limited partner commitments to those funds during an initial commitment or investment period. Following the expiration or termination
of such period, the fees generally become based on invested assets or based on invested capital and unfunded deal commitments less returned capital.
Management fees are determined quarterly and are more commonly billed in advance based on the management fee rate applied to the management fee
base at the end of the preceding quarterly period as defined in the respective contractual agreements.

Management fees are a form of variable consideration as the basis for the management fee fluctuates over the life of the contract, therefore,
management fees are constrained and not recognized until it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur.

Certain GCM Fund agreements contain a management fee schedule that simulates the pattern of a fee based on invested capital that increases over
the investment period and decreases over the life of the fund. In those circumstances, the Company satisfies its performance obligations over time as the
services are rendered and records as revenue the amounts it is entitled to invoice for the applicable quarter for which services have been rendered.

Certain agreements contain a requirement to return management fees for commitments left unfunded at the termination of the GCM Fund’s life. As of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, deferred revenue of $ 3.7 million and $ 3.2 million, respectively, relating to the portion of the fees collected that
the Company views as probable of being returned based on the Company’s investing experience, was recorded within accrued expenses and other liabilities
in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

Certain operating agreements limit the expenses a fund bears to a percentage of the market value of the assets managed. The Company is required to
reimburse the customer for such exceeded amounts (which the Company may be entitled to recoup in subsequent periods if expenses are sufficiently below
the limit). The Company records these amounts as adjustments to the transaction price, which are reflected within management fees in the Consolidated
Statements of Income (LosS).

Fund Expense Reimbursement Revenue

The Company incurs certain costs, primarily related to accounting, client reporting, investment-decision making and treasury-related expenditures, for
which it receives reimbursement from the GCM Funds in connection with its performance obligations to provide investment management services. The
Company concluded it controls the services provided and resources used before they are transferred to the customer and therefore is a principal.
Accordingly, the reimbursement for these costs incurred by the Company are presented on a gross basis within management fees and the related costs
within general, administrative and other in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) with any outstanding amounts recorded within due from related
parties in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Expense reimbursements are generally recognized at a point in time, in the periods during
which the related expenses are incurred and the reimbursements are contractually earned.

The Company may pay on behalf of and seek reimbursement from GCM Funds for certain professional fees and administrative or other fund expenses
that the Company arranges for the GCM Funds. The Company concluded that the nature of its promise is to arrange for the services to be provided and it
does not control the services provided by third parties before they are transferred to the customer. As a result, the Company is acting in the capacity of an
agent to the GCM Funds and the reimbursement for these professional fees paid on behalf of the investment funds is presented on a net basis. Accordingly,
outstanding amounts related to these disbursements are recorded within due from related parties in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.
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Incentive Fees
Incentive fees consists of performance based incentive fees in the form of performance fees and carried interest.
Performance Fees

The Company may receive performance fees from certain GCM Funds investing in public market investments. Performance fees are typically a fixed
percentage of investment gains, subject to loss carryforward provisions that require the recapture of any previous losses before any performance fees can be
earned in the current period. Performance fees may or may not be subject to a hurdle or a preferred return, which requires that clients earn a specified
minimum return before a performance fee can be assessed. With the exception of certain GCM Funds, these performance fees are determined based upon
investment performance at the end of a specified measurement period, generally the end of the calendar year. Certain GCM Funds have performance
measurement periods extending beyond one year.

Investment returns are highly susceptible to market factors, judgments and actions of third parties that are outside of the Company’s control.
Accordingly, performance fees are considered variable consideration and are therefore constrained and not recognized as revenue until it is probable that a
significant reversal will not occur. In the event that a client redeems from one of the GCM Funds prior to the end of a measurement period, any accrued
performance fee is ordinarily due and payable by such redeeming client as of the redemption date.

Carried Interest

Carried interest is a performance-based capital allocation from a fund’s limited partners earned by the Company in certain GCM Funds invested in
longer-term public market investments and private market investments. Carried interest is typically calculated as a percentage of the profits calculated in
accordance with the terms of fund agreements at rates that range between 2.5 %- 20 % after returning invested capital, certain fees and a preferred return to
the fund’s limited partners. Carried interest is ultimately realized when underlying investments distribute proceeds or are sold and therefore carried interest is
highly susceptible to market factors, judgments and actions of third parties that are outside of the Company’s control. Accordingly, carried interest is
considered variable consideration and is therefore constrained and not recognized as revenue until it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Agreements generally include a clawback provision that, if triggered, would require the Company to return up to the cumulative amount of carried
interest distributed, typically net of tax, upon liquidation of those funds, if the aggregate amount paid as carried interest exceeds the amount actually due
based upon the aggregate performance of each fund. Accordingly, the amount of carried interest, typically net of tax, that the Company would be required to
return if all remaining investments had no value as of the end of each reporting period is deferred at each reporting period. As of December 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, deferred revenue relating to constrained realized carried interest of $ 6.0 million and $ 5.6 million respectively, was recorded within
accrued expenses and other liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

Other Operating Income

Other operating income primarily consists of administrative fees from certain private investment vehicles that the Company does not manage or
advise. The Company satisfies its performance obligations over time as the services are rendered and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits of the services as they are performed, using the same time-based measure of progress towards completion.

Distribution Relationships

The Company has entered into a number of distribution relationships with financial services firms to assist it in developing and servicing its client base.
These relationships are non-exclusive and generally enable the Company to have direct contact with major clients.
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Management and incentive fee revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) is recorded on a gross basis. Expenses pursuant to the
revenue sharing arrangements in connection with these distribution agreements of $5.5 million, $5.5 million and $5.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, were recorded within general, administrative and other in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

Employee Compensation and Benefits
Cash-based Employee Compensation and Benefits

The Company compensates its employees through the cash payment of both a fixed component (“base salary”) and a variable component (“bonus”).
Base salary is recorded on an accrual basis over each employee’s period of service. Bonus compensation is determined by the Company’s management and
is generally discretionary taking into consideration, among other things, the financial results of the Company, as well as the employee’s performance.

Cash-based Incentive Fee Related Compensation

Incentive fee compensation consists of discretionary compensation accrued and paid annually based on the Company's share of incentive fee
revenue.

Carried Interest Compensation

Certain employees and former employees are entitled to a portion of the carried interest realized from certain GCM Funds, which generally vest over a
multi-year period and are payable upon a realization of the carried interest. Accordingly, carried interest resulting from a realization event gives rise to the
incurrence of an obligation. Amounts payable under these arrangements are recorded within employee compensation and benefits when they become
probable and reasonably estimable.

For certain GCM Funds, realized carried interest is subject to clawback. Although the Company defers the portion of realized carried interest not
meeting the criteria for revenue recognition, accruing an expense for amounts due to employees and former employees is based upon when it becomes
probable and reasonably estimable that carried interest has been earned and therefore a liability has been incurred. As a result, the recording of an accrual
for amounts due to employees and former employees generally precedes the recognition of the related carried interest revenue. The Company withholds a
portion of the amounts due to employees and former employees as a reserve against contingent repayments to the GCM Funds. As of December 31, 2024
and 2023, an accrual of $10.6 million and $12.7 million, respectively, relating to amounts withheld was recorded within accrued compensation and
employee related obligations in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

Other Non-cash Compensation

The Company has established deferred compensation programs for certain employees and accrues deferred compensation expense ratably over the
related vesting schedules, recognizing an increase or decrease in compensation expense based on the performance of certain GCM Funds. In addition, the
Company has granted compensation awards to employees that represent investments that will be made in GCM Funds on behalf of the employees and were
compensation for past services that were fully vested upon the award date. Compensation expense related to deferred compensation and other awards are
included within employee compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income (LosS).

Partnership Interest-Based Compensation

Various individuals, including current and former employees of the Company (“Recipients”), have been awarded partnership interests in Holdings,
Holdings Il and Management LLC. These partnership interests either (a) grant the Recipients the right to certain cash distributions of profits from Holdings,
Holdings Il and Management LLC to the extent such distributions are authorized or (b) transfer equity ownership between certain existing employee
members of the GCMH Equityholders.

A partnership interest award is accounted for based on its substance. A partnership interest award that is in substance a profit-sharing arrangement or
performance bonus would generally not be within the scope of the stock-based compensation guidance and would be accounted for under the guidance for
deferred compensation plans, similar to a cash bonus. However, if the arrangement has characteristics more akin to the risks and rewards of equity
ownership, the arrangement would be
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accounted for under stock-based compensation guidance. Since payments or settlements of partnership interest awards are made by GCMH Equityholders,
the Company records a non-cash profits interest compensation charge and an offsetting deemed contribution to equity (deficit).

The Company analyzes awards granted to Recipients at the time they are granted or modified. Awards that are in substance a profit-sharing
arrangement in which rights to distributions of profits are based fully on the discretion of the managing member of Holdings, Holdings Il and Management
LLC, are recorded within employee compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income when Holdings, Holdings Il or Management LLC
makes distributions to the Recipients. Awards that are in substance stock-based compensation are recorded within employee compensation and benefits on
a straight-line basis over the service period based on the grant date fair value of the equity awards. Profit-sharing arrangements that contain a stated target
payment are recognized as partnership interest-based compensation expense equal to the present value of expected future payments on a straight-line basis
over the service period. Any such expense previously recorded is reversed if the target amount is canceled or forfeited or if the required service period is not
provided.

Equity-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for grants of equity-based awards, including restricted stock units (“‘RSUs”), at fair value as of the grant date. Each RSU
represents the right to receive payment in the form of one share of Class A common stock or an amount equal to the market value of one share of Class A
common stock. Holders of unvested RSUs do not have the right to vote with the underlying shares of Class A common stock, but are generally entitled to
accrue dividend equivalents, which are generally paid in cash when such RSUs are delivered. The Company recognizes compensation expense attributable
to these grants on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. Expenses related to grants of equity-based
awards are recorded within employee compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and within additional paid-in capital and
noncontrolling interests in GCMH in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. The grant-date fair value of RSUs is determined by the closing
stock price on the grant date. Awards the Company intends to settle in cash as of the balance sheet date are classified as liabilities within accrued
compensation and employee related obligations in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition and are subsequently remeasured to the closing stock
price as of each reporting date through either the payment date or the date that the Company no longer intends to settle in cash, with the changes in fair
value recorded within employee compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). Forfeitures of equity-based awards are
recognized as they occur. See Note 12 for additional information regarding the Company’s equity-based compensation.

Derivative Instruments

Derivative instruments enable the Company to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. The Company generally does not engage in derivative or
hedging activities, except to hedge interest rate risk on floating rate debt, as described in Note 14.

Derivatives are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at fair value.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, a derivative must be considered highly effective at reducing the risk associated with the exposure being
hedged. At inception, the Company documents all relationships between derivatives designated as hedging instruments and hedged items, the risk
management objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedge transactions, the method of assessing hedge effectiveness, and, if applicable, why
forecasted transactions are considered probable. This process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as hedges of the variability of cash flows
that are to be received or paid in connection with either a recognized asset or liability, firm commitment or forecasted transaction (“cash flow hedges”) to
assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, firm commitments or forecasted transactions.

The Company generally uses the change in variable cash flows method to assess hedge effectiveness on a quarterly basis. The Company assesses
effectiveness on a quarterly basis by evaluating whether the critical terms of the hedging instrument and the forecasted transaction have changed during the
period and by evaluating the continued ability of the counterparty to honor its obligations under the contractual terms of the derivative. When the critical
terms of the hedging instrument and the forecasted transaction do not match at inception, the Company may use regression or other statistical analyses to
assess effectiveness.
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For a qualifying cash flow hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative, to the extent that the hedge is effective, are recorded within accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition and are reclassified to interest expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Income (Loss) when the underlying transactions (interest payments) have an impact on earnings. Cash flows are classified in the same
category as cash flows from the hedged floating rate debt in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Provision for Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method of accounting. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the expected future tax consequences on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis,
using tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period when the change is enacted. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is “more-likely-than not”
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent on the amount of the
Company'’s future taxable income.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to the underpayment of income taxes, including those resulting from the late filing of tax returns
within the provision for income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). The Company has not incurred a significant amount of interest or
penalties in any of the periods presented.

GCMH is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and is subject to various state and local taxes. GCMH Equityholders, as
applicable, are taxed individually on their share of the earnings; therefore, the Company does not record a provision for federal income taxes on the GCMH
Equityholders’ share of the earnings. The Company is subject to U.S. federal, applicable state corporate and foreign income taxes, including with respect to
its allocable share of any taxable income of GCMH.

Tax Receivable Agreement

In connection with the Transaction as described in Note 1, GCMG entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement with the G CMH Equityholders that will
provide for payment by GCMG to the GCMH Equityholders of 85 % of the amount of the tax savings, if any, that GCMG realizes (or, under certain
circumstances, is deemed to realize) as a result of, or attributable to, (i) increases in the tax basis of assets owned directly or indirectly by GCMH or its
subsidiaries from, among other things, any redemptions or exchanges of GCMH common shares (ii) existing tax basis (including amortization deductions
arising from such tax basis) in intangible assets owned directly or indirectly by GCMH and its subsidiaries, and (iii) certain other tax benefits (including
deductions in respect of imputed interest) related to GCMG making payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The Company determines earnings (loss) per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings Per Share. The two-class method of computing earnings
(loss) per share is required for entities that have participating securities. The Company’s Class C Common Stock has no economic interest in the earnings of
the Company and the Company'’s outstanding RSUs do not receive non-forfeitable dividends. As a result, the two-class method is not applicable.

The Company computes basic earnings (loss) per share by dividing net income (loss) attributable to GCMG by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding for the applicable period. When calculating diluted earnings (loss) per share, the Company applies the treasury stock method and if-converted
method, as applicable, to the warrants, the exchangeable common units of the Partnership and the RSUs to determine the diluted net income (loss)
attributable to GCMG and the dilutive weighted-average common units outstanding.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). The Company’s other comprehensive income (loss) is
comprised of unrealized gains and losses on cash flow hedges and foreign currency translation adjustments.
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Segments

Management has determined the Company consists of a single operating and reportable segment. This is consistent with how the chief operating
decision maker, who is the Chief Executive Officer, allocates resources and assesses performance.

Concentrations of Risk

The Company has a client base that is diversified across a range of different types of institutional clients and individual investors. The institutional
client base consists primarily of public, corporate and Taft-Hartley pension funds as well as banks, insurance companies, sovereign entities, foundations and
endowments. The client base is also geographically diversified with concentrations in North America, Asia, the Middle East, Europe, and Australia.

Long-lived assets attributed to locations outside of the U.S. are immaterial.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Recently Issued Accounting Standards - Adopted in Current Reporting Period

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 2023-07
scopes in entities with a single reportable segment and requires those entities to provide all disclosures required in Topic 280, requires that current annual
disclosures about a reportable segment’s profit or loss and assets also be provided in interim periods, and requires other various new disclosures. Enhanced
reporting requirements for all entities includes disclosure of (1) significant segment expenses, (2) the title and position of the chief operating decision maker
(the “CODM”) and (3) how the CODM uses disclosed measure(s) of a segment’s profit or loss in assessing segment performance and allocating resources.
This guidance is effective for public entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2024. Companies are required to apply the amendments retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements and early
adoption is permitted. The Company adopted this standard on December 31, 2024 on a retrospective basis, and, as a result, the Company included Note 21
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Adoption of ASU 2023-07 did not have an impact on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition,
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), or Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards — To be Adopted in Future Periods

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures . ASU 2023-09 requires
enhanced income tax disclosures including disclosures of specific categories in the rate reconciliation and additional information for reconciling items that
meet a quantitative threshold, additional disclosures about income taxes paid, and disclosure of pre-tax income or loss from continuing operations
disaggregated between domestic and foreign income or loss. This guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2024. Companies should provide the enhanced disclosures on a prospective basis, however retrospective application is permitted. Early adoption is
permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued. The Company is evaluating this guidance and currently expects that adoption will
result in enhanced income tax disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense Disaggregation Disclosures
(Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses. ASU 2024-03 requires public entities to disclose additional information about specific
expense categories in the notes to the financial statements on an interim and annual basis. ASU 2024-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2026, and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of adopting ASU 2024-03.
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3. Revenues

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, management fees and incentive fees consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

Management fees 2024 2023 2022

Management fees, net $ 386,954 $ 360,888 $ 356,401
Fund expense reimbursement revenue 14,694 14,556 10,841
Total management fees $ 401,648 $ 375,444 $ 367,242

Year Ended December 31,

Incentive fees 2024 2023 2022

Performance fees $ 55,323 $ 15313 $ 2,623
Carried interest 50,914 49,590 72,544
Total incentive fees $ 106,237 $ 64,903 $ 75,167

The Company recognized revenues during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 of $ 1.2 million, $ 0.5 million and $ 0.4 million,
respectively, that were previously received and deferred at the beginning of the respective periods.

4. Investments

Investments consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2024 2023
Equity method investments $ 245567 $ 228,822
Other investments 12,240 11,380
Total investments $ 257,807 $ 240,202

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company held investments of $ 257.8 million and $ 240.2 million, respectively, of which $ 49.0 million and $
56.1 million were owned by noncontrolling interest holders, respectively. Future net income (loss) and cash flow from investments held by noncontrolling
interest holders will not be attributable to the Company.

Equity Method Investments

The summarized financial information of the Company’s equity method investments is as follows:

As of December 31,

2024 2023
Total assets $ 46,382,280 $ 42,312,866
Total liabilities $ 1,771,980 $ 1,357,554
Total equity $ 44,610,300 $ 40,955,312
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Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Investment income $ 243,222 $ 187,989 $ 109,180
Expenses 395,748 347,320 304,908
Net investment loss (152,526) (159,331) (195,728)
Net realized and unrealized gain 2,737,015 1,831,634 1,108,471
Net income $ 2,584,489 $ 1,672,303 $ 912,743

The Company evaluates each of its equity method investments to determine if any were significant as defined by the SEC. As of December 31, 2024
and 2023, no individual equity method investment held by the Company met the significance criteria. As such, the Company is not required to present
separate financial statements for any of its equity method investments.

Other Investments

See Note 5 for fair value disclosures of certain investments held within other investments. The Company holds $ 0.2 million in held to maturity
investments held within other investments.

5. Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and level of inputs used for such
measurements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Fair Value as of December 31, 2024

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Money market funds $ 43,804 $ — 3 — 3 43,804
Other investments — — 11,993 11,993
Total assets $ 43,804 $ — 8 11,993 $ 55,797
Liabilities

Public warrants $ 21,149 $ — 3 — 8 21,149
Private warrants — — 1,361 1,361
Interest rate derivatives — 3,532 — 3,532
Total liabilities $ 21,149 $ 3532 $ 1,361 % 26,042

Fair Value as of December 31, 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Money market funds $ 10,282 $ — % — % 10,282
Other investments — — 11,192 11,192
Total assets $ 10,282 $ —  $ 11,192 $ 21,474
Liabilities

Public warrants $ 6,042 $ — 3 — % 6,042
Private warrants — — 389 389
Interest rate derivatives — 7,469 — 7,469
Total liabilities $ 6,042 $ 7,469 $ 389 $ 13,900
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Money Market Funds

Money market funds are valued using quoted market prices and are included in cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statements of Financial

Condition.

Interest Rate Derivatives

Management determines the fair value of its interest rate derivative agreements based on the present value of expected future cash flows based on
observable future rates applicable to each swap contract using linear interpolation, inclusive of the risk of non-performance, using a discount rate appropriate

for the duration. See Note 14 for additional information regarding interest rate derivatives.

Other Investments

Investments in the subordinated notes of a structured alternatives investment solution are not publicly traded and are classified as Level 3.
Management determines the fair value of these other investments using a discounted cash flow analysis (“Cash Flow Analysis”), which includes assumptions
regarding the expected deployment and realization timing of private investments. The position was classified as Level 3 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023

because of the use of significant unobservable inputs in the Cash Flow Analysis as follows:

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023 Impact to Valuation

Weighted Weighted from an Increase in
Significant Unobservable Inputs® Range Average Range Average Input®
Discount rate® 25.8 % -27.8 % 26.8 % 26.5% -27.5% 27.0 % Decrease
Expected remaining term (years) 8-12 N/A 8-12 N/A Decrease
Sl N U T R TR B 1.55x—-2.13 x 1.87 x 1.55 x —2.05 x 1.87 x° Increase

assets®

1) In determining these inputs, management considers the following factors including, but not limited to: liquidity, estimated yield, capital deployment, diversified multi-

strategy appreciation, expected net multiple of investment capital across private assets investments, annual operating expenses, as well as investment guidelines

such as concentration limits, position size, and investment periods.

) Unless otherwise noted, this column represents the directional change in fair value of the Level 3 investments that would result from an increase to the
corresponding unobservable input. A decrease to the unobservable input would have the opposite effect.

®3) The discount rate was based on the relevant benchmark rate, spread, and yield migrations on related securitized assets.
4) Inputs were weighted based on actual and estimated commitments to the respective private asset investments included in the range.

The resulting fair values of $ 12.0 million and $ 11.2 million were recorded within investments in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition

as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The following table presents changes in Level 3 assets measured at fair value for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Balance at beginning of period

Change in fair value

Balance at end of period

Public Warrants

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
11,192 % 10,007
801 1,185
11,993 $ 11,192

The public warrants are valued using quoted market prices on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the ticker GCMGW.
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Private Warrants

The private warrants were classified as Level 3 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 because of the use of significant unobservable inputs in the
valuation, however the overall private warrant valuation and change in fair value are not material to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The valuations for the private warrants were determined to be $1.51 and $ 0.43 per unit as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The
resulting fair values of $ 1.4 million and $ 0.4 million were recorded within warrant liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. See Note 8 for additional information regarding the warrant activity.

The following table presents changes in Level 3 liabilities measured at fair value for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Balance at beginning of period $ 389 $ 475
Change in fair value 972 (86)
Balance at end of period $ 1,361 $ 389

6. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, net consist of the following:
As of December 31, 2024

Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
amount amortization amount
Subject to amortization:
Investment management contracts $ 36,190 $ (36,190) $ —
Customer relationships 23,518 (22,204) 1,314
Technology 2,030 (2,030) —
Other 620 (620) =
$ 62,358 $ (61,044) $ 1,314

As of December 31, 2023

Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
amount amortization amount
Subject to amortization:
Investment management contracts $ 36,190 $ (36,190) $ —
Customer relationships 23,518 (20,891) 2,627
Technology 2,030 (2,030) —
Other 620 (620) —
$ 62,358 $ (59,731) $ 2,627

Amortization expense of $ 1.3 million, $ 1.3 million and $ 2.3 million was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.
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The following approximates the future estimated amortization expense relating to intangible assets:

Year Ended December 31,

2025 $ 1,314
2026 —
2027 —
2028 —
2029 —

Thereafter —

7. Equity

The Company has one class of preferred stock authorized, three classes of common stock authorized: Class A common stock, Class B common stock
and Class C common stock, and warrants. See Note 8 for additional information regarding the warrants. Holders of Class A common stock and Class C
common stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to the stockholders for their vote or approval, except as required by applicable law.

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. Voting and other rights and
preferences may be determined from time to time by the Company’s Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no shares of
preferred stock issued or outstanding.

Class A Common Stock

Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share on all matters submitted to the stockholders for their vote or approval.
Additionally, holders of shares of Class A common stock are entitled to receive dividends as and if declared by the Board of Directors out of legally available
funds.

Class B Common Stock

Holders of Class B common stock are not entitled to any votes on any matter that is submitted to a vote by the Company’s stockholders, except as
required by Delaware law. Delaware law would permit holders of Class B common stock to vote, with one vote per share, on a matter if it were to (i) change
the par value of the Class B common stock or (i) amend the Charter to alter the powers, preferences, or special rights of the Class B common stock as a
whole in a way that would adversely affect the holders of Class B common stock. Holders of shares of Class B common stock are entitled to receive dividends
as and if declared by the Board of Directors out of legally available funds.

Class C Common Stock

Holders of Class C common stock are entitled to carry up to 10 votes per share and represent no more than 75 % of the voting power of the total voting
stock. Holders of Class C common stock do not have any right to receive dividends other than stock dividends consisting of shares of Class C common stock,
paid proportionally with respect to each outstanding share of Class C common stock.

Shares of Class C common stock are cancelled upon a sale or transfer of Class A common stock received as a result of any redemption or exchange of
GCMH common units outstanding to any person that is not the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company or GCMH Equityholders
(or affiliate or owner) as of November 17, 2020. Additionally, shares of Class C common stock are cancelled if there happens to be a redemption or exchange
of a common unit for cash.

The GCMH Equityholders may from time to time cause GCMH to redeem any or all of their GCMH common units in exchange, at the Company’s
election, for either cash (based on the market price for a share of the Class A common stock) or shares of Class A common stock.
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Shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock and Class C common stock are not subject to any conversion right.
Shares of Common Stock Outstanding

The following table shows a rollforward of the common stock outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Class A Class B Class C
common stock common stock common stock
December 31, 2021 43,964,090 — 144,235,246
Exercise of warrants 30 — —
Net shares delivered for vested RSUs 1,120,432 — —
Repurchase of Class A shares (3,278,337) — —
December 31, 2022 41,806,215 — 144,235,246
Net shares delivered for vested RSUs 1,746,537 — —
Repurchase of Class A shares (564,189) — —
December 31, 2023 42,988,563 — 144,235,246
Net shares delivered for vested RSUs 1,910,683 — —
December 31, 2024 44,899,246 — 144,235,246

As of December 31, 2024, 309,513 RSUs were vested, but not yet delivered, and are therefore not yet included in outstanding Class A common stock.
The delivery of vested RSUs will be reduced by the number of shares withheld to satisfy statutory withholding tax obligations.

Dividends

Dividends are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Equity (Deficit) when declared by the Board of Directors. The table below summarizes
dividends declared during 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Dividend per Common

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Share
February 10, 2022 March 1, 2022 March 15, 2022 $0.10
May 5, 2022 June 1, 2022 June 15, 2022 $0.10
August 8, 2022 September 1, 2022 September 15, 2022 $0.10
November 7, 2022 December 1, 2022 December 15, 2022 $0.11
Total dividends paid per share, year ended December 31, 2022 $0.41
February 9, 2023 March 1, 2023 March 15, 2023 $0.11
May 9, 2023 June 1, 2023 June 15, 2023 $0.11
August 8, 2023 September 1, 2023 September 15, 2023 $0.11
November 7, 2023 December 1, 2023 December 15, 2023 $0.11
Total dividends paid per share, year ended December 31, 2023 $0.44
February 8, 2024 March 1, 2024 March 15, 2024 $0.11
May 6, 2024 June 3, 2024 June 17, 2024 $0.11
August 7, 2024 September 3, 2024 September 17, 2024 $0.11
November 7, 2024 December 2, 2024 December 16, 2024 $0.11
Total dividends paid per share, year ended December 31, 2024 $0.44

Dividend equivalent payments of $ 2.1 million and $ 1.2 million were accrued for holders of RSUs as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Stock Repurchase Plan

On August 6, 2021, GCMG's Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase plan, which may be used to repurchase shares of the Company’s
outstanding Class A common stock and warrants to purchase shares of Class A common stock. Class A common stock and warrants may be repurchased
from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions, including with employees or otherwise, pursuant to the requirements of
Rule 10b5-1 and Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act, as well as to retire (by cash settlement or the payment of tax withholding amounts upon net settlement)
equity-based awards granted under our 2020 Incentive Award Plan, as amended and restated (and any successor plan thereto), with the terms and
conditions of these repurchases depending on legal requirements, price, market and economic conditions and other factors. The Company is not obligated
under the terms of the plan to repurchase any of its Class A common stock or warrants, the program has no expiration date, and the Company may suspend
or terminate the program at any time without prior notice. Any shares of Class A common stock and any warrants repurchased as part of this program will be
immediately canceled. GCMG's Board of Directors has made subsequent increases to its original stock repurchase authorization amount for shares and
warrants. As of December 31, 2023, the total authorization was $ 115 million, excluding fees and expenses. On February 8, 2024, GCMG's Board of
Directors increased the firm's existing repurchase authorization by $ 25 million, from $ 115 million to $ 140 million. On February 6, 2025, GCMG’s Board of
Directors further increased the firm's existing repurchase authorization by $ 50 million, from $ 140 million to $ 190 million.

The table below presents information about deemed repurchases for RSUs that were settled in cash, including amounts withheld in connection with
the payment of tax withholding obligations. See Note 12 for additional information regarding RSUs.

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Deemed repurchases of Class A common stock 3,510,276 3,289,385 740,699
Average cost per deemed repurchase of Class A common stock $ 944 $ 785 $ 8.70
Total cost of deemed repurchases $ 33,152 $ 25835 $ 6,445

The table below presents information about the repurchase of public warrants, which each entitle the holder to purchase one share of Class Acommon
stock.

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Public warrants — — 2,812,764
Average cost per warrant $ — 3 — 8 0.91
Total cost of public warrants repurchases $ — 3 — % 2,569

The table below presents information about Class A common stock repurchased on the open market.

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Class A common stock — 564,189 3,278,337
Average cost per share $ — 3 794 % 8.05
Total cost of Class A common stock repurchases $ — 3 4,478 $ 26,391

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had $ 32.0 million remaining under the stock repurchase plan.
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8. Warrants
Public Warrants

Each public warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of Class A common stock at a price of $ 11.50 per share, subject to
adjustment. A warrant holder may exercise its warrants only for a whole number of shares of Class A common stock. This means that only a whole warrant
may be exercised at any given time by a warrant holder. The warrants expire 5 years after the consummation of the Transaction, on November 17, 2025, or
earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

The Company may call the warrants for redemption:
« in whole and not in part;
« at a price of $ 0.01 per warrant;
< upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and

« if, the last reported sale price of the Class A common stock equals or exceeds $ 18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30 -trading day period ending three trading days before the
Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

Warrant holders do not have the rights or privileges of holders of Class A common stock and any voting rights until they exercise their warrants and
receive shares of Class A common stock. After the issuance of shares of Class A common stock, upon exercise of the warrants, each holder will be entitled
to one vote for each share held of record on all matters to be voted on by stockholders.

Private Placement Warrants

The private placement warrants (including the Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the private placement warrants) will not be
redeemable by the Company so long as they are held by CF Sponsor, Holdings or their permitted transferees. CF Sponsor, Holdings or their permitted
transferees, have the option to exercise the private placement warrants on a cashless basis.

If holders of the private placement warrants elect to exercise them on a cashless basis, they would calculate the exercise price by dividing (x) the
number of shares of Class A common stock underlying the warrants, multiplied by the difference between the exercise price of the warrants and the “fair
market value” (defined below) by (y) the average volume weighted average last reported sale price of the Class A common stock for the 10 trading days
ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of warrant exercise is sent to the warrant agent (the “fair market value”).

The following table shows a rollforward of the public and private warrants outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:
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Public Warrants Private Warrants Total
December 31, 2021 19,597,764 900,000 20,497,764
Exercises of warrants (30) — (30)
Repurchases (2,812,764) — (2,812,764)
December 31, 2022 16,784,970 900,000 17,684,970
Exercises of warrants = — —
Repurchases — — —
December 31, 2023 16,784,970 900,000 17,684,970
Exercises of warrants — — —
Repurchases — — _
December 31, 2024 16,784,970 900,000 17,684,970

During the year ended December 31, 2022, 30 public warrants were exercised resulting in less than $ 0.1 million of proceeds. Pursuant to the stock
repurchase plan described in Note 7, during the year ended December 31, 2022, we repurchased 2,812,764 public warrants for $ 2.6 million, or an average
of $ 0.91 per warrant.

9. Variable Interest Entities
The Company consolidates certain VIEs when it is determined that the Company is the primary beneficiary.

The Company holds variable interests in certain entities that are VIEs which are not consolidated, as it is determined that the Company is not the
primary beneficiary. The Company’s involvement with such entities is generally in the form of direct equity interests in, and fee arrangements with, the
entities in which it also serves as the general partner or managing member. The Company evaluated its variable interests in the VIEs and determined it is
not considered the primary beneficiary of the entities primarily because it does not have interests in the entities that could potentially be significant. No
reconsideration events that caused a change in the Company’s consolidation conclusions occurred during either the year ended December 31, 2024 or 2023.
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the total unfunded commitments from the special limited partner and general partners to the unconsolidated VIEs were $
51.6 million and $ 42.1 million, respectively. These commitments are the primary source of financing for the unconsolidated VIEs.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the VIEs in which the Company holds a variable interest but does not consolidate. The
assets recognized on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition relate to the Company’s interests in and management fees, incentive
fees and third party costs receivables from these non-consolidated VIEs. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss relating to non-consolidated VIEs as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

As of December 31,

2024 2023
Investments $ 125,504 $ 102,109
Receivables 19,126 16,324
Maximum exposure to loss $ 144,630 $ 118,433

The above table includes investments in VIEs which are owned by noncontrolling interest holders of approximately $ 35.4 million and $ 30.9 million as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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10. Premises and Equipment

A summary of premises and equipment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

As of December 31, Estimated Useful

2024 2023 Lives
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improvements $ 47,571 $ 36,457 3 -7 years
Office equipment 244 1,063 5 years
Computer equipment and software 10,051 19,615 3 -5 years
Aircraft 1,550 1,550 5 years
Assets in progress 1,351 3,407
Premises and equipment, at cost 60,767 62,092
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (38,084) (54,714)
Premises and equipment, net $ 22,683 $ 7,378

Total depreciation and amortization expense related to premises and equipment of $ 2.0 million, $ 1.4 million and $ 1.5 million was recognized for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

11. Employee Compensation and Benefits

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, employee compensation and benefits consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cash-based employee compensation and benefits $ 148,547 $ 156,153 $ 160,522
Equity-based compensation 48,158 50,667 30,721
Partnership interest-based compensation 72,068 103,934 31,811
Carried interest compensation 30,450 28,505 41,920
Cash-based incentive fee related compensation 36,455 15,628 11,001
Other non-cash compensation 558 1,157 1,336
Total employee compensation and benefits $ 336,236 $ 356,044 $ 277,311

Partnership Interest in Holdings, Holdings Il and Management LLC

Payments and settlements for partnership interest awards to the employees are made by GCMH Equityholders. As a result, the Company records a
non-cash profits interest compensation charge and an offsetting deemed contribution to equity (deficit) to reflect the payments or settlements made or owed
by the GCMH Equityholders. Since payments or settlements are made by Holdings, Holdings Il and Management LLC, the expense that is pushed down to
GCMH and the offsetting deemed contribution are each attributed solely to noncontrolling interests in GCMH. Any liability related to the awards is recognized
at Holdings, Holdings Il or Management LLC as Holdings, Holdings Il or Management LLC is the party responsible for satisfying the obligation, and is not
shown in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company has recorded deemed contributions to equity (deficit) from Holdings, Holdings II
and Management LLC of $72.1 million, $ 103.9 million and $ 31.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for
partnership interest-based compensation expense, which was or will ultimately be paid or settled by Holdings, Holdings Il or Management LLC.

GCMH Equityholders have modified awards to certain individuals upon their voluntary retirement or intention to retire as employees. These awards
generally include a stated target amount that, upon payment, terminates the recipient’s rights to future distributions and allows for a lump sum buy-out of the
awards, at the discretion of the managing member of Holdings, Holdings Il, and Management LLC. The awards are accounted for as partnership interest-
based compensation at the fair value
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of these expected future payments, in the period the employees accepted the offer as there is no continued service required. The Company recognized $
18.5 million and $ 6.3 million in partnership interest-based compensation expense related to award modifications for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2022, respectively. No partnership interest-based compensation expense related to award modifications was recognized for the year ended December
31, 2023 (other than as discussed for the Holdings Awards below).

The liability associated with awards that contain a stated target has been retained by Holdings as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and is re-measured
at each reporting date, with any corresponding changes in liability being reflected as employee compensation and benefits expense of the Company. No
recipients had unvested stated target payments as of either December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. The Company recognized partnership interest-based
compensation expense of $16.8 million, $ 21.4 million and $ 23.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, related to
profits interest awards that are in substance profit-sharing arrangements.

GCMH Equityholders Awards

In the year ended December 31, 2022, GCMH Equityholders entered into agreements that will transfer equity ownership between certain existing
employee members of the GCMH Equityholders (“GCMH Equityholders Awards”). The GCMH Equityholders Awards will entitle recipients to receive Class A
common stock upon vesting. The non-cash awards serve to transfer equity ownership from existing GCMH Equityholders to other existing member
employees upon vesting. The GCMH Equityholders Awards do not dilute Class A common stockholders and do not impact cash flows of the Company. The
GCMH Equityholders Awards are accounted for under ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. The awards generally will vest in May 2025 and do
not entitle the recipients to dividends or distributions made on Class A common stock during the vesting period. As such, the fair value of the GCMH
Equityholders Awards is based on the closing price of Class A common stock on the accounting grant date less the present value of dividends expected to be
paid during the vesting period. GCMH Equityholders can settle the awards at various dates after vesting by exchanging outstanding GCMH common units or
by otherwise acquiring and delivering Class A common stock, and therefore the vesting of such awards will not dilute Class A common stockholders. The
GCMH Equityholders Awards therefore have no economic impact on Class A common stockholders. As such, the expense that is pushed down to GCMH
and the offsetting deemed contribution are each attributed solely to noncontrolling interests in GCMH, consistent with the accounting for payments to
employees described above. The GCMH Equityholders Awards of 7,169,415 units had an aggregate grant date fair value of $53.4 million, or an average
grant date fair value of $ 7.45 per unit. The Company recognized partnership interest-based compensation expense related to the GCMH Equityholders
Awards of $ 21.9 million, $ 21.9 million, and $ 2.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2024,
total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested GCMH Equityholders Awards was $ 7.2 million and is expected to be recognized over the
remaining weighted average period of 0.3 years.

Holdings Awards

On May 9, 2023, Holdings entered into amended and restated participation certificates with existing employee members (“Holdings Awards”). The
Holdings Awards entitle recipients to a stated percentage, or minimum allocable share, of distributions from Holdings, as well as a profits interest with respect
to net sale proceeds from dispositions of Holdings properties after certain threshold distributions to other members. Pursuant to ASC 505, the Holdings
Awards will be recognized as compensation expense with a corresponding deemed contribution and are accounted for under ASC 718, Compensation—
Stock Compensation as the awards have characteristics that are more akin to the risks and rewards of equity ownership in Holdings. These awards do not
dilute Class A common stockholders or impact net cash flows of the Company.

Certain of these existing employee members were previously awarded target amounts that entitled them to a stated percentage, or minimum allocable
share, of distributions from Holdings until they received a sum certain. Those target amounts represented by those sums, which were previously recorded as
partnership interest-based compensation, were reduced to zero in the amended and restated participation certificates. As a result, target amounts that were
previously recorded as partnership interest-based compensation were reversed, while partnership interest-based compensation associated with the
amended and restated participation certificates is recorded.
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The Holdings Awards had an aggregate grant date fair value of $ 155.5 million, which was partially offset when recognized in expense by $ 80.0
million target amounts reversed during the year ended December 31, 2023. The fair value of the Holdings Awards was determined by a third-party valuation
firm utilizing a discounted cash flow analysis for the minimum allocable share and a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model for the profits interest with
respect to net sale proceeds from dispositions of Holdings properties after the threshold distributions. Significant valuation inputs and assumptions included
Holdings projected financial information and distributions, an estimated 10 year holding period, a 15.4 % cost of equity, a 13.0 % weighted average cost of
capital, a 35 % volatility assumption, the likelihood of a defined conversion event, a 40 % discount for lack of marketability, and the fair value of reference
properties that determine the threshold distributions for the profits interest with respect to net sale proceeds. The resulting fair value of the Holdings Awards
is pushed down from Holdings to the Company and recorded as compensation expense. A portion of the Holdings Awards were vested upon grant, resulting
in immediate expense recognition. The Company recognized partnership interest-based compensation expense related to the Holdings Awards of $ 14.9
million and $ 60.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, all compensation related to the
Holdings Awards has been recognized.

Other

Other consists of employee compensation and benefits expense related to deferred compensation programs and other awards that represent
investments made in GCM Funds on behalf of the employees.

12. Equity-Based Compensation
2020 Incentive Award Plan

During February 2021, the Company adopted the 2020 Incentive Award Plan. The 2020 Incentive Award Plan, as amended and restated, allows for
the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, and other stock or cash based awards or dividend
equivalent awards to employees, directors and consultants.

Restricted Stock Units

In March 2021, the Company granted 4.8 million RSUs to certain employees and directors in connection with the Transaction. The RSUs had an
aggregate grant date fair value of $ 62.1 million. In addition to the March 2021 grant, an additional 0.4 million RSUs with an aggregate grant date fair value
of $ 4.1 million were granted to certain employees during the year ended December 31, 2021.

In the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company granted 1.3 million equity-classified RSUs and 3.2 million liability-classified RSUs with aggregate
grant date fair values of $ 12.3 million and $ 27.2 million, respectively, to certain employees.

In the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company granted 1.9 million equity-classified RSUs and 4.0 million liability-classified RSUs with aggregate
grant date fair values of $ 15.8 million and $ 31.0 million, respectively, to certain employees.

In the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company granted 2.0 million equity-classified RSUs and 3.0 million liability-classified RSUs with aggregate
grant date fair values of $ 17.7 million and $ 29.6 million, respectively, to certain employees.

Liability-classified RSUs are either classified as liabilities because they are required to be settled in cash or because the Company has the right to and
intends to (as of the grant date or December 31, 2024, as applicable) settle the RSUs partially or wholly in cash. During the year ended December 31, 2024,
the Company reclassified 2.0 million RSUs from liability-classified to equity-classified based on management’s intent to settle (or actual settlement of) the
awards in shares of Class A common stock. The majority of liability-classified awards outstanding at December 31, 2024 were granted in October 2024 and
vest on March 1, 2025.

Other than RSUs granted in October 2024, outstanding awards generally vest either (a) one-third at the grant date with the remainder over two years
in equal annual installments or (b) over a one to three year period. Upon delivery, the Company may withhold the number of shares to satisfy the statutory
withholding tax obligation and deliver the net number of resulting shares vested.
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See Note 11 for additional information regarding GCMH Equityholders Awards and Holdings Awards.

A summary of non-vested equity-classified RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Weighted-Average Grant-

Number of RSUs Date Fair Value Per RSU
Balance as of December 31, 2023 2,164,163 $ 8.51
Granted 2,044,825 8.66
Reclassified from liability-classified RSUs 1,976,452 8.10
Vested (2,768,356) 8.44
Forfeited (166,016 ) 8.85
Balance as of December 31, 2024 3,251,068 $ 8.40

A summary of non-vested liability-classified RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Weighted-Average Grant-

Number of RSUs Date Fair Value Per RSU
Balance as of December 31, 2023 3,550,186 $ 7.73
Granted 2,972,068 9.95
Reclassified to equity-classified RSUs (1,976,452) 8.10
Vested (2,693,675) 7.98
Forfeited (38,878) 11.26
Balance as of December 31, 2024 1,813,249 $ 10.50

The total grant-date fair value of RSUs that vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $ 44.9 million, $ 51.0 million and $
24.2 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, $ 48.2 million, $50.7 million and $ 30.7 million, respectively, of
compensation expense related to RSUs was recorded within employee compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). As of
December 31, 2024, total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested RSUs was $ 28.1 million and is expected to be recognized over the
remaining weighted average period of 1.8 years.

The total tax benefit recognized related to the delivered RSUs for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, was $ 3.0 million, $ 2.2 million
and $ 0.9 million, respectively.

On January 15, 2025 , the Company granted 0.6 million liability-classified RSUs that vest on April 15, 2025 .
13. Debt

The table below summarizes the outstanding debt balance as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

As of December 31,

2024 2023
Senior loan $ 435,810 $ 389,000
Less: debt issuance costs (3,771) (4,273)
Total debt $ 432,039 $ 384,727
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Maturities of debt for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2025 4,380
2026 4,380
2027 4,380
2028 4,380
2029 4,380
Thereafter 413,910

Total $ 435,810

Senior Loan

On January 2, 2014, the Company entered into a senior secured term loan facility (“Senior Loan") which was subsequently amended through several
debt modifications.

In 2021, the Company amended its Senior Loan to extend the maturity date to February 24, 2028 and increased the aggregate principal amount
thereunder to $ 400.0 million (2028 Term Loans”).

Through June 30, 2023, the 2028 Term Loans had an interest rate margin of 2.50 % over the LIBOR, subject to a 0.50 % LIBOR floor. On June 29,
2023, the Company entered into Amendment No. 7 to the Credit Agreement to incorporate changes for the contemplated transition to the Term Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“Term SOFR”), and on July 1, 2023, in conjunction with a Benchmark Transition Event, the interest rate margin and floor defaulted
to the Term SOFR plus a Benchmark Replacement Adjustment of 0.11 % as recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body (all terms as defined in the
Amended Credit Agreement).

On May 21, 2024, the Company entered into Amendment No. 8 to the Credit Agreement to, among other things, increase and extend the maturity of
the 2028 Term Loans. The amendment increased the aggregate principal amount from $ 388.0 million to $ 438.0 million, extended the maturity date from
February 24, 2028 to February 25, 2030 (as increased and extended, the “2030 Term Loans”), decreased the interest rate margin to 2.25 % over Term
SOFR, and removed the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment of 0.11 %. The 2030 Term Loans continue to be subject to a 0.50 % SOFR floor. As a result
of the amendment and extension, the Company capitalized $ 0.4 million of debt issuances costs related to payments to lenders, which is recorded within
debt in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, and expensed $ 3.0 million of third-party costs which is recorded within general, administrative
and other in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the year ended December 31, 2024. In addition, the Company recorded an expense of $ 0.2

million related to the partial extinguishment of certain lenders, which is recorded within other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Income
(Loss) for the year ended December 31, 2024.

From June 30, 2021 until May 21, 2024 quarterly principal payments of $ 1.0 million were required to be made toward the 2028 Term Loans (less any
reduction for prior or future voluntary or mandatory prepayments of principal). As part of Amendment No. 8 to the Credit Agreement, quarterly principal
payments of $ 1.1 million are required to be made toward the 2030 Term Loans beginning July 1, 2024 (less any reduction for prior or future voluntary or
mandatory prepayments of principal).

In addition to the scheduled principal repayments, the Company is required to offer to make prepayments of Consolidated Excess Cash Flow (“Cash
Flow Payments”) no later than five days following the date the quarterly financial statements are due if the leverage ratio exceeds certain thresholds in the
Amended Credit Agreement No. 8. The Cash Flow Payments were calculated as defined in the Senior Loan agreement based on a percentage of calculated
excess cash. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company was not required to offer to make any Cash Flow Payments.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, $ 435.8 million and $ 389.0 million of 2028 Term Loans were outstanding, respectively, with weighted average
interest rates of 7.54 % and 7.59 % for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Under the credit and guaranty agreement governing the terms of the Senior Loan, the Company must maintain certain leverage and interest coverage
ratios. The credit and guaranty agreement also contains other covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to
incur debt and restrict the Company and its subsidiaries ability to merge or consolidate, or sell or convey all or substantially all of the Company’s assets. As
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company was in compliance with all covenants.

GCMH Equityholders and IntermediateCo have executed a pledge agreement (“Pledge Agreement”) and security agreement (“Security Agreement”)
with the lenders of the Senior Loan. Under the Pledge Agreement, GCMH Equityholders and IntermediateCo have agreed to secure the obligations under the
Senior Loan by pledging its interests in GCMH as collateral against the repayment of the senior secured notes, and GCMH has agreed to secure the
obligations under the Senior Loan by granting a security interest in and continuing lien on the collateral described in the Security Agreement. The Pledge
Agreement and Security Agreement will remain in effect until such time as all obligations relating to the Senior Loan have been fulfilled.

Credit Facility

Concurrent with the issuance of the Senior Loan, the Company entered into a $ 50.0 million revolving credit facility (“Credit Facility”). The Credit
Facility maturity date was extended from February 24, 2026 to February 24, 2028 as part of Amendment No. 8 to the Credit Agreement, and carries an
unused commitment fee of up to 0.50 % per annum. There were no outstanding borrowings related to the Credit Facility as of each of December 31, 2024
and 2023.

Other

Certain subsidiaries of the Comp any agree to jointly and severally guarantee, as primary obligors and not merely as surety guarantees, the obligations
of their parent entity, GCMH.

Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs was $ 0.9 million, $ 1.1 million and $ 1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. These amounts are recorded within interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

The carrying value of the Senior Loan, excluding the unamortized debt issuance costs presented as a reduction to the principal balance approximated
the fair value as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. As the Senior Loan was not accounted for at fair value, it was not included in the
Company'’s fair value hierarchy in Note 5, however had it been included, it would have been classified in Level 2.

14. Interest Rate Derivatives

The Company has entered into various derivative agreements with financial institutions to hedge interest rate risk related to its outstanding debt. The
Company had the following interest rate derivatives recorded within accrued expenses and other liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 in the

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.
Fair Value Fair Value
as of as of
Notional December 31, December 31, Fixed Rate Floating Effective Maturity
Derivative Amount 2024 2023 Paid Rate Received Date® Date
Interest rate 300,000 ( ( 1 month November February
swap $ $  2,291) $  7,469) 4.37 % Term SOFRM® 2022 2028
Interest rate ( 1 month February
May 2024
swap $ 28,500 $ 397) $ — 4.47 %  Term SOFR® 2028
Interest rate 317,000 ( 1 month February February
swap $ $ 844) $ — 417 %  Term SOFR® 2028 2030

1) Floating rate received subject to a 0.50 % Floor.

2) Refer to Note 13 regarding the interest rate on the 2028 Term Loans for the July 1, 2023 Benchmark Transition Event. The floating rate received under the interest
rate swap also defaulted to Term SOFR plus a Benchmark Replacement Adjustment concurrent with the Benchmark Transition Event.

3) Represents the date at which the derivative is in effect and the Company is contractually required to begin payment of interest under the terms of the agreement.
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A rollforward of the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI") related to interest rate derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Derivative gain (loss) at beginning of period $ 21,806 $ 29,130 $ (3,622)
Amount recognized in other comprehensive income @ 7,025 1,536 27,285
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to interest expense (10,489) (8,860) 5,467
Derivative gain at end of period 18,342 21,806 29,130
Less: gain attributable to noncontrolling interests in GCMH 15,496 18,267 24,204
Derivative gain at end of period, net $ 2,846 $ 3539 $ 4,926

1) Net of tax provision (benefit) of $( 0.2 ) million, $( 0.4 ) million, and $ 2.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 respectively.

In February 2021, the Company terminated a derivative instrument which was entered into in 2017, and matured in 2023. In October 2022, the
Company terminated two derivative instruments that had notional balances of $232 million and $68 million, effective dates that started in 2021, and
maturity dates in 2028. The Company received $ 40.3 million of cash for the fair market value of the interest rate swaps at termination in October 2022. The
terminated derivative instrument were determined to be effective cash flow hedges at inception. The amounts previously recorded as a hedge in AOCI
related to previously terminated derivative instruments will remain in AOCI and will be recorded in interest expense within the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Loss) over the original life of the swaps.

Effective on November 1, 2022, the Company entered into a swap agreement to hedge interest rate risk related to payments made for the 2028 Term
Loans that has a notional amount of $ 300.0 million and a fixed rate of 4.37 %. The swap agreement and the 2028 Term Loans had a 0.50 % LIBOR floor
through June 30, 2023 and defaulted to Term SOFR plus a Benchmark Replacement Adjustment on July 1, 2023 at the Benchmark Transition Event as
discussed in Note 13. The swap was determined to be an effective cash flow hedge at inception based on a comparison of critical terms and remained an
effective cash flow hedge at and following the Benchmark Transition Event.

Effective on May 31, 2024, the Company entered into a swap agreement to hedge interest rate risk related to payments made for the increase in
aggregate principal amount of the 2030 Term Loans that has a notional amount of $ 28.5 million, and a fixed rate of 4.47 %. The swap agreement and 2030
Term Loans have a 0.50 % Term SOFR floor. The swap was determined to be an effective cash flow hedge at inception based on a comparison of critical
terms.

On May 23, 2024, the Company entered into a forward-starting swap agreement to hedge interest rate risk related to payments made during the
extended maturity of the 2030 Term Loans that has an effective date of February 2028, a notional amount of $ 317.0 million and a fixed rate of 4.17 %. The
forward-starting swap agreement and 2030 Term Loans have a 0.50 % Term SOFR floor. The swap was determined to be an effective cash flow hedge at
inception based on a comparison of critical terms.

The Company reclassified $ 7.6 million, $ 6.7 million and $ 4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, from
AOCI to interest expense relating to the derivative instruments terminated that initially qualified for hedge accounting. The net impact of these
reclassifications decreased interest expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and increased interest expense for year ended
December 31, 2022.

The fair values of the interest rate swaps are based on observable market inputs and represent the net amount required to terminate the positions,
taking into consideration market rates and non-performance risk. Refer to Note 5 for additional information.

During the next twelve months, the Company expects to reclassify approximately $ 7.0 million from AOCI to interest expense (which will decrease
interest expense), including the ongoing impact of the swap terminations.
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15. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

A summary of accrued expenses and other liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

As of December 31,

2024 2023
Carried interest payable $ 338 $ 332
Deferred revenue 9,761 8,795
Clawback obligation 200 200
Derivative liability 3,632 7,469
Other liabilities 16,866 14,417
Total accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 30,697 $ 31,213

16. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company has entered into operating lease agreements for office space. The Company leases office space in various countries around the world
and maintains its headquarters in Chicago, lllinois, where it leases primary office space. The leases contain rent escalation clauses based on increases in
base rent, real estate taxes and operating expenses. When determining the lease term, the Company generally does not include options to renew as it is not
reasonably certain at contract inception that the Company will exercise the options. As the implicit rate is not generally readily determinable, the Company
uses its incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of future minimum lease payments.

In June 2023, the Company executed an agreement to lease office space for its New York office. The new space replaced the Company’s prior New
York office space. The Company gained access to this space in August 2023 and established the ROU asset and lease liability. Total future lease payments
at lease execution were $ 65.7 million over 16.3 years. The landlord provided a tenant improvement allowance of up to $7.0 million for improvements as
specified in the lease. The lease contains rent escalation clauses based on increases in base rent, real estate taxes and operating expenses and a 16 month
rent concession.

In January 2024, the Company executed an agreement to lease office space for its United Kingdom office. The new space will replace the Company’s
existing United Kingdom office space. The Company gained access to this space in January 2024 and established the ROU asset and lease liability. Total
future lease payments at lease execution were $ 2.7 million over 5.0 years. The lease contains rent escalation clauses based on increases in base rent, real
estate taxes and operating expenses and a 10 month rent concession.

In June 2024, the Company executed an amendment to its lease agreement for its Chicago, lllinois office. The amended lease agreement provides
access to temporary office space from October 2024 until September 2025, shortens the lease term for certain existing office space from September 2026 to
September 2025, which will result in a one-time early termination fee, and extends the lease term of remaining existing office space from September 2026 to
September 2037. As a result of the amended lease agreement the Company remeasured the existing ROU asset and lease liability based on the terms of
the amended lease agreement. Total future lease payments at lease execution were $ 17.6 million over 13.2 years, which is net of the landlord provided
tenant improvement allowance of up to $ 8.0 million, as specified in the lease. The lease contains rent escalation clauses based on increases in base rent,
real estate taxes and operating expenses and a 12 month rent concession.

The components of operating lease expense recorded within general, administrative and other in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) were
as follows:
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Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Operating lease cost® $ 9,904 $ 8874 $ 7,514
Variable lease cost® 3,878 4,458 4,112
Less: sublease income 215 179 193
Total lease cost $ 13567 $ 13,153 % 11,433

Q) Includes $ 0.3 million of short term lease expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 includes lease cost for two offices in New York due to the build out of new office space.
) Includes common area maintenance charges and other variable costs not included in the measurement of ROU assets and lease liabilities.

The following table summarizes cash flows and other supplemental information related to our operating leases:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities V) $ 5132 $ 8,613 $ 8,813
Non-cash ROU assets obtained in exchange for new and extended operating
leases $ 9,075 $ 34,116 $ 693
Weighted average remaining lease term in years 13.7 years 13.1 years 2.9 years
Weighted average discount rate 6.3 % 6.1 % 4.1 %
1) Excludes $ 6.3 million of cash received during the year ended December 31, 2024 for lease incentives received related to the New York office lease.
As of December 31, 2024 the maturities of operating lease liabilities were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2025 $ 7,534
2026 5,393
2027 6,770
2028 6,603
2029 5,966
Thereafter 61,457
Total lease payments $ 93,723

Less: tenant improvement allowance (8,706)

Less: imputed interest (31,141)
Total operating lease liabilities $ 53,876

Commitments

The Company owns a 6.25 % interest in an aircraft and was required to pay a fixed management fee of $ 0.3 million per year until 2024. On
September 3, 2024, the Company extended its contract for a 6.25 % interest in an aircraft until September 3, 2029, and will continue to pay a fixed
management fee of $ 0.3 million per year.

The Company had $90.5 milion and $85.6 million of unfunded investment commitments as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively,
representing general partner capital funding commitments to several of the GCM Funds.
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Litigation

In the normal course of business, the Company may enter into contracts that contain a number of representations and warranties, which may provide
for general or specific indemnifications. The Company’s exposure under these contracts is not currently known, as any such exposure would be based on
future claims, which could be made against the Company. The Company’s management is not currently aware of any such pending claims and based on its
experience, the Company believes the risk of loss related to these arrangements to be remote.

From time to time, the Company is a defendant in various lawsuits related to its business. The Company’s management does not believe that the
outcome of any current litigation will have a material effect on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Risks

The Company may be exposed to a risk of loss by virtue of certain subsidiaries serving as the general partner of GCM Funds organized as limited
partnerships. As general partner of a GCM Fund organized as a limited partnership, the Company’s subsidiaries that serve as the general partner have
exposure to risk of loss that is not limited to the amount of its investment in such GCM Fund. The Company cannot predict the amount of loss, if any, which
may occur as a result of this exposure; however, historically, the Company has not incurred any significant losses and management believes the likelihood is
remote that a material loss will occur.

17. Related Parties

In regard to the following related party disclosures, the Company’s management cannot be sure that such transactions or arrangements would be the
same to the Company if the parties involved were unrelated and such differences could be material.

The Company provides certain employees partnership interest awards which are paid or settled by Holdings, Holdings Il and Management LLC. Refer
to Note 11 for further details.

The Company has a sublease agreement with Holdings. Because the terms of the sublease are identical to the terms of the original lease, there is no
impact to net income (loss) in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) or Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

The Company incurs certain costs, primarily related to accounting, client reporting, investment-decision making and treasury-related expenditures, for
which it receives reimbursement from the GCM Funds in connection with its performance obligations to provide investment management services. The
Company also incurs certain costs, primarily related to employee benefits and travel, for which it receives reimbursement from Holdings. Due from related
parties in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition includes net receivables from GCM Funds of $ 12.6 million and $13.5 million as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and from Holdings of less than $ 0.1 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, paid on behalf of affiliated
entities that are reimbursable to the Company.

Our executive officers, senior professionals, and certain current and former employees and their families invest on a discretionary basis in GCM
Funds, and such investments are generally not subject to management fees and performance fees.

Certain employees of the Company have an economic interest in an entity that is the owner and landlord of the building in which the principal
headquarters of the Company are located.

The Company utilizes the services of an insurance broker to procure insurance coverage, including its general commercial package policy, workers’
compensation and professional and management liability coverage for its directors and officers. Certain members of Holdings have an economic interest in,
and relatives are employed by, the Company'’s insurance broker.

From time to time, certain of the Company’s executive officers utilize a private business aircraft, including an aircraft wholly owned or controlled by
members of Holdings. Additionally, the Company arranges for the use of the private business aircraft through a number of charter services, including entities
predominantly or wholly owned or controlled by members of Holdings. The Company paid, net of reimbursements, approximately $ 2.1 million, $ 3.4 million
and $ 2.4 million for the years
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ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, to utilize aircraft and charter services wholly owned or controlled by members of Holdings, which is
recorded within general, administrative and other in the Consolidated Statements of Income (LosS).

In an internal restructuring effective January 1, 2024, GCMH acquired from its general partner, IntermediateCo, the equity interests in GCM, L.L.C.
held by IntermediateCo for cash consideration in the amount of approximately $ 2.0 million. The transaction was completed in accordance with the terms of
a transfer agreement. IntermediateCo, a wholly owned subsidiary of GCM Grosvenor Inc., acquired GCM, L.L.C. in connection with the Transaction for
nominal consideration and continues to control GCM, L.L.C. indirectly as general partner of GCMH.

18. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Current:
Federal $ 637 $ (282) $ (206)
State and local 3,328 3,309 2,137
Foreign 1,834 1,839 1,837
Total current provision for income taxes $ 5799 $ 4866 $ 3,768
Deferred:
Federal $ 5945 $ 3,730 $ 4,208
State and local 1,293 (886) 1,838
Foreign 523 (18) (203)
Total deferred income taxes expense 7,761 2,826 5,843
Total provision for income taxes $ 13,560 $ 7692 $ 9,611

A reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 21 % 21 % 21 %
State and local income taxes 7 % (17 )% 3 %
Impact of noncontrolling interests (9)% (37 )% (15)%
Foreign income taxes 4 % (8)% 2 %
Change in tax rates (1)% 6 % 1%
Change in unrecognized tax benefits 2 % — % — %
Provision-to-return adjustments — % 2 % — %
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 6 % 1% (2)%
Change in valuation allowance (4)% (4)% 2 %
Tax receivable agreement liability expense — % (2)% — %
Other 1% 2 % (1)%
Effective income tax rate 27 % (36)% 11 %
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Details of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Investment in GCMH

Unrealized losses

Intangibles and other

Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance
Valuation allowance

Total deferred tax assets

Right-of-use asset
Unrealized gains
Other deferred tax liability

Total deferred tax liabilities®

Deferred tax assets, net®

As of December 31,

2024 2023
$ 93,045 $ 92,656
— 2,437
1,111 2,423
94,156 97,516
(40,869) (38,122)
$ 53287 $ 59,394
$ (612) $ (1,096)
(1,558) —
(430) —
(2,600) (1,096)
$ 50,687 $ 58,298

(1) As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, $ 2.1 million and $ 1.1 million of deferred tax liabilities, respectively, were offset and presented within deferred tax asset, net in
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as these deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same jurisdiction.
(2) As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, $ 0.5 million and $ 0.0 million of deferred tax liabilities are presented within accrued expenses and other liabilities in the

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition

GCMG's sole material asset is its investment in GCMH, which is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and for purposes of
certain jurisdictional income taxes. GCMH’s net taxable income and any related tax credits are passed through to its partners and are included in the
partners’ tax returns, even though such net taxable income or tax credits may not have actually been distributed. While GCMG consolidates GCMH for
financial reporting purposes, GCMG will be taxed on its share of earnings of GCMH not attributed to the noncontrolling interest holders, which will continue to
bear their share of income tax on allocable earnings of GCMH. The income tax burden on the earnings taxed to the noncontrolling interest holders is not
reported by the Company in its consolidated financial statements under GAAP. As a result, the Company’s effective tax rate differs materially from the
statutory rate. The primary factors impacting the effective tax rate are the allocation of income (loss) to noncontrolling interest as well as state and foreign
income taxes paid at the partnership level that are included in income tax expenses.

GCMG has recorded a valuation allowance of approximately $ 40.9 million and $ 38.1 million, an increase of $ 2.8 million, as of December 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively, which is primarily related to its outside partnership basis of its investment in GCMH for the amount of the deferred tax asset that is

not expected to be realized.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various states and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2024, tax years for 2024, 2023, 2022,
2021, and 2020 are subject to examination by the tax authorities. With few exceptions, as of December 31, 2024, the Company is no longer subject to U.S.
federal, state, local, or foreign examinations by tax authorities for years before 2020.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, GCMG's unrecognized tax benefits relating to uncertain tax position, excluding related interest and penalties,
consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of period $ — 3 — —
Gross increases in tax positions in prior periods — — —
Gross decreases in tax positions in prior periods — — —
Gross increases in tax positions in current period 714 — —
Lapse of statue of limitations — — _
Settlements with taxing authorities — — —

Unrecognized tax benefits, end of period $ 714 % — 3 —

If the above tax benefits were recognized, the effective income tax rate would be reduced. GCMG recognized interest and penalties accrued related to
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. Related to the unrecognized tax benefits, GCMG has accrued interest of $ 0.3 million as of December 31,
2024. No interest and penalties were accrued as of December 31, 2023.

In December 2021, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) introduced a new global minimum tax of 15% on multi-
national entities with global revenues in excess of €750 million, several foreign jurisdictions being effective on January 1, 2024. As of December 31, 2024 and
2023, the Company'’s global revenues were below the threshold, and as such, these rules currently do not have an impact on the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements. The Company will continue to monitor the legislation for potential impacts.
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19. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Numerator for earnings (loss) per share calculation:
Net income attributable to GCM Grosvenor Inc., basic $ 18,695 $ 12,774 % 19,820
Exercise of private warrants — — —
Exercise of public warrants — — —
Exchange of Partnership units (12,156) (65,812) 33,209
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders, diluted 6,539 (53,038) 53,029

Denominator for earnings (loss) per share calculation:
Weighted-average shares, basic 44,741,336 43,198,517 43,872,300
Exercise of private warrants - incremental shares under the treasury stock method — — —

Exercise of public warrants - incremental shares under the treasury stock method — — —

Exchange of Partnership units 144,235,246 144,235,246 144,235,246

Assumed vesting of RSUs - incremental shares under the treasury stock method 1,613,459 — 460,446

Weighted-average shares, diluted 190,590,041 187,433,763 188,567,992
Basic EPS

Net income attributable to common stockholders, basic $ 18,695 $ 12,774  $ 19,820

Weighted-average shares, basic 44,741,336 43,198,517 43,872,300

Net income per share attributable to common stockholders, basic $ 042 $ 030 $ 0.45
Diluted EPS

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders, diluted $ 6,539 $ (53,038) $ 53,029

Weighted-average shares, diluted 190,590,041 187,433,763 188,567,992

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders, diluted $ 003 $ (0.28) $ 0.28

When applying the if-converted method to calculate the potential dilutive impact of the exchangeable common units of the Partnership, the earnings
(loss) per share numerator adjustment reflects the net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in GCMH, as reported, adjusted for the
hypothetical incremental provision (benefit) for income taxes that would have been recorded by the Company if the units had been converted.

Shares of the Company’s Class C common stock do not participate in the earnings or losses of the Company and are therefore not participating
securities. As such, a separate presentation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share of Class C common stock under the two-class method has not
been presented.

The following outstanding potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the calculations of diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to common
stockholders because their impact would have been antidilutive for the periods presented:
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Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Public warrants 16,784,970 16,784,970 16,784,970
Private warrants 900,000 900,000 900,000
Unvested RSUs under the treasury stock method — 808,716 —

20. Regulatory and Net Capital Requirements

We are required to maintain minimum net capital balances for regulatory purposes for certain of our foreign subsidiaries as well as for our U.S. broker-
dealer subsidiary. These net capital requirements are met by retaining cash. The Company's U.S. registered broker-dealer is subject to the SEC’s Uniform
Net Capital Rule (“Rule 15¢3-1"), which requires the maintenance of minimum net capital and requires that the ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net capital,
as defined, shall not exceed 15 to 1. As of December 31, 2024, the Company's U.S. registered broker-dealer had net capital, as defined under Rule 15c3-1,
of $0.8 million and excess net capital of $ 0.8 million. The ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net capital was 0.15 to 1. As of December 31, 2024, all
regulated entities and the broker-dealer subsidiary are in compliance with regulatory requirements.

Although the Company's U.S. registered broker-dealer does not claim exemption from the Rule 15¢3-3 of the Securities and Exchange Commission, it
does not transact a business in securities with, or for, any person defined as a “customer” pursuant to Rule 17a-5(c)(4) and does not carry margin accounts,
credit balances, or securities for any person defined as a “customer” pursuant to Rule 17a-5(c)(4).

21. Segments

The Company conducts its operations through a single reportable segment representing the consolidated entity offering comprehensive alternative
investment solutions to institutional and individual investors. The single reportable segment earns substantially all its revenue from management fees and
incentive fees.

The chief operating decision maker (“CODM”"), who is the Chief Executive Officer, manages the Company on a consolidated basis and utilizes Net
income (loss) as presented on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) as the primary financial measure used in assessing the performance of the
Company, monitoring budget versus actual results and determining discretionary compensation.

The CODM does not review segment assets at a different asset level or category than the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.
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The following table presents the Company’s segment operating revenue,

for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Segment operating revenue
Less:
Cash-based employee compensation and benefits
Equity-based compensation
Partnership interest-based compensation
Carried interest compensation
Cash-based incentive fee related compensation
Other non-cash compensation
General, administrative and other @
Investment income
Interest expense
Other income®
Change in fair value of warrants
Provision for income taxes

Segment net income (loss)

Reconciliation of profit or loss
Adjustments and reconciling items

Consolidated net income (loss)

(€

significant segment expenses, other income, and segment net income (loss)

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
$ 514,012 $ 444,999 $ 446,530
148,547 156,153 160,522
48,158 50,667 30,721
72,068 103,934 31,811
30,450 28,505 41,920
36,455 15,628 11,001
558 1,157 1,336
104,296 100,801 88,907
(15,589) (11,640) (10,108)
24,160 23,745 23,314
(1,334) (1,008) (1,436)
16,079 (1,429) (20,551)
13,560 7,692 9,611
$ 36,604 $ (29,206) $ 79,482
$ 36,604 $ (29,206) $ 79,482

General, administrative and other consists primarily of professional fees, travel and related expenses, IT operations, communications and information services,

occupancy, fund expenses, depreciation and amortization, and other costs associated with our operations.

@

and interest income.

22. Subsequent Event

Other income consists primarily of other non-operating items, including write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs due to prepayments and refinancing of debt

On February 6, 2025, GCM Grosvenor's Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $ 0.11 per share of Class A common stock to record
holders as of the close of business on March 3, 2025. The payment date will be March 17, 2025.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Limitations on effectiveness of controls and procedures

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and
procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible
controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated, as of the end of the period covered
by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2024.

Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Because of its inherent
limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on the framework established in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the results of its evaluation, management concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.

Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and issued its report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, which is
included in Item 8 herein.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) for the
three months ended December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangement

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement”
or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not Applicable.
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PART IIl.
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have a written Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer,
principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. A copy of the code is posted on our website,
www.gcmgrosvenor.com. In addition, we intend to post on our website all disclosures that are required by law or Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”) rules
concerning any amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. The information contained on our website is not
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The remaining information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which
will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which
will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which
will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which
will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.
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PART IV.

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) Financial Statements.
The financial statements required by this item are listed in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information required is shown in the financial
statements or the notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits.
The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed | Furnished
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
2.11 Transaction Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2020, by and 8-K/A 001-38759 2.1 08/04/20

among CF Finance Acquisition Corp., CF Finance Intermediate
Acquisition, LLC, CF Finance Holdings, LLC, Grosvenor
Holdings, L.L.C., GCM Grosvenor Holdings, LLC, Grosvenor

Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, GCM Grosvenor
Management, LLC, Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C., GCMH GP,
L.L.C.GCMV, LLC, and GCM Grosvenor Inc.

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of GCM 8-K 001-39716 3.1 11/20/20
Grosvenor Inc.

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of GCM Grosvenor Inc. 8-K 001-39716 3.2 11/20/20
4.1 Warrant Agreement, dated December 12, 2018, between 8-K 001-38759 4.1 12/17/18

Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and CF Finance
Acquisition Corp.

4.2 Description of Securities 10-K/A 001-39716 4.2 05/10/21
10.1 Stockholders’ Agreement 8-K 001-39716 10.1 11/20/20

10.2 Addendum to Stockholders' Agreement, effective as of 10-K 001-39716 104 02/25/22
November 5, 2021

10.3 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement 8-K 001-39716 10.2 11/20/20

104 Addendum to Amended and Restated Registration Rights 10-K 001-39716 10.2 02/25/22
Adgreement, effective as of November 5, 2021

10.5 Tax Receivable Agreement 8-K 001-39716 10.3 11/20/20

10.6 Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Limited Partnership 8-K 001-39716 10.4 11/20/20
Agreement of Grosvenor Capital Management Holdings, LLLP

10.71 Credit Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2014, among S-4 333-242297 10.5 09/18/20
Grosvenor Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, as borrower
Grosvenor Holdings, L.L.C., Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C.,
GCMHGP, L.L.C., GCM, L.L.C., the several lenders from time to
time parties thereto, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as
administrative agent, collateral agent and swingline lender, BMO
Harris Bank N.A., as letter of credit issuer, and Bank of Montreal

Chicago Branch, as letter of credit issuer
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1728041/000121390020020009/ea124874ex2-1_cffinance.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020038527/ea130282ex3-1_gcmgrosvenor.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020038527/ea130282ex3-2_gcmgrosvenor.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1728041/000161577418014531/s114716_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979621000034/exhibit42.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979622000006/exhibit102q42021.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020038527/ea130282ex10-4_gcmgrosvenor.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-5_gcm.htm

Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed / Furnished
Herewith

10.8t1

10.91

10.10%

10.11t

10.12%

Amendment No. 1, dated as of August 18, 2016, to the Credit
Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2014, among Grosvenor
Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, as borrower, Grosvenor
Holdings. L.L.C., Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C., GCMH GP
L.L.C., GCM, L.L.C., the several lenders from time to time
parties thereto, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative
agent, collateral agent and swingline lender, BMO Harris Bank
N.A., as letter of credit issuer, and Bank of Montreal, Chicago
Branch, as letter of credit issuer

Amendment No. 2, dated as of April 19, 2017, to the Credit
Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2014, among Grosvenor
Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, as borrower, Grosvenor
Holdings, L.L.C., Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C., GCMH GP,
L.L.C., GCM, L.L.C., the several lenders from time to time
parties thereto, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative
agent, collateral agent and swingline lender, BMO Harris Bank
N.A., as letter of credit issuer, and Bank of Montreal, Chicago
Branch, as letter of credit issuer

Amendment No. 3, dated as of August 22, 2017, to the Credit
Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2014, among Grosvenor
Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, as borrower, Grosvenor
Holdings, L.L.C., Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C., GCMH GP,
L.L.C., GCM, L.L.C., the several lenders from time to time
parties thereto, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative
agent, collateral agent and swingline lender, BMO Harris Bank
NL.A., as letter of credit issuer, and Bank of Montreal, Chicago
Branch, as letter of credit issuer

Amendment No. 4, dated as of March 29, 2018, to the Credit
Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2014, among Grosvenor
Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, as borrower, Grosvenor
Holdings, L.L.C., Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C., GCMH GP,
L.L.C., GCM, L.L.C., the several lenders from time to time
parties thereto, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative
agent, collateral agent and swingline lender, BMO Harris Bank

NL.A., as letter of credit issuer, and Bank of Montreal, Chicago
Branch, as letter of credit issuer

Amendment No. 5, dated as of February 24, 2021, to the Credit
Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2014, among Grosvenor
Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, as borrower, Grosvenor
Holdings, L.L.C., Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C., GCM Grosvenor
Management, LLC, GCM Grosvenor Holdings, LLC, GCM
L.L.C., the several lenders from time to time parties thereto,
Goldman Sachs Bank USA (the predecessor agent) and Morgan
Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. (the successor agent), as
administrative agent, collateral agent and swingline lender, BMO
Harris Bank N.A., as letter of credit issuer, and Bank of Montreal

Chicago Branch, as letter of credit issuer
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-6_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-7_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-8_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-9_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979621000034/exhibit1010.htm

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed / Furnished
Herewith

10.13%

10.14%

10.15%

10.16#

10.17#

10.18#

10.19#

10.20#

10.21#

10.22#

10.23#

Amendment No. 6, dated as of June 23, 2021, to the Credit
Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2014, among Grosvenor
Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, as borrower, Grosvenor
Holdings, L.L.C., Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C., GCM Grosvenor
Management, LLC, GCM Grosvenor Holdings, LLC, GCM
L.L.C., the several lenders from time to time parties thereto, and
Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as administrative agent,
collateral agent and swingline lender

Amendment No. 7, dated as of June 29, 2023, to the Credit
Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2014, among Grosvenor
Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, as borrower, Grosvenor
Holdings, L.L.C., Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C., GCM Grosvenor
Management, LLC, GCM Grosvenor Holdings, LLC, GCM

L.L.C., the several lenders from time to time parties thereto, and
Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as administrative agent

Amendment No. 8, dated as of May 21, 2024, to the Credit
Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2014, among Grosvenor
Capital Management Holdings, LLLP, as borrower, Grosvenor
Holdings, L.L.C., Grosvenor Holdings II, L.L.C., GCM Grosvenor
Management, LLC, GCM Progress Subsidiary LLC, the several
lenders from time to time parties thereto, and Morgan Stanley
Senior Funding, Inc., as administrative agent, collateral agent
and swingline lender

Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, Dated
August 2, 2020, by and Among Michael J. Sacks, Grosvenor
Capital Management, L.P. and Grosvenor Capital Management
Holdings, LLLP

Amended and Restated Employment and Non-Competition
Agreement, Dated July 29, 2020, by and Between Grosvenor
Capital Management, L.P. and Jonathan R. Levin

Employment and Protective Covenants Agreement, by and
between Sandra Hurse and Grosvenor Capital Management, L.P

Amendment to Employment and Protective Covenants

Agreement, by and between Sandra Hurse and Grosvenor
Capital Management, L.P.

Amended and Restated Employment and Protective Covenants

Agreement, by and Between Grosvenor Capital Management,
L.P. and Frederick E. Pollock

Amendment to Employment and Protective Covenants
Agreement, by and between Frederick E. Pollock and Grosvenor
Capital Management, L.P.

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment and
Protective Covenants Agreement, by and between Frederick E.
Pollock and Grosvenor Capital Management, L.P.

Second Amended and Restated Employment and Protective
Covenants Agreement, by and Between Grosvenor Capital
Management, L.P. and Frederick E. Pollock
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000114036121022083/nc10026189x1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979623000037/exhibit105-amendmentno7t.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390024045937/ea020668601ex10-1_gcmgros.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-15_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-16_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020029983/fs42020a2ex10-17_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979621000034/exhibit1018.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020029983/fs42020a2ex10-19_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979621000034/exhibit1022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979621000034/exhibit1023.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979623000027/exhibit101q12023.htm

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed | Furnished
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
10.24#  Acknowledgement and Agreement, effective as of March 1, 2024 10-Q 001-39716 10.1 05/08/24

between Frederick E. Pollock and Grosvenor Capital
Management, L.P.

10.25# First Amended and Restated Employment and Protective 8-K 001-39716 10.1 01/04/21
Covenants Agreement, effective January 1, 2021, by and between
Grosvenor Capital Management, L.P. and Pamela L. Bentley

10.26 Form of Subscription Agreement, by and between GCM 10-Q 001-39716 10.1 11/20/20
Grosvenor Inc. and the undersigned subscriber party thereto

10.27 Sponsor Support Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2020, by and 8-K/A 001-38759 10.2 08/04/20
among CF Finance Acquisition Corp., Grosvenor Capital
Management Holdings, LLLP, Grosvenor Holdings, L.L.C. and CF
Finance Holdings, LLC

10.28 Forward Purchase Contract, dated December 12, 2018, by and 8-K 001-38759 104 12/17/18
between CF Finance Acquisition Corp. and CF Finance Holdings
LLC.

10.29 Amendment No. 1 to Forward Purchase Contract, dated August 2 8-K/A 001-38759 10.1 08/4/20
2020, by and between CF Finance Acquisition Corp. and CFE
Finance Holdings LLC

10.30 Form of Indemnification Agreement 8-K 001-39716 10.5 11/20/20
10.31#  GCM Grosvenor Deferred Compensation Plan S-4 333-242297 10.20 09/18/20
10.32#  GCM Grosvenor 2018 Asset Pool Award Plan S-4 333-242297 10.21 09/18/20
10.33#  GCM Grosvenor 2017 Asset Pool Award Plan S-4 333-242297 10.22 09/18/20
10.34#  GCM Grosvenor Inc. 2020 Incentive Award Plan S-8 333-251110 99.1 12/04/20
10.35# Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and 10-Q 001-39716 10.1 05/10/22

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to GCM Grosvenor Inc.
2020 Incentive Award Plan

10.36# Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and 10-Q 001-39716 10.1 11/09/22
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to GCM Grosvenor Inc.
2020 Incentive Award Plan (Settlement Options)

10.37# Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award 10-Q 001-39716 10.2 05/10/22

Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to
GCM Grosvenor Inc. 2020 Incentive Award Plan

10.38# GCM Grosvenor Inc. Amended and Restated Incentive Award 10-Q 001-39716 10.1 08/09/23
Plan
10.39# Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and 10-Q 001-39716 10.2 08/09/23

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Amended and Restated Incentive Award Plan

10.40# Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and 10-Q 001-39716 10.3 08/09/23
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Amended and Restated Incentive Award Plan (Settlement
Options)

10.41# Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award 10-Q 001-39716 10.4 08/09/23

Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to
GCM Grosvenor Inc. Amended and Restated Incentive Award

Plan
10.42# Grosvenor Capital Management, L.P. OCF Il Bonus Plan S-4 333-242297 10.23 09/18/20
10.43# Grosvenor Capital Management, L.P. OCF IV Bonus Plan S-4 333-242297 10.24 09/18/20
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979624000013/exhibit101q12024.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390021000216/ea132304ex10-1_gcmgrosvenor.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020038575/f10q0920ex10-1_gcmgros.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1728041/000121390020020009/ea124874ex10-2_cffinance.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1728041/000161577418014531/s114716_ex10-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1728041/000121390020020009/ea124874ex10-1_cffinance.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020038527/ea130282ex10-5_gcmgrosvenor.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-20_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-21_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-22_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020040857/ea130848ex99-1_gcmgros.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979622000019/exhibit101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979622000036/exhibit101q32022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979622000019/exhibit102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979623000037/exhibit101q22023.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979623000037/exhibit102q22023.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979623000037/exhibit103-formofemploye.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979623000037/exhibit104q22023.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-23_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020027273/fs42020a1ex10-24_gcm.htm

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed | Furnished
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
10.44# GCM Grosvenor Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation 10-K 001-39716 10.41 02/23/23
Policy (effective as of January 1, 2023)
10.45# GCM Grosvenor Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation 8-K 001-39716 10.1 02/10/25
Policy (effective as of April 1, 2025)
10.46 Office Lease, dated December 17, 2004, between LaSalle Bank S-4 333-242297 10.37 10/09/20
National Association and Grosvenor Capital Management, L.P.
10.47 First Amendment to Office Lease, dated May 31, 2007 S-4 333-242297 10.38 10/09/20
10.48 Second Amendment to Office Lease, dated July 1, 2008 S-4 333-242297 10.39 10/09/20
10.49 Third Amendment to Office Lease, dated August 31, 2009 S-4 333-242297 10.40 10/09/20
10.50 Fourth Amendment to Office Lease, dated September 1, 2011 S-4 333-242297 10.41 10/09/20
10.51 Fifth Amendment to Office Lease, dated May 31, 2012 S-4 333-242297 10.42 10/09/20
10.52 Sixth Amendment to Office Lease, dated January 18, 2013 S-4 333-242297 10.43 10/09/20
10.53 Seventh Amendment to Office Lease, dated November 30, 2017 S-4 333-242297 10.44 10/09/20
10.54 Eighth Amendment to Office Lease, dated December 26, 2019 S-4 333-242297 10.45 10/09/20
10.55 Ninth Amendment to Office Lease, dated May 16, 2023 10-Q 001-39716 10.6 08/09/23
10.56 Tenth Amendment to Office Lease, dated June 17, 2024 8-K 001-39716 10.1 6/21/24
19.1 GCM Grosvenor Inc. Insider Trading Compliance Policy and *
Procedures
21.1 List of subsidiaries of GCM Grosvenor Inc. *
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public *
Accounting Firm
31.1 Chief Executive Officer Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of *
the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of *
the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
3211 Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. *x

Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. *x
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

97.1 Amended and Restated Policy for Recovery of Erroneously *
Awarded Compensation
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does *

not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document *
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document *
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document *
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document *
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979623000009/exhibit1041q42022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979625000002/exhibit101q42024.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020030698/fs42020a3ex10-37_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020030698/fs42020a3ex10-38_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020030698/fs42020a3ex10-39_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020030698/fs42020a3ex10-40_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020030698/fs42020a3ex10-41_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020030698/fs42020a3ex10-42_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020030698/fs42020a3ex10-43_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020030698/fs42020a3ex10-44_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390020030698/fs42020a3ex10-45_gcm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000181979623000037/exhibit106q22023.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390024054851/ea020823101ex10-1_gcmgros.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390024054851/ea020823101ex10-1_gcmgros.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390024054851/ea020823101ex10-1_gcmgros.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1819796/000121390024054851/ea020823101ex10-1_gcmgros.htm
file:///tmp/T4841/804431c3-4e92-446c-b28b-32cd2bbdbfe7/exhibit191q42024.htm
file:///tmp/T4841/804431c3-4e92-446c-b28b-32cd2bbdbfe7/exhibit191q42024.htm
file:///tmp/T4841/804431c3-4e92-446c-b28b-32cd2bbdbfe7/exhibit211q42024.htm
file:///tmp/T4841/804431c3-4e92-446c-b28b-32cd2bbdbfe7/exhibit231q42024.htm
file:///tmp/T4841/804431c3-4e92-446c-b28b-32cd2bbdbfe7/exhibit311q42024.htm
file:///tmp/T4841/804431c3-4e92-446c-b28b-32cd2bbdbfe7/exhibit312q42024.htm
file:///tmp/T4841/804431c3-4e92-446c-b28b-32cd2bbdbfe7/exhibit321q42024.htm
file:///tmp/T4841/804431c3-4e92-446c-b28b-32cd2bbdbfe7/exhibit322q42024.htm
file:///tmp/T4841/804431c3-4e92-446c-b28b-32cd2bbdbfe7/exhibit971q42024.htm

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed / Furnished
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit  Filing Date Herewith
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document *

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and *

contained in Exhibit 101)

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.

T Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The Registrant agrees to furnish a copy of all
omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GCM GROSVENOR INC.
Date: February 20, 2025 By: /sl Michael J. Sacks

Michael J. Sacks

Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Michael J. Sacks Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer February 20, 2025
Michael J. Sacks (principal executive officer)

s/ Jonathan Levin President and Director February 20, 2025
Jonathan Levin

/s/ Pamela L. Bentley Chief Financial Officer February 20, 2025
Pamela L. Bentley (principal financial officer)

/s/ Kathleen P. Sullivan Chief Accounting Officer February 20, 2025
Kathleen P. Sullivan (principal accounting officer)

/sl Angela Blanton Director February 20, 2025
Angela Blanton

/sl Francesca Cornelli Director February 20, 2025
Francesca Cornelli

/sl Stephen Malkin Director February 20, 2025
Stephen Malkin

/sl Blythe Masters Director February 20, 2025

Blythe Masters
/s/ Samuel C. Scott IlI Director February 20, 2025

Samuel C. Scott IlI
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GCM Grosvenor Inc.
Insider Trading Compliance Policy

GCM Grosvenor Inc. (the “Company”) seeks to promote a culture that encourages ethical conduct and a commitment to
compliance with the law. We require our personnel to comply at all times with federal laws and regulations governing insider
trading. This policy sets forth procedures designed to help comply with these laws and regulations.

Persons Covered
You must comply with this policy if you are:
» adirector, officer or employee;
* an entity controlled by a director, officer or employee; or
e acontractor, consultant, or other person designated by the Company.

Individuals subject to this policy are responsible for reasonably ensuring that members of their household comply with this
policy.

Policy Statement
Unless otherwise permitted by this policy, you must not:

» purchase, sell, gift or otherwise transfer any security of the Company while you possess material nonpublic
information about the Company;

e purchase, sell, gift or otherwise transfer any security of any other company, including a customer, supplier,
business partner, or an economically-linked company, such as a competitor or peer company, while you possess
material nonpublic information that you obtained in connection with your employment by or service to the Company (to
the extent there is a reasonable likelihood that such information would be considered important to an investor in making
an investment decision in such other company);

» directly or indirectly communicate material nonpublic information to anyone outside the Company unless you
follow Company policy regarding confidential information; or

« directly or indirectly communicate material nonpublic information to anyone within the Company except on a
need-to-know basis.

For this purpose:

» securities includes stocks, bonds, notes, debentures, options, warrants, equity and other convertible securities, as
well as derivative instruments;
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» purchase includes not only the actual purchase of a security, but also any contract to purchase or otherwise
acquire a security;

» sale includes not only the actual sale of a security, but also any contract to sell or otherwise dispose of a security;

» material means likely to have a significant effect on the market price of the security (also understood to mean a
substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider the information important in making an investment
decision); and

* nonpublic means not broadly disseminated to the general public so that investors have been able to factor the
information into the market price of the security.

To understand how these terms apply to specific circumstances, or for any other questions about this policy, you should ask the
Company's General Counsel or their designee (the “Compliance Officer”).

Quarterly Blackout Periods

The Compliance Officer, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or the Company’s Board of Directors will designate a list of
persons who (with their controlled entities and household members) must not purchase, sell, gift or otherwise transfer any
security of the Company during any blackout period, except as otherwise permitted by this policy.

The quarterly blackout period:

» begins at 11:59 p.m., Eastern time, on the 14th calendar day before the end of any fiscal quarter of the Company;
and

* ends upon completion of the second full trading day after the public release of earnings data for that quarter.

Exceptions to the blackout period policy may be approved by both the Compliance Officer and the Chief Financial Officer (or
the Chief Financial Officer, in the case of the Compliance Officer or persons or entities subject to this policy as a result of their
relationship with the Compliance Officer; or the Compliance Officer, in the case of the Chief Financial Officer or persons or
entities subject to this policy as a result of their relationship with the Chief Financial Officer) or, in the case of exceptions for
directors, by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Additional Blackout Periods

From time to time, the Compliance Officer may determine that an additional blackout period is appropriate. Persons subject to
an additional blackout period must not purchase, sell, gift or otherwise transfer any security of the Company, except as
otherwise permitted by this policy, and must not disclose that an additional blackout period is in effect.
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Pre-Clearance of Transactions

The Compliance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer or the Company’s Board of Directors will designate a list of persons who
(with their controlled entities and household members) must pre-clear each transaction in any security of the Company.

To submit a pre-clearance request, you must follow the procedures established by the Compliance Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer.

Pre-clearance approval:

* may be granted or withheld in the sole discretion of both of the Compliance Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
(or the Chief Financial Officer for transactions by the Compliance Officer, or the Compliance Officer for transactions by
the Chief Financial Officer);

» remains valid for five business days for transactions without a proposed transaction date;

* remains subject to your independent obligation to confirm that you do not possess material nonpublic information
at the time of your transaction;

» will not constitute legal advice that a proposed transaction complies with applicable law;
» will not result in liability to the Company or any other person if delayed or withheld; and

* is not required for “sell-to-cover” transactions pursuant to a policy adopted by the Company or transactions under
a previously approved Rule 10b5-1 plan or a previously approved non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement.

Exempt Transactions
This policy, except for provisions set forth in the Prohibited Transactions section below, does not apply to:
» transactions directly with the Company;

* bona fide gifts of the Company’s securities, unless the individual making the gift knows, or is reckless in not
knowing, the recipient intends to sell the securities while the donor is in possession of material nonpublic information
about the Company, except that gift transactions involving Company securities are subject to pre-clearance;

« transactions relating to equity incentive awards without any open-market sale of securities (e.g., cash exercises of
stock options or the “net settlement” or “cash settlement” of restricted stock units but not broker-assisted cashless
exercises or open-market sales to cover taxes upon the vesting of restricted stock units);
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» “sell-to-cover” transactions pursuant to a non-discretionary policy adopted by the Company that is intended to
facilitate the payment of withholding taxes associated with vesting of equity awards (other than stock options);

» transactions under a pre-cleared Rule 10b5-1 plan;

e transactions under a pre-cleared non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-
K); or

» purchases of the Company’s securities (other than by persons designated as subject to Section 16 of the 1934
Act by the Company’s Board of Directors) resulting from the reinvestment of dividends paid on the Company’s securities
pursuant to the terms of any dividend reinvestment plan offered by the Company through a broker to be approved by
both of the Compliance Officer and the Chief Financial Officer; for the avoidance of doubt, any subsequent sale of the
Company'’s securities acquired pursuant to such plan, any decision to participate in such plan, or change of instructions
regarding the level of withholding contributions which are used to purchase such stock under such plan, is subject to this
policy (including, as applicable, the pre-clearance requirements and the black-out prohibitions described herein).

Trading Plans

The restrictions in this policy, except for provisions set forth in the Prohibited Transactions section below, do not apply to
transactions under a trading plan that satisfies either:

» the conditions of Rule 10b5-1; or
» the elements of a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K; and
» both the Compliance Officer and the Chief Financial Officer has pre-approved.

The Compliance Officer and the Chief Financial Officer may impose such other conditions on the implementation and operation
of the trading plan as the Compliance Officer and the Chief Financial Officer deem necessary or advisable. A trading plan may
be modified outside of a blackout period when you do not possess material nonpublic information. Modifications to and
terminations of a trading plan must be pre-approved by both of the Compliance Officer and the Chief Financial Officer.

Compliance of a trading plan with the terms of Rule 10b5-1 and the execution of transactions pursuant to the trading plan are
the sole responsibility of the person initiating the trading plan, and none of the Company, the Company’s Board of Directors, the
Compliance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, or the Company’s other employees assumes any liability for any delay in
reviewing and/or refusing to approve a trading plan submitted for approval, nor the legality or consequences relating to a
person entering into, informing the Company of, or trading under, a trading plan.
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Prohibited Transactions
You may not engage in:
» short sales (i.e., sales of shares that you do not own at the time of sale);

» options trading, including puts, calls, or other derivative securities on an exchange, an over-the-counter market, or
any other organized market;

* hedging transactions, such as prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars, exchange funds, or other
transactions that hedge or offset any decrease in market value of the Company’s equity securities; and

» pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan, purchasing Company securities on margin (i.e., borrowing
money to purchase the securities), or placing Company securities in a margin account.

Nothing in this policy is intended to limit the ability of an investment fund, venture capital partnership or other similar entity with
which a director is affiliated to distribute Company securities to its partners, members, or other similar persons. It is the
responsibility of each affected director and the affiliated entity, in consultation with their own counsel (as appropriate), to
determine the timing of any distributions, based on all relevant facts and circumstances, and applicable securities laws.

Post-Termination Transactions

If you possess material nonpublic information when your employment by or service to the Company terminates, the restrictions
set forth in “Policy Statement” above continue to apply until that information has become public or is no longer material.

Policy Administration

The Compliance Officer and the Chief Financial Officer shall have the authority to interpret, amend and implement this policy.
This authority includes interpreting or waiving the terms of the policy, to the extent consistent with its general purpose and
applicable securities laws. The Compliance Officer will administer the policy as it applies to any trading activity by the Chief
Financial Officer, and the Chief Financial Officer will administer the policy as it applies to any trading activity by the Compliance
Officer.

Actions taken by the Company, the Company’s Board of Directors, the Compliance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer or any
other Company personnel do not constitute legal advice, nor do they insulate you from the consequences of honcompliance
with this policy or with securities laws.

Certification of Compliance

You may be asked periodically to certify your compliance with the terms and provisions of this policy.



Name of Subsidiary

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
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GCM Grosvenor Holdings, LLC

GCM, L.L.C.

Grosvenor Capital Management Holdings, LLLP
GCM Grosvenor L.P.

GCM Investments GP, LLC

CFIG Holdings, LLC

Mosaic Acquisitions 2020, L.P.

GCM Fiduciary Services, LLC

GCM Investments Hong Kong Limited
GCM UK Limited

GCM UK 2 Limited

GCM Investments (Korea) Co. Ltd.

GCM Investments Japan K.K.

GCM Grosvenor Holdings (Canada) ULC
GCM Grosvenor Holdings (Canada) SPV, LLC
GCM Grosvenor (Deutschland) GmbH
Grosvenor Capital Management, Ltd.
Grosvenor Capital Management GP Ltd.
GRV Securities LLC

Hedge Fund Strategies Aggregator, LLC
Hedge Fund Strategies Aggregator2, LLC
GCM Investments UK LLP

GCM Management Incentive Plan |, LP
GCM Partners |, L.P.

GCM Investment Corporation, LLC

GCM Investment Holdings Corporation, LLC
CFIG Fund Partners, L.P.

CFIG Fund Partners Il, L.P.

CFIG Fund Partners Ill, L.P.

CFIG Partners LF, LLC

GCM CFIG Fund Partners IV, L.P.

GCM Project R GP, L.P.

GCM CFIG GP, LLC

CFIG Equity Ventures (Ml), LLC

CFIG Diversified Partners Ill, Inc.

CFIG (Cayman) Holdings Limited

CFIG Advisors, LLC

Mosaic GP Entity, L.P.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
lllinois
Delaware
Delaware
Cayman Islands
Delaware

Hong Kong
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
South Korea
Japan

Canada
Delaware
Germany
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Cayman Islands
Delaware

Delaware
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Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
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GCM Grosvenor Fund Partners (Cayman) |, Inc.
Michigan Growth Capital Partners GP, LLC
Michigan Growth Capital Partners SBIC GP, LLC
GCM PEREI Partners V, L.P.

GCM PEREI Partners VI, L.P.

TRS Legacy GP, LLC

PVM Investment Holdings, LLC

GCM Wizard GP Limited

CFIG NPS GP, LLC

Mosaic NewCo Subsidiary, LP

Hedge Fund Strategies Aggregator3, LLC
GCM Infrastructure Holdings I, LLC

GCM Acquisition Partners, L.L.C.

GCM Acquisition Corp. |
GCMEUGPS.arl

GCM Grosvenor (Australia) Pty Ltd

GCM Scots GP, LLP

GCM PEREI Partners V DRE, LLC

GCM PEREI Partners VI DRE, LLC

GCM PEREI Partners VII, L.P.

GCM PEREI Partners VII DRE, LLC

GCM JV Holding, LLC

GCM Management Carry, LLC

Cayman Islands
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Cayman Islands
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Luxembourg
Australia
Scotland
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-251109) of GCM Grosvenor Inc.,
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-251110) pertaining to the Incentive Award Plan of GCM Grosvenor Inc., and

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-265278) of GCM Grosvenor Inc.;

of our reports dated February 20, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of GCM Grosvenor Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting of GCM Grosvenor Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of GCM Grosvenor Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 20, 2025



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Michael J. Sacks, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GCM Grosvenor Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.



Date: February 20, 2025 By: /sl Michael J. Sacks

Michael J. Sacks

Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Pamela L. Bentley, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GCM Grosvenor Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.



Date: February 20, 2025 By: /sl Pamela L. Bentley

Pamela L. Bentley

Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of GCM Grosvenor Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), | certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 8 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 20, 2025 By: /sl Michael J. Sacks
Michael J. Sacks

Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of GCM Grosvenor Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), | certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 20, 2025 By: /sl Pamela L. Bentley

Pamela L. Bentley

Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)



Exhibit 97.1

AMENDED AND RESTATED GCM GROSVENOR INC. POLICY FOR RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED
COMPENSATION

GCM Grosvenor Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Policy for Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (as
it may be amended or restated from time to time and as amended and restated through November 7, 2024, the “Policy”). This
Policy became effective on November 7, 2023, and was amended and restated on November 7, 2024. Capitalized terms used
in this Policy but not otherwise defined herein are defined in Section 11.

1. Persons Subject to Policy

This Policy shall apply to current and former Officers of the Company.

2. Compensation Subject to Policy

This Policy shall apply to Incentive-Based Compensation received on or after October 2, 2023. For purposes of this
Policy, the date on which Incentive-Based Compensation is “received” shall be determined under the Applicable Rules, which
generally provide that Incentive-Based Compensation is “received” in the Company'’s fiscal period during which the relevant
Financial Reporting Measure is attained or satisfied, without regard to whether the grant, vesting or payment of the Incentive-
Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

3. Recovery of Compensation

In the event that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement, the Company shall recover, reasonably promptly,
the portion of any Incentive-Based Compensation that is Erroneously Awarded Compensation, unless the Committee has
determined that recovery would be Impracticable. Recovery shall be required in accordance with the preceding sentence
regardless of whether the applicable Officer engaged in misconduct or otherwise caused or contributed to the requirement for
the Restatement and regardless of whether or when restated financial statements are filed by the Company. For clarity, the
recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation under this Policy will not give rise to any person’s right to voluntarily terminate
employment for “good reason,” or due to a “constructive termination” (or any similar term of like effect) under any plan, program
or policy of or agreement with the Company or any of its affiliates.

4. Manner of Recovery; Limitation on Duplicative Recovery

The Committee shall, in its sole discretion, determine the manner of recovery of any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation, which may include, without limitation, reduction or cancellation by the Company or an affiliate of the Company
of Incentive-Based Compensation or Erroneously Awarded Compensation, reimbursement or repayment by any person subject
to this Policy of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation, and, to the extent permitted by law, an offset of the Erroneously
Awarded Compensation against other compensation payable by the Company or an affiliate of the Company to such person.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise prohibited by the Applicable Rules, to the extent this Policy provides for
recovery of Erroneously



Awarded Compensation already recovered by the Company pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 or
Other Recovery Arrangements, the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation already recovered by the Company from
the recipient of such Erroneously Awarded Compensation may be credited to the amount of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation required to be recovered pursuant to this Policy from such person.

5. Administration

This Policy shall be administered, interpreted and construed by the Committee, which is authorized to make all
determinations necessary, appropriate or advisable for such purpose. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board")
may re-vest in itself the authority to administer, interpret and construe this Policy in accordance with applicable law, and in such
event references herein to the “Committee” shall be deemed to be references to the Board. Subject to any permitted review by
the applicable national securities exchange or association pursuant to the Applicable Rules, all determinations and decisions
made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of this Policy shall be final, conclusive and binding on all persons, including
the Company and its affiliates, equityholders and employees. The Committee may delegate administrative duties with respect
to this Policy to one or more directors or employees of the Company, as permitted under applicable law, including any
Applicable Rules.

6. Interpretation

This Policy will be interpreted and applied in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of the Applicable Rules,
and to the extent this Policy is inconsistent with such Applicable Rules, it shall be deemed amended to the minimum extent
necessary to ensure compliance therewith.

7. No Indemnification; No Liability

The Company shall not indemnify or insure any person against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation
pursuant to this Policy, nor shall the Company directly or indirectly pay or reimburse any person for any premiums for third-
party insurance policies that such person may elect to purchase to fund such person’s potential obligations under this Policy.
None of the Company, an affiliate of the Company or any member of the Committee or the Board shall have any liability to any
person as a result of actions taken under this Policy.

8. Application; Enforceability

Except as otherwise determined by the Committee or the Board, the adoption of this Policy does not limit, and is
intended to apply in addition to, any other clawback, recoupment, forfeiture or similar policies or provisions of the Company or
its affiliates, including any such policies or provisions of such effect contained in any employment agreement, bonus plan,
incentive plan, equity-based plan or award agreement thereunder or similar plan, program or agreement of the Company or an
affiliate or required under applicable law (the “Other Recovery Arrangements”). The remedy specified in this Policy shall not
be exclusive and shall be in



addition to every other right or remedy at law or in equity that may be available to the Company or an affiliate of the Company.

9. Severability

The provisions in this Policy are intended to be applied to the fullest extent of the law; provided, however, to the extent
that any provision of this Policy is found to be unenforceable or invalid under any applicable law, such provision will be applied
to the maximum extent permitted, and shall automatically be deemed amended in a manner consistent with its objectives to the
extent necessary to conform to any limitations required under applicable law.

10. Amendment and Termination

The Board or the Committee may amend, modify or terminate this Policy in whole or in part at any time and from time to
time in its sole discretion. This Policy will terminate automatically when the Company does not have a class of securities listed
on a national securities exchange or association.

11. Definitions

“Applicable Rules” means Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder, the listing rules of the
national securities exchange or association on which the Company’s securities are listed, and any applicable rules, standards
or other guidance adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission or any national securities exchange or association on
which the Company’s securities are listed.

“Committee” means the committee of the Board responsible for executive compensation decisions comprised solely of
independent directors (as determined under the Applicable Rules), or in the absence of such a committee, a majority of the
independent directors serving on the Board.

“Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation received by a current or
former Officer that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that would have been received by such current or
former Officer based on a restated Financial Reporting Measure, as determined on a pre-tax basis in accordance with the
Applicable Rules.

“Exchange Act’ means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Financial Reporting Measure’ means any measure determined and presented in accordance with the accounting
principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures derived wholly or in part from such
measures, including GAAP, IFRS and non-GAAP/IFRS financial measures, as well as stock or share price and total
equityholder return.

“GAAP’ means United States generally accepted accounting principles.



“IFRS" means international financial reporting standards as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.

“Impracticable’ means (a) the direct costs paid to third parties to assist in enforcing recovery would exceed the
Erroneously Awarded Compensation; provided that the Company (i) has made reasonable attempts to recover the Erroneously
Awarded Compensation, (i) documented such attempt(s), and (iii) provided such documentation to the relevant listing
exchange or association, (b) to the extent permitted by the Applicable Rules, the recovery would violate the Company’s home
country laws pursuant to an opinion of home country counsel; provided that the Company has (i) obtained an opinion of home
country counsel, acceptable to the relevant listing exchange or association, that recovery would result in such violation, and (ii)
provided such opinion to the relevant listing exchange or association, or (c) recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-
qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the
requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and the regulations thereunder.

“Incentive-Based Compensation’ means, with respect to a Restatement, any compensation that is granted, earned, or
vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of one or more Financial Reporting Measures and received by a person: (a)
after beginning service as an Officer; (b) who served as an Officer at any time during the performance period for that
compensation; (c) while the issuer has a class of its securities listed on a national securities exchange or association; and (d)
during the applicable Three-Year Period.

“Officer” means each person who serves as an executive officer of the Company, as defined in Rule 10D-1(d) under the
Exchange Act.

“Restatement’ means an accounting restatement to correct the Company’s material noncompliance with any financial
reporting requirement under securities laws, including restatements that correct an error in previously issued financial
statements (a) that is material to the previously issued financial statements or (b) that would result in a material misstatement if
the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.

“Three-Year Period” means, with respect to a Restatement, the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the
date that the Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board
action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare such
Restatement, or, if earlier, the date on which a court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare
such Restatement. The “Three-Year Period” also includes any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s
fiscal year) within or immediately following the three completed fiscal years identified in the preceding sentence. However, a
transition period between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year that
comprises a period of nine to 12 months shall be deemed a completed fiscal year.



